

Development of emulsion-based delivery systems to improve the functionality of bioactive compounds *in vitro* and *in vivo*

Júlia Teixé Roig

http://hdl.handle.net/10803/688465



Development of emulsion-based delivery systems to improve the functionality of bioactive compounds in vitro and in vivo està subjecte a una llicència de <u>Reconeixement 4.0 No</u> adaptada de <u>Creative Commons</u>

Les publicacions incloses en la tesi no estan subjectes a aquesta llicència i es mantenen sota les condicions originals.

(c) 2023, Júlia Teixé Roig



TESI DOCTORAL

(MENCIÓ INTERNACIONAL)

Development of emulsion-based delivery systems to improve the functionality of bioactive compounds *in vitro* and *in vivo*

Júlia Teixé Roig

Memòria presentada per optar al grau de Doctor per la Universitat de Lleida Programa de Doctorat en Ciència i Tecnologia Agrària i Alimentària

> Director/a Olga Martín Belloso Gemma Oms Oliu

> Tutor/a Olga Martín Belloso

> > 2023

The current research has been performed in the Laboratory of Novel Technologies for Food Processing and the Pilot Plant of the Department of Food Technology, under the supervision of Prof. Olga Martín Belloso and Dr. Gemma Oms Oliu. This doctoral thesis has been supported by the MINECO/MCIU/FEDER, UE, through the following projects:

AGL2015-65975-R: 'Diseño de sistemas nanoestructurados para proteger y liberar compuestos naturales con actividad funcional y tecnológica'.

RTI2018-094268-B-C21: 'Mejora de las propiedades tecnológicas y nutricionales de alimentos utilizando geles y emulsiones formados a partir de carbohidratos no purificados obtenidos de fuentes alternativas'.

The PhD candidate granted a fellowship at the University of Lleida to pursue the PhD degree.

Acknowledgements-Agradecimientos-Agraïments

En primer lloc voldria agrair a les meves directores de tesis, la Dra. Olga Martín Belloso i la Dra. Gemma Oms Oliu, tot el suport rebut durant aquests anys. Des de que vaig començar en aquest grup d'investigació, heu estat sempre recolzant-me, donant-me suport i ajudant-me créixer com a investigadora. També a la Dra. Isabel Odriozola Serrano per haver-me acompanyat en aquest camí. He aprés molt amb vosaltres tant a nivell professional com personal, gràcies per tot l'aprenentatge.

També voldria donar les gràcies a tots els membres que formen o han format part del grup d'investigació. Especialment a la Magda, la Gemma Charles i el Manel, que sempre estan disposats a ajudar en el que convingui i són imprescindibles per al funcionament del grup. A tots els doctorands que han passat pel grup d'investigació i amb els que he compartit molts moments durant aquests anys. L'Ana, l'Alina, la Winnie, el Mohsen, l'Anali, l'Heloísa, la Raquel, la Gloria, el Gustavo, la Tere. I especialment a les meves companyes d'aventures, l'Anna, l'Ari, la Clara, la María i la Sara. Heu estat un pilar fonamental durant aquests anys, gràcies per ser-hi en tot moment i per tot el que hem compartit.

I would also like to thank Dr. Peadar Lawlor for giving me the opportunity to join his team in Teagasc and making my stay so enriching. Thanks also to all the colleagues I met in Ireland, it was a pleasure to meet you and have such a fantastic time with you.

També voldria agrair als meus amics i amigues de la colla haver estat al meu costat durant aquest període i sempre. Gràcies per totes les estones de desconnexió i somriures.

Finalment, voldria agrair el suport incondicional de la meva família. Gràcies per tot el suport rebut durant aquests anys, per fer-me sempre costat en els moments més difícils i acompanyar-me en els bons, i per estimar-me tant.

RESUM

Els compostos bioactius han mostrat tenir propietats biològiques diverses que aporten beneficis per a la salut humana. Desafortunadament, aquests compostos són degradats fàcilment i presenten una baixa absorció i biodisponibilitat. La investigació duta a terme en els últims anys ha revelat que els sistemes basats en emulsions (nanoemulsions, emulsions múltiples, emulsions altament concentrades, nanopartícules, etc.) són útils per a protegir aquests compostos, i augmentar-ne l'absorció. Tanmateix, sembla que la composició d'aquests sistemes pot tenir un gran impacte en les seves propietats i la seva funcionalitat. Per tant, l'objectiu d'aquesta tesis doctoral va ser estudiar com la composició (tipus d'emulsionant, concentració d'oli, presència de polisacàrids, tipus i estat físic de l'oli) afecta les propietats i estabilitat de diferents tipus d'emulsions, així com en la bioaccessibilitat i biodisponibilitat dels compostos bioactius encapsulats.

En general, es va observar que utilitzant emulsionants proteics (proteïna del sèrum i caseïnat sòdic) es van obtenir nanoemulsions amb una mida de partícula menor i una càrrega elèctrica menys negativa que utilitzant emulsionants lipídics (lecitina de soja), tot i que l'efecte va dependre d'altres paràmetres com la concentració d'oli. A més, les nanoemulsions que contenien emulsionants proteics van presentar una major digestibilitat lipídica, degut a les gotes de mida reduïda que presentaven a l'intestí, i una major bioaccessibilitat del compost *in vitro* ($\approx 64\%$ en el cas del β -carotè i $\approx 67\%$ en el cas de la curcumina). Com a conseqüència, després de la seva administració oral en rates, les nanoemulsions proteiques van augmentar l'absorció del β-carotè i la biodistribució de la seva forma activa (retinol) en diferents òrgans, especialment al fetge (\approx 3250 ng/g). A més, es va observar que l'augment de la concentració d'oli en les nanoemulsions disminuïa la digestibilitat del sistema, i en conseqüència, la bioaccessibilitat del compost encapsulat. L'efecte de l'addició de polisacàrids va variar en funció del tipus utilitzat. L'addició de pectina va disminuir l'estabilitat de les nanoemulsions i va augmentar la bioaccessibilitat del β-carotè (en un 12%). En canvi, l'addició d'alginat va incrementar notablement l'estabilitat del sistema i el compost durant la digestió, però va reduir la digestibilitat lipídica i la bioaccessibilitat de la curcumina (en un 40%).

En emulsions dobles, l'efecte del tipus d'emulsionant també va ser notable. Es va

observar que les emulsions que contenien l'emulsionant Tween 20 presentaven una mida de partícula menor (4.4 μ m) que aquelles que contenien lecitina de soja (5.7 μ m). A més, la digestibilitat de les emulsions va ser més alta utilitzant Tween 20 (42%) que lecitina de soja (23%), però la bioaccessibilitat de les antocianines encapsulades (23%) no es va veure afectada pel tipus d'emulsionant. L'addició de polisacàrids en la fase aquosa externa de les emulsions dobles va reduir la mida de partícula i va incrementar la eficiència d'encapsulació i l'estabilitat dels sistemes al llarg del temps. A més, va millorar l'estabilitat dels sistemes durant la digestió gastrointestinal, evitant la degradació dels compostos encapsulats i incrementant-ne la bioaccessibilitat.

La concentració d'emulsionant (lecitina de soja) va ser determinant per aconseguir emulsions altament concentrades estables contenint curcuminoids, essent 0.1 el rati emulsionant-oli òptim. Les emulsions altament concentrades van incrementar la biodisponibilitat oral dels curcuminoids en rates 10.6 vegades, en comparació amb la suspensió control. La curcumina es va detectar en forma glucuronidada en plasma, observant-se les concentracions màximes ($\approx 217-260$ ppm) entre les 2 h i les 4 h postadministració. D'altra banda, la curcumina es va trobar majoritàriament en forma lliure (la que presenta major activitat biològica) en els òrgans, especialment al teixit adipós bru (193 ng/g).

En general, aquelles nanoemulsions contenint nanopartícules líquides a temperatura ambient (oli de blat de moro o miglyol) van presentar una mida de partícula menor que aquelles que contenien nanopartícules sòlides (oli de palma o oli de coco). A més, aquelles formulades amb olis de cadena mitja (miglyol o oli de coco) van presentar mides menors que aquelles contenint olis de cadena llarga (oli de blat de moro o oli de palma). L'estudi *in vivo* va revelar que, després de la administració oral de les nanoemulsions, aquelles formulades amb oli de blat de moro van ser les més efectives per incrementar l'absorció de curcumina en l'intestí de les rates així com per augmentar la distribució del compost en diferents òrgans. La curcumina es va trobar principalment en forma glucuronidada al plasma, essent 1612 ng/mL la màxima concentració observada. No obstant, en els diferents òrgans, la curcumina es va detectar majoritàriament en forma lliure, essent el teixit adipós bru l'òrgan amb major

acumulació (1400 ng/g).

Els resultats obtinguts en aquesta tesis doctoral proporcionen nou coneixement sobre el disseny de sistemes basats en emulsions per incrementar la biodisponibilitat de compostos bioactius amb alt valor biològic. Aquesta informació és de gran rellevància per seguir investigant en l'obtenció de sistemes que permetin protegir aquests compostos, incrementar-ne l'absorció i la biodistribució, especialment en òrgans on poden tenir un impacte positiu en la prevenció o tractament de malalties.

RESUMEN

Los compuestos bioactivos han mostrado poseer propiedades biológicas diversas que aportan beneficios para la salud humana. Desafortunadamente, estos compuestos son degradados fácilmente y presentan una absorción y biodisponibilidad bajas. La investigación realizada en los últimos años ha revelado que los sistemas basados en emulsiones (nanoemulsiones, emulsiones múltiples, emulsiones altamente concentradas, nanopartículas, etc.) son útiles para proteger estos compuestos y aumentar su absorción. Sin embargo, la composición de estos sistemas parece tener un gran impacto en sus propiedades y su funcionalidad. Por lo tanto, el objetivo de esta tesis doctoral fue estudiar cómo la composición (tipo de emulsionante, concentración de aceite, presencia de polisacáridos, tipo y estado físico del aceite) afecta a las propiedades y la estabilidad de distintos tipos de emulsiones, así como a la bioaccesibilidad y biodisponibilidad de los compuestos bioactivos encapsulados.

Por lo general, se observó que utilizando emulsionantes proteicos (proteína del suero y caseinato sódico) se obtuvieron nanoemulsiones con tamaño de partícula menor y carga eléctrica menos negativa que utilizando emulsionantes lipídicos (lecitina de soja), aunque el efecto dependió de otros parámetros como la concentración de aceite. Además, las nanoemulsiones que contenían emulsionantes proteicos presentaron una mayor digestibilidad lipídica, debido a las gotas de tamaño reducido que presentaban en el intestino, y una mayor bioaccesibilidad del compuesto *in vitro* ($\approx 64\%$ en el caso del β caroteno y $\approx 67\%$ en el caso de la curcumina). Como consecuencia, después de su administración oral en ratas, las nanoemulsiones proteicas aumentaron la absorción del β -caroteno y la biodistribución de su forma activa (retinol) en diferentes órganos, especialmente en el hígado (~ 3250 ng/g). Además, se observó que incrementando la concentración de aceite en las nanoemulsiones disminuía la digestibilidad del sistema y, en consecuencia, la bioaccesibilidad del compuesto encapsulado. El efecto de la adición de polisacáridos varió en función del tipo utilizado. La adición de pectina disminuyó la estabilidad de las nanoemulsiones y aumentó la bioaccesibilidad del β-caroteno (en un 12%). Por el contrario, la adición de alginato incrementó notablemente la estabilidad del sistema y el compuesto encapsulado durante la digestión, pero disminuyó la digestibilidad lipídica y la bioaccesibilidad de la curcumina (en un 40%).

En emulsiones dobles, el efecto del tipo de emulsionante también fue notable. Se observó que las emulsiones que contenían Tween 20 como emulsionante presentaban un tamaño de partícula menor ($4.4 \mu m$) que aquellas que contenían lecitina de soja ($5.7 \mu m$). Además, la digestibilidad de las emulsiones fue mayor utilizando Tween 20 (42%) que lecitina de soja (23%), pero la bioaccesibilidad de las antocianinas encapsuladas (23%) no se vio afectada por el tipo de emulsionante utilizado. La adición de polisacáridos en la fase acuosa externa de las emulsiones dobles disminuyó el tamaño de partícula e incrementó la eficiencia de encapsulación y la estabilidad de los sistemas a lo largo del tiempo. Además, mejoró la estabilidad de los compuestos encapsulados e incrementando su bioaccesibilidad.

La concentración de emulsionante (lecitina de soja) fue determinante para conseguir emulsiones altamente concentradas estables conteniendo curcuminoides, siendo 0.1 el ratio emulsionante-aceite óptimo. Las emulsiones altamente concentradas incrementaron la biodisponibilidad oral de los curcuminoides en ratas 10.6 veces, en comparación con la suspensión control. La curcumina se detectó en forma glucuronidada en plasma, presentando los valores máximos (\approx 217-260 ppm) entre las 2 h y las 4 h postadministración. Por otro lado, en los órganos, la curcumina se observó mayoritariamente en forma libre (la que presenta mayor actividad biológica), especialmente en el tejido adiposo pardo (193 ng/g).

Por lo general, aquellas nanoemulsiones conteniendo nanopartículas líquidas a temperatura ambiente (aceite de maíz o miglyol) presentaron un tamaño de partícula menor que aquellas que contenían nanopartículas sólidas (aceite de palma o aceite de coco). Además, aquellas conteniendo aceites de cadena media (miglyol o aceite de coco) presentaron tamaños menores que aquellas formuladas con aceites de cadena larga (aceite de maíz o aceite de palma). El estudio *in vivo* reveló que, tras la administración oral de las nanoemulsiones, aquellas formuladas con aceite de maíz fueron las más efectivas para incrementar la absorción de curcumina en el intestino de las ratas y aumentar la distribución del compuesto en los órganos. La curcumina se halló

principalmente en forma glucuronidada en el plasma, siendo 1612 ng/mL la máxima concentración observada. Sin embargo, en los diferentes órganos, la curcumina se detectó mayoritariamente en forma libre, siendo el tejido adiposo pardo el órgano con mayor acumulación (1400 ng/g).

Los resultados obtenidos en esta tesis doctoral proporcionan conocimiento nuevo sobre el diseño de sistemas basados en emulsiones para incrementar la biodisponibilidad de compuestos bioactivos con alto valor biológico. Esta información es de gran relevancia para seguir investigando en la obtención de sistemas que permitan proteger estos compuestos, e incrementar su absorción y biodistribución, especialmente en órganos donde pueden tener un impacto positivo en la prevención o tratamiento de enfermedades.

ABSTRACT

Bioactive compounds have been shown to present multiple biological properties beneficial for human health. Unfortunately, these compounds are easily degraded and show low absorption and bioavailability. Research performed in recent years has shown that different emulsion-based systems (nanoemulsions, multiple emulsions, highly concentrated emulsions, nanoparticles, etc.) are useful to protect these compounds and increase their absorption. However, the composition of these systems seems to have a major impact on their properties and functionality. Therefore, this doctoral thesis aimed to study how the composition (emulsifier type, oil concentration, presence of polysaccharides, type and physical state of the oil) affects the properties and stability of different types of emulsions, as well as the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of the encapsulated bioactive compounds.

In general, by using protein emulsifiers (whey protein and sodium caseinate) nanoemulsions with smaller particle size and lower electrical charge were obtained rather than using phosphorlipid emulsifiers (soybean lecithin), although the effect depended on other parameters such as oil concentration. Moreover, nanoemulsions containing protein emulsifiers showed a higher lipid digestibility due to smaller droplet size in the gut, and a higher bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound in vitro (\approx 64% for β -carotene and \approx 67% for curcumin). As a result, after the oral administration in rats, protein nanoemulsions better increased the β -carotene absorption and the biodistribution of its active form (retinol) in different organs, especially in the liver (\approx 3250 ng/g). Furthermore, it was observed that by increasing the oil concentration in nanoemulsions the digestibility of the system was reduced and, consequently, the bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound was lower. The effect of the polysaccharide was different depending on the type used. The addition of pectin decreased the stability of nanoemulsions and increased the bioaccessibility of β -carotene (by 12%). In contrast, the addition of alginate significantly increased the stability of the system and the compound during digestion but decreased lipid digestibility and curcumin bioaccessibility (by 40%).

In double emulsions, the effect of the emulsifier type was also noticeable. Double

emulsions containing Tween 20 as emulsifier presented smaller particle sizes (4.4 μ m) than those containing soybean lecithin (5.7 μ m). In addition, the digestibility of emulsions was higher using Tween 20 (42%) than lecithin (23%), but the bioaccessibility of the encapsulated anthocyanins (23%) was not affected by the type of emulsifier used. The addition of polysaccharides in the external aqueous phase of double emulsions reduced the particle size and increased the encapsulation efficiency and the physical stability of the systems over time. In addition, it improved the stability of the systems during gastrointestinal digestion, preventing the degradation of the encapsulated compounds and increasing their bioaccessibility.

The concentration of the emulsifier (soybean lecithin) was decisive to achieve stable highly concentrated emulsions containing curcuminoids, with 0.1 being the optimal surfactant-oil ratio. The highly concentrated emulsions increased the oral bioavailability of curcuminoids in rats by 10.6-fold compared to the control suspension. Curcumin was detected in the glucuronidated form in plasma, presenting the maximum concentration values ($\approx 217-260$ ppm) between 2 h and 4 h post-administration. Nevertheless, curcumin was mostly found in its free form (the form with the highest biological activity) in the organs, especially in brown adipose tissue (193 ng/g).

In general, nanoemulsions containing liquid lipid nanoparticles at room temperature (corn oil or miglyol) had a smaller particle size than those containing solid lipid nanoparticles (palm oil or coconut oil). In addition, those containing medium-chain oils (miglyol or coconut oil) presented smaller a smaller particle size than those containing long-chain oils (corn oil or palm oil). The *in vivo* study revealed that, after oral administration of nanoemulsions, those formulated with corn oil were the most effective in increasing the absorption of curcumin in the intestine of the rats and the biodistribution of the compound in the organs. Curcumin was mainly found in the glucuronidated form in plasma, with 1612 ng/mL being the highest concentration observed. However, in the different organs, curcumin was mostly detected in the free form, with brown adipose tissue being the organ with the highest accumulation (1400 ng/g).

The results obtained in this doctoral thesis provide novel insights into the design of

emulsion-based systems to increase the bioavailability of bioactive compounds with high biological value. This information is of great relevance to continue with the research on the development of systems to protect these compounds and increase their absorption and biodistribution, especially in organs where they can play a relevant role in the prevention or treatment of diseases.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
<i>Literature review.</i> Emulsion-based delivery systems to enhance the functionality of bioactive compounds: towards the use of ingredients from natural, sustainable sources
Foods 12 (2023):1502
HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES
MATERIAL AND METHODS
PUBLICATIONS
Chapter I
Improving the in vitro bioaccessibility of β -carotene using pectin added nanoemulsions
Foods 9 (2020): 447
Chapter II
Enhancing the gastrointestinal stability of curcumin by using sodium alginate-based nanoemulsions containing natural emulsifiers
International Journal of Molecular Sciences 24 (2022) 498
Chapter III
Enhancing in vivo retinol bioavailability by incorporating β -carotene from alga Dunaliella salina into nanoemulsions containing natural-based emulsifiers
Food Research International 164 (2023): 112359
Chapter IV
Effect of the emulsifier used in Dunaliella salina-based nanoemulsions formulation on the β -carotene absorption and metabolism in rats
Molecular Nutrition & Food Research (2023): 2200492
Chapter V
Encapsulation and controlled release of phycocyanin during the in vitro digestion

using polysaccharide-added double emulsions ($W_1/O/W_2$)					
Food Structure 31 (2022): 100249					
Chapter VI					
Highly-concentrated emulsions to increase curcumin bioavailability and biodistribution in rats					
Chapter VII					
In vivo oral bioavailability and biodistribution of curcuminoids encapsulated in solid- and liquid- lipid nanoparticles as affected by the type of oil					
GENERAL DISCUSSION					
CONCLUSIONS					
FUTURE RESEARCH					
ANNEXES					
Annex I					
The effect of sodium carboxymethylcellulose on the stability and bioaccessibility of anthocyanin water-in-oil-in-water emulsions					

Food and Bioprocess Technology 11 (2018): 2229-2241

INTRODUCTION

Literature review

Emulsion-based delivery systems to enhance the functionality of bioactive compounds: towards the use of ingredients from natural, sustainable sources.

Júlia Teixé-Roig, Gemma Oms-Oliu, Isabel Odriozola-Serrano, Olga Martín-Belloso*

Foods 12 (2023):1502

Abstract

In recent years, the trend in the population towards consuming more natural and sustainable foods has increased significantly. This claim has led to the search for new sources of bioactive compounds and extraction methods that have less impact on the environment. Moreover, the formulation of systems to protect these compounds is also focusing on the use of ingredients of natural origin. This article reviews novel, natural alternative sources of bioactive compounds with a positive impact on sustainability. In addition, it also contains information on the most recent studies based on the use of natural (especially from plants) emulsifiers in the design of emulsion-based delivery systems to protect bioactive compounds. The properties of these natural-based emulsion-delivery systems, as well as their functionality, including *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies, are also discussed. This review provides relevant information on the latest advances in the development of emulsion delivery systems based on ingredients from sustainable natural sources.

Keywords: emulsions, delivery-systems, bioactive compounds, sustainability, plantbased

1. Introduction

Bioactive compounds such as carotenoids, polyphenols, or polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) have been found to reduce the risk of cardiovascular diseases, cancer, and other diseases (Bazzano et al., 2003; Potter, 2005). This positive effect has been correlated to the different biological activities of these compounds, which are present in plant-based foods such as fruits, vegetables, tea, and wine, among others (Eggersdorfer & Wyss, 2018; Liu, 2013). Moreover, promising novel sustainable sources of these compounds have emerged in recent years, with microalgae and agrifood residues being sources of high interest. However, most bioactive compounds are prone to degradation and present low bioavailability (Hu et al., 2018; Shishir et al., 2018). To overcome these problems, encapsulation techniques can be very useful, as they increase the stability and functionality of these valuable compounds (Baysal et al., 2022; Vieira et al., 2020). Among them, emulsion-based delivery systems have been widely used, with some examples being nanoemulsions (Fan et al., 2017; Yao et al., 2021; Zheng et al., 2019), highly-concentrated emulsions (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019), or double emulsions (Aditya et al., 2015; Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019; Giroux et al., 2016). These encapsulation systems have been shown to provide high stability to encapsulated compounds, as well as to increase their bioaccessibility and bioavailability.

Initially, emulsion-delivery systems were obtained mostly by using synthetic ingredients, leading to high stability of the resultant systems. However, in recent years, consumers have become aware of the impact of synthetic ingredients on health and on the environment, increasing the demand for food products containing ingredients from natural sources. For that reason, the design of emulsion-based delivery systems must go forward with the use of components of natural origin, with emulsifiers being included in the main focus. Indeed, most synthetic emulsifiers used in the formulation of these systems have been proven to be associated with health problems and toxic symptoms with a long administration. It has been observed that these emulsifiers could bind to proteins, enzymes, and phospholipid membranes in the human body, producing alterations such as enzyme dysfunction or protein structure modification and phospholipids in the membrane cell (Dammak et al., 2020; Gao et al., 2016). In addition, the use of natural ingredients, which are obtained from plants and algae, can help to take

an important step towards more sustainable and clean-label products. While synthetic ingredients are associated with environmental issues due to their low biodegradability (Garcia et al., 2016), natural ingredients such as proteins, polysaccharides, phospholipids, or saponins that are obtained from renewable sources can be a feasible alternative (McClements et al., 2017).

Therefore, the aim of this article is, first, to provide a general overview of the most innovative sources from which to obtain bioactive compounds in a more sustainable way. Second, this paper also reviews recent advances in the use of natural emulsifiers to obtain stable emulsion-based delivery systems with optimal functionality.

2. Bioactive compounds

In recent years, purified extracts obtained from plants, fruits, and vegetables have been used as bioactive compounds, both lipophilic and hydrophilic. However, in recent years, the search for more sustainable foods has focused the attention on the use of alternative sources to obtain bioactive compounds. Among these natural alternatives, the use of microalgae seems to be a suitable source from which to obtain these bioactive compounds due to the fast growth, high yield, and short cultivation time of microalgae (Wang et al., 2022) (Figure 1). In addition, residues from the agrifood industry are promising sources of these compounds with biological activity. This form of residue valorisation would represent a new conceptualisation of sustainability in the food chain, moving from a linear to a circular economy and allowing the possibility of advancing the use of co-products to generate new and safe value-added products (Cádiz-Gurrea et al., 2020).



Figure 1. Bioactive compounds from microalgae and agrifood residues.

2.1. Novel Alternative Sources of Bioactive Compounds

2.1.1. Microalgae

These organisms produce metabolites which have been associated with relevant health benefits (Ampofo & Abbey, 2022). In general, these metabolites are produced as a response to environmental stress and include carotenoids, polyunsaturated fatty acids, phenolics, chlorophylls, and peptides, among others.

- Carotenoids: It has been found that microalgae can produce and accumulate carotenoids, with *Chlorophyceae* being the dominant carotenoid-producing group of xanthophylls and carotenes (Sui et al., 2021). Specifically, *Dunaliella salina* and *Haematococcus pluvialis* are commonly used for high-value carotenoid production due to their high content of carotenoids such as β -carotene and astaxanthin, which can represent up to 14% of the microalgae dry biomass (Tamaki et al., 2021). Other compounds such as lutein have been identified in *Muriellopsis sp.*, although the concentrations were lower (0.4% to 0.6% per dry biomass) (D'Alessandro & Antoniosi Filho, 2016).

- Polyunsaturated fatty acids: In microalgae, fatty acids cover the largest percentage of

total lipids, with polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) representing 20-60% of the total lipids (Liang et al., 2019). *Spirulina* and *Chlorella* are valuable sources of PUFAs such as docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), arachidonic acid (ARA), alpha-lipoic acid (ALA), and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) (Zhou et al., 2022). Microalgae can represent an interesting vegan source of fatty acids that, up to date, have been obtained mostly from animal sources such as fish oil.

- Phenolic compounds: Although high concentrations have been observed in macroalgae, microalgae such as *Chlorella* or *Arthrospira* have been found to contain appreciable levels of phenolic compounds. However, according to the literature, the concentration in microalgae present significant variations due to species type, cultivation conditions, and techniques used for extraction, identification, and quantification (Ampofo & Abbey, 2022).

- Chlorophylls: These natural green pigments are crucial in photosynthetic organisms for harvesting energy from sunlight and can be classified as a, b, or c (Ampofo & Abbey, 2022). However, chlorophyll c is present only in brown algae and not in green algae. Among microalgae species, *Chlorella* is the main producer of chlorophyll, with other species such as *Spirulina* and *Arthrospira* producing limited concentrations (Khanra et al., 2018).

- Peptides: Microalgal proteins have been demonstrated to be a source of bioactive peptides after enzymatic hydrolysis. Due to their differentiated sequential, structural, and compositional properties, microalgae peptides exert a list of positive health effects such as antioxidant, antihypertensive, antitumor, and immunomodulatory effects (Hamidi et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2022).

In summary, microalgae are a promising source of multiple bioactive compounds that can be isolated via various extraction methods. Moreover, they can grow in non-potable water and agriculturally non-productive land, in addition to presenting greater surface productivity and photosynthetic efficiency compared to terrestrial crops (Chisti, 2007; Larkum, 2010).

2.1.2. Co-products from agrifood industry

During the various stages of food production, the agrifood industry generates large amounts of residues which contain bioactive compounds that present beneficial biological activities for human health (Chaouch & Benvenuti, 2020; Chauhan et al., 2021; Lemes et al., 2022). The main bioactive compounds that can be obtained as agrifood co-products can be classified into carotenoids, phenolic compounds, chlorophylls, and dietary fibre.

- Carotenoids: Various agrifood residues such as tomato peel (Silva et al., 2019), guarana peel (Pinho et al., 2021) or peel, and the pulp of citrus fruits (Agócs et al., 2007) have been found to contain carotenoids such as lycopene, β -carotene, or lutein. According to these authors, these agrifood residues can contain variable concentrations that can be up to 60% carotenoids per unit of dry weight.

- Phenolic compounds: A variety of phenolic compounds such as flavonoids, phenolic acids, and lignans has been found in different agrifood residues from fruit and vegetables. The waste parts in which they have been identified include pomace (Castellanos-Gallo et al., 2022), leaves (Baccouri et al., 2023), seeds (da Costa et al., 2020), peel, or husk (Nazeam et al., 2020).

- Chlorophylls: These green pigment compounds, which can be classified as chlorophyll a, b, or c, have been found in residues from different vegetables, especially in the leaves. As an example, chlorophyll a and b, in concentrations ranging from 1132.33 to 1795.93 ppm, were detected as co-products from olive leaves (Bahloul et al., 2014; Flamminii et al., 2019). However, higher concentrations have been detected in the leaf residues from broccoli (Liu et al., 2018) (up to 4477.9 μ g/g dry weight) or asparagus (Chitrakar et al., 2020) (up to 5096 μ g/g dry weight).

- Dietary fibre: Both soluble and insoluble fibre have been found in residues from vegetables such as artichoke, carrot, or pepper (Vaz et al., 2022), as well as fruits such as guava or passion fruit (Casarotti et al., 2018). However, most of these residues contained higher amounts of the insoluble fraction rather than the soluble one. In addition, diverse cereal residues have been found to contain soluble (beta-glucans) and

insoluble dietary fibres (such as cellulose or lignin) in variable concentrations (Fărcaș et al., 2022).

Therefore, several bioactive compounds can be obtained as co-products of agrifood residues of diverse origins such as vegetables, fruits, or cereals. The use of these residues as co-products implies an improvement in the production process, focusing it on a circular economy of high value for more sustainable production.

2.2. Extraction methods of bioactive compounds

Many extraction methods have been developed to isolate bioactive compounds from various matrices. Among them, there are some called "conventional extraction methods", which have been widely used to obtain these valuable compounds. Some of them are Soxhlet, maceration, hydrodistillation, infusion, or decoction. However, these methods present some limitations such as the thermal destruction of compounds, the use of high amounts of solvent, long extraction times, and a negative impact on the environment. To overcome these challenges, novel methods that are also called "green extraction techniques" have been developed. These methods provide better environmental, health, and safety properties since they use lower temperatures during extraction, shorter times, higher extraction yield, and better extraction efficiency (Banožić et al., 2020). Some of the recent technologies that have shown less solvent and energy usage are ultrasound-assisted extraction, hydrodynamic cavitation-assisted extraction, microwave-assisted extraction, supercritical fluid extraction, liquid biphasic flotation extraction, cloud point extraction, pulsed electric field, high voltage electrical discharge, and instant controlled pressure drops (More et al., 2022). Moreover, it has been found that the hybridisation of extraction by combining two or more green extraction technologies provides excellent separation of bioactive compounds.

It is well known that the efficiency of the extraction depends on several factors, including extraction technique, plant component matrix properties, extraction solvent, temperature, pressure, and time, among others (Drosou et al., 2015). Therefore, the extraction methods differ greatly depending on the matrix where the compounds have to be isolated. In general, conventional methods are the most widely used, although in recent years, the use of green technologies such as ultrasound-assisted extraction (Fan

et al., 2022), microwave extraction (Low et al., 2020), or supercritical CO_2 extraction has increased substantially. By using these techniques, the extraction of bioactive compounds from microalgae and agrifood residues has been shown to be highly efficient, and the extraction times have been reduced. Moreover, there are other technologies such as liquid biphasic flotation, pulsed electric fields, and high-voltage electrical discharge that are being investigated and have shown promising results, although some of them are still under lab-scale research (More et al., 2022).

3. Emulsion-based delivery systems to carry bioactive compounds

As mentioned, bioactive compounds are easily degraded by multiple factors, so various emulsion-based delivery systems have been investigated to protect them. One of the most relevant properties of these systems is that they need to present high biocompatibility. This means that they cannot be toxic, but they should also fulfil a planned role in the biological environment (Kubiak, 2022). These systems can be classified depending on their structure into different groups (Table 1 and Figure 2), with some of the most used systems to encapsulate bioactives as follows:

- Simple emulsions and nanoemulsions. Emulsions consist of two immiscible liquids, with one of the liquids dispersed as small spherical droplets in the other, and they have been used to encapsulate different bioactive compounds such as vitamin E (Wang et al., 2023) or curcumin (Zhang et al., 2023), among others. Nanoemulsions, which are emulsions containing nanometric-size oil droplets ranging from 50 to 500 nm, have been shown to present higher stability over time and higher digestibility than conventional emulsions due to the greater surface area exposed to intestinal enzymes (Mason et al., 2006; Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013a). These systems have been widely studied to increase the bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs such as carotenoids (Luo et al., 2022; Teixé-Roig et al., 2023) or vitamin D (Kadappan et al., 2018) because authors have found that after reducing the particle size of fat globules, the drug solubility and absorption of the encapsulated compounds was greater (Harwansh et al., 2019). Moreover, nanoemulsions have been shown to have increased encapsulation stability during storage compared to conventional emulsions due to their more stable structure (Teixé-Roig et al., 2020). Simple emulsions can be formed by using low-energy or high-energy methods, with the latter being the most used to produce emulsion-based delivery systems. Low-energy

methods (phase inversion temperature method, phase inversion composition method, etc.) are based on the spontaneous emulsion formation under specific system compositions or environmental conditions. In contrast, high-energy methods are based on the use of intense mechanical forces to break up droplets into smaller droplets and are performed by using homogenisers such as high-shear mixers, high-pressure homogenisers, colloid mills, ultrasonic homogenisers, and membrane homogenisers. Nanoemulsions have been used to encapsulate bioactive compounds with low bioavailability to be administered via different routes such as parenteral, oral, nasal, or topical routes. Moreover, they have also been used as edible coatings and to encapsulate flavouring agents or preservatives in food products and have also been applied in the cosmetic and pharmaceutical fields (Ozogul et al., 2022).

- Double emulsions. These emulsions belong to the group of multiple emulsions since they contain an emulsion structure with coexisting water-in-oil (W/O) and oil-in-water (O/W) morphologies. Double emulsions can be prepared via a one-step or two-step emulsification procedure, with the latter being the most used. In the one-step emulsification method, strong mechanical agitation is required to induce phase inversion. In contrast, in the two-step emulsification method, the first step consists of the formation of a simple emulsion by using high-shear devices including ultrasonicators, highpressure homogenisers or microfluidizers, among others. Afterwards, the third phase is added, and by using the same devices as in the first step, the double emulsion is formed (Muschiolik & Dickinson, 2017). Due to their structure, these systems allow the encapsulation of a lipophilic compound and a hydrophilic compound within the same emulsion, which can be an interesting strategy to encapsulate compounds with synergic activity (Aditya et al., 2015). These systems have been applied to encapsulate labile and/or bioactive compounds with low bioavailability (Han et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2022). Moreover, using double emulsions has been found to be an interesting strategy to produce fat-reduced products. However, these systems are sensitive and unstable, which can decrease the encapsulation efficiency. The main reasons for their instability are the free energy at the droplet level, osmotic pressure, and Laplace pressure (Heidari et al., 2022). To improve the stability of these systems, numerous strategies have been developed, such as adjusting the internal and external osmotic pressure by adding sugar or salts or increasing the viscosity (Eisinaite et al., 2018).

- Multi-layer emulsions. These emulsions present a simple emulsion structure (O/W or W/O) surrounded by multiple layers of biopolymers. For their preparation, the primary emulsion can be obtained by using the same methods that are used in simple emulsions. Afterwards, biopolymer layers of opposite charges, which act as a stabiliser, are normally constituted by the layer-by-layer electrostatic deposition technique (Kartal et al., 2017). These systems, which have been reported to contain two, three, or up to four layers of oppositely charged biopolymers, are prone to instability phenomena, with the solution pH being an important factor to prevent them during and after the formation of the interface (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2020; Guzey & McClements, 2006). To prevent instability processes such as bridging flocculation or depletion flocculation, which are observed when there is either an excess or lack of polyelectrolytes in the solution, different strategies can be employed: (1) the saturation method, to empirically determine the biopolymer concentration required to cover the oil droplets; (2) the centrifugation method, to remove the excess of non-adsorbed biopolymers by centrifuging; or (3) the filtration method, whereby the excess of non-adsorbed biopolymers is removed via membrane filtration (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2020). The application of multilayer emulsions has been limited compared with other emulsion-based systems. Few studies have investigated its potential to increase the bioavailability of bioactive compounds or control their release. However, due to their structure, they could be very useful in achieving concrete functional performances, offering a high level of control in triggering the release of the encapsulated compounds.



Figure 2. Different emulsion-based delivery systems to enclose bioactive compounds. Oil-inwater emulsions (a), oil-in-water nanoemulsions (b), Pickering emulsions (c), water-in-oil-in water double emulsions (d), solid-lipid nanoparticles (e), and multi-layer emulsions (f).

- Pickering emulsions. These encapsulation systems can present a simple or multiple emulsion structure and are not stabilised by surfactant molecules but by solid colloidal particles, either organic or inorganic, that should be partly wetted by oil and by water (Berton-Carabin & Schroën, 2015). As an example, they can be stabilised by using turmeric granules (Kubiak et al., 2021) or protein-based particles (Wang et al., 2022). To prepare Pickering emulsions, all emulsification processes that are used to prepare emulsions stabilised by surfactants can be applied. However, the most commonly used are rotor-stator homogenization, high-pressure homogenization, and sonication. Moreover, other techniques such as membrane emulsification and microfluidic emulsification have been recently applied. These emulsion-based systems present high stability and high biocompatibility without the addition of surfactants. Even under high stress, the shells covering the emulsion droplets have been found to remain in the systems (Khobaib et al., 2021; Mikkelsen & Rozynek, 2019; Wu & Ma, 2016). Moreover, they present an adjustable permeability, meaning that the release of the encapsulated bioactive compounds can be controlled under the action of external factors such as ultrasonic waves (Kubiak et al., 2020). Among the applications of Pickering emulsions, the encapsulation and protective storage of sensitive or low-bioavailable compounds

have been extensively investigated. Other applications include the construction of porous materials, three-dimensional (3D) printing, and their use as a substitute for partially hydrogenated oils (Wang et al., 2022).

- Solid-lipid nanoparticles (SLN) and nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC). SLN are simple emulsions that contain a solid lipid core. These systems are usually formed by using high-energy methods including the hot homogenization technique or cold homogenization technique. For the hot homogenization technique, the lipid is mixed with a hot aqueous solution by using a high-shear mixing device and treated with a highpressure homogeniser above the melting point of the lipid to obtain nanoparticles. For the cold homogenization technique, the lipid is cooled and crushed into lipid microparticles that are dispersed in a cold aqueous solution. The mixture is then treated with a high-pressure homogeniser at room temperature or below to obtain nanoparticles. SLN have been shown to present some advantages over systems that contain a liquid oil phase, as SLN provide higher chemical stability of the encapsulated compound and are more stable against lipid coalescence. Moreover, these systems may allow a controlled release of compounds since the drug mobility in a solid lipid should be considerably lower compared with a liquid oil (Mehnert & Mäder, 2012). Indeed, the application of these systems as carriers of labile and low-bioavailable compounds has been tested in vitro and in vivo (Baek & Cho, 2017; Harde et al., 2011). However, SLN are prone to aggregation and present a highly ordered structure of the crystals within that can promote the expulsion of the encapsulated bioactives, making them more prone to degradation (Das et al., 2012). To overcome these problems, NLC containing liquid lipid mixtures rather than pure solid lipid have been developed. In these systems, the mixture of lipids generates a less ordered crystal structure that allows accommodating more lipophilic bioactive compounds, increasing the encapsulation efficiency and reducing the adverse excretion caused by the polymeric transition (Shu et al., 2022).

Table 1. Preparation techniques, advantages, and limitations of different emulsion-based delivery systems.

System Type	Preparation Techniques	Particle Size	Advantages	Limitations	
Conventional emulsions	 High-energy (high-pressure homogenization, sonication, microfluidization). Low-energy methods (self- emulsification, phase inversio membrane emulsification). 	500 nm-100 ⁻ μm -	 Ease of preparation. Low cost. These emulsions can be used in their wet state or be dried to form powders, facilitating their transport and utilisation in some applications. 	 Prone to physical instability when exposed to environmental stresses such as heating, freezing, drying, pH extremes, etc. Limited control over the ability to protect and control the release of the encapsulated compounds. 	
Nanoemulsions	 High-energy (high-pressure homogenization, sonication, microfluidization). Low-energy methods (self- emulsification, phase inversio membrane emulsification). 	- <500 nm _ n,	 They can be easily incorporated into food systems since they are usually optically translucent. Higher physical stability than conventional emulsions to gravitational separation and aggregation. Increased surface area compared with conventional emulsions that enhances the digestibility, compound bioaccessibility, and bioavailability. Higher encapsulation efficiency and compound stability during storage time. 	 Some of the synthetic emulsifiers used to obtain small droplet sizes may be associated with health issues. These systems usually provide less chemical stability than structures with a solid lipid or multilayer emulsions. Limited control over the release of encapsulated compounds compared with more complex structures. 	
Multiple emulsion	 2-step procedure: emulsification of primary emulsion + addition of 3rd phase via homogenization (high-shear mixers, microfluidization, ultrasounds Low-energy methods (phase inversion). 	Micrometric -).	 Higher ability to protect and control the release of the encapsulated compounds. Possibility to reduce the overall fat content. Possibility to encapsulate lipophilic and hydrophilic within the same system, especially interesting for compounds with synergic effect. 	 Highly susceptible to breakdown during storage or when exposed to environmental stresses such as mechanical forces, thermal processing, etc. More difficult and expensive to prepare than conventional emulsions. The osmotic balance among the internal and external phases needs to be accurately controlled to avoid compound transfer. 	
Multilayer emulsions	 Obtention of the primary emulsion by homogenization biopolymer deposition by usir layer-by-layer approach. 	Nanometric - to - g micrometric -	 Improved physical stability to environmental stresses via control of the composition and properties of the interfacial layer. High chemical stability of encapsulated components. Greater control over the release rate of encapsulated compounds due to the ability to manipulate the thickness and properties of the interfacial layer. Ability to trigger release of functional agents in response to specific changes in environmental conditions. 	 The formation of stable multilayer emulsions requires careful control over the system composition and preparation procedures in order to avoid droplet aggregation. More ingredients and processing steps are required compared to conventional emulsion formation. These systems are usually more diluted than other systems because of the tendency towards flocculation. 	
Pickering emulsions	 High-shear homogenization. High-pressure homogenization Ultrasounds. 	Nanometric _{1.} to micrometric	Droplets are stabilised by solid particles, avoiding the use of surfactants.	 Modification performed on the solid particle stabiliser to adjust particle wettability can be expensive, time-consuming, and partially effective. 	
-	Microfluidization.Membrane emulsification.		 High control over the release of encapsulated compound, - their contents can be controlled under the action of external factors such as ultrasonic waves. 	 Some particle stabilisers need to be pre-treated via complex or toxic surface modification to be able to function as hydrophobic colloidal stabiliser. 	
--	--	-----------------	---	--	--
		-	- Shells covering the emulsion droplets in these systems have been found to be even when they undergo high stress		
- Solid-lipid nanoparticles (SLN) -	High-energy (high-pressure homogenization, sonication, microfluidization). Low-energy methods (self- emulsification, phase inversion, membrane emulsification).	50 nm-1 μm	 Improved chemical stability of labile compounds by trapping them within a structured solid matrix. High ability to control the delivery of lipophilic functional components. Possibility to obtain stable emulsion-based systems containing crystalline lipophilic components. These promote oral bioavailability of the entrapped compounds through selective lymphatic uptake. 	SLN must be prepared at elevated temperatures to avoid crystallisation of the lipid phase during the homogenization process, which can promote the degradation of heat-sensitive lipophilic components. The highly ordered crystalline structure can cause compound expulsion. The lipid used should present a high degree of saturation which can have implications to human health.	
- Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC)_	High-energy (high-pressure homogenization, sonication, microfluidization). Low-energy methods (self- emulsification, phase inversion, membrane emulsification).	10 nm–0.5 μm	 The partial crystal structure facilitates more space to accommodate bioactive ingredients, leading to less expulsion and higher loading capacity and controlled release of encapsulated carotenoid compounds. Higher encapsulation efficiency and high stability. High chemical stability of the encapsulated compounds. 	Most formulations include synthetic lipids or surfactants which can be associated with health issues. There is a lack of a proper method and scaleup techniques.	

Adapted from (Albert et al., 2019; McClements et al., 2007; Muschiolik & Dickinson, 2017)

4. Natural-based stabilisers for emulsion-based delivery systems

Emulsifiers play two key roles in the obtention of emulsion-based systems: emulsion formation and emulsion stabilisation. For emulsion formation, they need to be rapidly adsorbed, decrease the interfacial tensions, and facilitate droplet breakup. Moreover, emulsion stabilisers have to generate strong repulsive forces and provide a resistant interfacial layer, preventing droplet aggregation (McClements & Gumus, 2016). A hydrophilic-lipophilic balance (HLB) value is assigned to each emulsifier, which indicates its solubility in oil and/or water phases. Usually, a surfactant with a low HLB value (3-6) is predominantly hydrophobic and is more likely to stabilise W/O emulsions. In contrast, a surfactant with a high HLB number (10-18) is predominantly hydrophilic and better stabilises O/W emulsions. Finally, surfactants with an intermediate HLB number (7-9) have no particular preference for either oil or water (McClements, 2005).

In recent years, synthetic emulsifiers have been the most used to produce emulsionbased delivery systems for bioactive compounds, as these molecules can be rapidly adsorbed at the interface, efficiently reduce the interfacial tension, and provide systems with high stability (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013b; Shakeel et al., 2008; Yuan et al., 2008). Nevertheless, the consumption of these synthetic emulsifiers might induce health problems and may cause toxic symptoms after long administration periods (Grumezescu, 2017). For that reason, researchers focus on emulsion stabiliser ingredients from natural sources, which can be classified depending on their chemical structure in proteins, phospholipids, polysaccharides, or saponins.

4.1. Proteins

Most proteins from natural sources present an amphiphilic structure since they contain a mixture of polar and non-polar amino acids, which means that can be adsorbed into oil-water interfaces stabilising lipid droplets in emulsions. These emulsifiers tend to be bulkier and diffuse slower to the interface than small molecule emulsifiers, and higher concentrations are needed rather than with smaller molecular weight. However, once at the interface, they provide a strong viscoelastic film that resists mechanical stresses and provides electrostatic and steric stabilisation (Lam & Nickerson, 2013). Nevertheless, these natural emulsifiers have been found to be highly affected by pH changes and high

ionic strength, which can cause bridging flocculation of droplets (Delahaije et al., 2013; Ozturk et al., 2014). Regarding natural proteins, whey proteins and caseins from bovine milk have been widely used as emulsifiers, as they are effective for the stabilisation of emulsion-based systems (Flores-Andrade et al., 2021; Qi et al., 2022; Yerramilli & Ghosh, 2017). Recently, some researchers have focused on the use of plant-based proteins such as those from peas, lentils, or rice, to stabilise emulsion-based delivery systems since they are better for human health, the environment, and animal welfare (Tan & McClements, 2021). As an example, some authors have reported that despite being a poorly soluble protein, pea protein can be used to stabilise vitamin-D-loaded nanoemulsions after a pH-shifting and sonication treatment (Jiang et al., 2019). In this work, the authors reported small particle sizes < 150 nm and high UV radiation stability of vitamin D3. This highlights that the functionality of these molecules as emulsifiers can be improved by treating them before incorporating them into the delivery systems. Alternatively, rice bran protein was used as an emulsifier of quercetin-loaded nanoemulsions achieving reduced particle sizes (200 nm) and showing relatively high stability (Chen et al., 2020). In addition, recent studies have investigated the emulsifying capacity of proteins from algae such as Nannochloropsis gaditana, Tetraselmis impellucida, and Arthrospira platensis (Böcker et al., 2021; Silva et al., 2022; Teuling et al., 2019). In these works, proteins extracted from algae were shown to form stable emulsions at similar concentrations to proteins from other sources such as dairy or legumes. Indeed, the minimum particle size that was achieved was observed to be similar when comparing algae proteins to those from milk (Teuling et al., 2019). Moreover, emulsions containing a protein-rich extract from Arthrospira platensis as an emulsifier were shown to present a good emulsifying capacity and provided emulsions with physical stability for up to 30 days. Thus, the use of protein-rich algae extracts as emulsifiers presents an added value since the proteins that they contain can act as emulsion stabilisers, but they also contain great amounts of bioactive compounds.

4.2. Phospholipids

Phospholipids have non-polar and polar regions within the same molecule, so they are amphiphilic molecules that can adsorb to oil-water interfaces and stabilise lipid droplets. Phospholipid-based emulsifiers used in the food industry are usually called lecithins.

This emulsifier type, which is a major component of cell membranes, can be obtained from both vegetal and animal sources. However, most of the research focused on emulsion-based delivery systems has been performed by using lecithins from vegetal sources, mainly soybean, sunflower, and cottonseed. The HLB of lecithins can be different depending on the phospholipid composition, but the values are usually approximately 8. This means that these emulsifiers can stabilise both O/W and W/O interfaces. Moreover, lecithins stabilise emulsion-based systems via electrostatic repulsion, so when they are adsorbed at the interface, they provide highly negative charges. As an example, Gao et al. (2020) observed extremely negative ζ -potential (-70 mV) and particle sizes < 250 nm when soy lecithin was used at concentrations higher than 2% in nanoemulsions that were based on fractionated coconut oil. Moreover, this emulsifier type has been found to be highly effective in reducing the interfacial tension. Indeed, soy lecithin has been found to be more effective than whey protein or gum Arabic in reducing the interfacial tension, showing the lowest particle size when preparing oil-in-water nanoemulsions that encapsulate paprika oleoresin (< 140 nm) (Flores-Andrade et al., 2021). Moreover, these authors reported that lecithin nanoemulsions were highly stable when exposed to temperatures (40-80 °C) but were affected by the ionic strength, showing an increase in the particle size and loss of negative electrical charge. Lecithin nanoemulsions have been shown to be stable at a wide range of pH values, presenting no instability phenomena for 7 days at various studied pH values (Mantovani et al., 2013). Indeed, some authors have reported that lecithin emulsions presented a low particle size (< 200 nm) at a pH range of 3-8 and a negative ζ -potential, especially at a pH > 4, which was about -60 mV (Ozturk et al., 2014). Moreover, by using this emulsifier over 1% w/w, long-term stable nanoemulsions (up to 86 days) were obtained, which were able to efficiently entrap curcumin within, preventing its autoxidation and, hence, maintaining the antioxidant capacity of the bioactive compound (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018). Soybean lecithin has been found to be also effective in stabilising the oil-water interface of double emulsions. Indeed, by using this emulsifier, emulsions with a particle size of about 4 µm and a phycocyanin encapsulation efficiency of 82% were achieved (Teixé-Roig et al., 2022). Therefore, lecithins seem to be a highly valuable emulsifier since they are highly efficient in reducing interfacial tension and providing systems with high stability over time. Moreover, emulsion-based delivery systems containing these emulsifiers seem to be

more stable to external factors such as pH or temperature compared to others such as proteins.

4.3. Polysaccharides

Some polysaccharides from natural sources can also be useful as emulsifiers since they present an amphiphilic structure that can adsorb at the water-in-oil interface and help to stabilise the system (Shao et al., 2020). Moreover, most of them are of vegetal origin, so they can be used in plant-based products. This type of emulsifiers generally present good pH, salt concentration, and temperature stability, but they need to be used in higher amounts to stabilise emulsion-based systems and produce small particles due to their large molecular weight and dimensions (McClements, 2005). When polysaccharides are adsorbed at the interface, they form relatively thick layers that provide steric repulsion, so they are less affected by changes in pH and ionic strength than proteins (McClements & Gumus, 2016). Among them, Arabic gum has been widely used and has been shown to reduce interfacial tension, providing emulsions with particle sizes $< 1 \mu m$. However, this polysaccharide seems to be less effective in reducing the particle size and preventing the degradation of the encapsulated carotenoids than others such as whey protein or lecithin (Flores-Andrade et al., 2021). Nevertheless, it provides emulsions with better flocculation stability at different pH values, high ionic strength, and high temperatures than those containing whey protein as an emulsifier due to their steric stabilising mechanism (Ozturk et al., 2015). Therefore, it seems that polysaccharides such as Arabic gum can be potential emulsifiers to obtain stable systems against external factors but present some disadvantages, such as the low stability of the encapsulated compound and higher particle sizes when compared with proteins or phospholipids. Moreover, a natural hydrocolloid exudated by the bark of Cercidium praecox tree (Brea gum) has been found to produce emulsions with even more stability than Arabic gum at the same concentration, which was attributed mainly to its higher viscosity (Castel et al., 2017). Another polysaccharide that is widely used in the food industry is pectin, which has been reported to present emulsifying properties, although the particle sizes that were achieved were not in the range of nanoemulsion (Verkempinck et al., 2018). However, a recent work has reported that extracts from avocado residues (from peel and seeds) that are rich in phenolic compounds presented a higher interfacial activity than that of low-methoxyl

pectin (Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2021). Thus, this work demonstrated the advantages of agrifood residues as a source of polysaccharides with emulsifying properties but with added value due to the high content of bioactive compounds that reduced lipid oxidation. In the same way, polysaccharides isolated from seaweed have also been tested as emulsifiers that are rich in bioactive compounds. As an example, polysaccharides from alga *Ulva fasciata* have been tested as emulsifiers in β -carotene-loaded emulsions, showing particle sizes of about 0.8 μ m and < 10% of encapsulated compound degradation for 4 days at 4 °C (Shao et al., 2017). Other algae polysaccharides such as fucoidan have been found to have a good emulsifying capacity, especially when isolated by using microwaves, presenting also antioxidant activity (Alboofetileh et al., 2022; Saravana et al., 2016). This polysaccharide has shown to form emulsions with higher stability and fucoxanthin encapsulation efficiency than Arabic gum (Oliyaei et al., 2022). Moreover, it has been used in combination with other biopolymer, forming complexes. As an example, Jamshidi et al. (2018) used whey protein-inulin-fucoidan complexes to stabilise double emulsions and concluded that the presence of fucoidan had a significant influence on the nutritional quality and oxidative stability.

4.4. Saponins

Saponins are relatively small amphiphilic molecules that are mostly obtained from plants and that consist of a hydrophobic aglycone and a hydrophilic sugar moiety (Augustin et al., 2011). These plant-based emulsifiers appear to be highly effective at forming small droplets that are stable over a wide range of conditions (pH, ionic strength, and temperature) (Ozturk et al., 2014). These emulsifiers, which have been shown to provide steric and electrostatic stabilisation, can form interfacial layers with a high dilatational elasticity, inhibiting droplet deformation and coalescence. Among them, saponins obtained from the bark of the *Quillaja saponaria* tree have been shown to reduce the interfacial tension in the oil-water interface faster and to a higher extent than other emulsifiers such as lecithin, whey protein, or Arabic gum, rendering to emulsions with a smaller particle size (Bai et al., 2016). The use of this emulsifier has been compared with saponins extracted from other plants: *Tribulus terrestris*, *Trigonella foenumgraecum*, and *Ruscus aculeatus* (Schreiner et al., 2021). These authors reported the best results by using the *Tribulus terrestris* extract and highlighted the use of saponin-rich extracts as potential emulsifiers due to their similar or even additional functional properties than saponin pure forms, avoiding complex extraction and purification treatments. In another work, by using tea saponin extract from *Camellia lutchuensis* (51.8 wt% saponin content) stable emulsions were obtained in a pH range of 3-9 and thermal processing from 30 °C to 90 °C (Zhu et al., 2019).

5. Functionality of emulsion-based delivery systems containing natural emulsifiers

5.1. In vitro lipid digestibility and bioactive compound bioaccessibility

The lipid digestibility of emulsion-based delivery systems has a strong impact on the release and bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compounds. In that sense, it has been found that the emulsifier type can modulate the digestibility of emulsions. Depending on the emulsifier used, emulsions may present different initial properties (particle size, ζ -potential, viscosity, etc.), and their stability may vary during their pass through the gastrointestinal tract, affecting lipid digestibility (McClements & Li, 2010).

In recent years, the study of lipid digestibility and compound bioaccessibility in emulsions formulated by using natural emulsifiers has increased. Some authors have compared the use of natural emulsifiers with that of synthetics in the stability of emulsions and their gastrointestinal behaviour (Table 2). As an example, Lamothe et al. (2020) compared the digestibility of emulsions containing synthetic emulsifiers (cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB), Citrem) with that of natural emulsifiers (sodium caseinate, fish gelatin, Arabic gum, modified starch). These authors concluded that, by using some natural emulsifiers such as Arabic gum or sodium caseinate, the digestibility of emulsions was higher than by using synthetic emulsifiers such as CTAB or Citrem. In another work, soybean lecithin was shown to be more effective than synthetic emulsifiers such as Tween 20 or sucrose palmitate in increasing β -carotene bioaccessibility due to its contribution to the formation of mixed micelles and its solubilisation capacity (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019). In contrast, Tan et al. (2020) observed that lipid digestibility was higher when synthetic Tween 20 or quillaja saponin were used, compared to the other studied natural emulsifiers (lysolecithin, caseinate, or Arabic gum). However, these authors reported that emulsions containing caseinate presented

the same β -carotene bioaccessibility as those with Tween 20 (about 60%), which was attributed to the ability of that protein to inhibit oxidation. These results highlight that bioaccessibility depends not only on lipid digestibility but also on other aspects such as the protection of the compound against degradation or its incorporation into the mixed micelles. The use of gypenosides as a natural emulsifier has been compared to that of Tween 20 in emulsions encapsulating astaxanthin. In that work, gypenoside-emulsion presented lower digestibility and astaxanthin bioaccessibility than emulsion with Tween 20, although the stability of the compound was the same for both emulsions (Chen et al., 2018). The authors attributed the lower bioaccessibility when using the natural emulsifier to the lower digestibility and the possible inhibition of micelle formation due to the presence of gypenoside molecules. In double emulsions, novel natural emulsifiers have also been tested as a substitute for those synthetics. As an example, black bean protein (BBP) has been proposed as an effective emulsifier to increase the bioaccessibility of insulin and quercetin by 2.6- and 4.56-fold, respectively, compared to unencapsulated compounds (Han et al., 2022). Moreover, these authors found that BBP-emulsion showed the same lipid digestibility as the emulsion formulated with synthetic Tween 80.

Many authors have based their research on the use of natural emulsifiers, especially on those of plant origin (Table 2). For instance, the use of plant-based emulsifiers such as Arabic gum and quillaja saponin has been compared with that of one animal-based emulsifier (whey protein isolate) in emulsions enclosing vitamin E (Lv et al., 2019). The results showed that lipid digestion was equal for emulsions containing whey protein or Arabic gum but lower for those with saponins. The authors correlated the results to the high surface activity of saponins, which may have inhibited their removal by bile acids and lipase. Moreover, the highest Vitamin E bioaccessibility was achieved by using the animal emulsifier (85%), followed by plant-based emulsifiers (65%). In another work, curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions containing soybean lecithin or whey protein as emulsifiers presented the same lipid digestibility. However, the bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound was higher when whey protein was used than when soybean lecithin was used, which was attributed to the capacity of the proteins to better prevent the degradation of curcumin during digestion (Teixé-Roig et al., 2022). Comparison among different plant-based emulsifiers has also been performed by Yan et al. (2022),

who studied the digestibility of emulsions formulated with soybean lecithin (SBL) or hydrolysed rice glutelin (HRG) as emulsifiers. These authors reported that SBLemulsion was more stable against flocculation under gastric conditions and presented higher digestibility than HRG-emulsion under intestinal conditions. In the same way, other authors have studied the lipid digestion of emulsions containing Arabic gum, ghatti gum, or sugar beet pectin as emulsifiers (Yao et al., 2016). In this work, most Arabic gum-stabilised droplets were digested, but the extensive flocculation and coalescence of undigested droplets were observed in emulsions stabilised with the two other studied emulsifiers. Moreover, the authors attributed the differences in digestion rate among emulsions to their stability in the stimulated intestinal juice and the resistance of the interfacial layer against displacement by bile salts. In addition, emulsions that contained polysaccharides from alga *Ulva fasciata* presented higher digestibility and β -carotene bioaccessibility than emulsions that were formulated by using other polysaccharides such as Arabic gum or beet pectin, which was attributed to the small particle sizes of the former in the intestinal environment (Shao et al., 2017).

Thus, these studies reveal that the use of emulsifiers of natural origin allows obtaining emulsion-based delivery systems with a functionality comparable to that of systems formulated with synthetic emulsifiers. In addition, differences are observed among the natural emulsifiers studied, as they present diverse properties depending on their structure and origin. Nevertheless, it seems that those of plant origin are not as effective as those from milk in increasing the bioaccessibility of encapsulated compounds, although minimal research has been performed with plant-derived emulsifiers. Table 2. Recent studies on the lipid digestibility and compound bioaccessibility of emulsion-based delivery systems formulated with natural emulsifiers.

System Type	Emulsifiers Used	Encapsulated Compound	Main Findings	Reference
O/W emulsion	Soybean lecithin (SBL), hydrolysed rice glutelin (HRG)	None	SBL-emulsion was more stable against flocculation under gastric conditions and presented higher digestibility than HRG-emulsion.	(Yan et al., 2022)
O/W emulsion	Lysolecithin (LL), Arabic gum (AG), caseinate (SC), quillaja saponin (QS), Tween 20 (T20)	β-carotene	Digestibility was lower for the emulsions stabilised by LL or SC, than those stabilised by AG, QS, or T20. β-carotene bioaccessibility increased in the following order: LL < AG < SC < QS < T20.	(Tan et al., 2020)
O/W emulsion	Quillaja saponin (QS), Arabic gum (AG), whey protein isolate (WPI)	Vitamin E	Lipid digestion was slower in QS-emulsions, presumably because the high surface activity of saponins inhibited their removal by bile acids and lipase. Vitamin E bioaccessibility was higher in WPI- than in QS- or AG-emulsions.	(Lv et al., 2019)
O/W emulsion	Cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB), Citrem, sodium caseinate (SC), fish gelatin (FG), Arabic gum (AG), or modified starch (MS)	Linseed oil (rich in omega-3 PUFA)	Emulsions prepared with CTAB and GA were the most stable under gastric conditions, while those stabilised by proteins (SC or FG) and MS showed aggregation with partial coalescence in the gastric phase. AG-emulsion showed the highest FFA extent, followed by CTAB- and SC- emulsions.	(Lamothe et al., 2020)
O/W emulsion	Arabic gum (AG), ghatti gum (GG), or sugar beet pectin (SBP)	None	The digestion rate decreased in the following order: $AG > SBP > GG$. Differences were attributed to the stability of the emulsified lipid droplets in the stimulated intestinal juice and the resistance of interfacial layer against displacement by bile salts.	(Yao et al., 2016)
O/W emulsion	<i>Ulva fasciata</i> polysaccharide (UFP), Arabic gum (AG), or beet pectin (BP)	β-carotene	UFP-stabilised emulsion showed higher release extent of free fatty acids and bioaccessibility of carotenoids compared to BP and AG-stabilised emulsions.	(Shao et al., 2017)
O/W emulsion	Tween 80 (TW), phosphatidylcholine (PC), or citrus pectin (CP)	β-carotene	T80-emulsion presented a higher β -carotene bioaccessibility than those with PC or CP, and it was associated with the higher concentration of incorporated MAG and FFA into the micellar fraction by using T80-emulsion.	(Verkempinck et al., 2018)
W/O/W double emulsion	Lecithin (L), pectin (P), black bean protein (BBP), or Tween 80 (T80)	Insulin and quercetin	The BBP-stabilised double emulsion presented the lowest particle size during the GIT digestion. Moreover, it yielded a 2.60- and 4.56-fold increase in the bioaccessibility of insulin and quercetin, respectively, by increasing their chemical stability and solubility under simulated gastrointestinal conditions.	(Han et al., 2022)
W/O/W double emulsion	gelatin-epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG)- high methoxyl pectin ternary complex	Vitamin C	Gelatin-EGCG-high methoxyl pectin ternary complex had a better protective effect on vitamin C in the internal aqueous phase during in vitro simulated digestion. Compared with the W ₁ /O primary emulsion, the double emulsion effectively improved the bioavailability of vitamin C.	(Huang et al., 2022)

Multilayer emulsion	Quillaja saponin (QS), chitosan (CS), pectin (P)	Astaxanthin	Coating layers of CS and P improved the lipid stability during gastrointestinal digestion and reduced the release of free fatty acids (by nearly 20%). Meanwhile, the release of Astaxanthin was prolonged in the small intestine, and its final bioaccessibility was improved by the coating layers.	(Sun et al., 2023)
Multilayer emulsion	Sodium caseinate (SC), sulphated fucan (SF), ι-carrageenan (ICA), κ-carrageenan (KCA), or alginate (ALG)	None	All studied multilayer emulsions presented an increased digestibility compared to the primary emulsion. Moreover, the digestion rate and degree of multilayer emulsions decreased in the order of KCA > ALG \approx ICA > SF.	(Shi et al., 2023)
Pickering emulsion	Nanochitin (NCh)	Vitamin D ₃	NCh–Pickering emulsions presented lower digestibility and vitamin bioaccessibility than T80-emulsions as a consequence of flocculation, hindered access for lipase to reach lipid, and precipitation of mixed micelles.	(Zhou et al., 2020)
Pickering emulsion	Chitosan (CS)	Roasted coffee oil	CS nanoparticles were shown to be able to adsorb onto oil droplet surfaces, providing efficiency in encapsulating and protecting bioactive compounds during lipid digestion and increasing the bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds.	(Ribeiro et al., 2020)
Pickering emulsion	Nanofibrillated cellulose (NFC) or whey protein isolate (WPI)	Astaxanthin	Pickering emulsions containing 0.7% NFC presented higher compound stability during digestion than emulsions with 0.7% WPI. However, they presented the same astaxanthin bioaccessibility due to the reduced digestibility of NFC emulsions.	(Saechio et al., 2023)

5.2. In vivo bioavailability

In vitro studies are very helpful for obtaining information about the expected gastrointestinal stability and digestibility of emulsion-based delivery systems, as well as the bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound. However, *in vivo* studies are essential to obtain stronger conclusions and information about the absorption and metabolism of the encapsulated compound. For all that, some authors have investigated the oral bioavailability of different compounds enclosed in emulsion-based delivery systems. To date, most research that has been conducted to increase the bioavailability of bioactive compounds such as curcumin (Nazari-Vanani et al., 2017), β -carotene (Meng et al., 2019), or resveratrol (Pandita et al., 2014) by using different emulsion-based delivery systems has been performed by using synthetic emulsifiers. However, in the last years, *in vivo* research has been focused on emulsions formulated by using emulsifiers of natural origin (Table 3).

Among the emulsifiers of natural origin, those from milk have been widely used to study the in vivo bioavailability of bioactive compounds enclosed in different systems (Table 3). As an example, the use of different β -carotene-loaded emulsion delivery systems containing whey protein as an emulsifier has been investigated (Chen et al., 2021). The authors found that the bioavailability of β -carotene was higher when using nanoemulsions than when using macroemulsions or non-encapsulated β-carotene due to their greater capacity to promote the transportation and absorption of the compound in the digestive tract. In the same way, the carotenoid bioavailability was also increased by using excipient emulsions containing sodium caseinate as an emulsifier (Yao et al., 2021). Moreover, this study revealed that by increasing the oil content from 0.2 to 1 g, the carotenoid concentration in the plasma of rats increased from ≈ 40 ng/mL to ≈ 110 ng/mL. Therefore, it indicates that emulsifiers from milk are effective in increasing the bioavailability of lipophilic compounds such as carotenoids and that the oil content and the particle size have an effect on their bioavailability. Moreover, curcumin oral bioavailability was increased by 5-fold compared to the suspension, when adding chitosan and carboxymethyl konjac glucomannan to a whey-protein-stabilised emulsion to form a multilayer emulsion. In contrast, when the primary emulsion was used, curcumin oral bioavailability was only 1.95-fold greater than when the suspension was

used (Wang et al., 2021). However, interest in plant-derived emulsifiers has increased in response to demands from consumers with milk protein allergies or intolerances or those with a vegan diet.

Plant-based emulsifiers such as soybean lecithin have been incorporated into nanoemulsions designed to increase the bioavailability of carotenoids from microalga Dunaliella Salina (Table 3) (Teixé-Roig et al., 2023). In this study, nanoemulsions containing soybean lecithin increased the bioavailability of carotenoids compared to the control suspension, but better results were observed when whey proteins (by 2.8-fold) rather than soybean lecithin (by 2.15-fold) were used. Other vegetal emulsifiers such as pea protein have been used in combination with chitosan in the formulation of EPAloaded Pickering emulsions, and these vegetal emulsifiers were shown to be more effective in increasing the bioavailability of the enclosed compound than an emulsion containing Tween 80 (Ji et al., 2022). The use of saponins has been investigated in emulsions and nanoemulsions enclosing cholecalciferol (vitamin D3) or α -tocopherol (Vitamin E) that were orally administered to rodents. Parthasarathi et al. (2016) found that, by reducing the particle size of emulsions, the bioavailability of α -tocopherol was enhanced, being 3-fold higher in rats fed with the saponin-nanoemulsion rather than in those fed with the conventional saponin-emulsion. Moreover, saponin emulsions and nanoemulsions have been shown to increase the bioavailability of vitamin D3 by 36% and 73%, respectively (Kadappan et al., 2018), highlighting the relevance of emulsion particle size in increasing the bioavailability of closed compounds.

Table 3. Recent studies on the *in vivo* bioavailability of bioactive compounds enclosed in different emulsion-based delivery systems containing natural emulsifiers.

Bioactive Compound	Dose	System Type	Animal Model	Ingredients	Outcomes	Reference
β-carotene	1 mg/kg BW	O/W nanoemulsion	mice	10% corn oil; 2% whey protein isolate	Nanoemulsions increased transportation and absorption of β -carotene in the digestive tract compared to macroemulsions.	(Chen et al., 2021)
	60 mg/kg BW	O/W nanoemulsion	rat	30% corn oil; 12% whey protein isolate; or soybean lecithin	Nanoemulsions containing protein-based emulsifiers better increased the bioavailability of β-carotene than those containing soybean lecithin.	(Teixé-Roig et al., 2023)
Carotenoids (from fresh spinach puree)	1.0, 0.6, 0.2, and 0 g/kg BW	O/W nanoemulsion (excipient)	rat	10% oil (medium-chain triglyceride and long-chain triglyceride 1:1); 1% sodium caseinate	Carotenoid bioavailability was enhanced by increasing the lipid content due to the higher transfer efficiency of the carotenoids from spinach to fat droplets and mixed micelles.	(Yao et al., 2021)
Cholecalciferol (VD ₃)	4000 IU kg ⁻¹ supplementation	O/W emulsion or nanoemulsion	mice	10% corn oil; 2% quillaja saponin	Nano-based delivery system improved the bioavailability and homogeneity of VD absorption.	(Kadappan et al., 2018)
Coenzyme Q10	30 mg/kg BW	O/W nanoemulsion	rat	10% soybean oil; 1–10% lecithin	Incorporation of Coenzyme Q10 to nanoemulsions increased the bioavailability of the bioactive compound by 1.8-fold.	(Niu et al., 2020)
Tangeretin	100 mg/kg BW	O/W emulsion	rat	20% medium-chain triglyceride oil, whey protein concentrate, and gum Arabic, or cinnamaldehyde, or hydroxypropyl methylcellulose	Tangeretin bioavailability increased from 4- to 20-fold after encapsulation, especially in the presence of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose.	(Hu et al., 2021)
α-tocopherol	100 mg/kg BW	O/W emulsion, submicron emulsion and nanoemulsion	rat	10% sunflower oil; 0.1% saponins	By reducing the particle size of emulsions, the bioavailability of α -tocopherol was enhanced, which was 3 times higher when the nanoemulsion was used than when the emulsion was used.	(Parthasarathi et al., 2016)
EPA	60 mg/kg BW	Pickering emulsion	mice	60% oil; 4% pea protein–chitosan nanoparticles	EPA-loaded Pickering emulsions containing pea protein — chitosan nanoparticles were shown to be more effective in increasing EPA bioavailability than an emulsion containing Tween 80.	(Ji et al., 2022)
Curcumin	12 mg/kg BW	Multilayer emulsion	mice	10% medium chain oil and 90% WPI aqueous solution (1%), 0.2% chitosan (CS), and 0.1 carboxymethyl konjac glucomannan (CKG)	Emulsions coater with CKG or CS + CKG conferred a higher C_{max} value and improved the bioavailability of curcumin by up to 5-fold compared with free curcumin.	(Wang et al., 2021)

6. Concluding remarks and future perspectives

In recent years, much research has been performed to obtain bioactive compounds from alternative sources that contribute to food sustainability. Among them, microalgae and agrifood residues appear to be promising sustainable sources of pure or rich extracts to be used as ingredients to design novel functional foods. Moreover, novel green extraction methods are being developed to obtain these valuable compounds in a more safe and environmental-friendly way. Various encapsulation systems are being designed to protect these valuable compounds, with emulsion-based delivery systems being effective systems to increase their stability, bioaccessibility, and oral bioavailability. In general, the selection of the emulsion-based delivery system depends on the properties of the compound and the required functionality. Among the existing methods, novel systems such as Pickering emulsions or NLC have been found to provide higher chemical stability and higher control over the release of the encapsulated compounds compared to other systems such as conventional emulsions.

Some of the most recent *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have yielded results that reveal that emulsifiers from natural sources can be used as substitutes for those synthetics, improving the bioaccessibility and oral bioavailability of encapsulated compounds. In addition, although vegetal emulsifiers seem to provide emulsions with characteristics comparable to those of milk proteins, *in vitro* studies reveal that milk proteins seem to be more effective at increasing the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of the encapsulated bioactive compounds than those of vegetable origin. Nevertheless, most *in vivo* studies have been performed by using emulsions or nanoemulsions. Therefore, more research is required to evaluate the functionality of those more novel and complex systems containing ingredients from natural sources. Furthermore, in recent years, promising emulsifier molecules of plant and algae origin have been identified but have not yet been studied *in vivo*. Therefore, more studies are needed to determine the potential of these plant-derived molecules to increase the oral bioavailability of compounds with relevant biological properties.

Author Contributions: All the authors contributed to the manuscript; J.T.-R. was responsible for the bibliographic search and wrote the paper as principal author; G.O.-O., I.O.-S. and O.M.-B. contributed to the writing and correction of the paper. All authors

have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was funded by the project AGL2015-65975-R (FEDER, MINECO, UE) and project RTI2018-094268-B-C21 (MCIU, AEI; FEDER, UE).

Data Availability Statement: The data used to support the findings of this study can be made available by the corresponding author upon request.

Acknowledgments: Author Júlia Teixé-Roig thanks the University of Lleida and Banco Santander for the predoctoral grant.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- A. Vaz, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2022). Physicochemical Properties and Bioaccessibility of Phenolic Compounds of Dietary Fibre Concentrates from Vegetable By-Products. Foods, 11(17), 2578. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11172578
- Aditya, N. P., Aditya, S., Yang, H., Kim, H. W., Park, S. O., & Ko, S. (2015). Co-delivery of hydrophobic curcumin and hydrophilic catechin by a water-in-oil-in-water double emulsion. Food Chemistry, 173, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.09.131
- Agócs, A., Nagy, V., Szabó, Z., Márk, L., Ohmacht, R., & Deli, J. (2007). Comparative study on the carotenoid composition of the peel and the pulp of different citrus species. Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies, 8(3), 390–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2007.03.012
- Albert, C., Beladjine, M., Tsapis, N., Fattal, E., Agnely, F., & Huang, N. (2019). Pickering emulsions: Preparation processes, key parameters governing their properties and potential for pharmaceutical applications. In Journal of Controlled Release (Vol. 309, pp. 302–332). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.07.003
- Alboofetileh, M., Rezaei, M., Hamzeh, A., Tabarsa, M., & Cravotto, G. (2022). Cellular antioxidant and emulsifying activities of fucoidan extracted from Nizamuddinia zanardinii using different green extraction methods. Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, 46(12), e17238. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.17238
- Ampofo, J., & Abbey, Lord. (2022). Microalgae: Bioactive Composition, Health Benefits, Safety and Prospects as Potential High-Value Ingredients for the Functional Food Industry. In Foods (Vol. 11, Issue 12, p. 1744). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11121744
- Artiga-Artigas, M., Molet-Rodríguez, A., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Formation of Double (W 1 /O/W 2) Emulsions as Carriers of Hydrophilic and Lipophilic

Active Compounds. Food and Bioprocess Technology, 12(3), 422–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-018-2221-3

- Artiga-Artigas, María, Lanjari-Pérez, Y., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2018). Curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stability as affected by the nature and concentration of surfactant. Food Chemistry, 266, 466–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.06.043
- Artiga-Artigas, María, Montoliu-Boneu, J., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Factors affecting the formation of highly concentrated emulsions and nanoemulsions. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 578(June), 123577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2019.123577
- Augustin, J. M., Kuzina, V., Andersen, S. B., & Bak, S. (2011). Molecular activities, biosynthesis and evolution of triterpenoid saponins. In Phytochemistry (Vol. 72, Issue 6, pp. 435–457). Pergamon. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2011.01.015
- Baccouri, B., Mechi, D., Rajhi, I., & Vertedor, D. M. (2023). Tunisian Wild Olive Leaves: Phenolic Compounds and Antioxidant Activity as an Important Step Toward Their Valorization. Food Analytical Methods, 16(2), 436–444. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-022-02430-z
- Baek, J. S., & Cho, C. W. (2017). Surface modification of solid lipid nanoparticles for oral delivery of curcumin: Improvement of bioavailability through enhanced cellular uptake, and lymphatic uptake. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 117, 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.04.013
- Bahloul, N., Kechaou, N., & Mihoubi, N. B. (2014). Comparative investigation of minerals, chlorophylls contents, fatty acid composition and thermal profiles of olive leaves (Olea europeae L.) as by-product. Grasas y Aceites, 65(3), e035–e035. https://doi.org/10.3989/gya.0102141
- Bai, L., Huan, S., Gu, J., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Fabrication of oil-in-water nanoemulsions by dual-channel microfluidization using natural emulsifiers: Saponins, phospholipids, proteins, and polysaccharides. Food Hydrocolloids, 61, 703–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.06.035
- Banožić, M., Babić, J., & Jokić, S. (2020). Recent advances in extraction of bioactive compounds from tobacco industrial waste-a review. In Industrial Crops and Products (Vol. 144, p. 112009). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2019.112009
- Baysal, G., Olcay, H. S., Keresteci, B., & Özpinar, H. (2022). The antioxidant and antibacterial properties of chitosan encapsulated with the bee pollen and the apple cider vinegar. Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition, 33(8), 995–1011. https://doi.org/10.1080/09205063.2022.2031463
- Bazzano, L. A., Serdula, M. K., & Liu, S. (2003). Dietary intake of fruits and vegetables and risk of cardiovascular disease. In Current Atherosclerosis Reports (Vol. 5, Issue 6, pp. 492– 499). Current Science Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11883-003-0040-z
- Berton-Carabin, C. C., & Schroën, K. (2015). Pickering emulsions for food applications: Background, trends, and challenges. In Annual Review of Food Science and Technology (Vol. 6, pp. 263–297). Annual Reviews. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-081114-110822

- Böcker, L., Bertsch, P., Wenner, D., Teixeira, S., Bergfreund, J., Eder, S., Fischer, P., & Mathys, A. (2021). Effect of Arthrospira platensis microalgae protein purification on emulsification mechanism and efficiency. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 584, 344–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2020.09.067
- Cádiz-Gurrea, M. de la L., Villegas-Aguilar, M. del C., Leyva-Jiménez, F. J., Pimentel-Moral, S., Fernández-Ochoa, Á., Alañón, M. E., & Segura-Carretero, A. (2020). Revalorization of bioactive compounds from tropical fruit by-products and industrial applications by means of sustainable approaches. Food Research International, 138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109786
- Casarotti, S. N., Borgonovi, T. F., Batista, C. L. F. M., & Penna, A. L. B. (2018). Guava, orange and passion fruit by-products: Characterization and its impacts on kinetics of acidification and properties of probiotic fermented products. LWT, 98, 69–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2018.08.010
- Castel, V., Rubiolo, A. C., & Carrara, C. R. (2017). Droplet size distribution, rheological behavior and stability of corn oil emulsions stabilized by a novel hydrocolloid (Brea gum) compared with gum arabic. Food Hydrocolloids, 63, 170–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.08.039
- Castellanos-Gallo, L., Ballinas-Casarrubias, L., Espinoza-Hicks, J. C., Hernández-Ochoa, L. R., Muñoz-Castellanos, L. N., Zermeño-Ortega, M. R., Borrego-Loya, A., & Salas, E. (2022). Grape Pomace Valorization by Extraction of Phenolic Polymeric Pigments: A Review. Processes, 10(3), 469. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr10030469
- Chaouch, M. A., & Benvenuti, S. (2020). The role of fruit by-products as bioactive compounds for intestinal health. In Foods (Vol. 9, Issue 11). MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9111716
- Chauhan, C., Dhir, A., Akram, M. U., & Salo, J. (2021). Food loss and waste in food supply chains. A systematic literature review and framework development approach. Journal of Cleaner Production, 295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126438
- Chen, L., Yokoyama, W., Alves, P., Tan, Y., Pan, J., & Zhong, F. (2021). Effect of encapsulation on β-carotene absorption and metabolism in mice. Food Hydrocolloids, 121, 107009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2021.107009
- Chen, W., Ju, X., Aluko, R. E., Zou, Y., Wang, Z., Liu, M., & He, R. (2020). Rice bran proteinbased nanoemulsion carrier for improving stability and bioavailability of quercetin. Food Hydrocolloids, 108, 106042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2020.106042
- Chen, Z., Shu, G., Taarji, N., Barrow, C. J., Nakajima, M., Khalid, N., & Neves, M. A. (2018). Gypenosides as natural emulsifiers for oil-in-water nanoemulsions loaded with astaxanthin: Insights of formulation, stability and release properties. Food Chemistry, 261, 322–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.04.054
- Chisti, Y. (2007). Biodiesel from microalgae. Biotechnology Advances, 25(3), 294–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOTECHADV.2007.02.001
- Chitrakar, B., Zhang, M., Zhang, X., & Devahastin, S. (2020). Bioactive dietary Fiber powder from asparagus leaf by-product: Effect of low-temperature ball milling on physico-chemical,

functional and microstructural characteristics. Powder Technology, 366, 275–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.powtec.2020.02.068

- D'Alessandro, E. B., & Antoniosi Filho, N. R. (2016). Concepts and studies on lipid and pigments of microalgae: A review. In Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews (Vol. 58, pp. 832–841). Pergamon. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.12.162
- da Costa, R. S., Santos, O. V. Dos, Lannes, S. C. da S., Casazza, A. A., Aliakbarian, B., Perego, P., Ribeiro-Costa, R. M., Converti, A., & Silva Júnior, J. O. C. (2020). Bioactive compounds and value-added applications of cupuassu (Theobroma grandiflorum schum.) agroindustrial by-product. Food Science and Technology (Brazil), 40(2), 401–407. https://doi.org/10.1590/fst.01119
- Dammak, I., Sobral, P. J. do A., Aquino, A., Neves, M. A. das, & Conte-Junior, C. A. (2020). Nanoemulsions: Using emulsifiers from natural sources replacing synthetic ones—A review. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 19(5), 2721–2746. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12606
- Das, S., Ng, W. K., & Tan, R. B. H. (2012). Are nanostructured lipid carriers (NLCs) better than solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs): Development, characterizations and comparative evaluations of clotrimazole-loaded SLNs and NLCs? European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 47(1), 139–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2012.05.010
- Delahaije, R. J. B. M., Wierenga, P. A., Van Nieuwenhuijzen, N. H., Giuseppin, M. L. F., & Gruppen, H. (2013). Protein concentration and protein-exposed hydrophobicity as dominant parameters determining the flocculation of protein-stabilized oil-in-water emulsions. Langmuir, 29(37), 11567–11574. https://doi.org/10.1021/LA401314A/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/LA-2013-01314A_0009.JPEG
- Drosou, C., Kyriakopoulou, K., Bimpilas, A., Tsimogiannis, D., & Krokida, M. (2015). A comparative study on different extraction techniques to recover red grape pomace polyphenols from vinification byproducts. Industrial Crops and Products, 75, 141–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2015.05.063
- Eggersdorfer, M., & Wyss, A. (2018). Carotenoids in human nutrition and health. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 652(May), 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2018.06.001
- Eisinaite, V., Duque Estrada, P., Schroën, K., Berton-Carabin, C., & Leskauskaite, D. (2018). Tayloring W/O/W emulsion composition for effective encapsulation: The role of PGPR in water transfer-induced swelling. Food Research International, 106(August 2017), 722–728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.01.042
- Fan, C., Liu, Y., Shan, Y., & Cao, X. (2022). A priori design of new natural deep eutectic solvent for lutein recovery from microalgae. Food Chemistry, 376, 131930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.131930
- Fan, Y., Yi, J., Zhang, Y., Wen, Z., & Zhao, L. (2017). Physicochemical stability and in vitro bioaccessibility of β-carotene nanoemulsions stabilized with whey protein-dextran conjugates. Food Hydrocolloids, 63, 256–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.09.008

Fărcaș, A. C., Socaci, S. A., Nemeș, S. A., Pop, O. L., Coldea, T. E., Fogarasi, M., & Biriș-

Dorhoi, E. S. (2022). An Update Regarding the Bioactive Compound of Cereal By-Products: Health Benefits and Potential Applications. Nutrients, 14(17), 3470. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14173470

- Flamminii, F., Di Mattia, C. D., Difonzo, G., Neri, L., Faieta, M., Caponio, F., & Pittia, P. (2019). From by-product to food ingredient: evaluation of compositional and technological properties of olive-leaf phenolic extracts. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 99(14), 6620– 6627. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.9949
- Flores-Andrade, E., Allende-Baltazar, Z., Sandoval-González, P. E., Jiménez-Fernández, M., Beristain, C. I., & Pascual-Pineda, L. A. (2021). Carotenoid nanoemulsions stabilized by natural emulsifiers: Whey protein, gum Arabic, and soy lecithin. Journal of Food Engineering, 290, 110208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2020.110208
- Gao, H. T., Xu, R., Cao, W. X., Zhou, X., Yan, Y. H. M., Lu, L., Xu, Q., & Shen, Y. (2016). Food emulsifier glycerin monostearate increases internal exposure levels of six priority controlled phthalate esters and exacerbates their male reproductive toxicities in rats. PLoS ONE, 11(8), e0161253. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161253
- Gao, W., Jiang, Z., Du, X., Zhang, F., Liu, Y., Bai, X., & Sun, G. (2020). Impact of surfactants on nanoemulsions based on fractionated coconut oil: Emulsification stability and In vitro digestion. Journal of Oleo Science, 69(3), 227–239. https://doi.org/10.5650/jos.ess19264
- Garcia, M. T., Kaczerewska, O., Ribosa, I., Brycki, B., Materna, P., & Drgas, M. (2016). Biodegradability and aquatic toxicity of quaternary ammonium-based gemini surfactants: Effect of the spacer on their ecological properties. Chemosphere, 154, 155–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2016.03.109
- Gasa-Falcon, A., Acevedo-Fani, A., Oms-Oliu, G., Odriozola-Serrano, I., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2020). Development, physical stability and bioaccessibility of β-carotene-enriched tertiary emulsions. Journal of Functional Foods, 64, 103615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2019.103615
- Gasa-Falcon, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Impact of emulsifier nature and concentration on the stability of β-carotene enriched nanoemulsions during: In vitro digestion. Food and Function, 10(2), 713–722. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8fo02069h
- Gasa-Falcon, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2020). Nanostructured Lipid-Based Delivery Systems as a Strategy to Increase Functionality of Bioactive Compounds. Foods, 9(3), 325. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9030325
- Giroux, H. J., Robitaille, G., & Britten, M. (2016). Controlled release of casein-derived peptides in the gastrointestinal environment by encapsulation in water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions. LWT - Food Science and Technology, 69, 225–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2016.01.050
- Grumezescu, A. M. (2017). Nano- and microscale drug delivery systems: Design and fabrication. In Nano- and Microscale Drug Delivery Systems: Design and Fabrication (1st ed.). https://doi.org/10.1016/C2016-0-02239-8
- Guzey, D., & McClements, D. J. (2006). Formation, stability and properties of multilayer emulsions for application in the food industry. In Advances in Colloid and Interface Science

(Vols. 128–130, pp. 227–248). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2006.11.021

- Hamidi, M., Safarzadeh Kozani, P., Safarzadeh Kozani, P., Pierre, G., Michaud, P., & Delattre, C. (2019). Marine Bacteria versus Microalgae: Who Is the Best for Biotechnological Production of Bioactive Compounds with Antioxidant Properties and Other Biological Applications? Marine Drugs 2020, Vol. 18, Page 28, 18(1), 28. https://doi.org/10.3390/MD18010028
- Han, L., Lu, K., Zhou, S., Qi, B., & Li, Y. (2022). Co-delivery of insulin and quercetin in W/O/W double emulsions stabilized by different hydrophilic emulsifiers. Food Chemistry, 369, 130918. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.130918
- Harde, H., Das, M., & Jain, S. (2011). Solid lipid nanoparticles: An oral bioavailability enhancer vehicle. In Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery (Vol. 8, Issue 11, pp. 1407–1424). Taylor & Francis. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2011.604311
- Harwansh, R. K., Deshmukh, R., & Rahman, M. A. (2019). Nanoemulsion: Promising nanocarrier system for delivery of herbal bioactives. In Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology (Vol. 51, pp. 224–233). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2019.03.006
- Heidari, F., Jafari, S. M., Ziaiifar, A. M., & Malekjani, N. (2022). Stability and release mechanisms of double emulsions loaded with bioactive compounds; a critical review. In Advances in Colloid and Interface Science (Vol. 299, p. 102567). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2021.102567
- Hu, D., Xu, Y., Xie, J., Sun, C., Zheng, X., & Chen, W. (2018). Systematic evaluation of phenolic compounds and protective capacity of a new mulberry cultivar J33 against palmitic acidinduced lipotoxicity using a simulated digestion method. Food Chemistry, 258, 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.03.049
- Hu, Y., Liu, F., Pang, J., McClements, D. J., Zhou, Z., Li, B., & Li, Y. (2021). Biopolymer Additives Enhance Tangeretin Bioavailability in Emulsion-Based Delivery Systems: An in Vitro and in Vivo Study. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 69(2), 730–740. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.0c03635
- Huang, X., Tu, R., Song, H., Dong, K., Geng, F., Chen, L., Huang, Q., & Wu, Y. (2022). Gelatin-EGCG-high methoxyl pectin ternary complex stabilized W1/O/W2 double emulsions loaded with vitamin C: Formation, structure, stability, in vitro gastrointestinal digestion. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 216(July), 891–905. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2022.07.210
- Jamshidi, A., Shabanpour, B., Pourashouri, P., & Raeisi, M. (2018). Using WPC-inulin-fucoidan complexes for encapsulation of fish protein hydrolysate and fish oil in W1/O/W2 emulsion: Characterization and nutritional quality. Food Research International, 114, 240–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.07.066
- Ji, Y., Han, C., Liu, E., Li, X., Meng, X., & Liu, B. (2022). Pickering emulsions stabilized by pea protein isolate-chitosan nanoparticles: fabrication, characterization and delivery EPA for digestion in vitro and in vivo. Food Chemistry, 378, 132090. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2022.132090

Jiang, S., Yildiz, G., Ding, J., Andrade, J., Rababahb, T. M., Almajwalc, A., Abulmeatyc, M. M.,

& Feng, H. (2019). Pea Protein Nanoemulsion and Nanocomplex as Carriers for Protection of Cholecalciferol (Vitamin D3). Food and Bioprocess Technology, 12(6), 1031–1040. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-019-02276-0

- Kadappan, A. S., Guo, C., Gumus, C. E., Bessey, A., Wood, R. J., McClements, D. J., & Liu, Z. (2018). The Efficacy of Nanoemulsion-Based Delivery to Improve Vitamin D Absorption: Comparison of In Vitro and In Vivo Studies. Molecular Nutrition and Food Research, 62(4), 1700836. https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201700836
- Kartal, C., Unal, M. K., & Otles, S. (2017). Production and stabilization of a flaxseed oil multilayer emulsion containing sodium caseinate and pectin. International Journal of Food Properties, 20(4), 833–844. https://doi.org/10.1080/10942912.2016.1186691
- Khanra, S., Mondal, M., Halder, G., Tiwari, O. N., Gayen, K., & Bhowmick, T. K. (2018). Downstream processing of microalgae for pigments, protein and carbohydrate in industrial application: A review. In Food and Bioproducts Processing (Vol. 110, pp. 60–84). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbp.2018.02.002
- Khobaib, K., Mikkelsen, A., Vincent-Dospital, T., & Rozynek, Z. (2021). Electric-field-induced deformation, yielding, and crumpling of jammed particle shells formed on non-spherical Pickering droplets. Soft Matter, 17(19), 5006–5017. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1SM00125F
- Kubiak, T. (2022). Polymeric capsules and micelles as promising carriers of anticancer drugs. In Polimery w medycynie (Vol. 52, Issue 1, pp. 35–48). Wroclaw Medical University. https://doi.org/10.17219/pim/145513
- Kubiak, T., Banaszak, J., Józefczak, A., & Rozynek, Z. (2020). Direction-Specific Release from Capsules with Homogeneous or Janus Shells Using an Ultrasound Approach. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 12(13), 15810–15822. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.9b21484
- Kubiak, T., Zubko, M., & Józefczak, A. (2021). Ultrasound-triggered directional release from turmeric capsules. Particuology, 57, 19–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PARTIC.2020.12.010
- Lam, R. S. H., & Nickerson, M. T. (2013). Food proteins: A review on their emulsifying properties using a structure-function approach. In Food Chemistry (Vol. 141, Issue 2, pp. 975– 984). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.04.038
- Lamothe, S., Jolibois, E., & Britten, M. (2020). Effect of emulsifiers on linseed oil emulsion structure, lipolysis and oxidation during: In vitro digestion. Food and Function, 11(11), 10126–10136. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0fo02072a
- Larkum, A. W. D. (2010). Limitations and prospects of natural photosynthesis for bioenergy production. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 21(3), 271–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COPBIO.2010.03.004
- Lemes, A. C., Egea, M. B., Oliveira Filho, J. G. de, Gautério, G. V., Ribeiro, B. D., & Coelho, M. A. Z. (2022). Biological Approaches for Extraction of Bioactive Compounds From Agroindustrial By-products: A Review. In Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology (Vol. 9). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2021.802543
- Liang, M. H., Wang, L., Wang, Q., Zhu, J., & Jiang, J. G. (2019). High-value bioproducts from microalgae: Strategies and progress. In Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition (Vol.

59, Issue 15, pp. 2423–2441). Taylor & Francis. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2018.1455030

- Liu, M., Zhang, L., Ser, S. L., Cumming, J. R., & Ku, K. M. (2018). Comparative phytonutrient analysis of broccoli by-products: The potentials for broccoli by-product utilization. Molecules, 23(4), 900. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23040900
- Liu, R. H. (2013). Dietary bioactive compounds and their health implications. Journal of Food Science, 78(SUPPL.1), A18–A25. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.12101
- Low, K. L., Idris, A., & Mohd Yusof, N. (2020). Novel protocol optimized for microalgae lutein used as food additives. Food Chemistry, 307, 125631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.125631
- Luo, H., Li, Z., Yao, M., McClements, D. J., & Xiao, H. (2022). Impact of excipient emulsions made from different types of oils on the bioavailability and metabolism of curcumin in gastrointestinal tract. Food Chemistry, 370, 130980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.130980
- Lv, S., Zhang, Y., Tan, H., Zhang, R., & McClements, D. J. (2019). Vitamin e Encapsulation within Oil-in-Water Emulsions: Impact of Emulsifier Type on Physicochemical Stability and Bioaccessibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 67(5), 1521–1529. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b06347
- Mantovani, R. A., Cavallieri, Â. L. F., Netto, F. M., & Cunha, R. L. (2013). Stability and in vitro digestibility of emulsions containing lecithin and whey proteins. Food and Function, 4(9), 1322–1331. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3fo60156k
- Mason, T. G., Wilking, J. N., Meleson, K., Chang, C. B., & Graves, S. M. (2006). Nanoemulsions: Formation, structure, and physical properties. Journal of Physics Condensed Matter, 18(41). https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-8984/18/41/R01
- McClements, D. J., Decker, E. A., & Weiss, J. (2007). Emulsion-based delivery systems for lipophilic bioactive components. Journal of Food Science, 72(8), 109–124. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00507.x
- McClements, D.J. (2005). Food emulsions: Principles, practice, and techniques. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- McClements, David Julian, Bai, L., & Chung, C. (2017). Recent Advances in the Utilization of Natural Emulsifiers to Form and Stabilize Emulsions. In Annual Review of Food Science and Technology (Vol. 8, pp. 205–236). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-030216-030154
- McClements, David Julian, & Gumus, C. E. (2016). Natural emulsifiers Biosurfactants, phospholipids, biopolymers, and colloidal particles: Molecular and physicochemical basis of functional performance. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 234, 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2016.03.002
- McClements, David Julian, & Li, Y. (2010). Structured emulsion-based delivery systems: Controlling the digestion and release of lipophilic food components. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 159(2), 213–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2010.06.010

- Mehnert, W., & Mäder, K. (2012). Solid lipid nanoparticles: Production, characterization and applications. In Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews (Vol. 64, Issue SUPPL., pp. 83–101). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.021
- Meng, Q., Long, P., Zhou, J., Ho, C. T., Zou, X., Chen, B., & Zhang, L. (2019). Improved absorption of β -carotene by encapsulation in an oil-in-water nanoemulsion containing tea polyphenols in the aqueous phase. Food Research International, 116(August 2018), 731–736. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.09.004
- Mikkelsen, A., & Rozynek, Z. (2019). Mechanical Properties of Particle Films on Curved Interfaces Probed through Electric Field-Induced Wrinkling of Particle Shells. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 11(32), 29396–29407. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSAMI.9B08045/SUPPL FILE/AM9B08045 SI 011.MPG
- More, P. R., Jambrak, A. R., & Arya, S. S. (2022). Green, environment-friendly and sustainable techniques for extraction of food bioactive compounds and waste valorization. In Trends in Food Science and Technology (Vol. 128, pp. 296–315). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2022.08.016
- Muschiolik, G., & Dickinson, E. (2017). Double Emulsions Relevant to Food Systems: Preparation, Stability, and Applications. In Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety (Vol. 16, Issue 3, pp. 532–555). Blackwell Publishing Inc. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12261
- Nazari-Vanani, R., Moezi, L., & Heli, H. (2017). In vivo evaluation of a self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery system for curcumin. Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy, 88, 715–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.01.102
- Nazeam, J. A., AL-Shareef, W. A., Helmy, M. W., & El-Haddad, A. E. (2020). Bioassay-guided isolation of potential bioactive constituents from pomegranate agrifood by-product. Food Chemistry, 326, 126993. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.126993
- Niu, Z., Acevedo-Fani, A., McDowell, A., Barnett, A., Loveday, S. M., & Singh, H. (2020). Nanoemulsion structure and food matrix determine the gastrointestinal fate and in vivo bioavailability of coenzyme Q10. Journal of Controlled Release, 327(August), 444–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.08.025
- Oliyaei, N., Moosavi-Nasab, M., & Tanideh, N. (2022). Preparation of Fucoxanthin Nanoemulsion Stabilized by Natural Emulsifiers: Fucoidan, Sodium Caseinate, and Gum Arabic. Molecules, 27(19), 6713. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27196713
- Ozogul, Y., Karsli, G. T., Durmuş, M., Yazgan, H., Oztop, H. M., McClements, D. J., & Ozogul, F. (2022). Recent developments in industrial applications of nanoemulsions. In Advances in Colloid and Interface Science (Vol. 304). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2022.102685
- Ozturk, B., Argin, S., Ozilgen, M., & McClements, D. J. (2014). Formation and stabilization of nanoemulsion-based vitamin e delivery systems using natural surfactants: Quillaja saponin and lecithin. Journal of Food Engineering, 142, 57–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2014.06.015

Ozturk, B., Argin, S., Ozilgen, M., & McClements, D. J. (2015). Formation and stabilization of

nanoemulsion-based vitamin E delivery systems using natural biopolymers: Whey protein isolate and gum arabic. Food Chemistry, 188, 256–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.05.005

- P. A. Silva, Y., Borba, B. C., Pereira, V. A., Reis, M. G., Caliari, M., Brooks, M. S. L., & Ferreira, T. A. P. C. (2019). Characterization of tomato processing by-product for use as a potential functional food ingredient: nutritional composition, antioxidant activity and bioactive compounds. International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition, 70(2), 150–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/09637486.2018.1489530
- Pandita, D., Kumar, S., Poonia, N., & Lather, V. (2014). Solid lipid nanoparticles enhance oral bioavailability of resveratrol, a natural polyphenol. Food Research International, 62, 1165– 1174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2014.05.059
- Parthasarathi, S., Muthukumar, S. P., & Anandharamakrishnan, C. (2016). The influence of droplet size on the stability,: In vivo digestion, and oral bioavailability of Vitamin E emulsions. Food and Function, 7(5), 2294–2302. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5fo01517k
- Pinho, L. S., da Silva, M. P., Thomazini, M., Cooperstone, J. L., Campanella, O. H., da Costa Rodrigues, C. E., & Favaro-Trindade, C. S. (2021). Guaraná (Paullinia cupana) by-product as a source of bioactive compounds and as a natural antioxidant for food applications. Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, 45(10), e15854. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.15854
- Potter, J. D. (2005). Vegetables, fruit, and cancer. The Lancet, 366(9485), 527–530. https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(05)67077-8/fulltext
- Qi, H., Chen, S., Zhang, J., & Liang, H. (2022). Robust stability and antimicrobial activity of Dlimonene nanoemulsion by sodium caseinate and high pressure homogenization. Journal of Food Engineering, 334, 111159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2022.111159
- Ribeiro, E. F., Borreani, J., Moraga, G., Nicoletti, V. R., Quiles, A., & Hernando, I. (2020). Digestibility and Bioaccessibility of Pickering Emulsions of Roasted Coffee Oil Stabilized by Chitosan and Chitosan-Sodium Tripolyphosphate Nanoparticles. Food Biophysics, 15(2), 196–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11483-019-09614-x
- Saechio, S., Akanitkul, P., Thiyajai, P., Jain, S., Tangsuphoom, N., Suphantharika, M., & Winuprasith, T. (2023). Astaxanthin-Loaded Pickering Emulsions Stabilized by Nanofibrillated Cellulose: Impact on Emulsion Characteristics, Digestion Behavior, and Bioaccessibility. Polymers, 15(4), 901. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym15040901
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013a). Influence of particle size on lipid digestion and β-carotene bioaccessibility in emulsions and nanoemulsions. Food Chemistry, 141(2), 1472–1480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.03.050
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013b). Modulating βcarotene bioaccessibility by controlling oil composition and concentration in edible nanoemulsions. Food Chemistry, 139(1–4), 878–884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.02.024
- Saravana, P. S., Cho, Y. J., Park, Y. B., Woo, H. C., & Chun, B. S. (2016). Structural, antioxidant, and emulsifying activities of fucoidan from Saccharina japonica using pressurized liquid

extraction.	Carbohydrate	Polymers,	153,	518-525.
https://doi.org/10.1	016/j.carbpol.2016.08	3.014		

- Schreiner, T. B., Colucci, G., Santamaria-Echart, A., Fernandes, I. P., Dias, M. M., Pinho, S. P., & Barreiro, M. F. (2021). Evaluation of saponin-rich extracts as natural alternative emulsifiers: A comparative study with pure Quillaja Bark saponin. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 623, 126748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2021.126748
- Shakeel, F., Baboota, S., Ahuja, A., Ali, J., Faisal, M., & Shafiq, S. (2008). Stability Evaluation of Celecoxib Nanoemultion Containing Tween 80. Thai J. Pharm. Sci, 32, 4–9. https://www.thaiscience.info/journals/Article/TJPS/10576421.pdf
- Shao, P., Feng, J., Sun, P., Xiang, N., Lu, B., & Qiu, D. (2020). Recent advances in improving stability of food emulsion by plant polysaccharides. In Food Research International (Vol. 137, p. 109376). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109376
- Shao, P., Qiu, Q., Xiao, J., Zhu, Y., & Sun, P. (2017). Chemical Stability and in vitro release properties of β-carotene in emulsions stabilized by Ulva fasciata polysaccharide. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 102, 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.03.186
- Shi, F., Chang, Y., Shen, J., Chen, G., & Xue, C. (2023). A comparative investigation of anionic polysaccharides (sulfated fucan, ι-carrageenan, κ-carrageenan, and alginate) on the fabrication, stability, rheology, and digestion of multilayer emulsion. Food Hydrocolloids, 134, 108081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2022.108081
- Shishir, M. R. I., Xie, L., Sun, C., Zheng, X., & Chen, W. (2018). Advances in micro and nanoencapsulation of bioactive compounds using biopolymer and lipid-based transporters. In Trends in Food Science and Technology (Vol. 78, pp. 34–60). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2018.05.018
- Shu, X., Zhang, L., Liao, W., Liu, J., Mao, L., Yuan, F., & Gao, Y. (2022). Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLCs) stabilized by natural or synthetic emulsifiers for lutein delivery: Improved physicochemical stability, antioxidant activity, and bioaccessibility. Food Chemistry, 403, 134465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2022.134465
- Silva, S. C., Almeida, T., Colucci, G., Santamaria-Echart, A., Manrique, Y. A., Dias, M. M., Barros, L., Fernandes, Â., Colla, E., & Barreiro, M. F. (2022). Spirulina (Arthrospira platensis) protein-rich extract as a natural emulsifier for oil-in-water emulsions: Optimization through a sequential experimental design strategy. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 648, 129264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2022.129264
- Sui, Y., Mazzucchi, L., Acharya, P., Xu, Y., Morgan, G., & Harvey, P. J. (2021). A comparison of β -carotene, phytoene and amino acids production in Dunaliella salina DF 15 (CCAP 19/41) and Dunaliella salina CCAP 19/30 using different light wavelengths. Foods, 10(11), 2824. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods10112824
- Sun, X., Liu, C., Wang, D., Xu, Y., & Wang, C. Y. (2023). Effects of coating layers chitosan/pectin on lipid stability and in vitro digestion of astaxanthin-loaded multilayer emulsions. LWT, 173, 114282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2022.114282

- Tamaki, S., Mochida, K., & Suzuki, K. (2021). Diverse Biosynthetic Pathways and Protective Functions against Environmental Stress of Antioxidants in Microalgae. Plants 2021, Vol. 10, Page 1250, 10(6), 1250. https://doi.org/10.3390/PLANTS10061250
- Tan, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2021). Plant-Based Colloidal Delivery Systems for Bioactives.Molecules2021,Vol.26,Page6895,26(22),6895.https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES26226895
- Tan, Y., Zhang, Z., Muriel Mundo, J., & McClements, D. J. (2020). Factors impacting lipid digestion and nutraceutical bioaccessibility assessed by standardized gastrointestinal model (INFOGEST): Emulsifier type. Food Research International, 137, 109739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109739
- Teixé-Roig, J., Oms-Oliu, G., Ballesté-Muñoz, S., Odriozola-Serrano, I., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2020). Improving the in Vitro Bioaccessibility of β-Carotene Using Pectin Added Nanoemulsions. Foods, 9(4), 447. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9040447
- Teixé-Roig, J., Oms-Oliu, G., Ballesté-Muñoz, S., Odriozola-Serrano, I., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2022). Encapsulation and controlled release of phycocyanin during the in vitro digestion using polysaccharide-added double emulsions (W1/O/W2). Food Structure, 31(December 2021), 100249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foostr.2021.100249
- Teixé-Roig, J., Oms-Oliu, G., Odriozola-Serrano, I., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2022). Enhancing the Gastrointestinal Stability of Curcumin by Using Sodium Alginate-Based Nanoemulsions Containing Natural Emulsifiers. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2023, Vol. 24, Page 498, 24(1), 498. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS24010498
- Teixé-Roig, J., Oms-Oliu, G., Odriozola-Serrano, I., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2023). Enhancing in vivo retinol bioavailability by incorporating β-carotene from alga Dunaliella salina into nanoemulsions containing natural-based emulsifiers. Food Research International, 164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2022.112359
- Teuling, E., Schrama, J. W., Gruppen, H., & Wierenga, P. A. (2019). Characterizing emulsion properties of microalgal and cyanobacterial protein isolates. Algal Research, 39, 101471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2019.101471
- Velderrain-Rodríguez, G. R., Salvia-Trujillo, L., González-Aguilar, G. A., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2021). Interfacial activity of phenolic-rich extracts from avocado fruit waste: Influence on the colloidal and oxidative stability of emulsions and nanoemulsions. Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies, 69, 102665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2021.102665
- Verkempinck, S. H. E., Kyomugasho, C., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Denis, S., Bourgeois, M., Van Loey, A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2018). Emulsion stabilizing properties of citrus pectin and its interactions with conventional emulsifiers in oil-in-water emulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 85(July), 144–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2018.07.014
- Verkempinck, S. H. E., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Denis, S., Van Loey, A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2018). Pectin influences the kinetics of in vitro lipid digestion in oil-in-water emulsions. Food Chemistry, 262, 150–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.04.082
- Vieira, M. V., Pastrana, L. M., & Fuciños, P. (2020). Microalgae Encapsulation Systems for Food, Pharmaceutical and Cosmetics Applications. Marine Drugs 2020, Vol. 18, Page 644,

18(12), 644. https://doi.org/10.3390/MD18120644

- Wang, C., Wu, J., Wang, C., Mu, C., Ngai, T., & Lin, W. (2022). Advances in Pickering emulsions stabilized by protein particles: Toward particle fabrication, interaction and arrangement. In Food Research International (Vol. 157, p. 111380). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2022.111380
- Wang, J., Hu, X., Chen, J., Wang, T., Huang, X., & Chen, G. (2022). The Extraction of β-Carotene from Microalgae for Testing Their Health Benefits. In Foods (Vol. 11, Issue 4, p. 502). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11040502
- Wang, L. H., Xiao, J. X., Li, X. D., & Huang, G. Q. (2021). Carboxymethyl konjac glucomannan coating on multilayered emulsions for improved bioavailability and targeted delivery of curcumin. Food and Function, 12(12), 5429–5439. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0fo03390a
- Wang, N., Cheng, J., Jiang, Y., Meng, Y., Zhang, K., Ban, Q., & Wang, X. (2023). Emulsions stabilized by casein and hyaluronic acid: Effects of high intensity ultrasound on the stability and Vitamin E digestive characteristics. Ultrasonics Sonochemistry, 94, 106314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2023.106314
- Wu, J., & Ma, G. H. (2016). Recent Studies of Pickering Emulsions: Particles Make the Difference. In Small (Weinheim an der Bergstrasse, Germany) (Vol. 12, Issue 34, pp. 4633– 4648). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201600877
- Yan, J., Yang, Z., Qiao, X., Kong, Z., Dai, L., Wu, J., Xu, X., & McClements, D. J. (2022). Interfacial characteristics and in vitro digestion of emulsion coated by single or mixed natural emulsifiers: lecithin and/or rice glutelin hydrolysates. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 102(7), 2990–2999. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.11639
- Yao, K., McClements, D. J., Yan, C., Xiao, J., Liu, H., Chen, Z., Hou, X., Cao, Y., Xiao, H., & Liu, X. (2021). In vitro and in vivo study of the enhancement of carotenoid bioavailability in vegetables using excipient nanoemulsions: Impact of lipid content. Food Research International, 141, 110162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2021.110162
- Yao, X., Zhang, W., Nie, K., Gao, Z., Fang, Y., Nishinari, K., Phillips, G. O., & Jiang, F. (2016). Effect of Gum Arabic, Gum Ghatti and Sugar Beet Pectin as Interfacial Layer on Lipid Digestibility in Oil-in-Water Emulsions. Food Biophysics, 11(3), 292–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11483-016-9441-8
- Yerramilli, M., & Ghosh, S. (2017). Long-term stability of sodium caseinate-stabilized nanoemulsions. Journal of Food Science and Technology, 54(1), 82–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13197-016-2438-Y/FIGURES/6
- Yuan, Y., Gao, Y., Zhao, J., & Mao, L. (2008). Characterization and stability evaluation of β carotene nanoemulsions prepared by high pressure homogenization under various emulsifying conditions. Food Research International, 41(1), 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2007.09.006
- Zhang, M., Chen, H., Feng, Z., An, T., & Liu, F. (2023). A stable peony seed oil emulsion that enhances the stability, antioxidant activity, and bioaccessibility of curcumin. LWT, 173, 114408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2022.114408

- Zheng, B., Zhang, X., Peng, S., & McClements, D. J. (2019). Impact of curcumin delivery system format on bioaccessibility: Nanocrystals, nanoemulsion droplets, and natural oil bodies. Food and Function, 10(7), 4339–4349. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8fo02510j
- Zhou, H., Tan, Y., Lv, S., Liu, J., Muriel Mundo, J. L., Bai, L., Rojas, O. J., & McClements, D. J. (2020). Nanochitin-stabilized pickering emulsions: Influence of nanochitin on lipid digestibility and vitamin bioaccessibility. Food Hydrocolloids, 106, 105878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2020.105878
- Zhou, L., Li, K., Duan, X., Hill, D., Barrow, C., Dunshea, F., Martin, G., & Suleria, H. (2022). Bioactive compounds in microalgae and their potential health benefits. In Food Bioscience (Vol. 49, p. 101932). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbio.2022.101932
- Zhu, Z., Wen, Y., Yi, J., Cao, Y., Liu, F., & McClements, D. J. (2019). Comparison of natural and synthetic surfactants at forming and stabilizing nanoemulsions: Tea saponin, Quillaja saponin, and Tween 80. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 536, 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2018.10.024

HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES

The hypothesis of this doctoral thesis was that emulsion-based delivery systems can be useful systems for increasing the stability and bioavailability of bioactive compounds, with the composition of these systems being a factor that could influence their properties and functionality.

Therefore, the main objective of this doctoral thesis was to study how the composition affects the properties, stability and functionality of different emulsion-based delivery systems enclosing bioactive compounds. To achieve this goal, the following specific objectives were proposed:

- 1. Prepare and optimize the different emulsion-based systems incorporating bioactive compounds.
- 2. Evaluate the physicochemical characteristics and the stability over time of the developed emulsion-based systems.
- 3. Assess the *in vitro* and *in vivo* stability of the emulsion-based systems along the gastrointestinal tract.
- 4. Evaluate the digestibility of the system lipid fraction and determine the *in vitro* bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compounds.
- 5. Determine the *in vivo* bioavailability and metabolism of the encapsulated compounds.

MATERIALS AND METHODS
1. Materials

This section includes materials or reagents used in the experiments carried out during this doctoral thesis. Table 1 lists the ingredients used in the formulation of the different emulsion-based delivery systems. All the reagents used for the *in vitro* simulated gastrointestinal digestion are included in Table 2.

Table 1. Physicochemical characteristics of ingredients used for the preparation of the emulsionbased delivery systems and their supplier. (nda: no data available).

Ingredient	Purity (%)	Molecular weight (g/mol)	Melting point (°C)	Density (g/cm ³ 25°C)	Form	Supplier
Anthocyanins Medox ®	38%	270-330	nda	nda	Powder	Biolink Group (AS, Sandnes, Norway)
Phycocyanin	nda	nda	nda	nda	Powder	GNT (Derby, United Kingdom)
Curcumin	> 98	368.37	183	nda	Powder	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)/Acros organics
Alga <i>Dunaliella Salina</i>	Raw algae	nda	nda	nda	Powder	Monzón Biotech (Huesca, Spain)
β-carotene	≥95	536.87	174	1	Powder	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
Corn oil	nda	≈ 536.9	-10	0.9	Liquid	Koipe Asua (Spain)
Miglyol 812 N ®	99.9	505-520	-5 to 6	0.93- 0.96	Liquid	IOI Oleochemical GmbH (Hamburg, Germany)
Palm oil	100	695	35	0.9-0.93	Solid	Mystic Moments (Hants, UK)
Coconut oil	100	nda	25	nda	Solid	HMF (GmbH & Co. KG, Germany)
Tween 20	> 99	1127.72	nda	1.11	Viscous liquid	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
Tween 80	> 99	1310	nda	1.07	Viscous liquid	Lab Scharlab (Sentmenat, Spain)
Soybean lecithin	\geq 95	758.08	nda	nda	Powder	Alfa Aesar
Glycerol	≥99.5	92.09	20	1.25	Viscous liquid	Danisco (DuPont, EEUU)
Polyglycerol polyricinoleate	nda	nda	nda	nda	Viscous liquid	Danisco (DuPont, EEUU)
Sodium caseinate	> 98	nda	nda	nda	Powder	Alfa Aesar (Karlsruhe, Germany)
Whey protein isolate	≈ 65	nda	nda	nda	Powder	Pastoret (Lleida, Spain)
Sodium carboxymethylcellulose	nda	nda	>300	1.59	Powder	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
Arabic gum	> 95	nda	nda	1.35	Powder	Acros organics (Geel, Belgium)
Sodium alginate	nda	nda	>300	nda	Powder	FMC Biopolymer Ltd (Scotland, U.K.)
Pectin	100	nda	nda	nda	Powder	Acros organics (Geel, Belgium)

Ingredients	Supplier
Porcine pepsin	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
Bovine bile	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
Porcine pancreatin	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
Lipase from porcine pancreas	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
$CaCl_2(H_2O)_2$	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
NaOH	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
HCl	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
KCl	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
KH ₂ PO ₄	J.T. Baker (USA)
NaHCO ₃	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
NaCl	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
$MgCl_2(H_2O)_6$	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)
$(NH_4)_2CO_3$	Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO)

Table 2. List of ingredients used for the simulation of the *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion and their supplier.

2. Methods

2.1. Formulation of emulsion-based delivery systems

2.1.1. Emulsions

To formulate the different oil-in-water emulsions, the lipid and aqueous phases were prepared separately. The lipid phase was obtained by adding the lipophilic compounds (β -carotene or curcumin) to the oil by stirring and sonicating. The temperature of the oil, stirring rate and sonication time were different depending on the lipophilic compound incorporated. To obtain the aqueous phase, polysaccharides and emulsifiers were added in milli-Q water and stirred until dissolution was complete. Afterwards, the lipid phase was mixed with the aqueous phase and homogenized using a high-speed blender (Ultra-Turrax, IKA, Staufen, Germany).



Figure 1. Methodology used for the formulation of emulsions.

2.1.2. Nanoemulsions

The obtained emulsions were subjected to a microfluidization or sonication process to obtain nanoemulsions. For the microfluidization process, emulsions were treated with a microfluidizer (LM10, Microfluidics, USA). For the sonication process, emulsions were treated with a P400S Hielscher sonicer (Hielscher Ultrasound Technology, Teltow, Germany), of 400 W nominal power and a frequency of 24 kHz equipped with a 22 mm sonotrode for 3 min at 100% of amplitude. Table 3 summarizes the different nanoemulsions formulated during this doctoral thesis, their ingredients and the treatment conditions used.

Lipophilic bioactive compound	Lipid phase	Aqueous phase	Treatment conditions
β-carotene (commercial)	4% w/w corn oil (5 mg β- carotene/g oil)	4% w/w Tween 20 + 0, 1 or 2% w/w citrus pectin	HSH 9500 rpm for 2 min + microfluidization 100 mPa for 5 cycles
Curcumin	5% w/w corn oil (1 mg curcumin/g oil)	5% w/w soybean lecithin or whey protein + 0, 0.5, 1 or 1.5% w/w sodium alginate	HSH 11000 rpm for 2 min + sonication for 3 min at 100% amplitude
β-carotene (from alga Dunaliella Salina)	10 or 30% w/w corn oil (20 mg β-carotene/g oil	4 or 12 % w/w (SOR 0.4) soybean lecithin or whey protein isolate	HSH 1100 rpm for 2 min + microfluidization 130 mPa for 5 cycles
β-carotene (from alga Dunaliella Salina)	20% w/w corn oil (20 mg β- carotene/g oil)	8 % w/w soybean lecithin, whey protein isolate or sodium caseinate	HSH 1100 rpm for 2 min + microfluidization 130 mPa for 5 cycles

Table 3. Composition and treatment conditions for the different nanoemulsions formulated in this doctoral thesis.

HSH: high shear homogenization

2.1.3. Double emulsions

For the formulation of the double emulsions, a two-step emulsification method described by Aditya et al. (2015) with some modifications was used. To obtain the primary W_1/O emulsion, the two phases were prepared separately. The W_1 phase, comprising the hydrophilic extract solution and glycerol, and the oil phase, consisting of corn oil and polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR) or a mixture of PGPR and sodium caseinate as emulsifiers. Subsequently, the two phases were mixed and homogenized using a highspeed homogenizer (Ultra-Turrax, Janke & Kundel, Staufen, Germany), and a sonication process was performed on the primary W_1/O emulsion using a P400S Hielscher sonicer (Hielscher Ultrasound Technology, Teltow, Germany) at a frequency of 24 kHz. The external aqueous phase (W_2) was prepared adding the emulsifier (lecithin or Tween 20) on the NaCl 0.1 M solution. In the polysaccharide-added emulsions, the studied polysaccharide (carboxymethyl cellulose, Arabic gum, pectin or alginate) was added and fully dissolved into the W_2 phase before adding the emulsifier. Finally, W_1 /O and W_2 were mixed, homogenized using the high-speed homogenizer and sonicated at a frequency of 24 kHz.

2.1.4. Solid lipid nanoparticles

To obtain solid lipid nanoparticles, the lipid phase and the aqueous phase were prepared separately. The lipid phase was prepared by solubilizing the lipophilic compound in the lipid by magnetically stirring at 450 rpm for 30 min at 60 °C and sonicating for 15 min to ensure complete dissolution. To prepare the aqueous phase, 2.5% w/w of Tween 80 in milli-Q water were stirred at 60 °C. Afterwards, both the lipid phase (21% w/w) and aqueous phase (79% w/w) were mixed and homogenized using an Ultra-Turrax (IKA, Staufen, Germany) at 7600 rpm for 3 min. Then, nanoparticles were obtained by passing the coarse emulsions through a microfluidizer (LM10, Microfluidics, USA) at 100 MPa for 3 cycles. Finally, the temperature of nanoparticles was reduced to 4 °C for 2 h in order to allow fat recrystallization.

2.2. Physicochemical characterization of emulsion-based delivery systems

2.2.1. Particle size

The particle size of nanoemulsions was measured using a Mastersizer 3000 (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Worcestershire, UK). Samples were diluted in ultrapure water and stirred in the dispersion unit with a constant speed of 1800 rpm. The mean particle size was expressed as surface area mean diameter (d_{32}) in micrometres (µm), fixing a refractive index of 1.333 for water.

2.2.2. ζ-potential

The ζ -potential was measured by phase-analysis light scattering (PALS) using Zetasizer laser diffractometer (NanoZS Malvern Instruments Ltd Worcestershire, UK). Prior to the analysis, nanoemulsions were diluted in ultrapure water. Gastric and intestinal samples were diluted maintaining its pH at 3 and 7, respectively. Then, the diluted samples were

placed in a capillary cell equipped with two electrodes to assess the electrophoretic mobility of the particles. The results were reported in millivolts (mV).

2.2.3. Viscosity

Apparent viscosity of nanoemulsions was determined using a SV-10 vibro-viscometer (A&D Company, Tokyo, Japan), which produces a vibration of 30 Hz and a constant amplitude of 0.4 mm at controlled room temperature. The results were expressed in mPa·s.

2.2.4. Microscope images

Optical microscope

Images of emulsions-based systems were obtained using an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus America Inc., Melville, NY, USA) with a 100x objective lens. The images were obtained using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus).

Optical microscope using fluorescence

Emulsion-based systems were stained with Nile Red, previously dissolved at 0.1% (w/v) in ethanol. Then, micrographs were obtained using fluorescence with an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus, Göttingen, Germany) with a 100x objective lens. The images were obtained using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus Göttingen, Germany).

Confocal microscope

Confocal microscope images were obtained using a confocal scanning laser microscopy (CSLM) (Olympus FV1000 Spectral Confocal Microscope Olympus, Melville, NY). Emulsions-based systems were stained with Nile Red dissolved at 0.1% (w/v) and examined with a 100x magnification lens and a laser with an excitation line of 559 nm.

2.2.5. Physical stability

The stability of nanoemulsions over time was assessed by the multiple light scattering technique using an optical scan analyzer Turbiscan MA 2000 (Formulaction, Toulouse, France), which can measure the static stability of samples without destruction and detect the cause of instability (flocculation, coalescence, sedimentation or creaming). After their preparation, 7 mL aliquots of each nanoemulsion were introduced into glass cylindrical cells and analyzed by a light beam emitted in near infrared wavelength, which scanned vertically from the bottom to the top of the sample cell. Two synchronous optical sensors receive light backscattered by the sample (45° from the incident radiation).

2.2.6. Encapsulation efficiency

Nanoemulsions

Encapsulation efficiency (EE) of oil-in-water nanoemulsions was measured using a previously reported method (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018). Initially, 10 mL of nanoemulsion was placed inside a dialysis tubing cellulose membrane of 43 mm x 27 mm (Sigma-Aldrich, Darmstadt, Germany). Then, the membrane was inserted into a centrifuge tube containing 20 mL of ethanol and centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 min. Finally, the non-encapsulated lipophilic compound content was quantified using a UV-visible spectrophotometer (CECIL CE 2021; Cecil Instruments Ltd, Cambridge, UK). The encapsulation efficiency (%) was calculated using Eq. (1) (Surassmo et al., 2010):

$$EE (\%) = \frac{\text{Total amount of bioactive compound - Free bioactive compound}}{\text{Total amount of bioactive compound}} \times 100$$
(1)

where the total amount of bioactive compound is the initial concentration added in emulsions and the free bioactive compound is the concentration of the compound that was not loaded in emulsions.

Double emulsions

To determine the encapsulation efficiency of hydrophilic bioactive compounds in double emulsions, firstly, aliquots of 10 mL of emulsions were centrifuged at 4500 rpm for 10

min at 4 °C. Then, the W_2 phase containing the non-encapsulated hydrophilic bioactive compound was collected and quantified. Finally, using the hydrophilic bioactive compound content in W_2 , and the content in the total emulsion (previously quantified), the encapsulation efficiency was calculated using Eq. (1).

2.3. In vitro studies

2.3.1. Gastrointestinal digestion and digestibility

Emulsion-based delivery systems were subjected to an *in vitro* static gastrointestinal tract digestion based on an international consensus method (Brodkorb et al., 2019; Minekus et al., 2014). The protocol included both gastric and small intestinal phases. The mouth phase was not performed since nanoemulsions were liquid. Figure 2 summarizes the main characteristics of the *in vitro* digestion method used.

To perform the gastric phase, 20 mL of nanoemulsion was mixed 1:1 with simulated gastric fluids (SGF) containing pepsin (2000 U/mL) and 10 μ L of a CaCl₂ solution (0.3 M). Then, the pH was adjusted to 3 using HCl (1M) and the mixture was placed into an incubator at 37 °C for 2 h while shaking at 100 rpm. To simulate the intestinal phase, a pH-stat device was used. Once the gastric phase was completed, an aliquot of 20 mL of gastric sample was placed in a 37 °C water bath and mixed 1:1 with simulated intestinal fluids (SIF) containing 10 mM bile solution. Afterwards, the pH was adjusted to 7 with NaOH (1 M) and pancreatin and lipase enzymes were added to the final mixture to achieve 100 U/mL of trypsin and 2000 U/mL pancreatic lipase. The pH of the sample was maintained to 7 by adding NaOH (0.25 M) constantly for 2 h. The final volume of NaOH (0.25 M) was recorded and used to calculate the amount of free fatty acids (FFA) released during intestinal digestion. The FFA (%) was determined according to Eq. (2):

$$FFA (\%) = \frac{V_{NaOH} \times C_{NaOH} \times M_{oil}}{2 \times m_{oil}}$$
(2)

where V_{NaOH} is NaOH volume (L) used during the intestinal digestion, C_{NaOH} is NaOH molarity (0.25 mol/L), M_{oil} is oil molecular weight (800 g/mol) and m_{oil} is oil total weight present in the emulsions (g).



Figure 2. Conditions in each digestive phase during the *in vitro* static gastrointestinal digestion.

2.3.2. In vitro bioaccessibility

The bioaccessibility of the encapsulated bioactive compounds was determined after emulsion-based delivery systems were subjected to the simulated *in vitro* static gastrointestinal digestion, using a previously described method (Qian et al., 2012). After the *in vitro* digestion process, digested emulsion-based delivery systems were centrifuged to obtain the micellar fraction. Then, an extraction and quantification of the bioactive compound content was performed in both the initial emulsion and micellar fraction. Finally, bioactive compound bioaccessibility was calculated according to Eq. (3):

Bioaccessibility (%) =
$$\frac{C_{\text{micelle}}}{C_{\text{emulsion}}}$$
 (3)

where C_{micelle} is the bioactive compound concentration $(\text{mg} \cdot \text{mL}^{-1})$ in the micellar fraction and C_{emulsion} is the initial bioactive compound concentration $(\text{mg} \cdot \text{mL}^{-1})$ in the initial emulsion.

2.3.3. Compound degradation

The capacity of emulsion-based delivery systems to prevent the degradation of the encapsulated compound along the simulated gastrointestinal tract was investigated. For

that, 1 ml of digesta was collected at specific digestion times (0, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180, 210 and 240 min). Then, the bioactive compound was extracted and quantified to obtain the bioactive compound content. Finally, the curcumin content in the aliquots collected at different digestion times was determined according to the Eq. (4):

Bioactive compound content (%) =
$$\frac{C_{\text{digesta}}}{C_{\text{initial}}} \times 100$$
 (4)

where $C_{digesta}$ is the compound concentration (mg·mL⁻¹) in the digesta and $C_{initial}$ is the initial compound concentration (mg·mL⁻¹) in the nanoemulsion.

2.4. In vivo studies

2.4.1. Pharmacokinetic studies

All the animal procedures were conducted in accordance with EU Directive 2010/63/EU guidelines for animal experiments and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of Universitat de Lleida. Rats were housed at constant temperature $(20 \pm 0.5 \text{ °C})$ and humidity $(50 \pm 10\%)$ and a 12:12 h day/night cycle. Animals were fasted for 12 h before the experiment with free access to water. The animals were fed with a single dose of one of the different nanoemulsions containing the bioactive compound or a suspension of the bioactive compound using a feeding needle. Blood samples were taken at 0, 30, 60, 120, 240, and 480 min after administration from the tail vein. Plasma was immediately separated by centrifuging the blood samples at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and stored at -80 °C. Then, bioactive compounds and their metabolites were extracted and quantified in plasma samples.

The pharmacokinetic analysis was performed using a non-compartmental design. The area under the drug concentration versus time curve from 0 to 8 hours (AUC_{0-8 h}) was calculated using the trapezoidal rule. The maximum plasma concentration of curcumin (C_{max}) and the time to reach maximum plasma concentration (T_{max}) were directly obtained from plasma analyses.

2.4.2. Gastrointestinal stability and biodistribution

All the animal procedures were conducted in accordance with EU Directive 2010/63/EU guidelines for animal experiments and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of

Universitat de Lleida. Rats were fasted for 12 h before the experiment with free access to water. Animals were orally administered at a volume of 10 mL/kg with a feeding needle for the single dose experiments and 20 mL/kg for the multiple dose experiments. In the case of multiple dose experiments, sample administration was conducted in five times with 30 min intervals, and rats were sacrificed 30 min after the last administration. For the single dose experiments, rats were sacrificed at different times (2 and 4 h after administration).

In all cases, rats were anesthetised with isoflurane and blood samples were taken by cardiac puncture. Plasma was immediately separated by centrifuging the blood samples at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and stored at -80 °C. Then, the rats were sacrificed by exsanguination and the stomach, duodenum, jejunum, ileum and colon were removed. The content of the gastrointestinal organs was collected and immediately characterized by microscopy as described in section 2.4.4. Afterwards, the mentioned tissues and, liver, kidneys, white adipose tissue and brown adipose tissue were collected, rinsed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS), weighted and stored at -80 °C until analyses. Bioactive compounds and their metabolites were extracted and quantified in plasma and tissue samples as it follows.

2.4.3. Extraction and quantification of different bioactive compounds from plasma and tissues of rats

2.4.3.1. Carotenoids

Retinol and β -carotene extraction in plasma and tissue samples were performed according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Fan et al., 2017). Extractions were performed in a dark room to avoid compound degradation. For plasma samples, aliquots of 150 µL were mixed with the internal standard trans- β -apo-8'-carotenal and 600 µL of ethanol/hexane (1:2 v/v) containing 0.1% BHT. The mixture was vortexed at 1000 rpm for 1 min, centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C, and the organic fraction was collected, evaporated under N₂ and stored at -80 °C. For the tissue samples, 250 mg of tissue was mixed with 600 µL of milli-Q water and homogenized using an Ultra-Turrax at 9000 rpm for 1 min. After that, the tissue homogenates were mixed with the internal standard trans- β -apo-8'-carotenal and 1000 µL of

ethanol/hexane (1:2 v/v) containing 0.1% BHT. Then, the mixture was vortexed at 1000 rpm for 1 min, centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 5 min at 4 $^{\circ}$ C, and the organic fraction was collected. Afterwards, upper organic layers were evaporated under N₂ and stored at -80 $^{\circ}$ C.

The quantification of β -carotene and retinol from plasma and tissue samples was performed using a Acquity UPLC with a photodiode array detector from Waters (Milford, MA, USA) equipped with a binary solvent delivery system. The analysis was performed using a reverse-phase C18 column (ACQUITY UPLC® BEH 1.7µm 150 x 2.1 mm) kept at constant temperature (32 °C). The volume injected was 7.5 µL and the mobile phase consisted of a gradient of (A) acetonitrile: methanol (70:30 v/v) and (B) water: acetonitrile (95:5 v/v). The flow rate was 1 mL/min. The gradient profile of the mobile phase was set at 90% A and increased linearly to 100% A over 5.5 min with a 6.5-min hold, after which the mobile phase was changed back to 90% A over 2 min and the held for 2 min. β -carotene was detected at 450 nm and retinol at 325 nm.

2.4.3.2. Curcuminoids

Curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide extraction in plasma samples was performed according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Li et al., 2011). Aliquots of 150 μ L of plasma were mixed with the internal standard (Honokiol) and 600 mL of acetonitrile and vortexed at 1800 rpm for 1 min. Then, the mixture was submerged into an ultrasonic bath for 30 s, centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C, and the organic fraction was collected. Afterwards, upper organic layers were evaporated under N₂ and stored at -80 °C until quantification. For tissues, a previously described method with some modifications was used (Chirio et al., 2019). Initially, samples were mixed with milli-Q water and homogenized with an Ultra-Turrax at 9000 rpm for 1 min to obtain the tissue homogenates and the mixture was vortexed at 2000 rpm for 1 min. Then, the mixture was centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C, and the organic fraction was collected. Afterwards, upper organic layers evaporated under N₂ and stored at -80 °C until upuntification.

The quantification of curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide was performed by liquid chromatography electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (LC-ESI–MS/MS) using the method described by Liu et al. (2018), with some modifications. To perform the analyses an ACQUITY UPLC binary (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) coupled to a Xevo TQS (triple quadrupole) (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) was used. Chromatographic separation was performed on a 150 mm \times 2.1 mm i.d., 1.6 µm CORTECS Phenyl Column (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) with mobile phase A [acetonitrile containing 0.1% (v/v) formic acid] and mobile phase B [98% water and 2% acetonitrile containing 0.1% (v/v) formic acid]. The injection volume was 2.5 µL and the flow rate was 0.4 mL/min. Separation was carried out in 5.5 min under the following conditions: 0 min, 60% B; 4 min, 25% B; 4.1 min, 60% B; 5.5 min, 60% B. The column was equilibrated for 10 min prior to each analysis. The column temperature was maintained at 40 °C. The MS operated in electrospray ionization (ESI) in negative mode and nitrogen was used as the source gas in all cases.

2.4.4. Microstructure of nanoemulsions

Digesta obtained from the different part of the gastrointestinal tract of rats (stomach, duodenum, jejunum, ileum, and colon) were collected and stained with Nile Red, previously dissolved at 0.1% (w/v) in ethanol. Then, micrographs were obtained using fluorescence with an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus, Göttingen, Germany) with a 100x objective lens. The images were obtained using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus Göttingen, Germany).

2.5. Statistical analysis

All experiments were carried out in duplicate and at least three replicate analyses were done for each parameter. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted using Statgraphics Plus v.5.1 Windows package (Statistical Graphics Co., Rockville, Md, USA) to identify samples with significant differences (p < 0.05 was considered significant).

References

- Aditya, N. P., Aditya, S., Yang, H. J., Kim, H. W., Park, S. O., Lee, J., & Ko, S. (2015). Curcumin and catechin co-loaded water-in-oil-in-water emulsion and its beverage application. Journal of Functional Foods, 15, 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2015.03.013
- Artiga-Artigas, M., Lanjari-Pérez, Y., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2018). Curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stability as affected by the nature and concentration of surfactant. Food Chemistry, 266, 466–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.06.043
- Brodkorb, A., Egger, L., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Assunção, R., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu-Lacanal, C., Boutrou, R., Carrière, F., Clemente, A., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Edwards, C., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., ... Recio, I. (2019). INFOGEST static *in vitro* simulation of gastrointestinal food digestion. Nature Protocols, 14(4), 991–1014. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-018-0119-1
- Chirio, D., Peira, E., Dianzani, C., Muntoni, E., Gigliotti, C. L., Ferrara, B., Sapino, S., Chindamo, G., & Gallarate, M. (2019). Development of solid lipid nanoparticles by cold dilution of microemulsions: Curcumin loading, preliminary *in vitro* studies, and biodistribution. Nanomaterials, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/nano9020230
- Fan, Y., Gao, L., Yi, J., Zhang, Y., & Yokoyama, W. (2017). Development of β-Carotene-Loaded Organogel-Based Nanoemulsion with Improved *in Vitro* and *in Vivo* Bioaccessibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 65(30), 6188–6194. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b02125
- Li, R., Qiao, X., Li, Q., He, R., Ye, M., Xiang, C., Lin, X., & Guo, D. (2011). Metabolic and pharmacokinetic studies of curcumin, demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin in mice tumor after intragastric administration of nanoparticle formulations by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography B: Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences, 879(26), 2751–2758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2011.07.042
- Liu, Y., Siard, M., Adams, A., Keowen, M. L., Miller, T. K., Garza, F., Andrews, F. M., & Seeram, N. P. (2018). Simultaneous quantification of free curcuminoids and their metabolites in equine plasma by LC-ESI–MS/MS. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 154, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2018.03.014
- Minekus, M., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu, C., Carrière, F., Boutrou, R., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Egger, L., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., Lesmes, U., MacIerzanka, A., MacKie, A., ... Brodkorb, A. (2014). A standardised static *in vitro* digestion method suitable for food-an international consensus. Food and Function, 5(6), 1113–1124. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3fo60702j
- Qian, C., Decker, E. A., Xiao, H., & McClements, D. J. (2012). Nanoemulsion delivery systems: Influence of carrier oil on β-carotene bioaccessibility. Food Chemistry, 135(3), 1440–1447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.06.047
- Surassmo, S., Min, S. G., Bejrapha, P., & Choi, M. J. (2010). Effects of surfactants on the physical properties of capsicum oleoresin-loaded nanocapsules formulated through the emulsion-diffusion method. Food Research International, 43(1), 8–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2009.07.008

PUBLICATIONS

Chapter I

Improving the *in vitro* bioaccessibility of β-carotene using pectin added nanoemulsions

Júlia Teixé-Roig, Gemma Oms-Oliu, Sara Ballesté-Muñoz, Isabel Odriozola-Serrano, Olga Martín-Belloso*

Foods 9 (2020): 447

Abstract

The intestinal absorption of lipophilic compounds such as β-carotene has been reported to increase when they are incorporated in emulsion-based delivery systems. Moreover, the reduction of emulsions particle size and the addition of biopolymers in the systems seems to play an important role in the emulsion properties but also in their behavior under gastrointestinal conditions and the absorption of the encapsulated compound in the intestine. Hence, the present study aimed to evaluate the effect of pectin addition (0%, 1%, and 2%) on the physicochemical stability of oil-in-water nanoemulsions containing β-carotene during 35 days at 4 °C, the oil digestibility and the compound bioaccessibility. The results showed that nanoemulsions presented greater stability and lower β-carotene degradation over time in comparison with coarse emulsion, which was further reduced with the addition of pectin. Moreover, nanoemulsions presented a faster digestibility irrespective of the pectin concentration used and a higher β -carotene bioaccessibility as the pectin concentration increased, being the maximum of $\approx 36\%$ in nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin. These results highlight the potential of adding pectin to β -carotene nanoemulsions to enhance their functionality by efficiently preventing the compound degradation and increasing the in vitro bioaccessibility.

Keywords: β-carotene, nanoemulsions, pectin, stability, bioaccessibility

1. Introduction

Carotenoids are important compounds that act as natural pigments and have been related to several potential health benefits as the prevention of some cancers, cardiovascular diseases, macular degeneration, or cataracts (Handelman, 2001; Krinsky, 1993; Von Lintig, 2010). β -carotene is among the main carotenoids present in the human diet (Johnson, 2002) and it provides the highest provitamin A activity (Wang et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the biological activity of β -carotene is highly dependent on its intestinal absorption, which is often inefficient as a consequence of entrapment in food matrices, and low stability under gastrointestinal conditions, among others (Boon et al., 2009; Ornelas-Paz et al., 2008; Yuan et al., 2008). Besides, the application of β -carotene in many food matrices is limited because the compound is poorly dispersed in water and its chemical stability is low, being especially sensitive to heat, oxidation, and light due their unsaturated chemical structures (Liu et al., 2016; Ribeiro et al., 2010).

Emulsion-based delivery systems can be produced using various emulsification processes and they have been widely used to protect bioactive compounds such as carotenoids from degradation, ameliorate its dispersion in an aqueous media, and increase its bioaccessibility (Hou et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2012; Mao & Miao, 2015; McClements & Li, 2010; Ribeiro et al., 2010; Verrijssen et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016). However, in the last years, oil droplet reduction in the range of 20-500 nm (Usón et al., 2004) showed several advantages over conventional emulsions. Nanoemulsion-based delivery systems have been reported to be more resistant to gravitational separation and aggregation than conventional emulsions (Mason et al., 2006; Wooster et al., 2008). Moreover, their high surface area seems to facilitate the digestive enzyme activity (McClements, 2018; Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2019) and increase the compound bioaccessibility (Acosta, 2009; Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019; Ribeiro et al., 2010; Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013; Troncoso et al., 2012). Pectin is a naturally-sourced biopolymer composed of a group of complex polysaccharides rich in galacturonic acid units linked by α (1–4) bonds located in the cell wall of plants. This molecule has an amphiphilic character that helps to reduce the interfacial tension between oil and water phases, providing good emulsification properties (Dickinson, 2018; Guerra-Rosas et al., 2016), and also increases the viscosity of the aqueous phase (Zhang et al., 2015). Actually, consumers are interested in more natural products, so the use of natural ingredients in the formulation of delivery systems is an actual area of interest. In that sense, pectin has been used as an emulsifying and stabilizing agent in food emulsions, but although the use of this biopolymer together with other emulsifiers and their possible interactions has been studied in emulsions, there is a lack of knowledge on its effect on nanoemulsions and, specifically on its behavior under gastrointestinal conditions. Moreover, the addition of biopolymers such as pectin in emulsion-based delivery systems not only can modify the initial emulsion characteristics, but also the behavior of the systems under gastrointestinal conditions and the bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound (Beysseriat et al., 2006; Espinal-Ruiz et al., 2014; Feng et al., 2017; Gasa-Falcon et al., 2017; Klinkesorn & McClements, 2009; Li et al., 2010; Schmidt et al., 2015). Thus, pectin can have an impact on some health important factors as the satiety, the glycaemia control, and the prevention of some gastrointestinal diseases (Anderson et al., 2009). Hence, the present study aimed to evaluate the effect of pectin addition (0%, 1%, and 2%) on the physicochemical stability of oil-in-water nanoemulsions containing β carotene during 35 days at 4 °C, the oil digestibility and the compound bioaccessibility.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

 β -carotene, Tween 20, pepsin (from porcine gastric mucosa), pancreatin (from porcine pancreas), bile extract (bovine), and all the solvents were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, Inc. (St. Louis, MO, USA). Corn oil was purchased from a local supermarket. Food-grade high methoxyl pectin from citrus peel with a degree of methylesterification from 67% to 71% was obtained from Acros Organics (Morris Plains, NJ, USA). Ultrapure water, obtained from Millipore milli-Q filtration system water was used to prepare emulsions and reagents of the experiment.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Coarse emulsion and nanoemulsion preparation

To obtain the lipid phase, β -carotene was dissolved in corn oil (5 mg·g⁻¹) by sonicating (1 min) and stirring (45 °C, 5 min). To formulate the aqueous phase, pectin (0%, 1%,

and 2%) was added into ultrapure water, previously heated at 70 °C, and dispersed using an homogenizer (Ultra-Turrax, Janke & Kunkel, Staufen, Germany) at 9500 rpm for 5 min. The aqueous phase (containing water and pectin) was left for 1 h until it was at room temperature. Then, the lipid phase (4% w/w), Tween 20 (4% w/w) and the aqueous phase were homogenized at 9500 rpm for 2 min to obtain the coarse emulsion. Finally, a microfluidizer (M-110P, Microfluidics, Newton, MA, USA), equipped with a 75 μ m ceramic interaction chamber (F20Y) at an operational pressure of 100 mPa, was used to form nanoemulsions by passing the coarse emulsion for 5 cycles.

2.2.2. Particle size

Particle size of emulsions was measured using a Mastersizer 3000 (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Worcestershire, UK). Samples were diluted in ultrapure water and stirred in the dispersion unit at a constant speed of 1800 rpm. The particle size was expressed as surface area mean diameter (d_{32}) in nanometers (nm), fixing a refractive index of the corn oil of 1.473 and 1.333 for water. Moreover, due to the presence of large particles in some samples, d_{90} was also reported.

2.2.3. Electrical charge

The electrical charge (ζ -potential) was measured by phase-analysis light scattering (PALS) using a Zetasizer NanoZS (Malvern Instruments Ltd. Worcestershire, UK) to determine the surface charge at the interface of the droplets. Emulsions were diluted (1:10) in ultrapure water and placed in a capillary cell equipped with two electrodes to assess the electrophoretic mobility of the particles. The results were reported in millivolts (mV).

2.2.4. Stability

The stability of emulsions was studied using an optical scan analyzer Turbiscan MA 2000 (Formulaction, Toulouse, France) which is a non-destructive method that can measure the static stability of samples and detect the cause of instability (flocculation, coalescence, sedimentation, or creaming) by the multiple light scattering technique. A sample of 7 mL was introduced into a glass cylindrical cell and analyzed by a light beam emitted in near infrared wavelength, which scanned vertically from the bottom to the top

of the sample cell. Two synchronous optical sensors received light backscattered by the sample (45° from the incident radiation). In this study, the backscattering was measured during 35 days at 4 °C to assess the stability of emulsions over time. The backscattering was analyzed at three different zones of the test tube (top, middle, and bottom) in order to study different instability phenomena throughout the tube such as creaming at the top, flocculation, or coalescence in the middle and sedimentation at the bottom.

2.2.5. β-carotene extraction and quantification

 β -carotene determination was carried out according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Salvia Trujillo et al., 2013a). To extract the β -carotene, 5 mL of sample was mixed with 5 mL of chloroform, vortexed and centrifuged at 1750 rpm for 20 min at 4 °C. After centrifugation, the bottom chloroform phase (orange colored) was collected, while the top layer was vortexed with another 5 mL of chloroform and centrifuged at 1750 rpm at 4 °C during 20 min. The bottom layer, which contained β carotene, was collected, while the top layer was mixed with an additional 5 mL of chloroform and the same procedure was repeated. Then, the absorbance of the collected bottom layers was measured at 450 nm using a UV-visible spectrometer (CECIL CE 2021; Cecil Instruments Ltd., Cambridge, UK), using chloroform as a blank. The β carotene content from a sample was measured from a previously prepared calibration curve of absorbance versus β -carotene concentration in chloroform.

2.2.6 In vitro digestion

To simulate the human digestion process, an *in vitro* gastrointestinal tract (GIT) digestion based on an international consensus method (Minekus et al., 2014) with some modifications was used. The coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions were digested immediately after their preparation. The protocol included both gastric and small intestinal phases. Briefly, 20 mL of the sample was mixed with 18.2 mL of simulated gastric fluid (SGF) containing pepsin (2000 U·mL⁻¹), 0.4 mL HCl solution (1 M), and 10 μ L of a CaCl₂ solution (0.3 M). Finally, 1.39 mL of ultrapure water was added to reach a final volume of 40 mL. The mixture was placed into an incubator at 37 °C for 2 h while shaking at 100 rpm. To simulate the intestinal phase, a pH-stat device was used. Once the gastric phase was completed, an aliquot of 30 mL of gastric sample was placed

in a 37 °C water bath. Then, 3.5 mL of bile solution (54 mg·mL⁻¹) and 1.5 mL of salt solution (NaCl 0.150 mM and CaCl₂ 0.01 mM) were added and the pH was adjusted to 7 with NaOH (1 M). Finally, 2.5 mL of pancreatin solution (75 mg·mL⁻¹) was incorporated into the mixture. The pH of the sample was maintained to 7 by adding NaOH (0.25 M) constantly for 2 h. The final volume of NaOH (0.25 M) was recorded and used to calculate the amount of free fatty acids (FFAs) released during the intestinal phase. The FFA (%) was determined according to Equation (1):

$$FFA(\%) = \frac{V_{NaOH} \times C_{NaOH} \times M_{oil}}{2 \times m_{oil}} \times 100$$
(1)

where V_{NaOH} is NaOH volume (L) used during the intestinal digestion, C_{NaOH} is NaOH molarity (0.25 mol·L⁻¹), M_{oil} is corn oil molecular weight (800 g·mol⁻¹), and m_{oil} is corn oil total weight present in the emulsions (g).

2.2.7. Bioaccessibility determination

Aliquots of digested emulsions were centrifuged at 4000 rpm during 40 min at 4 °C (Qian e al., 2012a) to obtain the micellar fraction. The concentration of β -carotene in the micellar fraction was determined following the method described in Section 2.2.5. Lastly, β -carotene bioaccessibility was calculated according to Equation (2):

Bioaccessibility (%) =
$$\frac{c_{micelle}}{c_{initial}} \times 100$$
 (2)

where C_{micelle} is the β -carotene concentration $(\text{mg} \cdot \text{ml}^{-1})$ in the micellar fraction and C_{initial} the initial β -carotene concentration $(\text{mg} \cdot \text{ml}^{-1})$ in the emulsion.

2.2.8. Optical microscopy

Images of coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions were obtained using an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus America Inc., Melville, NY, USA) with a $100 \times$ objective lens. The images were obtained using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus).

2.2.9. Statistical analysis

All experiments were assayed in duplicate and three repetitions of each analysis were carried out on each parameter in order to obtain mean values. Analysis of the variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare treatments. Least significant difference (LSD) test was employed to determine differences between means. The confidence interval was set at 0.95 and all results were analyzed using the Statgraphics Plus v.5.1 Windows package (Statistical Graphics Co., Rockville, MD, USA).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Physicochemical characterization

3.1.1. Particle size

Initially, the coarse emulsion presented a higher mean particle size $d32 (7300 \pm 307 \text{ nm})$ than nanoemulsion without pectin (313.4 \pm 20.2 nm) (Table 1). Moreover, d_{90} value, which indicates the maximum particle diameter of 90% of the sample, showed that the largest droplets in each sample have a size of 25464 ± 1401 nm in the coarse emulsion and 540.7 ± 59.7 nm in the nanoemulsion without pectin. The particle size distribution showed that the microfluidization process not only reduced the mean particle size, but also makes the nanoemulsion less polydisperse compared to the coarse emulsion (Figure 1). A high pressure is applied during the microfluidization process to guide the flow stream through microchannels to the interaction chamber, where cavitation, along with shear and impact, produce a reduction of the emulsion particle size (Maa & Hsu, 1999). The addition of pectin significantly (p < 0.05) decreased the particle size of nanoemulsions, irrespective of the concentration used. Our results are in accordance with those reported by Verkempinck et al. (2018a), who also observed a particle size reduction in emulsions that contained a small molecule surfactant (Tween 80) and pectin as stabilizers. On the one hand, the observed decrease in the particle size when pectin was added in the nanoemulsions is suggested to be a consequence of a competitive effect between the polymer and the small molecule surfactant for the interface. Tween 20, which has a lower molecular weight than pectin, may move slightly faster to the interface, leading to small particle sizes (Verkempinck et al., 2018a). In that sense, we hypothesize that Tween 20 has been efficiently adsorbed in the interface, but also part of the pectin added was present. On the other hand, the viscosity of the nanoemulsions increased from 1.23 ± 0.05 mPa·s in the nanoemulsion without pectin to 6.51 ± 0.10 mPa·s and 19.77 ± 0.26 mPa·s in nanoemulsions with 1% and 2% of pectin, respectively (Table 1). The increase in the viscosity of the continuous phase could enhance the reduction of the particle size by increasing the disruptive shear stresses (Qian & McClements, 2011).

3.1.2. Electrical charge

As it can be observed in Table 1, the electrical charge of the initial coarse emulsion was -32.1 ± 1.9 mV and became less negative after the microfluidization process ($-20.9 \pm$ 2.1 mV), as previously reported by other authors (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2019). Although the systems are expected to have no negative charge because they are formulated using a non-ionic surfactant (Tween 20), the obtained negative charges can be a consequence of a preferential absorption of OH⁻ species from water to the oil-water interface (McClements, 2005; Mun et al., 2007). The ζ -potential became less negative when pectin was added, irrespective of the concentration used (Table 1). This anionic biopolymer has been reported to show negative charges when it is added in emulsions (Celus et al., 2018; Verkempinck et al., 2018b) due to the carboxyl groups present on its molecule (Burapapadh et al., 2010), but this fact is influenced by the pH. In our study, nanoemulsion without pectin showed a pH about 6.5, but pectin added nanoemulsions presented a low pH (\approx 3). At this pH, the pectin molecules lose most of the negative charges because the pK_a value of their anionic carboxylic groups is around 3.5, so the majority of carboxyl groups are protonated (-COOH) (Zhang et al., 2015). Moreover, no variations were observed between nanoemulsions with 1% and 2% of pectin. In that sense, due to the competence for the interface between Tween 20 and pectin, it seems that in both nanoemulsions the same amount of pectin was adsorbed on the interface. Therefore, in the nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin, a high amount of this biopolymer was remaining in the aqueous phase.



Figure 1. Particle size distribution of coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions with different pectin concentrations (0%, 1%, and 2%) at different phases of the *in vitro* digestion. (a) Coarse emulsion without pectin; (b) Nanoemulsion without pectin; (c) Nanoemulsion with 1% of pectin; (d) Nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin.

Table 1. Particle size, viscosity, ζ -potential, and β -carotene bioaccessibility of coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions with different pectin concentrations (0%, 1%, and 2%).

	CE0 ¹	NE0 ²	NE1 ³	NE2 ⁴
Particle diameter d ₃₂ (nm)	$7300\pm307~^{\rm B}$	$313.4\pm20.2~^{Ab}$	$242.6\pm10.9~^a$	247.1 ± 24.6 ^a
Particle diameter d ₉₀ (nm)	25464 ± 1401 ^B	$540.7\pm59.7~^{Ab}$	448.4 ± 21.4 ^a	439.3 ±23.3 ^a
Viscosity (mPa \cdot s)	$1.31\pm0.02~^{\rm A}$	$1.23\pm0.05~^{\text{Aa}}$	6.51 ± 0.10 b	19.77 ± 0.26 $^{\rm c}$
ζ -potential (mV)	-32.1 \pm 1.9 $^{\rm A}$	-20.9 \pm 2.1 $^{\text{Ba}}$	-7.6 \pm 0.2 $^{\rm b}$	-7.4 \pm 0.4 $^{\rm b}$
β-carotene bioaccessibility (%)	$20.9\pm1.4~^{\rm A}$	$25.0\pm2.4~^{Ba}$	$29.5\pm1.7~^{\rm b}$	36.9 ± 2.2 °

¹ CE0: coarse emulsion without pectin. ² NE0: nanoemulsion without pectin. ³ NE1: nanoemulsion with 1% of pectin. ⁴ NE2: nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin. Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters indicate significant (p < 0.05) differences between the coarse emulsion and nanoemulsion without pectin. Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between nanoemulsions with different pectin concentrations.

3.2. Stability

Initially, the coarse emulsion presented a higher backscattering value at the top zone compared with nanoemulsions as a consequence of the creaming formation in a few minutes after their preparation (Figure 2a). Moreover, in this emulsion, phase separation was observed after 2 days since the oil migrated to the top of the tube, increasing the backscattering at this zone and decreasing it in the middle zone (Figure 2a, b). In contrast, all nanoemulsions exhibited lower variations in backscattering, being the nanoemulsion without pectin the one with least variations (< 4%) (Figure 2). Therefore, this nanoemulsion can be considered stable since only variations greater than 10%, either as a positive or as a negative in the graphical scale of backscattering, are considered an indicator of instability (Celia et al., 2009). Although both coarse emulsion and nanoemulsion could prevent instability phenomena as sedimentation or creaming since the Brownian motion, and consequently the diffusion rate, are greater than the sedimentation or creaming rate induced by the gravity (Solans et al., 2005).

The creaming phenomenon was detected in pectin nanoemulsions after 2 days of storage. An increase of 26.8% and 18.5% of the backscattering at the top zone was observed when pectin was added at 1% and 2%, respectively (Figure 2a). Moreover, these nanoemulsions presented an increase of the backscattering in the middle zone after 35 days of storage, more pronounced when the polymer was added at 2% (Figure 2b). This increase in the middle zone is suggested to be a consequence of the reversible flocculation phenomenon rather than coalescence of the droplets since the light scattering measurements did not show an increase of the particle size (Figure 3).



Figure 2. Variation of backscattering values in coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions with different pectin concentrations (0%, 1%, and 2%) at different zones of the test tube during 35 days at 4 °C. (a) Top zone; (b) Middle zone; (c) Bottom zone. CE 0, coarse emulsion without pectin; NE 0 nanoemulsion without pectin; NE 1, nanoemulsion with 1% of pectin; NE 2, nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin.

Other authors also observed flocculation of droplets, and consequently, the appearance of creaming when citrus pectin was added at concentrations of $\geq 0.02\%$ in emulsion-

based systems (Beysseriat et al., 2006; Celus et al., 2018). When pectin is used at low concentrations, the repulsive interactions between droplets are sufficiently large to overcome the attractive interactions, but there is a critical concentration of the polymer over which the attraction is sufficiently strong to promote flocculation of droplets, and thereby, creaming occurs (Espinal-Ruiz et al., 2014; McClements, 2000). As previously mentioned, we suggest that the part of pectin that has not been adsorbed at the interface is remaining at the aqueous phase, creating an osmotic imbalance, which promoted the depletion flocculation observed in the nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin compared with those with 1%, may be due to the higher amount of biopolymer remaining at the continuous phase.

3.3. β-carotene degradation

During the storage, the β -carotene content was reduced by 50% in the coarse emulsion, whereas in the nanoemulsion without pectin, the reduction was about 14% (Figure 4). Our results are similar to those reported by other authors who observed degradation of about 14-25% in nanoemulsions formulated with small molecule surfactants, after 4 weeks of storage at 4 °C (Tan & Nakajima, 2005; Yuan et al., 2008). The reduction of the particle size could increase carotenoid degradation because of a higher surface area exposed to oxidation (Qian et al., 2012b; Tan & Nakajima, 2005). However, in our study, a rapid phase separation was observed in the coarse emulsion. This phenomenon resulted in a loss of the emulsion structure, which could promote the β -carotene oxidation because it was more exposed to the environment. The addition of pectin reduced the compound degradation during the 35 days of storage at 4 °C irrespective of the concentration used (Figure 4). At day 35, the nanoemulsion without pectin showed a β carotene content of $85.3\% \pm 3.2\%$, while nanoemulsions with 1% and 2% of pectin presented values of 97.0% \pm 4.4% and 94.9% \pm 2.6%, respectively. The presence of pectin in the aqueous phase or at the interface may physically hinder the ability of prooxidants to interact with β -carotene within the oil droplets by providing a steric barrier (Xu et al., 2012). Moreover, pectin has been reported to be effective inhibiting lipid oxidation due to their free radical scavenging activity and their iron-binding capacity (Chen et al., 2010). Although pectin nanoemulsions have been observed to present flocculation and creaming (Section 3.2), we suggest that the flocculation phenomenon could be acting as a protective effect by entrapping the compound in the flocs produced by pectin.



Figure 4. β -carotene content on coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions with different pectin concentrations (0%, 1%, and 2%) during 35 days at 4 °C. CE0, coarse emulsion without pectin; NE0 nanoemulsion without pectin; NE1, nanoemulsion with 1% of pectin; NE2, nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin.

3.4. Gastrointestinal behaviour of the emulsions

3.4.1. Particle size

In the gastric phase, no significant changes in the mean particle size were observed between coarse emulsion and nanoemulsion without pectin although some changes in particle size distribution were detected (Figures 1 and 5). In both cases, the particle size distribution became more polydisperse, meaning that some large particles were formed (Figure 1). This fact can also be observed in the microscope images of these emulsions in the gastric phase (Figure 6). Few changes on the mean particle size during the gastric digestion were also reported by other authors in oil-in-water emulsions formulated with small surfactants as Tween 20 or Tween 80 (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019; Verkempinck et al., 2018c). This type of surfactants has been reported to provide greater stability under gastric conditions when compared with others like lecithin or proteins, which have shown to be less effective against flocculation under gastric conditions (Chang & McClements, 2016; van Aken et al., 2011). In nanoemulsions with pectin, the mean particle size increased during the gastric phase, more noticeably when the polymer was added at 2% (Figure 5). Moreover, the particle size distribution became more polydisperse, similar to the nanoemulsion without pectin, because of an increase of large particles (Figure 1). The flocculation and coalescence phenomena, which can be observed in the microscope images of pectin nanoemulsions in the gastric phase (Figure 6), could be the reason for the increased particle size at this stage. In that sense, the pectin remaining in the continuous phase of these nanoemulsions may be promoting the formation of aggregates containing both oil droplets and pectin molecules (Verkempinck et al., 2018b). Moreover, in the microscope images of the nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin (Figure 6), it can be observed that pectin could have induced the formation of gellike pectin, namely Ca⁺²-crosslinkings with the available calcium ions in the stomach juice, which are clustering oil droplets (Verrijssen al., 2015).



Figure 5. Mean particle size values (d_{32}) of coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions with different pectin concentrations (0%, 1%, and 2%) at different phases of the *in vitro* digestion. CE0, coarse emulsion without pectin; NE0, nanoemulsion without pectin; NE1, nanoemulsion with 1% of pectin; NE2, nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin.

During the intestinal phase, the mean particle size increased substantially in the nanoemulsion without pectin, while in the coarse emulsion, no significant variation was detected with respect to the gastric phase (Figure 5). The particle size distribution graphs also showed such an increase in the particle size in the nanoemulsion without pectin (Figure 1). During the lipid digestion, the oil droplets are digested by the intestinal

enzymes and the mixed micelles are formed. In that sense, the increase of particle size at this stage could be related to the formation of the mixed micelles, the presence of some other molecules produced in the intestinal digestion or undigested oil droplets. Otherwise, during the intestinal phase, droplet coalescence can also occur, since the release of surface-active products generated during the lipid digestion can displace the interface stabilizers so they are ineffectively preventing the coalescence of oil droplets (Mao & Miao, 2015; Mun et al., 2007). In nanoemulsions with pectin, larger particle sizes were observed compared with those without the biopolymer, especially in the nanoemulsion with 2% of the pectin (Figures 1 and 5). This fact is confirmed by the microscope images of nanoemulsions with pectin, in which larger particles can be observed (Figure 6).

3.4.2. Electrical charge

During the gastric phase, the ζ -potential becomes less negative in both coarse emulsion and nanoemulsion without pectin (Figure 7). The electrostatic screening effects resulting from the interactions between oil-water surfaces and ions present at this stage (Ca²⁺, K⁺, and H⁺) could produce a decrease in the negative charge (Verkempinck et al., 2018b; Zhang et al., 2015). Otherwise, the electrical charge measurements of nanoemulsions with pectin showed that there were little changes under gastric conditions (Figure 5). The initial pH of these nanoemulsions was \approx 3, so when they were subjected to the gastric phase, there was no important variation on the pH (2.5). Thus, as well as in the initial systems, the majority of carboxyl groups of pectin were protonated at these conditions, so they cannot interact with the ions present at this stage.



Figure 7. ζ -potential values of coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions with different pectin concentrations (0%, 1%, and 2%) at different phases of the *in vitro* digestion. CE0, coarse emulsion without pectin; NE0, nanoemulsion without pectin; NE1, nanoemulsion with 1% of pectin; NE2, nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin.

The ζ -potential of emulsions had a relatively high negative charge under simulated intestinal conditions, being more negative in nanoemulsions compared with coarse emulsion (Figure 7). The general increase in the electrical charge (in absolute terms) at this stage could be caused due to the presence of some negatively charged molecules resulting from the intestinal digestion process as bile salts, lipase, or phospholipids that compete with surface-active particles initially present at the droplet surface (McClements & Xiao, 2012; Mun et al., 2007; Singh et al., 2009). No significant differences were observed between the electrical charge of nanoemulsions with and without pectin at this stage, as reported previously (Verkempinck et al., 2018b). At neutral pH of the intestine, both the pectin molecule and the lipid droplets have high negative charges, so there could exist a high electrostatic repulsion between them, which may inhibit the pectin adsorption on the interface (Simo et al., 2012). Moreover, it is also possible that the high impact of the anionic species resulting from intestinal digestion on the electrical charge was covering up the effect of pectin (Chang & McClements, 2016), making it difficult to be observed in the electrical charge measurements.



Figure 6. Images of coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions with different pectin concentrations (0%, 1%, and 2%) at different phases of the *in vitro* digestion. CE0, coarse emulsion without pectin; NE0, nanoemulsion without pectin; NE1, nanoemulsion with 1% of pectin; NE2, nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin. Scale bars were 10 μ m long.

3.4.3. Oil digestibility

As it can be seen in Figure 8, all emulsions presented the same oil digestibility (about 80%) after the 2 h of the intestinal digestion and the lipid digestion profile presented a similar trend. The amount of FFAs increased rapidly at the beginning of the lipid digestion but slightly at longer digestion times. This suggests that the lipids initially present in the oil droplets were rapidly converted into monoacylglycerols and FFAs. Similar profiles have been previously observed when corn oil has been used in the formulation of emulsions and nanoemulsions (Qian et al., 2012a; Rao et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2015). But looking at the results more specifically, in our study, the initial digestion rate in the coarse emulsion was slower in comparison to all nanoemulsions (Figure 8). In fact, the FFAs liberated in the intestinal phase after 5 min were $\approx 60\%$ in nanoemulsions and $\approx 40\%$ in the course emulsion. These differences could be attributed to the particle size of emulsions at the end of the gastric phase. In nanoemulsions, the small particle sizes increase the lipid surface area exposed to lipase activity, enhancing
the FFAs release during the intestinal digestion (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2017; Li et al., 2011; Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013). Moreover, the access to lipase could be easier in nanoemulsions because they present a thinner layer at the interface due to the higher surface area and same surfactant concentration. This fact could provide less steric hindrance, improving lipase access to oil (Yi et al., 2014). The results of this study show that the presence of pectin did not have a significant impact on the rate of lipid digestion of these systems, similar to other published results (Simo et al., 2012). As it was previously mentioned, pectin may not be adsorbed at the intestinal pH (pH 7), whereby not affecting the lipolysis process. Other anionic biopolymers as fucoidan had also shown no effect on the lipid digestibility when they are used in combination with small molecule surfactants (Chang & McClements, 2016).



Figure 8. Free fatty acid (FFA) release during the intestinal phase of coarse emulsion and nanoemulsions with different pectin concentrations (0%, 1%, and 2%). CE0, coarse emulsion without pectin; NE0, nanoemulsion without pectin; NE1, nanoemulsion with 1% of pectin; NE2, nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin.

3.4.4. β-carotene bioaccessibility

The bioaccessibility of a lipophilic compound can be defined as the fraction of the substance which is solubilized within the gastrointestinal intestinal fluids in a suitable form for absorption (McClements, 2018). β -carotene bioaccessibility increased from 20.9% \pm 1.4% in coarse emulsion to 25.0% \pm 2.4% in the nanoemulsion without pectin (Table 1). Generally, smaller particle size, i.e., higher surface area, improves the oil

digestibility and transfer of β -carotene to micelles (Yi et al., 2014). Nevertheless, in our study, no differences were detected between the digestibility of the nanoemulsion and the coarse emulsion. In that sense, although both emulsions presented the same FFAs at the end of the lipid digestion, the faster initial FFAs release in nanoemulsions could have favored the incorporation of β -carotene to the mixed micelles.

The pectin addition affected the bioaccessibility of β -carotene. The higher the pectin concentration, the greater the bioaccessibility, reaching maximum values of $36.9\% \pm$ 2.2% in nanoemulsions with 2% of pectin. A similar effect has been observed using mandarin fiber, rich in pectin, on the bioaccessibility of β -carotene nanoemulsions at concentrations up to 1% (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2017). In our study, we hypothesize that the flocculation phenomenon in the gastric phase and the formation of pectin gels induced by the presence of pectin in the aqueous phase could act as a steric barrier, reducing the compound degradation during its pass through the gastrointestinal tract and enhancing the β -carotene bioaccessibility. Indeed, the highest bioaccessibility observed in the nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin must be due to the greater flocculation and formation of gels in the gastric phase, as a consequence of a higher amount of pectin present in the aqueous phase. Therefore, although all nanoemulsions exhibited the same amount of free fatty acids at the end of the intestinal digestion, it seems that other factors influenced the bioaccessibility of β -carotene. Some authors have noted that lipid availability for mixed micelle formation is not always correlated with the bioaccessibility of β -carotene (Verrijssen et al., 2016). In this regard, factors such as the composition of active molecules in the micelle appear to have also a significant effect.

4. Conclusions

The results show that by adding pectin at 2% in nanoemulsions, the lowest β -carotene degradation and the highest bioaccessibility were observed. These results could be related to the ability of this biopolymer to protect the compound by providing a steric barrier and due to its free radical scavenging activity. The reduction in particle significantly increased the stability of the systems, which was probably the cause of the decreased β -carotene degradation observed in the nanoemulsions during the storage. Moreover, lipid digestion was faster in the nanoemulsions, which could produce a faster incorporation of β -carotene in the mixed micelles and, thus, higher bioaccessibility

values compared to the coarse emulsion. However, further *in vivo* investigations are needed to better understand the digestive behavior of pectin nanoemulsions containing β -carotene and to assess the encapsulated compound bioavailability.

Funding

This work was funded by the project AGL2015-65975-R (FEDER, MINECO, UE) and project RTI2018-094268-B-C21 (MCIU, AEI; FEDER, UE).

References

- Acosta, E. (2009). Bioavailability of nanoparticles in nutrient and nutraceutical delivery. *Current Opinion in Colloid and Interface Science*, 14(1), 3–15.
- Anderson, J. W., Baird, P., Davis, R. H., Ferreri, S., Knudtson, M., Koraym, A., Waters, V., & Williams, C. L. (2009). Health benefits of dietary fiber. *Nutrition Reviews*, 67(4), 188–205.
- Beysseriat, M., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2006). Preliminary study of the influence of dietary fiber on the properties of oil-in-water emulsions passing through an *in vitro* human digestion model. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 20(6), 800–809.
- Boon, C. S., McClements, D. J., Weiss, J., & Decker, E. A. (2009). Role of iron and hydroperoxides in the degradation of lycopene in oil-in-water emulsions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57(7), 2993–2998.
- Burapapadh, K., Kumpugdee-Vollrath, M., Chantasart, D., & Sriamornsak, P. (2010). Fabrication of pectin-based nanoemulsions loaded with itraconazole for pharmaceutical application. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, *82*(2), 384–393.
- Celia, C., Trapasso, E., Cosco, D., Paolino, D., & Fresta, M. (2009). Turbiscan Lab® Expert analysis of the stability of ethosomes® and ultradeformable liposomes containing a bilayer fluidizing agent. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 72(1), 155–160.
- Celus, M., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Kyomugasho, C., Maes, I., Van Loey, A. M., Grauwet, T., & Hendrickx, M. E. (2018). Structurally modified pectin for targeted lipid antioxidant capacity in linseed/sunflower oil-in-water emulsions. *Food Chemistry*, 241, 86–96.
- Chang, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Influence of emulsifier type on the *in vitro* digestion of fish oil-in-water emulsions in the presence of an anionic marine polysaccharide (fucoidan): Caseinate, whey protein, lecithin, or Tween 80. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *61*, 92–101.
- Chen, B., Mcclements, D. J., & Decker, E. A. (2010). Role of continuous phase anionic polysaccharides on the oxidative stability of menhaden oil-in-water emulsions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(6), 3779–3784.
- Dickinson, E. (2018). Hydrocolloids acting as emulsifying agents How do they do it? *Food Hydrocolloids*, 78, 2–14.

Espinal-Ruiz, M., Parada-Alfonso, F., Restrepo-Sánchez, L. P., Narváez-Cuenca, C. E., &

McClements, D. J. (2014). Impact of dietary fibers [methyl cellulose, chitosan, and pectin] on digestion of lipids under simulated gastrointestinal conditions. *Food and Function*, 5(12), 3083–3095.

- Feng, H., Li, C., Tan, C. P., Fu, X., Zhang, B., & Huang, Q. (2017). Physicochemical properties and *in vitro* bioaccessibility of lutein loaded emulsions stabilized by corn fiber gums. *RSC Advances*, 7(61), 38243–38250.
- Gasa-Falcon, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2017). Influence of mandarin fiber addition on physico-chemical properties of nanoemulsions containing β-carotene under simulated gastrointestinal digestion conditions. *LWT Food Science and Technology*, *84*, 331–337.
- Gasa-Falcon, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Impact of emulsifier nature and concentration on the stability of β-carotene enriched nanoemulsions during: *In vitro* digestion. *Food and Function*, *10*(2), 713–722.
- Guerra-Rosas, M. I., Morales-Castro, J., Ochoa-Martínez, L. A., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2016). Long-term stability of food-grade nanoemulsions from high methoxyl pectin containing essential oils. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *52*, 438–446.
- Handelman, G. J. (2001). The evolving role of carotenoids in human biochemistry. *Nutrition*, 17(10), 818–822.
- Hou, Z., Liu, Y., Lei, F., & Gao, Y. (2014). Investigation into the *in vitro* release properties of βcarotene in emulsions stabilized by different emulsifiers. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 59(2), 867–873.
- Johnson, E. J. (2002). The role of carotenoids in human health. *Nutrition in Clinical Care, 5*(2), 56–65.
- Klinkesorn, U., & McClements, D. J. (2009). Influence of chitosan on stability and lipase digestibility of lecithin-stabilized tuna oil-in-water emulsions. *Food Chemistry*, 114(4), 1308–1315.
- Krinsky, N. (1993). Actions of carotenoids in biological systems. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 13(1), 561–587.
- Li, Y., Hu, M., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Factors affecting lipase digestibility of emulsified lipids using an *in vitro* digestion model: Proposal for a standardised pH-stat method. *Food Chemistry*, 126(2), 498–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.11.027
- Li, Y., Hu, M., Xiao, H., Du, Y., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2010). Controlling the functional performance of emulsion-based delivery systems using multi-component biopolymer coatings. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 76(1), 38– 47.
- Liu, F., Ma, C., McClements, D. J., & Gao, Y. (2016). Development of polyphenol-proteinpolysaccharide ternary complexes as emulsifiers for nutraceutical emulsions: Impact on formation, stability, and bioaccessibility of β -carotene emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids, 61*, 578–588.

- Liu, Y., Hou, Z., Lei, F., Chang, Y., & Gao, Y. (2012). Investigation into the bioaccessibility and microstructure changes of β-carotene emulsions during *in vitro* digestion. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, *15*, 86–95.
- Maa, Y. F., & Hsu, C. C. (1999). Performance of sonication and microfluidization for liquidliquid emulsification. *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology*, 4(2), 233–240.
- Mao, L., & Miao, S. (2015). Structuring food emulsions to improve nutrient delivery during digestion. *Food Engineering Reviews*, 7(4), 439–451.
- Mason, T. G., Wilking, J. N., Meleson, K., Chang, C. B., & Graves, S. M. (2006). Nanoemulsions: Formation, structure, and physical properties. *Journal of Physics Condensed Matter*, 18(41).
- McClements, D. J. (2000). Comments on viscosity enhancement and depletion flocculation by polysaccharides. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 14(2), 173–177.
- McClements, D.J. (2005). Food emulsions: Principles, practice, and techniques. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- McClements, David Julian. (2018). Enhanced delivery of lipophilic bioactives using emulsions: A review of major factors affecting vitamin, nutraceutical, and lipid bioaccessibility. *Food and Function*, 9(1), 22–41.
- McClements, David Julian, & Li, Y. (2010). Structured emulsion-based delivery systems: Controlling the digestion and release of lipophilic food components. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, 159(2), 213–228.
- McClements, David Julian, & Xiao, H. (2012). Potential biological fate of ingested nanoemulsions: Influence of particle characteristics. *Food and Function*, 3(3), 202–220.
- Minekus, M., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu, C., Carrière, F., Boutrou, R., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Egger, L., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., Lesmes, U., Macierzanka, A., Mackie, A., ... Brodkorb, A. (2014). A standardised static *in vitro* digestion method suitable for food an international consensus. *Food Function*, 5(6), 1113–1124.
- Mun, S., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2007). Influence of emulsifier type on *in vitro* digestibility of lipid droplets by pancreatic lipase. *Food Research International*, 40(6), 770–781.
- Ornelas-Paz, J. D. J., Failla, M. L., Yahia, E. M., & Gardea-Bejar, A. (2008). Impact of the stage of ripening and dietary fat on *in vitro* bioaccessibility of β-carotene in "Ataulfo" mango. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *56*(4), 1511–1516.
- Qian, C., Decker, E. A., Xiao, H., & McClements, D. J. (2012a). Nanoemulsion delivery systems: Influence of carrier oil on β-carotene bioaccessibility. *Food Chemistry*, *135*(3), 1440–1447.
- Qian, C., Decker, E. A., Xiao, H., & McClements, D. J. (2012b). Physical and chemical stability of β-carotene-enriched nanoemulsions: Influence of pH, ionic strength, temperature, and emulsifier type. *Food Chemistry*, *132*(3), 1221–1229.

- Qian, C., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Formation of nanoemulsions stabilized by model foodgrade emulsifiers using high-pressure homogenization: Factors affecting particle size. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 25(5), 1000–1008.
- Rao, J., Decker, E. A., Xiao, H., & McClements, D. J. (2013). Nutraceutical nanoemulsions: Influence of carrier oil composition (digestible versus indigestible oil) on β-carotene bioavailability. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 93(13), 3175–3183.
- Ribeiro, H. S., Schuchmann, H. P., Engel, R., Walz, E., & Briviba, K. (2010). Encapsulation of Carotenoids. In N. J. Zuidam & V. Nedovic (Eds.), *Encapsulation Technologies for Active Food Ingredients and Food Processing* (pp. 211–252). Springer
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013). Influence of particle size on lipid digestion and β-carotene bioaccessibility in emulsions and nanoemulsions. *Food Chemistry*, 141(2), 1472–1480.
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Verkempinck, S. H. E., Zhang, X., Van Loey, A. M., Grauwet, T., & Hendrickx, M. E. (2019). Comparative study on lipid digestion and carotenoid bioaccessibility of emulsions, nanoemulsions and vegetable-based *in situ* emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *87*, 119–128.
- Schmidt, U. S., Schmidt, K., Kurz, T., Endre
 ß, H. U., & Schuchmann, H. P. (2015). Pectins of different origin and their performance in forming and stabilizing oil-in-water-emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 46, 59–66.
- Simo, O. K., Mao, Y., Tokle, T., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2012). Novel strategies for fabricating reduced fat foods: Heteroaggregation of lipid droplets with polysaccharides. *Food Research International*, 48(2), 337–345.
- Singh, H., Ye, A., & Horne, D. (2009). Structuring food emulsions in the gastrointestinal tract to modify lipid digestion. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 48(2), 92–
- Solans, C., Izquierdo, P., Nolla, J., Azemar, N., & Garcia-Celma, M. J. (2005). Nano-emulsions. *Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science, 10*(3–4), 102–110.
- Tan, C. P., & Nakajima, M. (2005). β-Carotene nanodispersions: Preparation, characterization and stability evaluation. *Food Chemistry*, 92(4), 661–671.
- Troncoso, E., Aguilera, J. M., & McClements, D. J. (2012). Influence of particle size on the *in vitro* digestibility of protein-coated lipid nanoparticles. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 382(1), 110–116.
- Usón, N., Garcia, M. J., & Solans, C. (2004). Formation of water-in-oil (W/O) nano-emulsions in a water/mixed non-ionic surfactant/oil systems prepared by a low-energy emulsification method. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 250*(1-3), 415–421.
- van Aken, G. A., Bomhof, E., Zoet, F. D., Verbeek, M., & Oosterveld, A. (2011). Differences in *in vitro* gastric behaviour between homogenized milk and emulsions stabilised by Tween 80, whey protein, or whey protein and caseinate. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *25*(4), 781–788.

Verkempinck, S. H. E., Kyomugasho, C., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Denis, S., Bourgeois, M., Van Loey,

A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2018a). Emulsion stabilizing properties of citrus pectin and its interactions with conventional emulsifiers in oil-in-water emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *85*, 144–157.

- Verkempinck, S. H. E., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Denis, S., Van Loey, A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2018b). Pectin influences the kinetics of *in vitro* lipid digestion in oil-in-water emulsions. *Food Chemistry*, 262, 150–161.
- Verkempinck, S. H. E., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Moens, L. G., Charleer, L., Van Loey, A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2018c). Emulsion stability during gastrointestinal conditions effects lipid digestion kinetics. *Food Chemistry*, 246, 179–191.
- Verrijssen, T. A. J., Christiaens, S., Verkempinck, S. H. E., Boeve, J., Grauwet, T., Van Loey, A. M., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Hendrickx, M. E. (2016). *In vitro* β-Carotene bioaccessibility and lipid digestion in emulsions: Influence of pectin type and degree of methyl-esterification. *Journal of Food Science*, 81(10), 2327–2336.
- Verrijssen, T. A. J., Verkempinck, S. H. E., Christiaens, S., Van Loey, A. M., & Hendrickx, M. E. (2015). The effect of pectin on *in vitro* β-carotene bioaccessibility and lipid digestion in low fat emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 49, 73–81.
- Von Lintig, J. (2010). Colors with functions: elucidating the biochemical and molecular basis of carotenoid metabolism. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 30, 35-56.
- Wang, P., Liu, H. J., Mei, X. Y., Nakajima, M., & Yin, L. J. (2012). Preliminary study into the factors modulating β-carotene micelle formation in dispersions using an *in vitro* digestion model. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 26(2), 427–433.
- Wooster, T. J., Golding, M., & Sanguansri, P. (2008). Ripening Stability. Langmuir: *The ACS Journal of Surfaces and Colloids*, 24(10), 12758–12765.
- Xu, D., Wang, X., Jiang, J., Yuan, F., & Gao, Y. (2012). Impact of whey protein beet pectin conjugation on the physicochemical stability of β-carotene emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 28(2), 258–266.
- Yi, J., Li, Y., Zhong, F., & Yokoyama, W. (2014). The physicochemical stability and *in vitro* bioaccessibility of beta-carotene in oil-in-water sodium caseinate emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *35*, 19–27.
- Yuan, Y., Gao, Y., Zhao, J., & Mao, L. (2008). Characterization and stability evaluation of β -carotene nanoemulsions prepared by high pressure homogenization under various emulsifying conditions. *Food Research International*, 41(1), 61–68.
- Zhang, R., Zhang, Z., Zhang, H., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2015). Influence of emulsifier type on gastrointestinal fate of oil-in-water emulsions containing anionic dietary fiber (pectin). *Food Hydrocolloids*, 45, 175–185.
- Zhang, R., Zhang, Z., Zou, L., Xiao, H., Zhang, G., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Enhancement of carotenoid bioaccessibility from carrots using excipient emulsions: Influence of particle size of digestible lipid droplets. *Food and Function*, 7(1), 93–103.

Chapter II

Enhancing the gastrointestinal stability of curcumin by using sodium alginate-based nanoemulsions containing natural emulsifiers

Júlia Teixé-Roig, Gemma Oms-Oliu, Isabel Odriozola-Serrano, Olga Martín-Belloso*

International Journal of Molecular Sciences 24 (2022) 498

Abstract

Curcumin presents interesting biological activities but low chemical stability, so it has been incorporated into different emulsion-based systems in order to increase its bioaccessibility. Many strategies are being investigated to increase the stability of these systems. Among them, the use of polysaccharides has been seen to highly improve the emulsion stability but also to modulate their digestibility and the release of the encapsulated compounds. However, the effect of these polysaccharides on nanoemulsions depends on the presence of other components. Then, this work aimed to study the effect of alginate addition at different concentrations (0 - 1.5%) on the gastrointestinal fate and stability of curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions formulated using soybean lecithin or whey protein as emulsifiers. Results showed that, in the absence of polysaccharides, whey protein was more effective than lecithin in preventing curcumin degradation during digestion and its use also provided greater lipid digestibility and higher curcumin bioaccessibility. The addition of alginate, especially at $\geq 1\%$, greatly prevented curcumin degradation during digestion up to 23% and improved the stability of nanoemulsions over time. However, it reduced lipid digestibility and curcumin bioaccessibility. Our results provide relevant information on the use of alginate on different emulsifier-based nanoemulsions to act as carriers of curcumin.

Keywords: curcumin, nanoemulsions, bioaccessibility, stability, sodium alginate

1. Introduction

Curcumin, chemically known as diferuloylmethane, is a low molecular weight (368.37 $g \cdot mol^{-1}$) polyphenol found in the rhizome of the *Curcuma longa* plant (turmeric). In its structure, it presents two aryl rings that contain *ortho*-methoxy phenolic groups symmetrically linked to a β-diketone moiety (Araiza-Calahorra et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2020). This compound has been shown to target multiple signalling molecules and presents antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antibacterial and anticarcinogenic properties (Anand et al., 2007; Hewlings & Kalman, 2017; Peng et al., 2018). However, its incorporation in food matrices is difficult due to its poor water solubility and low chemical stability (Zheng et al., 2017). Furthermore, curcumin is highly unstable at the physiological pH (Wang et al., 1997), so it can be easily degraded in the intestinal tract. Oil-in-water emulsion-based systems appear to be feasible curcumin carriers due to the lipophilic nature of the compound. Indeed, many authors have studied the incorporation of curcumin into different encapsulation systems (Ahmed et al., 2012; Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018; Lu et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2017; Zheng et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2021). Among them, nanoemulsions are interesting options since they present higher physical stability against gravitational processes compared to conventional emulsions and enhanced functionality due to the increased surface area of droplets (Silva et al., 2012). These systems have been seen to prevent curcumin degradation over time and increase its stability during gastrointestinal digestion, as well as enhance its bioaccessibility (Zheng et al., 2017, 2019). However, recent studies have highlighted that the nature of the emulsifier, the type and the amount of carrier oil and emulsifier-curcumin interactions are key factors that influence curcumin delivery in nanoemulsions (Jiang et al., 2020; Pinheiro et al., 2013).

Emulsifiers are needed to obtain stable nanoemulsions and can have a significant impact on their properties and digestibility, as well as on the bioaccessibility of bioactive compounds (Araiza-Calahorra et al., 2018; Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019; Pinheiro et al., 2013). Among the possible emulsifiers to be used, naturals seem to be more suitable than synthetics because of general public concern about environmental issues and the demand for label-friendly food products. In this regard, soybean lecithin (SBL) and whey protein isolate (WPI) are natural emulsifiers with different chemical compositions previously used in the food industry. Lecithin is a lipid-based emulsifier that can be obtained from natural sources like soybean, sunflower or egg yolk and is able to stabilize emulsions forming a multilamellar shell around the droplets, acting as a mechanical barrier (Klang & Valenta, 2011). This emulsifier has been shown to provide good electrostatic stabilization due to its strong negative electrical charge in a wide range of pH (McClements et al., 2017; Ozturk et al., 2014; Zheng et al., 2021). Moreover, natural lecithin is biodegradable and among the safest emulsifying agents, being the incidence of allergic reactions to lecithin is very rare (Klang & Valenta, 2011; Lin et al., 2009). On the other hand, WPI is a protein-based emulsifier that consists of β -lactoglobulin and α lactalbumin together with other minor proteins such as bovine serum albumin, lactoferrin and immunoglobulins (Li et al., 2013). This emulsifier can form a dense layer at the surface of the droplets, providing stability to emulsion-based systems for flocculation and coalescence (Dickinson, 2001; Li et al., 2013). Moreover, this emulsifier has been used to formulate nanoemulsions containing bioactive compounds such as β-carotene, shown to be highly effective in the prevention of compound degradation and providing high stability over time (Bai et al., 2016; Jo & Kwon, 2014; Mao et al., 2010).

Polysaccharides of different natures have been used in the formulation of emulsion-based systems. For instance, they have been used as solid particle stabilizers in Pickering emulsions, showing to be promising ingredients to replace synthetic ingredients (Lu et al., 2019; Shah et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2021). In addition, the incorporation of polysaccharides in other systems, such as nanoemulsions, has been seen to increase their physical stability by reducing the movement of droplets (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2017; Richa & Choudhury, 2020; Sabet et al., 2020). According to these studies, the addition of polysaccharides seems to be an interesting strategy for producing systems with enhanced stability. However, from a nutritional point of view, the digestibility of emulsion-based delivery systems can be affected by the type and concentration of polysaccharides added. According to previous literature, the effect of the polysaccharides depends on the emulsifier nature used to formulate the emulsions. Indeed, 0.2% fucoidan has been shown to increase lipid digestibility in caseinate emulsions but had no effect on Tween 20 or lecithin emulsions (Chang & McClements, 2016). In the same way, other authors have observed an increased lipid digestibility by adding pectin in lecithin emulsions but a reduced digestibility when it was added to Tween 20 emulsions

(Verkempinck et al., 2018a). Based on these findings, the interactions that take place on the interface between the emulsifier and the polysaccharide can influence the digestibility of nanoemulsions. Previous authors have reported that the presence of polysaccharides, such as mandarin fibre or chitosan, in nanoemulsions can have an impact on the bioaccessibility of β -carotene or vitamin D, although controversial results were obtained (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2020).

Among the polysaccharides, the interest in the use of sodium alginate to encapsulate bioactive compounds has increased in the past two decades due to its biocompatibility, biodegradability and environmental sensitivity properties (Wang et al., 2019). Moreover, this polysaccharide has been seen to be extremely effective in enhancing the stability of nanoemulsions (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2017; Pallandre et al., 2007). However, there is a lack of knowledge on how the incorporation of sodium alginate in oil-in-water nanoemulsions may affect their digestibility and the bioaccessibility of the lipophilic encapsulated compound. Thus, the aim of the study was to investigate the effect of sodium alginate addition on the physical properties, stability and the digestibility of curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions formulated using different natural emulsifiers (soybean lecithin or whey protein isolate) and focus on their gastrointestinal stability and bioaccessibility of curcumin.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

Curcumin, pepsin (from porcine gastric mucosa), pancreatin (from porcine pancreas), and bile extract (porcine) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, INC (St. Louis, MO, USA). Corn oil (Koipesol Asua, Deoleo, Spain) was purchased from a local supermarket. Soybean lecithin (SBL) was acquired from Alfa Aesar (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, WA, USA). Whey protein isolate (WPI) was kindly provided by El Pastoret de la Segarra, S.L. (Spain). Sodium alginate (MANUCOL[®] DH) was provided by FMC Biopolymers Ltd. (Scotland, UK). Ultrapure water obtained from a milli-Q filtration system was used to prepare all solutions.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1. Nanoemulsion preparation

To obtain the lipid phase, curcumin was solubilized in corn oil $(1 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{g}^{-1})$ by stirring for 20 min at 60 °C and sonicating for 20 min. To formulate the aqueous phase, sodium alginate (0, 0.5, 1 or 1.5 % w/w) was added into ultrapure water and stirred overnight at room temperature (≈ 20 °C). Then, SBL or WPI was added (5% w/w), and the mixture was stirred. To formulate the coarse emulsion, the lipid phase (5% w/w) and the aqueous phase (95% w/w) were mixed using an Ultra-Turrax at 11000 rpm for 2 min (Janke & Kundel, Staufen, Germany). Finally, to obtain the nanoemulsion, the coarse emulsion was treated with a UP400S sonifier (Hielscher Ultrasound Technology, Teltow, Germany) of 400 W nominal power and a frequency of 24 kHz equipped with a 22 mm sonotrode for 3 min at 100% of amplitude.

2.2.2. Physicochemical characterization

The particle size and particle size distribution of nanoemulsions were measured using a Mastersizer 3000 (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Worcestershire, UK). Samples were diluted in ultrapure water and stirred in the dispersion unit with a constant speed of 1800 rpm. The mean particle size was expressed as surface area mean diameter (d_{32}) in micrometers (μ m), fixing a refractive index of the corn oil of 1.473 and 1.333 for water.

The ζ -potential was measured by phase analysis light scattering (PALS) using a Zetasizer laser diffractometer (NanoZS Malvern Instruments Ltd. Worcestershire, UK). Prior to the analysis, nanoemulsions were diluted (1:100) in ultrapure water and placed in a capillary cell equipped with two electrodes to assess the electrophoretic mobility of the particles. The results were reported in millivolts (mV).

To study the encapsulation efficiency (EE), 10 mL of nanoemulsion was placed inside a dialysis tubing cellulose membrane of 43 mm \times 27 mm (Sigma-Aldrich, Darmstadt, Germany). Then, the membrane was inserted into a centrifuge tube containing 20 mL of ethanol and centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 min. Finally, the non-encapsulated curcumin content was quantified using a UV-visible spectrophotometer (CECIL CE 2021; Cecil Instruments Ltd., Cambridge, UK) at 425 nm. The encapsulation efficiency (%) was

calculated using Equation (1) (Xing et al., 2004):

$$EE (\%) = \frac{\text{Total amount of curcumin} - \text{Free curcumin}}{\text{Total amount of curcumin}} \times 100$$
(1)

where the total amount of curcumin is the initial concentration added in nanoemulsions, and the free curcumin is the concentration of the compound that was not loaded in nanoemulsions.

The apparent viscosity of nanoemulsions was determined using an SV-10 vibroviscometer (A&D Company, Tokyo, Japan), which produces a vibration of 30 Hz and a constant amplitude of 0.4 mm at controlled room temperature. The results were expressed in mPa·s.

2.2.3. Stability of nanoemulsions

Stability of emulsions was studied using an optical scan analyzer Turbiscan MA 2000 (Formulaction, Toulouse, France), which can measure the static stability of samples without destruction and detect the cause of instability (flocculation, coalescence, sedimentation or creaming) by the multiple light scattering technique. A sample of 7 mL was introduced into a glass cylindrical cell and analyzed by a light beam emitted in near-infrared wavelength, which scanned vertically from the bottom to the top of the sample cell. Two synchronous optical sensors receive light backscattered by the sample (45° from the incident radiation). In this study, the variation of backscattering (BS) during 21 days at 4 °C was studied to assess the stability of the nanoemulsions over time.

2.2.4. Curcuminoid extraction from nanoemulsions and quantification

To extract curcumin from nanoemulsions, a previously reported method with some modifications was used (Lu et al., 2019). First, aliquots of 250 μ L of the sample were mixed with 1000 μ L of ethyl acetate and vortexed for 1 min and centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. Afterwards, the upper organic layer was collected and evaporated under N₂ and stored at -40 °C. The quantification of curcumin was carried out using an HPLC system equipped with a 600 Controller and a diode array detector (Waters, Milford, MA) following a previously described method with some modifications (Setthacheewakul et al., 2010). Before injecting the samples into the HPLC, they were

reconstituted with 1 mL of methanol and filtered. Curcumin was identified using a reverse-phase C18 Spherisorb[®] ODS2 (5 μ m) stainless steel column (4.6 mm × 250 mm) at room temperature. The separation was performed with a linear gradient elution 2% aqueous acetic acid (solvent A) and acetonitrile (solvent B). Detection was by UV spectroscopy at a wavelength of 425 nm, and the flow rate was 1 mL/min. UV-Vis spectral data and their retention times were used to determine the curcumin present in the vials being quantified by comparing them with an external curcumin standard.

2.2.5. In vitro gastrointestinal digestion

To simulate the human digestion process, an *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion based on an international consensus method (Brodkorb et al., 2019) was used.

The protocol included both gastric and small intestinal phases. The mouth phase was not performed since nanoemulsions were liquid. To perform the gastric phase, 20 mL of nanoemulsion was mixed 1:1 with simulated gastric fluids containing pepsin (2000 U/mL) and 10 μ L of a CaCl₂ solution (0.3 M). Then, the pH was adjusted to 3 using HCl (1 M), and the mixture was placed into an incubator at 37 °C for 2 h while shaking at 100 rpm. To simulate the intestinal phase, a pH-stat device was used. Once the gastric phase was completed, the gastric sample was placed in a 37 °C water bath and mixed 1:1 with simulated intestinal fluids containing 10 mM bile solution. Then, the pH was adjusted to 7 with NaOH (1 M), and pancreatin and lipase enzymes were added to the final mixture to achieve 100 U/mL of trypsin and 2000 U/mL pancreatic lipase. The pH of the sample was maintained at 7 by adding NaOH (0.25 M) constantly for 2 h. According to previous authors (Li & Mcclements, 2010), the FFA (%) was determined using Equation (2):

FFA (%) =
$$\frac{V_{\text{NaOH}} \times C_{\text{NaOH}} \times M_{\text{oil}}}{2 \times m_{\text{oil}}} \times 100$$
 (2)

where V_{NaOH} is NaOH volume (L) used during the intestinal digestion, C_{NaOH} is NaOH molarity (0.25 mol/L), M_{oil} is corn oil molecular weight (800 g/mol), and m_{oil} is corn oil total weight present in the emulsions (g).

2.2.6. Curcumin degradation

To study the degradation of curcumin along the simulated gastrointestinal tract, 1 mL of

digesta was collected at specific digestion times (0, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180, 210 and 240 min). Then curcumin was extracted and quantified as described in Section 2.2.4 to obtain curcumin content values. Finally, the curcumin content in the aliquots collected at different digestion times was obtained according to Equation (3):

Curcumin content (%)=
$$\frac{C_{\text{digesta}}}{C_{\text{initial}}} \times 100$$
 (3)

where $C_{digesta}$ is the curcumin concentration (mg/mL) in the digesta and $C_{initial}$ is the initial curcumin concentration (mg/mL) in the nanoemulsion.

2.2.7. Bioaccessibility

To study the curcumin bioaccessibility, after the digestion process, the digested nanoemulsions were centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 30 min at 4 °C to obtain the micellar fraction. Then, an extraction and quantification of the curcumin content was performed both in the initial and micellar fraction following the method described in Section 2.2.4. Finally, curcumin bioaccessibility was calculated according to Equation (4):

Bioaccessibility (%) =
$$\frac{C_{\text{micelle}}}{C_{\text{initial}}} \times 100$$
 (4)

where C_{micelle} is the curcumin concentration (mg/mL) in the micellar fraction and C_{initial} is the initial curcumin concentration (mg/mL) in the nanoemulsion.

2.2.8. Optical microscopy

Images of curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions were obtained using an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus America Inc., Melville, NY, USA) with a 100x objective lens. The images were obtained using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus).

2.2.9. Statistical analysis

All experiments were assayed in duplicate and three repetitions of each analysis were carried out on each parameter in order to obtain mean values. Analysis of the variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare treatments. Least significant difference (LSD) test

was employed to determine differences between means. The confidence interval was set at 0.95 and all results were analyzed using the Statgraphics Plus v.5.1 Windows package (Statistical Graphics Co., Rockville, MD, USA).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Initial systems

Particle size and distribution. After the microfluidization process, SBL nanoemulsion without sodium alginate exhibited a smaller particle size $(343.8 \pm 9.7 \text{ nm})$ with a less polydisperse distribution than WPI nanoemulsion without the polysaccharide $(462.4 \pm 14.7 \text{ nm})$ (Table 1 and Figure 1). In addition, SBL reduced the interfacial tension (up to 14.66 mN/m) to a higher extent than WPI (up to 20.52 mN/m). The same trend was previously observed by other authors (Flores-Andrade et al., 2021) and indicates that the higher surface activity of SBL may have facilitated the formation of small droplets rather than WPI.

The addition of sodium alginate at any concentration significantly increased the particle size of WPI nanoemulsions due to the aggregation of droplets (Figure 2); the most noteworthy changes were observed when using 1% and 1.5% sodium alginate concentrations (Table 1). The particle size distribution changed from monomodal to bimodal when the polysaccharide was added to the WPI nanoemulsion, irrespective of the concentration used, leading to an increased polydispersity index. Conversely, sodium alginate addition had little effect on SBL nanoemulsions (Figure 1 and Table 1). As observed in the microscope images, all the obtained nanoemulsions exhibited flocculation when sodium alginate was added, regardless of the type of emulsifier and sodium alginate concentration (Figure 2). However, in SBL nanoemulsions, the mean particle size was not affected by the flocculation of droplets because aggregates were disrupted during the particle size measurements, as previously observed by other authors (Chang & McClements, 2016). The aggregation of droplets observed in SBL and WPI nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate may be a consequence of non-adsorbed polymer molecules that were present in the aqueous phase surrounding the lipid droplets (Dickinson et al., 1997; McClements, 2015).



Figure 1. Particle size distribution of curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stabilized with (a) soybean lecithin (SBL) or (b) whey protein isolate nanoemulsions (WPI) and different sodium alginate concentrations (0, 0.5, 1, and 1.5%) at different phases of *in vitro* digestion.

 ζ -potential. Among non-added polysaccharide nanoemulsions formulated with SBL showed a more negative ζ -potential than WPI (Table 1). In SBL nanoemulsions, the negative charges conferred by the phosphate groups of phospholipids that were mostly negatively charged, except phosphatidylethanolamine and phosphatidylcholine, which were zwitterionic and neutral molecules at the pH of the nanoemulsions (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018). WPI presented a negative charge at the neutral pH of the nanoemulsions since the carboxyl groups were negatively charged (-COO⁻) and the amino groups were neutral (-NH₂) at a pH above the isoelectric point of the protein (\approx 5) (Kulmyrzaev et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2016).

When adding sodium alginate, ζ -potential values of SBL and WPI nanoemulsions became more negative (Table 1). In both emulsifier-type nanoemulsions, the higher the polysaccharide concentration, the more negative the electrical charge was, up to values of -77.8 ± 4.3 mV and -57.7 ± 1.4 mV in SBL and WPI nanoemulsion with 1.5% polysaccharide, respectively. Sodium alginate has an anionic character due to the carboxylate and hydroxyl groups present on its molecule, so when it is adsorbed at the interface, it confers a negative charge (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018). Indeed, flocculation observed in the microscope images (Figure 2) proved that a layer of sodium alginate was surrounding the droplets. This phenomenon may be a consequence of non-adsorbed sodium alginate molecules forming a network structure surrounding the oil droplets.

Emulsifier Type	Alginate (%)	d32 (µm)	ζ-Potential (mV)	Encapsulation Efficiency (%)	Viscosity (mPa·s)
Soybean lecithin	0	0.344 ± 0.01 $^{\rm c}$	-47.1 ± 3.3 $^{\rm c}$	$97.0\pm0.8~^{ab}$	1.59 ± 0.13 a
	0.5	0.308 ± 0.02 b	-65.7 ± 2.6 $^{\rm b}$	$97.1 \pm 1.0 \ ^{ab}$	$10.28\pm0.79\ ^{b}$
	1	0.288 ± 0.02 a	$-76.6\pm3.6~^{\rm a}$	$97.5\pm0.2~^{\rm b}$	41.01 ± 4.76 $^{\rm c}$
	1.5	0.288 ± 0.02 a	$-77.8\pm4.3~^{\rm a}$	96.7 ± 0.3 $^{\rm a}$	110.78 ± 3.79 $^{\rm d}$
Whey protein isolate	0	0.487 ± 0.01 a	$-37.3\pm2.5~^{\rm d}$	95.1 ± 0.2 $^{\rm a}$	1.44 ± 0.03 a
	0.5	0.499 ± 0.03 $^{\rm b}$	$-43.9\pm2.3~^{\circ}$	95.2 ± 0.7 $^{\rm a}$	18.72 ± 0.30 b
	1	$2.080\pm0.11~^{\rm c}$	-52.1 ± 1.1 ^b	$95.6\pm1.1~^{\rm a}$	57.53 ± 1.16 $^{\rm c}$
	1.5	2.251 ± 0.27 d	-57.7 ± 1.4 a	95.7 ± 0.2 $^{\rm a}$	118.33 ± 3.56 ^d

 Table 1. Initial characterization of soybean lecithin and whey protein isolate curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions containing different sodium alginate concentrations.

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between nanoemulsions with different sodium alginate concentration.

Encapsulation efficiency. When sodium alginate was not present in the formulations, SBL nanoemulsion showed a slightly higher encapsulation efficiency (\approx 97%) than WPI nanoemulsion (\approx 95%) (Table 1). The phenolic hydroxyl group of curcumin can form H-bonds with the phosphate ion of lecithin so that the curcumin is surrounded by the two long aliphatic chains of lecithin, which may be favouring the retention of the compound within the droplets (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018; Kumar et al., 2008). In contrast, WPI presented a less negative electrical charge than SBL, which indicates that it probably presented fewer hydroxyl groups that can be bound with curcumin. Moreover, since SBL presents a lower molecular weight and reduces more efficiently interfacial tension than WPI, the retention of curcumin would be higher in SBL nanoemulsion due to the more compact structure in the interface.

The addition of sodium alginate did not affect the encapsulation efficiency of the nanoemulsions regardless of the surfactant used. In fact, in previous studies, no significant differences were detected when increasing the concentration of sodium alginate, as in the case of gelatine-sodium alginate nanocapsules (Heckert Bastos et al., 2020).

Viscosity. Values of viscosity in nanoemulsions without sodium alginate were low and similar using SBL or WPI, both around 1.5 mPa·s (Table 1). The addition of sodium alginate noticeably increased the viscosity of nanoemulsions at any concentration, as expected. The higher the polysaccharide concentration, the higher the viscosity of the nanoemulsions was, up to a maximum of ≈ 118 mPa·s and ≈ 111 mPa·s in WPI and SBL respectively. containing 1.5% polysaccharide. nanoemulsions, In general, polysaccharides such as sodium alginate are used as thickening agents because they can increase the viscosity of the aqueous phase, hindering the movement of the droplets and, thereby, increasing the emulsion stability (Shao et al., 2020). At intermediate polysaccharide concentrations (0.5-1%), SBL nanoemulsions presented a significantly lower viscosity than those formulated with WPI (Table 1). This fact may be attributed to the higher hydrodynamic diameter that WPI nanoemulsions presented in comparison to those with SBL (Table 1 and Figure 2), resulting in a higher viscosity (Phillips & Williams, 2009). Nevertheless, this difference was not observed when using the highest polysaccharide concentration (1.5%). In fact, in previous studies, similar viscosity values were observed when adding sodium alginate in nanoemulsions containing other emulsifiers such as Tween 20 (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2017). This indicates that the viscosity of sodium-alginate-added nanoemulsions is governed by the concentration of the polysaccharide used, while the nature of the emulsifier used has little impact on the system viscosity.



Figure 2. Microscope images of curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stabilized with (a) soybean lecithin (SBL) or (b) whey protein isolate (WPI) and different sodium alginate concentrations (0, 0.5, 1 and 1.5%) at different phases of *in vitro* digestion. Scale bars were 10 μ m long.

Stability. Both SBL and WPI nanoemulsions showed an increase in backscattering in the upper part of the test tube and a decrease in the lower part over time (Figure 3). This indicates that the droplets have migrated to the top, promoting creaming. However, it should be noted that this phenomenon was observed earlier and to a greater extent in WPI nanoemulsion (from day 3) than in SBL nanoemulsion (from day 6). Creaming is a common destabilisation phenomenon observed in nanoemulsions and can be the result of flocculation or coalescence (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2012). In our study, WPI nanoemulsion presented a less negative charge than that with SBL (Table 1), so the repulsion between droplets may be lower in the nanoemulsion formulated with WPI rather than with SBL. Therefore, in WPI, nanoemulsion droplets may be more prone to aggregation and, consequently, to migrate to the top producing creaming. The addition of sodium alginate increased the stability of WPI nanoemulsion over time, regardless of the concentration used. In this sense, although flocculation was observed in these nanoemulsions (Figure 2b), their high viscosity may have decreased the movement of droplets, preventing the creaming (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2016). In contrast, the addition of polysaccharides enhanced the stability of SBL nanoemulsion when used at concentrations of $\geq 1\%$ (Figure 3). As mentioned in the previous section, the viscosity of SBL nanoemulsions containing 0.5% sodium alginate was lower than that with WPI and the same polysaccharide concentration (Table 1). Therefore, it seems that the viscosity of SBL nanoemulsion containing 0.5% polysaccharide was not high enough to prevent the movement of the droplets.



Figure 3. Variations on the backscattering profile of curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stabilized with soybean lecithin (SBL) or whey protein isolate (WPI) and different sodium alginate concentrations (0, 0.5, 1 and 1.5%) during 21 days at 4 °C.

3.2. Gastrointestinal in vitro digestion

3.2.1. Physicochemical changes during in vitro digestion

Gastric phase. Among non-added polysaccharide nanoemulsions, those formulated using WPI showed a significantly larger particle size in the gastric stage than with SBL (Figure 4). As confirmed in the microscope images, WPI nanoemulsion presented flocculation, while SBL nanoemulsion showed coalescence (Figure 2). Droplets in WPI nanoemulsion became closer due to the WPI proteolysis induced by pepsin during gastric digestion, which may have weakened the viscoelastic interfacial layer (Mantovani et al., 2013). Moreover, the net electrical charge of WPI nanoemulsion was reduced up to 0.55 ± 1.08 mV (Figure 5b) due to the protonation of the amino group (-NH₂) of WPI at a pH under its pI (5). Such a loss of electric repulsion between the droplets may have favoured the flocculation (Figure 3b). In SBL nanoemulsion, the proximity of the acidic conditions to the pK_a (≈ 1.5) of the phospholipid reduced the electrostatic repulsion between the droplets, which may favour the coalescence (Ogawa et al., 2004).

WPI nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate at $\geq 1\%$ concentration presented larger particle sizes in the gastric phase than those without the polysaccharide (Figure 4b). This could be attributed to the formation of WPI-sodium alginate electrostatic complexes due to the attractive forces generated between the negatively charged polysaccharide and the positively charged domains of the protein (Li et al., 2021). SBL nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate showed a less noteworthy particle size increase than the nanoemulsion without the polysaccharide and presented flocculation at all sodium alginate concentrations (Figure 3a and 4b). In these nanoemulsions, since SBL is a high surface-active emulsifier, non-adsorbed polysaccharide molecules may remain in the aqueous phase, promoting depletion flocculation. In this regard, the presence of sodium alginate molecules in the aqueous phase would promote an increase in the attractive forces between droplets due to an osmotic process associated with the exclusion of polysaccharide molecules from a narrow region surrounding the droplets (Fioramonti et al., 2015; Guzey & McClements, 2006).



Figure 4. Particle size (μ m) of curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stabilized with (a) soybean lecithin (SBL) or (b) whey protein isolate (WPI) and different sodium alginate concentrations (0, 0.5, 1 and 1.5%) at different phases of *in vitro* digestion.



Figure 5. ζ -potential of curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stabilized with (a) soybean lecithin (SBL) or (b) whey protein isolate (WPI) and different sodium alginate concentrations (0, 0.5, 1 and 1.5%) at different phases of *in vitro* digestion.

Intestinal phase. At pH 7, WPI and SBL nanoemulsions without sodium alginate exhibited a similar and highly negative electrical charge (Figure 5). On the one hand, the electrical charge of the SBL nanoemulsion was quite similar to that of the gastric phase. On the other hand, WPI nanoemulsion experienced a noteworthy change in the electrical charge from the gastric to the intestine stage because at pH 7, the carboxyl groups (-COO⁻) of WPI became negatively charged, and the amino groups (-NH₂) became neutral (Kulmyrzaev et al., 2000). As previously reported, this promoted the redispersion of droplets that were aggregated in the gastric stage due to electrostatic stabilization (Mantovani et al., 2013). Therefore, in our study, droplets in WPI nanoemulsion may be

redispersed when entering the intestinal phase, presenting small particle sizes at early times of intestinal digestion. Conversely, droplets in SBL nanoemulsion could not be redispersed since coalescence is an irreversible phenomenon (Chang & McClements, 2016; Gonçalves et al., 2021). However, at the end of the intestinal phase, coalescence was also detected in WPI nanoemulsion, as shown in microscope images (Figure 3b). Coalescence occurred during intestinal digestion due to the proteolysis of WPI by pancreatic trypsin, which resulted in small peptides that were unable to stabilize the oil droplets (Chen et al., 2020). All WPI nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate presented a larger particle size than those without the polysaccharide at the end of the intestinal phase (Figure 4b). As can be observed in the microscope images, in WPI nanoemulsions with sodium alginate, the coalesced droplets became aggregated in clusters that increased the particle size (Figure 3b). Contrarily, all SBL nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate presented a smaller particle size than those without the polysaccharide (Figure 3a). In polysaccharide-added nanoemulsions, the flocculation rather than coalescence in the gastric phase could have favoured the dispersion of aggregated droplets when entering the intestinal phase. However, as observed in WPI nanoemulsions, during intestinal digestion, aggregation of droplets occurred as a consequence of lipid digestion.

3.2.2. Lipid digestibility

During the first minutes of intestinal digestion, WPI nanoemulsion showed a faster rate of FFA release than SBL nanoemulsion in the absence of sodium alginate (Figure 6). WPI nanoemulsion may present a higher surface area during the first minutes due to the redispersion of aggregated droplets in the gastric phase (Section .2.1). In these nanoemulsions, higher incorporation of lipase molecules at the oil–water interface may occur, bringing lipase into direct contact with the emulsified lipid at early times of lipid digestion (Li, Hu, & McClements, 2011; Reis et al., 2009). Conversely, in SBL nanoemulsions, lipase could not be easily attached to the interface of droplets since SBL present a high surface activity and, in these nanoemulsions, droplets presented a lower surface area, thus showing a slow initial FFA release rate. However, at the end of intestinal digestion, SBL and WPI nanoemulsions without sodium alginate presented the same lipid digestibility, which was about 65%.



Figure 6. Free fatty acids (FFA) release during the intestinal *in vitro* digestion of curcuminloaded nanoemulsions stabilized with lecithin (SBL) or whey protein isolate (WPI) and different sodium alginate concentrations (0, 0.5, 1 and 1.5%).

The addition of sodium alginate reduced the lipid digestibility in all nanoemulsions (Figure 6), which is in accordance with previous works (Li et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2016). The increased viscosity of nanoemulsions containing the polysaccharide (Figure 7) could have slowed down the molecular diffusion, reducing the mobility of the species involved in intestinal digestion (Dima & Dima, 2020; Espinal-Ruiz et al., 2014; Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2019). Moreover, the anionic alginate molecules could strongly bind to cationic calcium ions, which could slow down digestion by preventing the removal of FFA from the surfaces by calcium or by restricting lipase access due to the formation of gels (Li et al., 2011). The initial tendency of WPI and SBL nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate was similar to that observed in nanoemulsions without the polysaccharide. However, at longer times of lipid digestion, the FFA release continued increasing in SBL nanoemulsions with sodium alginate, while it was stabilized in WPI nanoemulsions containing the polysaccharide (Figure 6). At the end of lipid digestion, WPI nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate showed reduced values in comparison to SBL nanoemulsions at the same polysaccharide concentration. As an example, the digestibility of WPI nanoemulsion with 1.5% sodium alginate was $46.4 \pm 3.5\%$, whereas

it was $53.6 \pm 1.7\%$ in that formulated with SBL at the same polysaccharide concentration. The lower lipid digestibility of WPI nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate could be related to the larger particle size of droplets in the intestinal phase (Figure 1 and 4). As previously mentioned, the coalesced oil droplets in these nanoemulsions became aggregated in clusters of large size. Therefore, these nanoemulsions presented a lower surface area, which reduced the access of lipase to the lipid substrate and, thereby, the lipid digestibility at the end of intestinal digestion (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013).



Figure 7. Viscosity of curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stabilized with (a) soybean lecithin (SBL) or (b) whey protein isolate (WPI) and different sodium alginate concentrations (0, 0.5, 1 and 1.5%) at different phases of *in vitro* digestion.

3.2.3. Curcumin degradation during digestion

During gastric digestion, the degradation of curcumin in nanoemulsions without sodium alginate was lower using WPI (\approx 13%) than SBL (\approx 18%) emulsifiers (Figure 8). β -lactoglobulin, which is one of the major components of WPI, has been shown to form complexes with curcumin that protect the compound from degradation during the gastric stage (Sneharani et al., 2010). Peptides resulting from the WPI hydrolysis induced by pepsin are also reported to present antioxidant properties (Korhonen & Pihlanto, 2006; Madureira et al., 2010), which could contribute to reducing curcumin oxidation.

The addition of sodium alginate at the different concentrations used greatly reduced the degradation of curcumin in both SBL and WPI nanoemulsions. Specifically, the lowest degradation (between 0-4%) was observed in WPI nanoemulsion containing 1.5% polysaccharide, which also presented the highest viscosity (Figure 7). The high viscosity proffered by alginate, and the egg-box model gel that this polysaccharide produced due to the presence of Ca²⁺ ions in the gastric fluids (Cao et al., 2020), may have reduced the diffusion rate of oxidative molecules that can promote curcumin degradation. Moreover, since the pH during the gastric phase was below the p K_a of sodium alginate (\approx 3.4), the carboxylic acid groups were non-ionized, thus decreasing the repulsion of the negative charges and causing less polymer chain expansion and low swelling (Agüero et al., 2017). Therefore, curcumin released from oil droplets may be entrapped in the alginate network, which avoids compound degradation.

The degradation in the intestinal phase was much higher than that observed during the gastric phase (Figure 8). During intestinal digestion, lipid droplets were digested, leading to the loss of the system structure and the release of the encapsulated compound. This resulted in the degradation of curcumin due to the physiological pH of the intestinal fluids (Wang et al., 1997). Among nanoemulsions without sodium alginate, WPI nanoemulsions prevented curcumin degradation to a higher extent than that formulated with SBL (Figure 8). The peptides resulting from the WPI hydrolysis during the gastric phase may still be proffering protection to curcumin against degradation due to their antioxidant activity. At the end of the intestinal digestion, WPI nanoemulsion showed a similar curcumin degradation to that formulated with SBL, $\approx 28\%$ and $\approx 33\%$, respectively. These values are quite similar to those obtained in previous studies with



other emulsifiers, such as quillaja saponin (Zheng et al., 2019).

Figure 8. Curcumin content of nanoemulsions stabilized with lecithin (SBL) or whey protein isolate (WPI) and different sodium alginate concentrations (0, 0.5, 1 and 1.5%) during the gastrointestinal *in vitro* digestion.

High sodium alginate concentrations continued to prevent curcumin degradation during intestinal digestion (Figure 8). At the end of this stage, the degradation of curcumin was the lowest (15%) in nanoemulsions with high alginate concentrations, while it was up to 32% in nanoemulsions without the polysaccharide. However, it should be noted that curcumin degradation in nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate was higher during intestinal digestion rather than during gastric digestion (Figure 8). Carboxylic acid groups of alginate molecules became ionized at the pH of the intestine, which resulted in a polymer chain expansion and more matrix swelling (Agüero et al., 2017; Apoorva et al., 2020). Therefore, curcumin could be easily released and degraded when exposed to the aqueous media.

3.3.3. Curcumin bioaccessibility

Curcumin bioaccessibility from nanoemulsions without sodium alginate was significantly higher using WPI than with SBL, $67.5 \pm 1.8\%$ and $58.8 \pm 1.8\%$, respectively (Figure 9). In our study, the higher bioaccessibility observed in WPI nanoemulsions

compared to those with SBL could be attributed to the less curcumin degradation observed in nanoemulsions formulated with the protein emulsifier (Figure 8). Therefore, although both nanoemulsions presented the same lipid digestibility at the end of intestinal digestion (Figure 6), the curcumin content available to be incorporated into the mixed micelles was higher in WPI nanoemulsion than in those with SBL. Previous works reported similar values using whey protein isolate (76%) or lecithin (72%) but also using other emulsifiers such as quillaja saponin (74-79%) (Gonçalves et al., 2021; Zheng et al., 2018; Zou et al., 2015). This indicates that the emulsifier nature has little effect on the bioaccessibility of curcumin.



Figure 9. Curcumin bioaccessibility of nanoemulsions stabilized with soybean lecithin (SBL) or whey protein isolate (WPI) and different sodium alginate concentrations (0, 0.5, 1 and 1.5%).

The presence of sodium alginate noticeably decreased the curcumin bioaccessibility in SBL and WPI nanoemulsions, irrespective of the emulsifier type used. As can be observed in Figure 9, the higher the polysaccharide concentration, the lower the curcumin bioaccessibility. In fact, the bioaccessibility was reduced by 15%, 35% and 60% by adding 0.5%, 1% and 1.5% sodium alginate, respectively. The reduced curcumin bioaccessibility that presented sodium alginate nanoemulsions in comparison to non-added sodium alginate nanoemulsions can be related to the digestibility results. In polysaccharide-added nanoemulsions, the reduced digestibility promoted the presence of more undigested oil at the end of the intestinal digestion that can be entrapping curcumin

(Chen et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2016).

At the same sodium alginate concentration, SBL and WPI nanoemulsions showed the same curcumin bioaccessibility (Figure 9), although the digestibility of WPI nanoemulsions was lower (Figure 6). Based on the findings of previous works, it could be expected that WPI nanoemulsions presented reduced bioaccessibility due to their low digestibility. However, as mentioned in the previous Section 3.2.3, WPI nanoemulsions were more effective in preventing curcumin degradation during the gastric stage (Figure 8). Therefore, WPI nanoemulsions containing sodium alginate presented the highest curcumin concentration during intestinal digestion. As a result, although polysaccharide nanoemulsions containing WPI as an emulsifier presented less lipid digestibility than those with SBL, both emulsifier-type nanoemulsions presented the same curcumin bioaccessibility.

4. Conclusions

This study has shown that both lipidic and protein emulsifiers can be used to produce stable nanoemulsions with a high curcumin encapsulation efficiency (\approx 96%). The addition of sodium alginate influenced the physical properties of nanoemulsions and increased their stability over time at concentrations of 1-1.5%. During gastrointestinal digestion, WPI better-prevented curcumin degradation than SBL, which resulted in a higher curcumin bioaccessibility. The addition of sodium alginate greatly reduced curcumin degradation during digestion, especially when used with the protein emulsifier during the gastric phase as a consequence of WPI-polysaccharide complex formation. However, the presence of the polysaccharide reduced the digestibility of nanoemulsions and, thereby, curcumin bioaccessibility. Sodium alginate seems to be a promising stabilizer for curcumin nanoemulsions when used at 1-1.5%, greatly preventing curcumin degradation during gastrointestinal digestion. However, a 1% concentration seems to be the most suitable, as it reduces curcumin bioaccessibility to a lesser extent.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, J.T.-R., G.O.-O., I.O.-S. and O.M.-B.; Formal analysis, J.T.-R.; Funding acquisition, O.M.-B.; Investigation, J.T.-R.; Methodology, J.T.-R., G.O.-O., I.O.-S. and O.M.-B.; Project administration, O.M.-B.; Supervision, G.O.-O., I.O.-S. and O.M.-B.; Visualization, J.T.-R. and G.O.-O.; Writing– -original draft, J.T.-R.; Writing—review & editing, G.O.-O., I.O.-S. and O.M.-B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by FEDER, MINECO, UE, grant number AGL2015-65975-R and MCIU, AEI; FEDER, UE, grant number RTI2018-094268-B-C21.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data used to support the findings of this study can be made available by the corresponding author upon request.

Acknowledgements: Author Júlia Teixé Roig thanks the University of Lleida for the predoctoral grant. The authors would also thank El Pastoret de la Segarra (Spain) for kindly providing whey protein isolate to perform the experiments.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Agüero, L., Zaldivar-Silva, D., Peña, L., & Dias, M. (2017). Alginate microparticles as oral colon drug delivery device: A review. Carbohydrate Polymers, 168, 32–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2017.03.033
- Ahmed, K., Li, Y., McClements, D. J., & Xiao, H. (2012). Nanoemulsion- and emulsion-based delivery systems for curcumin: Encapsulation and release properties. Food Chemistry, 132(2), 799–807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.11.039
- Anand, P., Kunnumakkara, A. B., Newman, R. A., & Aggarwal, B. B. (2007). Bioavailability of curcumin: Problems and promises. Molecular Pharmaceutics, 4(6), 807–818. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp700113r
- Apoorva, A., Rameshbabu, A. P., Dasgupta, S., Dhara, S., & Padmavati, M. (2020). Novel pHsensitive alginate hydrogel delivery system reinforced with gum tragacanth for intestinal targeting of nutraceuticals. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 147, 675–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.01.027
- Araiza-Calahorra, A., Akhtar, M., & Sarkar, A. (2018). Recent advances in emulsion-based delivery approaches for curcumin: From encapsulation to bioaccessibility. In Trends in Food Science and Technology (Vol. 71, pp. 155–169). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2017.11.009

Artiga-Artigas, M., Acevedo-Fani, A., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2017). Effect of sodium alginate

incorporation procedure on the physicochemical properties of nanoemulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 70, 191–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2017.04.006

- Artiga-Artigas, María, Lanjari-Pérez, Y., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2018). Curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stability as affected by the nature and concentration of surfactant. Food Chemistry, 266, 466–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.06.043
- Bai, L., Huan, S., Gu, J., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Fabrication of oil-in-water nanoemulsions by dual-channel microfluidization using natural emulsifiers: Saponins, phospholipids, proteins, and polysaccharides. Food Hydrocolloids, 61, 703–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.06.035
- Brodkorb, A., Egger, L., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Assunção, R., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu-Lacanal, C., Boutrou, R., Carrière, F., Clemente, A., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Edwards, C., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., ... Recio, I. (2019). INFOGEST static *in vitro* simulation of gastrointestinal food digestion. Nature Protocols, 14(4), 991–1014. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-018-0119-1
- Cao, L., Lu, W., Mata, A., Nishinari, K., & Fang, Y. (2020). Egg-box model-based gelation of alginate and pectin: A review. In Carbohydrate Polymers (Vol. 242). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2020.116389
- Chang, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Influence of emulsifier type on the *in vitro* digestion of fish oil-in-water emulsions in the presence of an anionic marine polysaccharide (fucoidan): Caseinate, whey protein, lecithin, or Tween 80. Food Hydrocolloids, 61, 92–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.04.047
- Chen, L., Yokoyama, W., Liang, R., & Zhong, F. (2020). Enzymatic degradation and bioaccessibility of protein encapsulated β-carotene nano-emulsions during *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion. Food Hydrocolloids, 100, 105177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2019.105177
- Chen, X., McClements, D. J., Zhu, Y., Zou, L., Li, Z., Liu, W., Cheng, C., Gao, H., & Liu, C. (2018). Gastrointestinal Fate of Fluid and Gelled Nutraceutical Emulsions: Impact on Proteolysis, Lipolysis, and Quercetin Bioaccessibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 66(34), 9087–9096. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b03003
- Dickinson, E. (2001). Milk protein interfacial layers and the relationship to emulsion stability and rheology. In Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces (Vol. 20, Issue 3, pp. 197–210). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0927-7765(00)00204-6
- Dickinson, E., Golding, M., & Povey, M. J. W. (1997). Creaming and flocculation of oil-in-water emulsions containing sodium caseinate. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 185(2), 515– 529. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcis.1996.4605
- Dima, C., & Dima, S. (2020). Bioaccessibility study of calcium and vitamin D3 comicroencapsulated in water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions. Food Chemistry, 303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.125416
- Espinal-Ruiz, M., Parada-Alfonso, F., Restrepo-Sánchez, L. P., Narváez-Cuenca, C. E., & McClements, D. J. (2014). Impact of dietary fibers [methyl cellulose, chitosan, and pectin] on digestion of lipids under simulated gastrointestinal conditions. Food and Function, 5(12),

3083-3095. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4fo00615a

- Fioramonti, S. A., Martinez, M. J., Pilosof, A. M. R., Rubiolo, A. C., & Santiago, L. G. (2015). Multilayer emulsions as a strategy for linseed oil microencapsulation: Effect of pH and alginate concentration. Food Hydrocolloids, 43, 8–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2014.04.026
- Flores-Andrade, E., Allende-Baltazar, Z., Sandoval-González, P. E., Jiménez-Fernández, M., Beristain, C. I., & Pascual-Pineda, L. A. (2021). Carotenoid nanoemulsions stabilized by natural emulsifiers: Whey protein, gum Arabic, and soy lecithin. Journal of Food Engineering, 290, 110208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2020.110208
- Gasa-Falcon, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2017). Influence of mandarin fiber addition on physico-chemical properties of nanoemulsions containing βcarotene under simulated gastrointestinal digestion conditions. LWT - Food Science and Technology, 84, 331–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2017.05.070
- Gasa-Falcon, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Impact of emulsifier nature and concentration on the stability of β-carotene enriched nanoemulsions during: *In vitro* digestion. Food and Function, 10(2), 713–722. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8fo02069h
- Gonçalves, R. F. S., Martins, J. T., Abrunhosa, L., Baixinho, J., Matias, A. A., Vicente, A. A., & Pinheiro, A. C. (2021). Lipid-based nanostructures as a strategy to enhance curcumin bioaccessibility: Behavior under digestion and cytotoxicity assessment. Food Research International, 143, 110278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2021.110278
- Guzey, D., & McClements, D. J. (2006). Formation, stability and properties of multilayer emulsions for application in the food industry. In Advances in Colloid and Interface Science (Vols. 128–130, pp. 227–248). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2006.11.021
- Heckert Bastos, L. P., Vicente, J., Corrêa dos Santos, C. H., Geraldo de Carvalho, M., & Garcia-Rojas, E. E. (2020). Encapsulation of black pepper (Piper nigrum L.) essential oil with gelatin and sodium alginate by complex coacervation. Food Hydrocolloids, 102, 105605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2019.105605
- Hewlings, S. J., & Kalman, D. S. (2017). Curcumin: A review of its effects on human health. In Foods (Vol. 6, Issue 10, p. 92). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods6100092
- Jiang, T., Liao, W., & Charcosset, C. (2020). Recent advances in encapsulation of curcumin in nanoemulsions: A review of encapsulation technologies, bioaccessibility and applications. In Food Research International (Vol. 132, p. 109035). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109035
- Jo, Y. J., & Kwon, Y. J. (2014). Characterization of β-carotene nanoemulsions prepared by microfluidization technique. Food Science and Biotechnology, 23(1), 107–113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10068-014-0014-7
- Klang, V., & Valenta, C. (2011). Lecithin-based nanoemulsions. In Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology (Vol. 21, Issue 1, pp. 55–76). Editions de Sante. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1773-2247(11)50006-1
- Korhonen, H., & Pihlanto, A. (2006). Bioactive peptides: Production and functionality. International Dairy Journal, 16(9), 945–960. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idairyj.2005.10.012
- Kulmyrzaev, A., Chanamai, R., & McClements, D. J. (2000). Influence of pH and CaCl2 on the stability of dilute whey protein stabilized emulsions. Food Research International, 33(1), 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0963-9969(00)00018-1
- Kumar, M., Ahuja, M., & Sharma, S. K. (2008). Hepatoprotective study of curcumin-soya lecithin complex. Scientia Pharmaceutica, 76(4), 761–774. https://doi.org/10.3797/scipharm.0808-09
- Li, D., Wei, Z., & Xue, C. (2021). Alginate-based delivery systems for food bioactive ingredients: An overview of recent advances and future trends. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, July, 5345–5370. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12840
- Li, J., Ye, A., Lee, S. J., & Singh, H. (2013). Physicochemical behaviour of WPI-stabilized emulsions in *in vitro* gastric and intestinal conditions. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 111, 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2013.05.034
- Li, Y., Hu, M., Du, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Controlling lipid nanoemulsion digestion using nanolaminated biopolymer coatings. Journal of Microencapsulation, 28(3), 166–175. https://doi.org/10.3109/02652048.2010.544417
- Li, Y., Hu, M., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Factors affecting lipase digestibility of emulsified lipids using an *in vitro* digestion model: Proposal for a standardised pH-stat method. Food Chemistry, 126(2), 498–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.11.027
- Li, Y., & Mcclements, D. J. (2010). New mathematical model for interpreting ph-stat digestion profiles: Impact of lipid droplet characteristics on *in vitro* digestibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58(13), 8085–8092. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf101325m
- Lin, C. C., Lin, H. Y., Chen, H. C., Yu, M. W., & Lee, M. H. (2009). Stability and characterisation of phospholipid-based curcumin-encapsulated microemulsions. Food Chemistry, 116(4), 923– 928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2009.03.052
- Liu, Z., Smart, J. D., & Pannala, A. S. (2020). Recent developments in formulation design for improving oral bioavailability of curcumin: A review. In Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology (Vol. 60). Editions de Sante. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2020.102082
- Lu, X., Zhu, J., Pan, Y., & Huang, Q. (2019). Assessment of dynamic bioaccessibility of curcumin encapsulated in milled starch particle stabilized Pickering emulsions using TNO's gastrointestinal model. Food and Function, 10(5), 2583–2594. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8fo02495b
- Ma, P., Zeng, Q., Tai, K., He, X., Yao, Y., Hong, X., & Yuan, F. (2017). Preparation of curcuminloaded emulsion using high pressure homogenization: Impact of oil phase and concentration on physicochemical stability. LWT - Food Science and Technology, 84, 34–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2017.04.074
- Madureira, A. R., Tavares, T., Gomes, A. M. P., Pintado, M. E., & Malcata, F. X. (2010). Invited review: Physiological properties of bioactive peptides obtained from whey proteins. Journal of Dairy Science, 93(2), 437–455. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2566

- Mantovani, R. A., Cavallieri, Â. L. F., Netto, F. M., & Cunha, R. L. (2013). Stability and *in vitro* digestibility of emulsions containing lecithin and whey proteins. Food and Function, 4(9), 1322–1331. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3fo60156k
- Mao, L., Yang, J., Xu, D., Yuan, F., & Gao, Y. (2010). Effects of homogenization models and emulsifiers on the physicochemical properties of β -carotene nanoemulsions. Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology, 31(7), 986–993. https://doi.org/10.1080/01932690903224482
- McClements, D. (2015). Food emulsions: principles, practices, and techniques (3rd ed.). Boca Raton: CRC Press. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/mono/10.1201/9781420039436/food-emulsions-davidjulian-mcclements
- McClements, D. J., Bai, L., & Chung, C. (2017). Recent Advances in the Utilization of Natural Emulsifiers to Form and Stabilize Emulsions. In Annual Review of Food Science and Technology (Vol. 8, pp. 205–236). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-030216-030154
- Ogawa, S., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2004). Production and characterization of O/W emulsions containing droplets stabilized by lecithin-chitosan-pectin multilayered membranes. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 52(11), 3595–3600. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf034436k
- Ozturk, B., Argin, S., Ozilgen, M., & McClements, D. J. (2014). Formation and stabilization of nanoemulsion-based vitamin e delivery systems using natural surfactants: Quillaja saponin and lecithin. Journal of Food Engineering, 142, 57–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2014.06.015
- Pallandre, S., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2007). Improvement of Stability of Oil-in-Water Emulsions Containing Caseinate-Coated Droplets by Addition of Sodium Alginate. Journal of Food Science, 72(9), E518–E524. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00534.x
- Peng, S., Li, Z., Zou, L., Liu, W., Liu, C., & McClements, D. J. (2018). Enhancement of Curcumin Bioavailability by Encapsulation in Sophorolipid-Coated Nanoparticles: An *in Vitro* and *in Vivo* Study. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 66(6), 1488–1497. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b05478

Phillips, G. O., & Williams, P. A. (2009). Handbook of Hydrocolloids (2nd editio).

- Pinheiro, A. C., Lad, M., Silva, H. D., Coimbra, M. A., Boland, M., & Vicente, A. A. (2013). Unravelling the behaviour of curcumin nanoemulsions during *in vitro* digestion: Effect of the surface charge. Soft Matter, 9(11), 3147–3154. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3sm27527b
- Qin, D., Yang, X., Gao, S., Yao, J., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Influence of Hydrocolloids (Dietary Fibers) on Lipid Digestion of Protein-Stabilized Emulsions: Comparison of Neutral, Anionic, and Cationic Polysaccharides. Journal of Food Science, 81(7), C1636–C1645. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.13361
- Reis, P., Holmberg, K., Watzke, H., Leser, M. E., & Miller, R. (2009). Lipases at interfaces: A review. In Advances in Colloid and Interface Science (Vols. 147–148, Issue C, pp. 237–250). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2008.06.001

- Richa, R., & Roy Choudhury, A. (2020). Exploration of polysaccharide based nanoemulsions for stabilization and entrapment of curcumin. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 156, 1287–1296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.11.167
- Sabet, S., Seal, C. K., Swedlund, P. J., & McGillivray, D. J. (2020). Depositing alginate on the surface of bilayer emulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 100, 105385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2019.105385
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013). Influence of particle size on lipid digestion and β-carotene bioaccessibility in emulsions and nanoemulsions. Food Chemistry, 141(2), 1472–1480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.03.050
- Salvia-Trujillo, Laura, Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Influence of an anionic polysaccharide on the physical and oxidative stability of omega-3 nanoemulsions: Antioxidant effects of alginate. Food Hydrocolloids, 52, 690–698. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2015.07.035
- Setthacheewakul, S., Mahattanadul, S., Phadoongsombut, N., Pichayakorn, W., & Wiwattanapatapee, R. (2010). Development and evaluation of self-microemulsifying liquid and pellet formulations of curcumin, and absorption studies in rats. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 76(3), 475–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.07.011
- Shah, B. R., Li, Y., Jin, W., An, Y., He, L., Li, Z., Xu, W., & Li, B. (2016). Preparation and optimization of Pickering emulsion stabilized by chitosan-tripolyphosphate nanoparticles for curcumin encapsulation. Food Hydrocolloids, 52, 369–377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2015.07.015
- Shao, P., Feng, J., Sun, P., Xiang, N., Lu, B., & Qiu, D. (2020). Recent advances in improving stability of food emulsion by plant polysaccharides. In Food Research International (Vol. 137, p. 109376). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109376
- Silva, H. D., Cerqueira, M. Â., & Vicente, A. A. (2012). Nanoemulsions for Food Applications: Development and Characterization. In Food and Bioprocess Technology (Vol. 5, Issue 3, pp. 854–867). Springer New York LLC. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-011-0683-7
- Sneharani, A. H., Karakkat, J. V., Singh, S. A., & Rao, A. G. A. (2010). Interaction of curcumin with β-lactoglobulin; stability, spectroscopic analysis, and molecular modeling of the Complex. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58(20), 11130–11139. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf102826q
- Tan, Y., Li, R., Liu, C., Muriel Mundo, J., Zhou, H., Liu, J., & McClements, D. J. (2020). Chitosan reduces vitamin D bioaccessibility in food emulsions by binding to mixed micelles. Food and Function, 11(1), 187–199. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9fo02164g
- Velderrain-Rodríguez, G. R., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Wall-Medrano, A., González-Aguilar, G. A., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). *In vitro* digestibility and release of a mango peel extract encapsulated within water-in-oil-in-water (W1/O/W2) emulsions containing sodium carboxymethyl cellulose. Food and Function, 10(9), 6110–6120. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9fo01266d

Verkempinck, S. H. E., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Denis, S., Van Loey, A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., &

Grauwet, T. (2018). Pectin influences the kinetics of *in vitro* lipid digestion in oil-in-water emulsions. Food Chemistry, 262(February), 150–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.04.082

- Wang, H., Gong, X., Guo, X., Liu, C., Fan, Y. Y., Zhang, J., Niu, B., & Li, W. (2019). Characterization, release, and antioxidant activity of curcumin-loaded sodium alginate/ZnO hydrogel beads. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 121, 1118–1125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.10.121
- Wang, Y. J., Pan, M. H., Cheng, A. L., Lin, L. I., Ho, Y. S., Hsieh, C. Y., & Lin, J. K. (1997). Stability of curcumin in buffer solutions and characterization of its degradation products. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 15(12), 1867–1876. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0731-7085(96)02024-9
- Xing, F., Cheng, G., Yang, B., & Ma, L. (2004). Microencapsulation of capsaicin by the complex coacervation of gelatin, acacia and tannins. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, 91(4), 2669– 2675. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.13449
- Xu, D., Wang, X., Jiang, J., Yuan, F., & Gao, Y. (2012). Impact of whey protein Beet pectin conjugation on the physicochemical stability of β-carotene emulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 28(2), 258–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2012.01.002
- Zhang, R., Zhang, Z., Zou, L., Xiao, H., Zhang, G., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Enhancement of carotenoid bioaccessibility from carrots using excipient emulsions: Influence of particle size of digestible lipid droplets. Food and Function, 7(1), 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5fo01172h
- Zhang, Z., Zhang, R., Zou, L., Chen, L., Ahmed, Y., Al Bishri, W., Balamash, K., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Encapsulation of curcumin in polysaccharide-based hydrogel beads: Impact of bead type on lipid digestion and curcumin bioaccessibility. Food Hydrocolloids, 58, 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.02.036
- Zheng, B., Peng, S., Zhang, X., & McClements, D. J. (2018). Impact of Delivery System Type on Curcumin Bioaccessibility: Comparison of Curcumin-Loaded Nanoemulsions with Commercial Curcumin Supplements. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 66(41), 10816–10826. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b03174
- Zheng, B., Zhang, X., Peng, S., & McClements, D. J. (2019). Impact of curcumin delivery system format on bioaccessibility: Nanocrystals, nanoemulsion droplets, and natural oil bodies. Food and Function, 10(7), 4339–4349. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8fo02510j
- Zheng, B., Zhang, Z., Chen, F., Luo, X., & McClements, D. J. (2017). Impact of delivery system type on curcumin stability: Comparison of curcumin degradation in aqueous solutions, emulsions, and hydrogel beads. Food Hydrocolloids, 71, 187–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2017.05.022
- Zheng, H., Li, J., Ning, F., Wijaya, W., Chen, Y., Xiao, J., Cao, Y., & Huang, Q. (2021). Improving: *In vitro* bioaccessibility and bioactivity of carnosic acid using a lecithin-based nanoemulsion system. Food and Function, 12(4), 1558–1568. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0fo02636k

Zhu, X., Chen, J., Hu, Y., Zhang, N., Fu, Y., & Chen, X. (2021). Tuning complexation of

carboxymethyl cellulose/ cationic chitosan to stabilize Pickering emulsion for curcumin encapsulation. Food Hydrocolloids, 110, 106135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2020.106135

Zou, L., Liu, W., Liu, C., Xiao, H., & McClements, D. J. (2015). Designing excipient emulsions to increase nutraceutical bioavailability: Emulsifier type influences curcumin stability and bioaccessibility by altering gastrointestinal fate. Food and Function, 6(8), 2475–2486. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5fo00606f

Chapter III

Enhancing *in vivo* retinol bioavailability by incorporating β -carotene from alga *Dunaliella salina* into nanoemulsions containing naturalbased emulsifiers

Júlia Teixé-Roig, Gemma Oms-Oliu, Isabel Odriozola-Serrano, Olga Martín-Belloso*

Food Research International 164 (2023): 112359

Abstract

The use of microalgae as a source of bioactive compounds has gained interest since they present advantages vs higher plants. Among them, Dunaliella salina is one of the best sources of natural β -carotene, which is the precursor of vitamin A. However, β -carotene shows reduced oral bioavailability due to its chemical degradation and poor absorption. The work aimed to evaluate the influence of the emulsifier and oil concentration on the digestive stability of Dunaliella Salina-based nanoemulsions and study their influence on the digestibility and the β -carotene bioaccessibility. In addition, the effect of the emulsifier nature on the absorption of β -carotene and its conversion to retinol *in vivo* was also investigated. Results showed that the coalescence observed in soybean lecithin nanoemulsion during the gastrointestinal digestion reduced the digestibility and β carotene bioaccessibility. In contrast, whey protein nanoemulsion that showed aggregation in the gastric phase could be redispersed in the intestinal phase facilitating the digestibility and bioaccessibility of the compound. In vivo results confirmed that whey protein nanoemulsion increased the bioavailability of retinol to a higher extent (C_{max} 685 ng/mL) than soybean lecithin nanoemulsion (C_{max} 394 ng/mL), because of an enhanced β -carotene absorption.

Keywords: β-carotene, retinol, bioaccessibility, bioavailability, nanoemulsion, algae

1. Introduction

In the last years, the use of microalgae as a source of bioactive compounds has been widely investigated. These unicellular organisms have simple growth requirements and can sustainably generate lipids, proteins, carbohydrates and bioactive compounds, making them a promising environmentally friendly alternative to current products (Buono et al., 2014). Among them, Dunaliella salina is one of the best sources of natural β-carotene, up to 14% of its total dry weight (Harvey & Ben-Amotz, 2020). Moreover, this microalga accumulates the 9-cis β -carotene isomer to a higher extent than vegetables and fruits. Specifically, in *Dunaliella* species, it can be 50% of the total β-carotene content (Delman et al., 2021). This isomer has been shown to have high antioxidant activity (Levin et al., 1997) and beneficial effects on atherosclerosis, fatty liver, and diabetes mellitus in animal models (Harari et al., 2008, 2013, 2020), while less beneficial effects have been observed for the all-trans β -carotene (Clarke & Armitage, 2002; Hennekens et al., 1996). Moreover, once β -carotene is absorbed, it can be converted to retinol, which is the active form of vitamin A (Harrison, 2012). Several studies have shown that population in developing countries has a vitamin A deficiency, but this problem also concerns developed countries, which often have a suboptimal intake (Borel & Desmarchelier, 2017; Troesch et al., 2012). In that sense, previous works have reported that two-thirds of dietary β -carotene was either inaccessible for absorption or excreted and only a half of the amount absorbed was converted to retinol (Thurnham, 2007).

To overcome these challenges and increase its bioavailability, encapsulation of β carotene in nanoemulsion-based delivery systems seems to be a promising strategy. The use of this systems has shown to increase the stability of the encapsulated compound, control its release and improve the *in vitro* bioaccessibility (McClements, 2018). Some advantages have been observed when reducing the particle size of emulsions, thus formulating nanoemulsions, which present not only high stability to particle aggregation and gravitational separation, but also enhanced compound bioaccessibility and bioavailability (Fan et al., 2017; Li et al., 2013; Soukoulis & Bohn, 2017).

Some of the most effective currently used emulsifiers used in the formulation of emulsions and food production, in general, are synthetic (McClements et al., 2017).

However, a recent study has related that the administration of synthetic emulsifiers such as Tween 40 could be associated with some health issues such as liver damage (Jimenez-Escobar et al., 2020). Other studies also reported that synthetic emulsifiers such as polyoxyethylene (40) stearate or Tween 80 could cause intestinal barrier dysfunction by inhibiting the activity of P-glycoprotein, which plays an important role in intestinal permeability (Zhang et al., 2003; Zhu et al., 2009). Therefore, the interest in the use of natural emulsifiers as an alternative to those synthetic to produce food nanoemulsions is increasing. Among them, soybean lecithin (SBL) and whey protein isolate (WPI) have been shown to decrease the interfacial tension to a great extent and produce nanoemulsions with good stability over time (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018; Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019; Infantes-Garcia et al., 2021).

Some researchers have studied how the interfacial composition can affect the emulsion stability and the in vitro release and bioaccessibility of encapsulated compounds. The findings of these studies have revealed that the election of the emulsifier can highly affect the microstructural changes during in vitro digestion and the release and bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound (Chang & McClements, 2016; Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019; Lv et al., 2019). In vitro digestion methods and cell cultures are useful to mimic the gastrointestinal digestion process and the absorption of the encapsulated bioactive compounds. However, in vivo studies are essential for understanding the complex processes that take place in the gastrointestinal tract and elucidating the bioavailability of bioactive compounds enclosed in nanoemulsions. Previous authors have investigated the administration of Dunaliella Salina in the diet, reporting that it can enhance or maintain the activity of hepatic enzymes that are involved in combating reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Honda et al., 2021; Murthy et al., 2005). Nevertheless, there are no studies on the *in vivo* gastrointestinal stability and the bioavailability of the provitamin A carotenoids from algae enclosed in nanoemulsions.

For that reason, the aim of this study was to study the influence of two different naturalbased emulsifiers (soybean lecithin and whey protein isolate) and oil concentration (10% or 30%) on the *in vitro* gastrointestinal stability and bioaccessibility of carotenoid-rich *Dunaliella Salina* nanoemulsions. Moreover, the effect of the emulsifier nature on the β -carotene bioavailability and conversion to retinol in rats after the oral administration of nanoemulsions was also analyzed.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

Freeze-dried alga *Dunaliella salina* was kindly provided by Monzón Biotech (Spain). Pepsin (from porcine gastric mucosa), pancreatin (from porcine pancreas), bile extract (bovine), lipase (from porcine pancreas) and Nile red were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, INC (St. Louis, MO). Corn oil (Koipesol Asua, Deoleo, Spain) was purchased from a local supermarket. Soybean lecithin (SBL) was acquired from Alfa Aesar (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). Whey protein isolate (WPI) was kindly provided by El Pastoret de la Segarra (Spain). Ultrapure water obtained from a milli-Q filtration system was used to prepare of all solutions.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Preparation of β -carotene enriched oil

To obtain the β -carotene enriched oil, alga *Dunaliella salina* was mixed with corn oil at 65 °C (0.4 g alga/mL oil) and vortexed at 3000 rpm for 1 min. Then, the mixture was treated with an Ultra-Turrax (IKA, Staufen, Germany) at 17500 rpm for 2 min and submerged in a sonication bath for 5 min without discarding the precipitate. This process was repeated twice to ensure cell disruption. Finally, the mixture was centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 15 min and the upper part was collected as the oil phase. The final concentration was 20 mg β -carotene/g oil.

2.2.2. Nanoemulsion preparation

To obtain the aqueous phase, SBL or WPI were added into ultrapure water and stirred 4 h at room temperature. Then, the enriched β -carotene oil was added to the mixture and homogenized using an Ultra-Turrax (IKA, Staufen, Germany) at 11000 rpm for 2 min. Finally, nanoemulsions were obtained by passing coarse emulsions through a microfluidizer (LM10, Microfluidics, USA) at 130 MPa for 5 cycles. In this study, the

effect of the oil concentration in nanoemulsion was investigated, using two different concentrations (10% or 30%). The oil concentrations chosen in this study are due to the need to have a sufficient dose of bioactive compound to be able to perform *in vivo* studies. However, the emulsifier was used at a 0.4 surfactant-oil ratio (SOR) in all nanoemulsions. Thus, four different nanoemulsions were studied: SBL10% (soybean lecithin nanoemulsion with 10% oil concentration), SBL30% (soybean lecithin nanoemulsion with 30% oil concentration), and WPI30% (whey protein isolate nanoemulsion with 30% oil concentration).

2.2.3. Nanoemulsion characterization

Particle size. The particle size of nanoemulsions was measured using a Mastersizer 3000 (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Worcestershire, UK). Samples were diluted in ultrapure water and stirred in the dispersion unit with a constant speed of 1800 rpm. The mean particle size was expressed as surface area mean diameter (d_{32}) in micrometres (μ m), fixing a refractive index of the corn oil of 1.473 and 1.333 for water.

 ζ -potential. The ζ -potential was measured by phase-analysis light scattering (PALS) using Zetasizer laser diffractometer (NanoZS Malvern Instruments Ltd. Worcestershire, UK). Prior to the analysis, nanoemulsions were diluted (1:100) in ultrapure water. Gastric and intestinal samples were diluted maintaining its pH at 3 and 7, respectively. Then, the diluted samples were placed in a capillary cell equipped with two electrodes to assess the electrophoretic mobility of the particles. The results were reported in millivolts (mV).

Viscosity. Apparent viscosity of nanoemulsions was determined using a SV-10 vibroviscometer (A&D Company, Tokyo, Japan), which produces a vibration of 30 Hz and a constant amplitude of 0.4 mm at controlled room temperature. The results were expressed in mPa·s.

Optical microscopy. Nanoemulsions were dyed with Nile Red, previously dissolved at 0.1% (w/v) in ethanol. Then, micrographs of nanoemulsions were obtained using fluorescence with an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus, Göttingen,

Germany) with a 100x objective lens. The images were obtained using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus Göttingen, Germany).

2.2.4. In vitro gastrointestinal digestion

To simulate the human digestion process, an *in vitro* gastrointestinal tract digestion based on an international consensus method (Brodkorb et al., 2019; Minekus et al., 2014) with some modifications was used.

The protocol included both gastric and small intestinal phases. The mouth phase was not performed since nanoemulsions were liquid. To perform the gastric phase, 20 mL of nanoemulsion was mixed 1:1 with simulated gastric fluids (SGF) containing pepsin (2000 U/mL) and 10 μ L of a CaCl₂ solution (0.3 M). Then, the pH was adjusted to 3 using HCl (1M) and the mixture was placed into an incubator at 37 °C for 2 h while shaking at 100 rpm. To simulate the intestinal phase, a pH-stat device was used. Once the gastric phase was completed, an aliquot of 20 mL of gastric sample was placed in a 37 °C water bath and mixed 1:1 with simulated intestinal fluids (SIF) containing 10 mM bile solution. Then, the pH was adjusted to 7 with NaOH (1 M) and pancreatin and lipase enzymes were added to the final mixture to achieve 100 U/mL of trypsin and 2000 U/mL pancreatic lipase. The pH of the sample was maintained to 7 by adding NaOH (0.25 M) constantly for 2 h. The final volume of NaOH (0.25 M) was recorded and used to calculate the amount of free fatty acids (FFA) released during intestinal digestion. The FFA (%) was determined according to Eq. (1):

$$FFA (\%) = \frac{V_{NaOH} \times C_{NaOH} \times M_{oil}}{2 \times m_{oil}} \times 100$$
(1)

where V_{NaOH} is NaOH volume (L) used during the intestinal digestion, C_{NaOH} is NaOH molarity (0.25 mol/L), M_{oil} is corn oil molecular weight (800 g/mol) and m_{oil} is the weight of the oil phase present in the intestinal digestion phase (g).

2.2.5. In vitro bioaccessibility

To study the β -carotene bioaccessibility, after the digestion process, digested nanoemulsions were centrifuged at 4000 rpm during 40 min at 4 °C to obtain the micellar

fraction. Then, an extraction and quantification of the β -carotene content was performed in both the initial nanoemulsion and micellar fraction following the method described in section 2.2.7. Finally, β -carotene bioaccessibility was calculated according to Eq. (2):

Bioaccessibility (%) =
$$\frac{C_{\text{micelle}}}{C_{\text{initial}}} \times 100$$
 (2)

where C_{micelle} is the β -carotene concentration (mg/mL) in the micellar fraction and C_{initial} is the initial β -carotene concentration (mg/mL) in the nanoemulsion.

2.2.6 In vivo bioavailability

Female Sprague Dawley rats weighing 200-250 g were used for the in vivo bioavailability study of β -carotene encapsulated in different carriers. The animal procedures were conducted in accordance with EU Directive 2010/63/EU guidelines for animal experiments and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of Universitat de Lleida. The animals were randomly divided into three groups. In the first (n=5) and second group (n=5) rats were fed with the 30% SBL nanoemulsion and 30% WPI nanoemulsion, respectively. The third group (n=5) was used as a control and rats were fed with an aqueous β -carotene suspension. All the animals were fed with a dose of 60 mg of β -carotene/kg body weight, irrespective of the vehicle used. Rats were housed at constant temperature (20 ± 0.5 °C) and humidity ($50 \pm 10\%$) and a 12:12 h day/night cycle. Animals were fasted for 12 h before the experiment with free access to water. The animals were fed with a single dose of one of the different β -carotene nanoemulsions or a β -carotene suspension. Blood samples were taken at 0, 30, 60, 120, 240, and 480 min after administration from the tail vein. Plasma was immediately separated by centrifuging the blood samples at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and stored at -80 °C. Then, retinol and β-carotene content were extracted and quantified in plasma samples as described in 2.2.7.

The pharmacokinetic analysis was performed using a non-compartmental design. The area under the drug concentration *versus* time curve from 0 to 8 hours (AUC_{0-8 h}) was calculated using the trapezoidal rule. The maximum plasma concentration of β -carotene and retinol (C_{max}) and the time to reach maximum plasma concentration (T_{max}) were directly obtained from plasma analyses.

2.2.7. Carotenoid extraction and quantification

Nanoemulsions and micellar samples. B-carotene extraction was performed according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Zhou et al., 2018). Aliquots of 1 mL of sample (nanoemulsion or micellar) were mixed with 2 mL of ethanol/hexane (2:3 v/v) and vortexed at 1500 rpm for 1 min. Then, the mixture was centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C, and the supernatant was collected. This process was performed three times to ensure the total carotenoid extraction. Afterwards, the collected upper organic layers were collected and evaporated under N2 and stored at -40 °C. The quantification of β -carotene was carried out using an HPLC system equipped with a 600 Controller and a diode array detector (Waters, Milford, MA) following the method described by Vallverdú-Queralt et al. (2013). Before injecting the samples into the HPLC, they were reconstituted with 1 mL of MTBE and filtered. β-carotene was identified using a C30 column 250 x 4.6 mm i.d, 5 µm (Bischoff Chromatography, Leonberg, Germany) at room temperature. The injection volume was 20 µL and the flow rate was 1 mL/min. Mobile phases consisted of water (A), methanol (B) and MTBE (C). Separation was carried out in 23 min under the following conditions: 0 min, 70% B; 10 min, 20% B; 20 min, 6% B; 21 min, 6% B; 23 min, 70% B. Water was kept constant at 4% throughout the analysis. The column was equilibrated for 10 min prior to each analysis. A β-carotene standard was used to identify analytes by retention times and ultraviolet-visible (UV-vis) spectra. The HPLC-UV chromatograms were acquired, selecting the 450 nm wavelength; afterwards, the UV-vis spectra were recorded in the range 350–550 nm.

Plasma samples. Retinol and β -carotene extraction in plasma samples was performed according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Fan, et al., 2017). Aliquots of 150 µL of plasma were mixed with the internal standard trans- β -apo-8'-carotenal and 600 mL of ethanol/hexane (1:2 v/v) containing 0.1% BHT. Then, the mixture was vortexed at 1000 rpm for 1 min, centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C, and the organic fraction was collected. This process was performed 3 times to ensure the total carotenoid extraction. Afterwards, the collected upper organic layers were evaporated under N₂ and stored at -80 °C. The quantification of β -carotene and retinol from plasma samples was performed using a Acquity UPLC with a photodiode array

detector from Waters (Milford, MA, USA) equipped with a binary solvent delivery system. The analysis was performed using a reverse-phase C18 column (ACQUITY UPLC® BEH 1.7 μ m 150 x 2.1 mm) kept at constant temperature (32 °C). The volume injected was 7.5 μ L and the mobile phase consisted of a gradient of (A) acetonitrile: methanol (70:30 v/v) and (B) water: acetonitrile (95:5 v/v). The flow rate was 1 mL/min. The gradient profile of the mobile phase was set at 90% A and increased linearly to 100% A over 5.5 min with a 6.5-min hold, after which the mobile phase was changed back to 90% A over 2 min and the held for 2 min. β -carotene was detected at 450 nm and retinol at 325 nm.

2.2.8. Statistical analysis

All experiments were assayed in duplicate and three repetitions of each analysis were carried out on each parameter in order to obtain mean values. Analysis of the variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare treatments. Least significant difference (LSD) test was employed to determine differences between means. The confidence interval was set at 0.95 and all results were analyzed using the Statgraphics Plus v.5.1 Windows package (Statistical Graphics Co., Rockville, MD, USA).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Initial emulsion characterization

Particle size. Initially, WPI nanoemulsions showed a lower mean particle size (Table 1) with a more polydisperse distribution than SBL nanoemulsions (Figure 1). These results indicate that WPI was more effective than SBL to obtain small oil droplets by microfluidization, which was also observed in previous studies (Chang & McClements, 2016). Low molecular weight surfactants such as SBL can decrease the interfacial tension to a higher extent than proteins such as WPI due to its orientation and configuration at the interface. However, high molecular surfactants such as WPI are more effective in the formation of a viscoelastic film that surrounds oil droplets (Fuentes et al., 2021), which can prevent the recoalescence of the droplets. In this study, it seems that preventing droplet coalescence was more determinant to achieve small particle sizes than the capacity to quickly reduce the interfacial tension. Additionally, as can be

observed in the microscopy images (Figure 2), all nanoemulsions formulated in this study presented small dispersed oil droplets, meaning that they did not present any instability phenomenon. By increasing the oil content from 10% to 30%, the mean particle size decreased and the particle size distribution became more polydisperse in SBL nanoemulsions. The higher viscosity of SBL30% compared to SBL10% may have increased the shear disruptive stresses favouring droplet fragmentation (Qian & McClements, 2011). Conversely, the mean particle size of WPI nanoemulsions increased when the oil content was augmented from 10% to 30%. Moreover, the particle size distribution became slightly more polydisperse, although the particle size value of WPI30% was still lower than that of the SBL30% nanoemulsion.



Figure 1. Particle size distribution of soybean lecithin (SBL) nanoemulsions (a) and whey protein isolate (WPI) nanoemulsions (b) at different oil concentrations (10% and 30%) during the different phases of the *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion.

	Particle size (µm)	ζ-potential (mV)	Viscosity (mPa·s)
SBL10%	$0.455\pm0.004~^{\mathrm{Bb}}$	$-49.63 \pm 2.96 \ ^{\rm Aa}$	$1.66\pm0.16~^{\rm Aa}$
SBL30%	$0.317 \pm 0.005 ^{\rm Ba}$	$\textbf{-49.86} \pm 2.14 ^{\text{Aa}}$	$37.32\pm5.10^{\rm \ Ab}$
WP110%	$0.250\pm0.010^{\rm \ Aa}$	$\textbf{-36.93} \pm 1.14 ^{\text{Ba}}$	$2.07\pm0.13~^{\rm Ba}$
WPI30%	$0.269\pm0.006~^{\rm Ab}$	$-35.30 \pm 3.06 \ ^{\rm Ba}$	$38.57\pm4.09~^{\rm Ab}$

Table 1. Physical properties of soybean lecithin (SBL) and whey protein isolate (WPI) β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions at different oil concentrations (10% and 30%).

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among nanoemulsions with different emulsifier and same oil concentration. Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among nanoemulsions with different oil concentration and same emulsifier.

 ζ -potential. In general, SBL nanoemulsions showed a more negative electrical charge than WPI nanoemulsions, being around -50 mV and -36 mV, respectively (Table 1). These results are in accordance with previous findings and indicate that SBL provided a higher electrostatic stabilization than WPI. At the pH of the nanoemulsions (\approx 6) the phosphate groups from the majority of phospholipids of SBL were negatively charged (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018), conferring a highly negative electrical charge. In the case of WPI, the negative electrical charges were proffered by the amino groups that were not protonated at a pH above the pI of the protein (\approx 5).

By increasing the oil content from 10% to 30% no changes were detected in the electrical charge of nanoemulsions. In this sense, it should be noted that all nanoemulsions in this study had an equal surfactant-oil ratio (SOR), meaning that the concentration of emulsifier molecules in the interface of droplets was similar in all emulsions, irrespective of the oil concentration.

Viscosity. At 10% oil concentration, WPI nanoemulsion showed a slightly higher viscosity than SBL nanoemulsion, which could be related to the differences in particle size between these nanoemulsions. The smaller droplet size in WPI10% nanoemulsion increased the mean separation distance between the droplets in comparison to SBL10%. This increased separation distance could produce an increase in hydrodynamic interactions between the droplets and, consequently, a higher viscosity (Pal, 2000). However, no differences were observed between the viscosity of SBL and WPI nanoemulsions containing a 30% oil concentration, probably because the difference in the particle size between these nanoemulsions was less noteworthy (Table 1).

Nanoemulsions with 30% oil content presented a noticeably higher viscosity (37 mPa·s) than nanoemulsions with 10% oil content (1.7-2 mPa·s) (Table 1). Higher viscosities have been previously observed when the oil content has been increased in emulsions, which may be a consequence of the high packing state of droplets in these emulsions (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019).

3.2. In vitro gastrointestinal digestion

3.2.1. Physicochemical changes during in vitro digestion

Gastric phase. As can be observed in the microscope images, coalescence occurred in SBL nanoemulsions (Figure 2), irrespective of the oil concentration used. This phenomenon has been previously observed in nanoemulsions containing lecithin as emulsifier but different oils such as fish or soybean oil (Chang & McClements, 2016; Park et al., 2018). Although, initially, these nanoemulsions presented a highly negative electrical charge due to the neutral pH of the systems (section 3.1), the electrostatic repulsion was reduced into the gastric phase (Figure 3a) due to the proximity of acidic conditions to the lecithin pK_a (around 1.5), leading droplets became closer and causing coalescence (Mantovani et al., 2013). Mean particle size values confirmed the noticeable increase of particle size in these nanoemulsions (up to $\approx 12 \ \mu m$), especially in SBL30% (Figure 3b). Conversely, flocculation in WPI nanoemulsions was observed at the gastric stage (Figure 2), which also produced a particle size increase respect to the initial systems (from ≈ 0.26 to $\approx 5 \ \mu m$) and a more polydisperse particle size distribution (Figures 1 and 3b). This instability phenomenon, usually observed in WPI nanoemulsions in the gastric stage, may be due to the proteolysis of the proteinaceous interfacial layer by pepsin (Mantovani et al., 2013; Park et al., 2018). Moreover, the negative electrical charge was also reduced compared to the initial systems (from \approx -36 mV to ≈ 13 mV) as a consequence of the protonation of the amino groups of WPI at a pH below the pI, which may have also contributed to the destabilization. The electrical charge of these nanoemulsions became slightly positive during the gastric stage (Figure 3a), so the electrostatic repulsion was dominated by the van der Waals attraction and droplets became aggregated.

By increasing the oil concentration from 10% to 30% in SBL nanoemulsions coalescence was favoured (Figure 2) and a higher particle size (Figure 3b) with more polydisperse distribution was detected (Figure 1). In WPI nanoemulsions, more flocculation was observed increasing the oil concentration and they became more polydisperse. Nevertheless, the mean particle size of WPI nanoemulsions was similar regardless of the oil concentration used (Figure 3b).



Figure 2. Microscope images of soybean lecithin (SBL) and whey protein isolate (WPI) β carotene-loaded nanoemulsions at different oil concentrations (10 % and 30 %) during the different phases of the *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion. Scale bars are 10 µm long.

Intestinal phase. The electrical charge of all nanoemulsions became negative and similar among them at this stage (Figure 3a). According to other authors (Mantovani et al., 2013), WPI aggregated droplets of the gastric phase would be redispersed due to an electrostatic stabilization promoted by the change of pH from 3 to 7 when entering the intestinal stage. Conversely, this was not possible in SBL nanoemulsions since coalescence is an irreversible phenomenon. A general particle size reduction was

observed during intestinal digestion (Figure 3b) probably due to the conversion of oil droplets to free fatty acids and monoacylglycerols by lipase (Chang & McClements, 2016). At the end of the intestinal digestion, the mean particle size of SBL nanoemulsions was higher than that of WPI nanoemulsions at this stage, being $\approx 3 \ \mu m$ and $\approx 0.4 \ \mu m$, respectively.



Figure 3. ζ -potential (a) and mean particle size (b) of soybean lecithin (SBL) and whey protein isolate (WPI) β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions at different oil concentrations (10 % and 30 %) during the different phases of the *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion.

SBL nanoemulsions with 30% oil concentration presented a higher mean particle size than that with 10%; the same trend that was observed at the gastric stage. The high oil concentration of SBL30% nanoemulsion may have presented a higher non-digested oil content at the end of the intestinal digestion than SBL10%, which may have favoured

the coalescence of non-digested oil droplets. Conversely, the mean particle sizes of WPI10% and WPI30% were small and similar, which may be attributed to the redispersion of aggregated droplets in the intestinal phase.

3.2.2. Lipid digestibility

At a 10% oil concentration, WPI showed a noteworthy higher lipid digestibility than SBL, being about 60% and 40%, respectively (Figure 4). This fact may be attributed to the redispersion of aggregated droplets in WPI nanoemulsions when entering the intestinal phase, which may have favoured lipid digestion due to the increased surface area of oil droplets (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013). Moreover, WPI is less surface-active than SBL since it reduces the interfacial tension to a lower extent and it is partially digested by the pepsin during the gastric stage forming a weak interfacial layer. Therefore, it may be easily displaced from the interface for other surface-active molecules present in the intestine such as bile salts and lipase, as also observed when comparing the lipid digestibility of WPI with other emulsifiers such as quillaja saponin (Lv et al., 2019).



Figure 4. Free fatty acid (FFA) release during the *in vitro* intestinal lipid digestion of soybean lecithin (SBL) and whey protein isolate (WPI) β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions at different oil concentrations (10% and 30%).

Nanoemulsions with a 30% oil concentration showed a lower and slower FFA release than nanoemulsions containing 10% of oil (Figure 4). The higher viscosity of nanoemulsions containing 30% oil compared with those with 10% (Figure 5) could have reduced the intestinal enzyme diffusion process, thereby, decreasing the rate and extent of lipolysis (Espinal-Ruiz et al., 2014). Additionally, the high oil content of nanoemulsions with 30% oil concentration may have hindered the activity of the lipases. The ratio lipase-to-fat and calcium-to-FFA decreased as the oil concentration increased, reducing the rate of lipolysis and increasing FFA accumulation on the droplet interface (Li et al., 2011). The reduction of digestibility was more noteworthy in WPI nanoemulsions rather than SBL nanoemulsions. This fact may be attributed to the higher viscosity of WPI30% at this stage in comparison to SBL30% (Figure 5) which may have reduced the intestinal enzyme diffusion to a higher extent, therefore reducing the digestibility. At the end of the intestinal digestion, both SBL30% and WPI30% showed the same digestibility ($\approx 38\%$), although WPI30% nanoemulsion showed a higher initial FFA release rate than SBL30% during the first 30 min. As it was also observed in nanoemulsions containing 10% oil, these differences at early stages of the lipolysis among 30% oil nanoemulsions can be related to the particle size of these nanoemulsions when entering the intestinal phase.



Figure 5. Viscosity of soybean lecithin (SBL) and whey protein isolate (WPI) β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions at different oil concentrations (10 % and 30 %) during the different phases of the *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion.

3.2.3. In vitro bioaccessibility

Nanoemulsions formulated with WPI showed a noticeable higher β -carotene bioaccessibility than those formulated with SBL (Figure 6). Specifically, WPI10% presented the highest β -carotene bioaccessibility ($\approx 64\%$), a value which is in accordance with previous studies (Fan et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2018). The highest bioaccessibility of WPI10% could be related to the high digestibility that presented this nanoemulsion (Figure 4). However, WPI30% presented the same digestibility as SBL30% but a higher bioaccessibility (Figure 6). Previous studies also did not observe a strong correlation between the final level of lipid digestion and compound bioaccessibility using WPI and other emulsifiers such as quillaja saponin or gum arabic (Lv et al., 2019). It seems that the bioaccessibility of lipophilic bioactive compounds is not only influenced by lipolysis but also by other factors such as the degradation of the compound during gastrointestinal digestion. Milk proteins have shown to offer great protection from chemical degradation due to their high free radical scavenging and iron chelation properties (Chen et al., 2018). Specifically, whey proteins may provide high protection against β -carotene degradation during gastrointestinal digestion since, after peptic and trypsin digestion, whey proteins are hydrolysed into peptides with increased antioxidant capacity (Embiriekah et al., 2018). Additionally, β -carotene can be bound by β -lactoglobulin presenting a high affinity to the internal cavity (Mensi et al., 2013), which suggests that WPI could play a transporter role for some carotenoids.

 β -carotene bioaccessibility was reduced by increasing the oil concentration from 10% to 30% (Figure 6). In WPI nanoemulsions this fact could be attributed to the higher lipid digestibility of WPI10% in comparison to WPI30%, which may have increased the content of β -carotene incorporated in the mixed micelles. In SBL nanoemulsions, such a decrease in bioaccessibility when increasing the oil concentration could be related to the higher amount of emulsifier present in 30% oil nanoemulsion compared to that with 10% oil. Previous works have reported that the low β -carotene bioaccessibility observed using lysolecithin as emulsifier may be due to the precipitation of β -carotene (Tan et al., 2020). Therefore, in our study it seems that augmenting the amount of SBL in nanoemulsion with 30% of oil could have increased the sedimentation of β -carotene, reducing its bioaccessibility in comparison to nanoemulsion with 10% of oil.



Figure 6. β -carotene bioaccessibility of soybean lecithin (SBL) and whey protein isolate (WPI) β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions at different oil concentrations (10 % and 30 %).

3.3. In vivo bioavailability

The impact of delivery-system type on the *in vivo* β -carotene and retinol bioavailability was investigated by measuring the β -carotene and retinol plasma profiles after the oral administration of the different β -carotene vehicles (WPI30% nanoemulsion, SBL30% nanoemulsion or control suspension). To perform the *in vivo* study, nanoemulsions with the higher β -carotene content were used to ensure the maximum administration dose. Moreover, some important pharmacokinetic parameters such as C_{max}, T_{max} and AUC_{0-8h} were studied (Table 2).

As observed in Figure 7a, all plasma samples contained a higher content of retinol than β -carotene. Once β -carotene is absorbed in the intestinal mucosa, it is converted to retinal by β -C 15,15' oxygenase 1 (BCO1), and the retinal is then reduced to retinol by a retinal reductase (Paik et al., 2001). Moreover, by using nanoemulsions the levels of retinol in rat plasma were greatly improved after the oral administration compared to the control suspension. These results show that, by encapsulating β -carotene in nanoemulsions, the bioavailability of retinol, which is the active form of vitamin A, improved. In fact, the retinol C_{max} of the suspension, SBL30% nanoemulsion and WPI30% nanoemulsion was 164.37 ± 61.78, 394.08 ± 59.83 and 684.58 ± 121.50 ng·mL⁻¹, respectively. However, some β -carotene was present in the plasma after the oral administration. As observed in human studies, not all of the β -carotene is converted

to retinol in the intestine, but some part is absorbed as β -carotene form (Blomstrand & Werner, 1967). By using nanoemulsions, the retinol AUC_{0-8h} was increased by more than 2-fold compared to suspension (Table 2). These results are in accordance with previous studies that have reported a higher bioavailability of β -carotene and also other compounds such as curcumin by encapsulating them in emulsion-based delivery systems (Fan et al., 2017; Nazari-Vanani et al., 2017; Vecchione et al., 2016). On the one hand, such an enhanced bioavailability can be related to the presence of lipid in emulsion-based delivery systems. Indeed, lipids have been reported to stimulate the secretion of bile salts and micelle production, resulting in an increased amount of carotenoids solubilized within micelles. Moreover, lipids may enhance carotenoid absorption by promoting chylomicron secretion, thereby increasing carotenoid secretion out of enterocytes and preventing the intracellular accumulation of the bioactive compound (Boonlao et al., 2022).

Table 2. Pharmacokinet	ic parame	eters of retinol	and β-carot	tene in ra	t plasma	after the	oral
administration of whey	protein :	nanoemulsion	(WPI30%),	soybean	lecithin	nanoemu	lsion
(SBL30%) or suspension	•						

	Delivery system	C _{max} (ng·mL ⁻¹)	T _{max} (h)	AUC _{0-8h} (ng·h·mL ⁻¹)
	Suspension	164.37 ± 61.78	0.5	1087.44
Retinol	SBL30%	394.08 ± 59.83	4	2335.02
	WPI30%	684.58 ± 121.50	4	3050.93
	Suspension	38.70 ± 4.34	2	277.04
β-carotene	SBL30%	81.52 ± 40.31	4	544.19
	WPI30%	35.25 ± 21.13	4	186.33

Data of $\overline{C_{max}}$ are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. AUC_{0-8h} = area under the plasma concentration-time curve from 0 to 8 h; $\overline{C_{max}}$ = peak concentration; $\overline{T_{max}}$ = time to reach peak concentration.



Figure 7. Retinol (a) and β -carotene (b) concentrations in rat plasma during 8 h after a singledose administration of suspension, soybean lecithin (SBL) or whey protein isolate (WPI) β carotene-loaded nanoemulsion with 30% oil concentration.

On the other hand, according to previous works, the presence of emulsifiers in nanoemulsions could have reduced the interfacial tension and increased the membrane fluidity enhancing the absorption of the bioactive compound in the intestinal cells (Pan-On et al., 2022).

The T_{max} value was smaller for suspension (0.5 h) than for nanoemulsions (4 h), which indicates that the β -carotene absorption was faster using the suspension (Shargel et al., 2012). The presence of oil in nanoemulsions retarded the compound absorption since it

had to be released from oil droplets and incorporated into mixed micelles before being absorbed. Therefore, C_{max} value was more rapidly achieved in the suspension than in nanoemulsions due to the faster β -carotene absorption, but the values were lower due to the poor absorption in the absence of lipid (Table 2).

Among the nanoemulsions tested, the highest retinol bioavailability was observed in WPI30% nanoemulsion, which is in accordance with the results of β -carotene bioaccessibility observed in this nanoemulsion (Figure 6). As suggested by our in vitro results, a higher content of potentially absorbable β -carotene may be present in WPI nanoemulsions than in SBL nanoemulsions, thereby, increasing the bioavailability of the compound. The use of milk proteins has been shown to enhance the bioactive compound bioavailability in nanoemulsions (Niu et al., 2020). The mechanisms are not completely understood, but it is suggested that proteins could participate in the formation of mixed micelles and increase drug absorption. In fact, previous studies have reported the high affinity of β -lactoglobulin for retinol (Mensi et al., 2013). However, by using SBL30% nanoemulsion a higher β -carotene AUC_{0-8h} than WPI30% nanoemulsion was observed, which were 544.19 ng·h·mL⁻¹ and 186.33 ng·h·mL⁻¹, respectively. In that sense, we hypothesize that the lower β -carotene values obtained using WPI in comparison to SBL could be a consequence of the faster conversion of β -carotene to retinol using WPI. In addition, the T_{max} of either retinol or β -carotene was the same using both nanoemulsions (Table 2), which indicates that the rate of β -carotene absorption was the same using both emulsifiers.

4. Conclusions

The results obtained in this work showed that the emulsifier used has a strong impact on the nanoemulsion properties, being WPI more adequate to achieve small-particle nanoemulsions than SBL when using high oil concentrations (10-30%). In contrast, the oil concentration seems to have less effect on the nanoemulsions particle size and electrical charge, although it showed a strong impact on the system viscosity.

During the gastric digestion, although both emulsifier-type nanoemulsions showed instability phenomena, in the case of WPI it was reversible flocculation that could be dispersed when entering the intestinal stage. This fact promoted a higher initial digestion

rate in WPI nanoemulsions than in those with SBL. In addition, using WPI greater bioaccessibility values were obtained, which may be related to the protection against the degradation that antioxidant peptides produced during the peptic and tryptic hydrolysis of the protein emulsifier proffered to the compound.

Moreover, *in vivo* bioavailability data obtained in this study is in accordance with the *in vitro* observations. Both WPI and SBL nanoemulsions showed higher retinol levels in plasma than the control suspension after their oral administration. However, WPI nanoemulsion increased the retinol bioavailability to a higher extent than SBL nanoemulsion, which may be related to the higher β -carotene bioaccessibility in the gut. Therefore, WPI seems to be a promising natural emulsifier to increase the bioavailability of retinol.

Declarations of interest

The authors report no declarations of interest.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by the project AGL2015-65975-R (FEDER, MINECO, UE) and project RTI2018-094268-B-C21 (MCIU, AEI; FEDER, UE). Author Júlia Teixé Roig thanks the University of Lleida for the pre-doctoral grant. The authors would also thanks Monzón Biotech (Spain) for kindly providing alga *Dunaliella Salina* to perform the experiments.

References

- Artiga-Artigas, M., Lanjari-Pérez, Y., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2018). Curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stability as affected by the nature and concentration of surfactant. Food Chemistry, 266, 466–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.06.043
- Artiga-Artigas, M., Montoliu-Boneu, J., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Factors affecting the formation of highly concentrated emulsions and nanoemulsions. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 578(June), 123577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2019.123577
- Blomstrand, R., & Werner, B. (1967). Studies on the intestinal absorption of radioactive βcarotene and vitamin a in man: Conversion of βcarotene into vitamin a. Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation, 19(4), 339–345. https://doi.org/10.3109/00365516709090648

- Boonlao, N., Ruktanonchai, U. R., & Anal, A. K. (2022). Enhancing bioaccessibility and bioavailability of carotenoids using emulsion-based delivery systems. In Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces (Vol. 209). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2021.112211
- Borel, P., & Desmarchelier, C. (2017). Genetic variations associated with vitamin a status and vitamin A bioavailability. Nutrients, 9(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9030246
- Brodkorb, A., Egger, L., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Assunção, R., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu-Lacanal, C., Boutrou, R., Carrière, F., Clemente, A., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Edwards, C., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., ... Recio, I. (2019). INFOGEST static *in vitro* simulation of gastrointestinal food digestion. Nature Protocols, 14(4), 991–1014. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-018-0119-1
- Buono, S., Langellotti, A. L., Martello, A., Rinna, F., & Fogliano, V. (2014). Functional ingredients from microalgae. Food and Function, 5(8), 1669–1685. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4fo00125g
- Chang, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Influence of emulsifier type on the *in vitro* digestion of fish oil-in-water emulsions in the presence of an anionic marine polysaccharide (fucoidan): Caseinate, whey protein, lecithin, or Tween 80. Food Hydrocolloids, 61, 92–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.04.047
- Chen, X., McClements, D. J., Zhu, Y., Chen, Y., Zou, L., Liu, W., Cheng, C., Fu, D., & Liu, C. (2018). Enhancement of the solubility, stability and bioaccessibility of quercetin using proteinbased excipient emulsions. Food Research International, 114(May), 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.07.062
- Clarke, R., & Armitage, J. (2002). Antioxidant vitamins and risk of cardiovascular disease. Review of large-scale randomised trials. Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy, 16(5), 411–415. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022134418372
- Delman, S., Anekstein, M., Afek, A., Twitto-Greenberg, R., Harats, D., Shnerb Ganor, R., Harari, A., & Shaish, A. (2021). 9-cis and all-trans beta-carotene isomers of super critical CO 2 extracted Dunaliella oil are absorbed and accumulated in mouse tissues. Applied Phycology, 2(1), 74–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/26388081.2021.1975502
- Embiriekah, S., Bulatović, M., Borić, M., Zarić, D., & Rakin, M. (2018). Antioxidant activity, functional properties and bioaccessibility of whey protein hydrolysates. International Journal of Dairy Technology, 71(1), 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0307.12428
- Espinal-Ruiz, M., Parada-Alfonso, F., Restrepo-Sánchez, L. P., Narváez-Cuenca, C. E., & McClements, D. J. (2014). Impact of dietary fibers [methyl cellulose, chitosan, and pectin] on digestion of lipids under simulated gastrointestinal conditions. Food and Function, 5(12), 3083–3095. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4fo00615a
- Fan, Y., Gao, L., Yi, J., Zhang, Y., & Yokoyama, W. (2017). Development of β-Carotene-Loaded Organogel-Based Nanoemulsion with Improved *in Vitro* and *in Vivo* Bioaccessibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 65(30), 6188–6194. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b02125
- Fan, Y., Yi, J., Zhang, Y., Wen, Z., & Zhao, L. (2017). Physicochemical stability and *in vitro* bioaccessibility of β-carotene nanoemulsions stabilized with whey protein-dextran conjugates.

Food Hydrocolloids, 63, 256–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.09.008

- Fuentes, K., Matamala, C., Mart, N., & Rommy, N. Z. (2021). Comparative Study of Physicochemical Properties of Nanoemulsions Fabricated with Natural and Synthetic Surfactants. i, 7–9.
- Gasa-Falcon, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Impact of emulsifier nature and concentration on the stability of β-carotene enriched nanoemulsions during: *In vitro* digestion. Food and Function, 10(2), 713–722. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8fo02069h
- Harari, A., Harats, D., Marko, D., Cohen, H., Barshack, I., Gonen, A., Ben-Shushan, D., Kamari, Y., Ben-Amotz, A., & Shaish, A. (2013). Supplementation with 9-cis β-carotene-rich alga Dunaliella improves hyperglycemia and adipose tissue inflammation in diabetic mice. Journal of Applied Phycology, 25(2), 687–693. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-012-9903-4
- Harari, A., Harats, D., Marko, D., Cohen, H., Barshack, I., Kamari, Y., Gonen, A., Gerber, Y., Ben-Amotz, A., & Shaish, A. (2008). A 9-cis β-carotene-enriched diet inhibits atherogenesis and fatty liver formation in LDL receptor knockout mice. Journal of Nutrition, 138(10), 1923–1930. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/138.10.1923
- Harari, A., Melnikov, N., Kfir, M. K., Kamari, Y., Mahler, L., Ben-amotz, A., Harats, D., Cohen, H., & Shaish, A. (2020). Dietary β-carotene rescues vitamin a deficiency and inhibits atherogenesis in apolipoprotein e-deficient mice. Nutrients, 12(6), 1625. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12061625
- Harrison, E. H. (2012). Mechanisms involved in the intestinal absorption of dietary vitamin A and provitamin A carotenoids. In Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids (Vol. 1821, Issue 1, pp. 70–77). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2011.06.002
- Harvey, P. J., & Ben-Amotz, A. (2020). Towards a sustainable Dunaliella salina microalgal biorefinery for 9-cis β-carotene production. Algal Research, 50(February), 102002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2020.102002
- Hennekens, C. H., Buring, J. E., Manson, J. E., Stampfer, M., Rosner, B., Cook, N. R., Belanger, C., LaMotte, F., Gaziano, J. M., Ridker, P. M., Willett, W., & Peto, R. (1996). Lack of Effect of Long-Term Supplementation with Beta Carotene on the Incidence of Malignant Neoplasms and Cardiovascular Disease. New England Journal of Medicine, 334(18), 1145–1149. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199605023341801
- Honda, M., Takasu, S., Nakagawa, K., & Tsuda, T. (2021). Differences in bioavailability and tissue accumulation efficiency of (all-E)- and (Z)-carotenoids: A comparative study. Food Chemistry, 361, 130119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.130119
- Infantes-Garcia, M. R., Verkempinck, S. H. E., Gonzalez-Fuentes, P. G., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2021). Lipolysis products formation during *in vitro* gastric digestion is affected by the emulsion interfacial composition. Food Hydrocolloids, 110, 106163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2020.106163
- Jimenez-Escobar, M. P., Pascual-Mathey, L. I., Beristain, C. I., Flores-Andrade, E., Jiménez, M., & Pascual-Pineda, L. A. (2020). *In vitro* and *In vivo* antioxidant properties of paprika

carotenoids nanoemulsions. Lwt, 118, 108694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2019.108694

- Levin, G., Yeshurun, M., & Mokady, S. (1997). *In vivo* antiperoxidative effect of 9-cis β-carotene compared with that of the all-trans isomer. Nutrition and Cancer, 27(3), 293–297. https://doi.org/10.1080/01635589709514540
- Li, J., Ye, A., Lee, S. J., & Singh, H. (2013). Physicochemical behaviour of WPI-stabilized emulsions in *in vitro* gastric and intestinal conditions. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 111, 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2013.05.034
- Li, Y., Hu, M., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Factors affecting lipase digestibility of emulsified lipids using an *in vitro* digestion model: Proposal for a standardised pH-stat method. Food Chemistry, 126(2), 498–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.11.027
- Lv, S., Zhang, Y., Tan, H., Zhang, R., & McClements, D. J. (2019). Vitamin e Encapsulation within Oil-in-Water Emulsions: Impact of Emulsifier Type on Physicochemical Stability and Bioaccessibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 67(5), 1521–1529. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b06347
- Mantovani, R. A., Cavallieri, Â. L. F., Netto, F. M., & Cunha, R. L. (2013). Stability and *in vitro* digestibility of emulsions containing lecithin and whey proteins. Food and Function, 4(9), 1322–1331. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3fo60156k
- McClements, D. J. (2018). Enhanced delivery of lipophilic bioactives using emulsions: A review of major factors affecting vitamin, nutraceutical, and lipid bioaccessibility. Food and Function, 9(1), 22–41. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7fo01515a
- McClements, D. J., Bai, L., & Chung, C. (2017). Recent Advances in the Utilization of Natural Emulsifiers to Form and Stabilize Emulsions. In Annual Review of Food Science and Technology (Vol. 8, pp. 205–236). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-030216-030154
- Mensi, A., Choiset, Y., Rabesona, H., Haertlé, T., Borel, P., & Chobert, J. M. (2013). Interactions of β -lactoglobulin variants A and B with vitamin A. Competitive binding of retinoids and carotenoids. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 61(17), 4114–4119. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf400711d
- Minekus, M., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu, C., Carrière, F., Boutrou, R., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Egger, L., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., Lesmes, U., MacIerzanka, A., MacKie, A., ... Brodkorb, A. (2014). A standardised static *in vitro* digestion method suitable for food-an international consensus. Food and Function, 5(6), 1113–1124. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3fo60702j
- Murthy, K. N. C., Vanitha, A., Rajesha, J., Swamy, M. M., Sowmya, P. R., & Ravishankar, G. A. (2005). *In vivo* antioxidant activity of carotenoids from Dunaliella salina A green microalga. Life Sciences, 76(12), 1381–1390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2004.10.015
- Nazari-Vanani, R., Moezi, L., & Heli, H. (2017). *In vivo* evaluation of a self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery system for curcumin. Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy, 88, 715–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.01.102
- Niu, Z., Acevedo-Fani, A., McDowell, A., Barnett, A., Loveday, S. M., & Singh, H. (2020). Nanoemulsion structure and food matrix determine the gastrointestinal fate and *in vivo*

bioavailability of coenzyme Q10. Journal of Controlled Release, 327, 444–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.08.025

- Paik, J., During, A., Harrison, E. H., Mendelsohn, C. L., Lai, K., & Blaner, W. S. (2001). Expression and characterization of a murine enzyme able to cleave β -carotene. The formation of retinoids. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(34), 32160–32168. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M010086200
- Pal, R. (2000). Shear viscosity behavior of emulsions of two immiscible liquids. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 225(2), 359–366. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcis.2000.6776
- Pan-On, S., Dilokthornsakul, P., & Tiyaboonchai, W. (2022). Trends in advanced oral drug delivery system for curcumin: A systematic review. Journal of Controlled Release, 348, 335– 345. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCONREL.2022.05.048
- Park, S., Mun, S., & Kim, Y. R. (2018). Emulsifier Dependent *in vitro* Digestion and Bioaccessibility of β-Carotene Loaded in Oil-in-Water Emulsions. Food Biophysics, 13(2), 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11483-018-9520-0
- Qian, C., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Formation of nanoemulsions stabilized by model foodgrade emulsifiers using high-pressure homogenization: Factors affecting particle size. Food Hydrocolloids, 25(5), 1000–1008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2010.09.017
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013). Influence of particle size on lipid digestion and β-carotene bioaccessibility in emulsions and nanoemulsions. Food Chemistry, 141(2), 1472–1480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.03.050
- Shargel, L., Wu-Pong, S., & Yu, A. C. (2012). Applied Biopharmaceutics & Pharmacokinetics (6e ed.). McGraw Hill.
- Soukoulis, C., & Bohn, T. (2017). A comprehensive overview on the micro- and nanotechnological encapsulation advances for enhancing the chemical stability and bioavailability of carotenoids. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 58(1), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2014.971353
- Tan, Y., Zhang, Z., Muriel Mundo, J., & McClements, D. J. (2020). Factors impacting lipid digestion and nutraceutical bioaccessibility assessed by standardized gastrointestinal model (INFOGEST): Emulsifier type. Food Research International, 137, 109739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109739
- Thurnham, D. I. (2007). Bioequivalence of β -carotene and retinol. In Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture (Vol. 87, Issue 1, pp. 13–39). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2647
- Troesch, B., Hoeft, B., McBurney, M., Eggersdorfer, M., & Weber, P. (2012). Dietary surveys indicate vitamin intakes below recommendations are common in representative Western countries. In British Journal of Nutrition (Vol. 108, Issue 4, pp. 692–698). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114512001808
- Vallverdú-Queralt, A., Oms-Oliu, G., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Lamuela-Raventós, R. M., Martín-Belloso, O., & Elez-Martínez, P. (2013). Metabolite profiling of phenolic and carotenoid

contents in tomatoes after moderate-intensity pulsed electric field treatments. Food Chemistry, 136(1), 199–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.07.108

- Vecchione, R., Quagliariello, V., Calabria, D., Calcagno, V., De Luca, E., Iaffaioli, R. V., & Netti, P. A. (2016). Curcumin bioavailability from oil in water nano-emulsions: *In vitro* and *in vivo* study on the dimensional, compositional and interactional dependence. Journal of Controlled Release, 233, 88–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.004
- Zhang, H., Yao, M., Morrison, R. A., & Chong, S. (2003). Commonly used surfactant, Tween 80, improves absorption of P-glycoprotein substrate, digoxin, in rats. Archives of Pharmacal Research, 26(9), 768–772. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02976689
- Zhou, X., Wang, H., Wang, C., Zhao, C., Peng, Q., Zhang, T., & Zhao, C. (2018). Stability and *in vitro* digestibility of beta-carotene in nanoemulsions fabricated with different carrier oils. Food Science and Nutrition, 6(8), 2537–2544. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.862
- Zhu, S., Huang, R., Hong, M., Jiang, Y., Hu, Z., Liu, C., & Pei, Y. (2009). Effects of polyoxyethylene (40) stearate on the activity of P-glycoprotein and cytochrome P450. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 37(5), 573–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2009.05.001

Chapter IV

Effect of the emulsifier used in *Dunaliella salina*-based nanoemulsions formulation on the β-carotene absorption and metabolism in rats

Júlia Teixé-Roig, Gemma Oms-Oliu, Isabel Odriozola-Serrano, Olga Martín-Belloso*

Molecular Nutrition & Food Research (2023): 2200492

Abstract

Microalgae such as *Dunaliella salina* are a potential sustainable source of natural β carotene due to their fast growth and high adaptability to environmental conditions. This work aimed to evaluate the effect of the incorporation of β -carotene from this alga into different emulsifier-type nanoemulsions (soybean lecithin [SBL], whey protein isolate [WPI], sodium caseinate [SDC]) on its absorption, metabolization and biodistribution in rats. Nanoemulsions formulated with different emulsifiers at 8% concentration were obtained by 5 cycles of microfluidization at 130 mPa, then exposed to an *in vitro* digestion or orally administered to rats. Feeding rats with nanoemulsions improved βcarotene uptake compared to control suspension, especially using SDC and WPI as emulsifiers. A greater presence of β -carotene and retinol in the intestine, plasma and liver was observed, being the liver the tissue that showed the highest accumulation. This fact could be a consequence of the smaller droplets that protein-nanoemulsions presented compared to that with SBL in the intestine of rats, which promoted faster digestibility and higher β -carotene bioaccessibility (35-50% more) according to the *in vitro* observations. Nanoemulsions, especially those formulated with protein emulsifiers, are effective systems for increasing β-carotene absorption, as well as retinol concentration in different rat tissues.

Keywords: β-carotene, bioavailability, *Dunaliella Salina*, microalgae, retinol

1. Introduction

Microalgae are photosynthetic microorganisms with enormous potential to be used as a source of bioactive compounds in functional food production due to their rapid growth under a wide range of environmental conditions (Domínguez, 2013). Moreover, these organisms present some advantages compared with higher plants, such as faster growth, higher yield, and shorter cultivation time, which make them an interesting source of bioactive compounds such as astaxanthin, fucoxanthin, β -carotene, omega-3 fatty acids and polyphenols (Barkia et al., 2019; Gammone et al., 2015; Goiris et al., 2012; Haimeur et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2022). Among them, Dunaliella salina is one of the best sources of natural β-carotene, up to 14% of its total dry weight (Harvey & Ben-Amotz, 2020), presenting the 50% of total β -carotene as a 9-cis isomer. Previous studies have reported that the administration of this β -carotene isomer presented a higher tissue accumulation, antioxidant and biological effects than (all-E)- β -carotene (Ben-Amotz & Levy, 1996; Relevy et al., 2015). However, despite the higher biological value that β -carotene presents, it is easily degraded due to its highly unsaturated structure (Liu et al., 2016; Zuidam & Nedović, 2010). The incorporation of lipophilic bioactive compounds into oil-in-water nanoemulsions has been shown to be effective to protect them from degradation, facilitate their incorporation in aqueous matrices, and increase their absorption (Chávez-Zamudio et al., 2017; Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019; Lu et al., 2018; Sessa et al., 2014). These systems that consist of a lipid phase dispersed into an aqueous phase usually need an emulsifier for their stabilization, which can be classified according to their nature into proteins, phospholipids, polysaccharides or others.

The election of emulsifier has been shown to highly affect the physicochemical properties of nanoemulsions; moreover *in vitro* studies revealed that it also affects the digestibility and the encapsulated compound bioaccessibility (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019; Lv et al., 2019; Park et al., 2018). However, *in vivo* studies are required to elucidate the impact of emulsifiers on the oral bioavailability of β -carotene. Since the current consumption trend is towards natural products, the emulsifiers used in this study were different natural ingredients: soybean lecithin (SBL), whey protein (WPI) and sodium caseinate (SDC) (Dammak et al., 2020; McClements & Gumus, 2016; Ozturk & McClements, 2016). SBL has been chosen as a phospholipid-based emulsifier, while
WPI and SDC have been chosen as protein-based emulsifiers.

Previous authors have studied the *in vivo* bioavailability of synthetic β -carotene enclosed in emulsions or nanoemulsions. These studies have concluded that emulsion-based delivery systems can enhance the bioavailability of the compound, and that by reducing the particle size, the absorption and metabolism of β -carotene can be improved (Chen et al., 2021; Yu & Huang, 2012). Nevertheless, as far as we know, there are no studies reporting the bioavailability of β -carotene from a raw material such as alga *D. salina* enclosed in nanoemulsions.

Administration of *Dunaliella* algae species to mice has been shown to be effective in inhibiting atherogenesis and fatty liver formation, showing that the activity was 9-cis dependent (Harari et al., 2008). Other authors reported that carotenoids obtained from an algal source have a higher antihepatotoxic effect in rats compared with synthetic β -carotene and with β -carotene alone extracted from a natural source (Murthy et al., 2005). Moreover, *D. Salina* revealed a significant antifibrotic effect in induced-fibrosis rats via ameliorating the elevation of liver enzymes, inflammatory mediators and fibrotic markers (El-Baz et al., 2020). In addition, β -carotene is transformed into retinol (vitamin A) in the intestine and other organs, which is an essential vitamin with numerous biological functions (Harrison, 2012a)

The study of the biodistribution and accumulation of bioactive compounds in the body is essential, since the biological effectiveness of bioactive compounds is determined by their storage sites. Moreover, the microstructural changes that nanoemulsions undergo in the different parts of the *in vivo* gastrointestinal tract can be of high interest to better understand how nanoemulsion stability is related to the bioavailability of the compound. Therefore, the aim of this work was to study the impact of the emulsifier (SBL, WPI, and SDC) on the *in vitro* and *in vivo* gastrointestinal stability and digestibility of nanoemulsions. In addition, the oral bioavailability and biodistribution of β -carotene extracted from microalgae *D. salina* and its metabolite (retinol) in rats was evaluated.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

Freeze-dried alga *D. salina* was kindly provided by Monzón Biotech (Huesca, Spain). Pepsin (porcine), pancreatin (porcine), bile extract (bovine), lipase (porcine), Nile red and SDC were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Corn oil (Koipesol Asua, Deoleo, Spain) was purchased from a local supermarket. SBL was acquired from Alfa Aesar (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). WPI was kindly provided by El Pastoret de la Segarra, S.L. (Spain).

2.2 Methods

2.2.1. Preparation of β -carotene enriched oil and β -carotene suspension

To obtain the β -carotene enriched oil, alga *D. salina* was mixed with corn oil at 65 °C (0.4 g alga·mL⁻¹ oil) and vortexed at 3000 rpm for 1 min. The mixture was treated with an Ultra-Turrax at 17500 rpm for 2 min (IKA, Staufen, Germany) and submerged in a sonication bath for 5 min. Finally, the mixture was centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 15 min and the upper part was collected as the oil phase. The final concentration was 20 mg β -carotene/g oil, quantified by HPLC using the methodology described in Subsection 2.2.6. To obtain the β -carotene suspension, the alga *D. salina* was mixed with water at 65 °C (0.4 g alga·mL⁻¹ oil) and vortexed at 3000 rpm for 1 min. The mixture was treated with an Ultra-Turrax at 17500 rpm for 2 min (IKA, Staufen, Germany) and submerged in a sonication bath for 5 min.

2.2.2. Nanoemulsion preparation

To obtain the aqueous phase, 8% w/w of SBL, WPI or SDC were added into ultrapure water and stirred for 4 h at room temperature. Then, 20% w/w of enriched β -carotene oil and 80% w/w of aqueous phase were mixed and homogenized using an Ultra-Turrax (IKA, Staufen, Germany) at 11000 rpm for 2 min. Finally, nanoemulsions were obtained by passing coarse emulsions through a microfluidizer (LM10, Microfluidics, USA) at 130 MPa for 5 cycles. All formulated nanoemulsions presented a pH \approx 6.

2.2.3. Nanoemulsion characterization

Particle size. The particle size of nanoemulsions was measured using a Mastersizer 3000 (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Worcestershire, UK). Samples were diluted in ultrapure water and stirred in the dispersion unit with a constant speed of 1800 rpm. The mean particle size was expressed as surface area mean diameter (d_{32}) in micrometres (μ m), fixing a refractive index of the corn oil of 1.473 and 1.333 for water.

 ζ -potential. The ζ -potential was measured by phase-analysis light scattering (PALS) using Zetasizer laser diffractometer (NanoZS Malvern Instruments Ltd. Worcestershire, UK). Prior to the analysis, nanoemulsions were diluted (1:100) in ultrapure water. Gastric and intestinal samples were diluted maintaining its pH at 3 and 7, respectively. Then, the diluted samples were placed in a capillary cell equipped with two electrodes to assess the electrophoretic mobility of the particles. The results were reported in millivolts (mV).

Viscosity. Apparent viscosity of nanoemulsions was determined using a SV-10 vibroviscometer (A&D Company, Tokyo, Japan), which produces a vibration of 30 Hz and a constant amplitude of 0.4 mm at controlled room temperature. The results were expressed in mPa·s.

2.2.4. In vitro study

2.2.4.1. Gastrointestinal digestion

To simulate the human digestion process, an *in vitro* gastrointestinal tract (GIT) digestion based on an international consensus method (Brodkorb et al., 2019; Minekus et al., 2014) with some modifications was used.

To perform the gastric phase, 20 mL of nanoemulsion was mixed 1:1 with simulated gastric fluids containing pepsin (2000 U/mL) and 10 μ L of a CaCl₂ solution (0.3 M). Then, the pH was adjusted to 3 using HCl (1M) and the mixture was placed into an incubator at 37 °C for 2 h while shaking at 100 rpm. To simulate the intestinal phase, a pH-stat device was used. Once the gastric phase was completed, an aliquot of 20 mL of gastric sample was placed in a 37 °C water bath and mixed 1:1 with simulated intestinal

fluids containing 10 mM bile solution. Then, the pH was adjusted to 7 with NaOH (1 M) and pancreatin and lipase enzymes were added to the final mixture to achieve 100 U mL⁻¹ of trypsin and 2000 U/mL pancreatic lipase. The pH of the sample was maintained to 7 by adding NaOH (0.25 M) constantly for 2 h. The free fatty acids (FFA) release was determined according to Eq. (1):

FFA (%) =
$$\frac{V_{\text{NaOH}} \times C_{\text{NaOH}} \times M_{\text{oil}}}{2 \times m_{\text{oil}}} \times 100$$
 (1)

where V_{NaOH} is NaOH volume (L) used during the intestinal digestion, C_{NaOH} is NaOH molarity (0.25 mol·L⁻¹), M_{oil} is corn oil molecular weight (800 g·mol⁻¹) and m_{oil} is the weight of the oil phase present in the intestinal digestion phase (g).

2.2.4.2. In vitro bioaccessibility

Digested nanoemulsions were centrifuged at 4000 rpm during 40 min at 4 °C to obtain the micellar fraction. Then, an extraction and quantification of the β -carotene content was performed in both the initial nanoemulsion and micellar fraction following the method described in section 2.2.6. Finally, β -carotene bioaccessibility was calculated according to Eq. (2):

Bioaccessibility (%) =
$$\frac{C_{\text{micelle}}}{C_{\text{initial}}} \times 100$$
 (2)

where C_{micelle} is the β -carotene concentration (mg·mL⁻¹) in the micellar fraction and C_{initial} is the initial β -carotene concentration (mg·mL⁻¹) in the nanoemulsion.

2.2.5 In vivo study

2.2.5.1. Animals and study design

Female Sprague Dawley rats weighing 200-250 g were used for the *in vivo* study. The animal procedures were conducted in accordance with EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of Universitat de Lleida (CEEA 01-04/18). After an acclimatization period, animals were randomly divided into four groups (n=5) (suspension, SBL nanoemulsion, WPI nanoemulsion and SDC nanoemulsion). Rats were fasted for 12 h before the experiment with free access

to water. Rats were anesthetised with isoflurane and blood samples were taken by cardiac puncture. Plasma was immediately separated by centrifuging the blood samples at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and stored at -80 °C. Rats were sacrificed by exsanguination and the stomach, duodenum, jejunum, ileum and colon were removed and their content was collected and immediately characterized by microscopy. Then, the mentioned tissues, liver, kidney, white adipose tissue (mesenteric) and brown adipose tissue (cervical) were collected, rinsed with phosphate buffered saline, weighted and stored at -80 °C.

2.2.5.2. Dosage information

Rats were orally administered at a volume of 20 mL·kg⁻¹ with a feeding needle. All animals were fed with a dose of 60 mg of β -carotene per kilogram body weight, irrespective of the vehicle used, which is only achievable through supplements in humans. Control suspension consisted on the β -carotene from alga diluted in water. Sample administration was conducted in five times with 30 min intervals. Rats were sacrificed thirty minutes after the last administration.

2.2.6. Carotenoid extraction and quantification

Nanoemulsions and micellar samples. β-carotene extraction was performed according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Zhou et al., 2018). Aliquots of 1 mL of sample were mixed with 2 mL of ethanol/hexane (2:3 v/v), vortexed at 1500 rpm for 1 min, and centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C. Afterwards, the collected upper organic layers were collected and evaporated under N₂ and stored at -40 °C. The quantification of β-carotene was carried out using an HPLC system equipped with a 600 Controller and a diode array detector (Waters, Milford, MA) following the method described by Vallverdú-Queralt et al. (2013). β-carotene was identified using C30 column 250 x 4.6 mm i.d, 5 µm (Bischoff Chromatography, Leonberg, Germany) at room temperature. The injection volume was 20 µL and the flow rate was 1 mL·min⁻¹. Separation was carried out in 23 min under the following conditions: 0 min, 70% B; 10 min, 20% B; 20 min, 6% B; 21 min, 6% B; 23 min, 70% B. Water was kept constant at 4%. A β-carotene standard was used to identify analytes by retention times and ultraviolet–visible spectra. The HPLC–UV chromatograms were acquired, selecting the 450 nm wavelength. *Plasma and tissue samples.* Retinol and β -carotene extraction was performed in a dark room to avoid compound degradation, following a previously reported method with some modifications (Fan, et al., 2017). For plasma samples, 150 µL were mixed with the internal standard trans- β -apo-8'-carotenal and 600 µL of ethanol/hexane (1:2 v/v) containing 0.1% BHT. Then, the mixture was vortexed at 1000 rpm for 1 min, centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C, and the organic fraction was collected. Afterwards, the collected upper organic layers were collected and evaporated under N2 and stored at -80 °C. For tissue samples, 250 mg of tissue was mixed with 600 µL of milli-Q water and homogenized using an Ultra-Turrax at 9000 rpm for 1 min. After that, tissue homogenates were mixed with the internal standard trans- β -apo-8'-carotenal and 1000 μ L of ethanol/hexane (1:2 v/v) containing 0.1% BHT, and the same procedure as for plasma samples was followed. The quantification of β -carotene and retinol from plasma and tissue samples was performed using a Acquity UPLC with a photodiode array detector from Waters (Milford, MA, USA) equipped with a binary solvent delivery system. The analysis was performed using a reverse-phase C₁₈ column (ACQUITY UPLC® BEH 1.7µm 150 x 2.1 mm) kept at 32 °C. The volume injected was 7.5 µL and the mobile phase consisted of a gradient of (A) acetonitrile: methanol (70:30 v/v) and (B) water: acetonitrile (95:5 v/v). The flow rate was 1 mL \cdot min⁻¹. The gradient profile of the mobile phase was set at 90% A and increased linearly to 100% A over 5.5 min with a 6.5-min hold, after which the mobile phase was changed back to 90% A over 2 min and the held for 2 min. β -carotene was detected at 450 nm and retinol at 325 nm.

2.2.7. Fluorescence optical microscopy

Initial nanoemulsions, nanoemulsions at the different phases of *in vitro* digestion, and nanoemulsions from the different gastrointestinal tract of rats were collected and dyed with Nile Red, previously dissolved at 0.1% (w/v) in ethanol. Then, micrographs were obtained using fluorescence with an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus, Göttingen, Germany) with a 100x objective lens. The images were obtained using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus Göttingen, Germany).

2.2.8. Statistical analysis

All experiments were assayed in duplicate and three repetitions of each analysis were carried out on each parameter in order to obtain mean values. Analysis of the variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare treatments. Least significant difference (LSD) test was employed to determine differences between means. The confidence interval was set at 0.95 and all results were analyzed using the Statgraphics Plus v.5.1 Windows package (Statistical Graphics Co., Rockville, MD, USA).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Characteristics of nanoemulsions

The electrical charge of all nanoemulsions was negative being about – 48 mV in both SBL and SDC nanoemulsions and about -35 mV in that with WPI (Table 1). The negative electrical charge of the phospholipid (SBL) nanoemulsion was due to the negatively charged phosphate groups at the pH of the nanoemulsions (≈ 6) (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018). In protein-based nanoemulsions (those containing WPI or SDC) the negative ζ potential was because the pH was above the pI of the proteins (\approx 5), so the ionizable groups were deprotonated and the net charge was negative (Hu et al., 2003; Surh et al., 2006). The smaller mean particle size values of protein-based nanoemulsions (≈ 0.250 μ m) in comparison to that with the phospholipid ($\approx 0.380 \mu$ m), may be attributed to the higher capacity of high weight emulsifiers (such as WPI or SDC) to form a viscoelastic film surrounding the droplets than low weight emulsifiers like SBL (Fuentes et al., 2021). As can be observed in the microscope images (Figure 1), protein-based nanoemulsions presented aggregated droplets and a polydisperse distribution (Figure 2). In contrast, nanoemulsion formulated using the phospholipid showed bigger but well dispersed droplets than protein-based nanoemulsions, and therefore, a less polydisperse distribution (Figure 2).

	Emulsifier	Particle size (µm)	ζ-potential (mV)	Viscosity (mPa·s)
	SBL	$0.377\pm0.015~^{\rm Ac}$	- 49.90 ± 2.71 $^{\rm Aa}$	$3.96\pm0.35~^{Ba}$
Initial	WPI	$0.262\pm0.003~^{Ab}$	$-35.07 \pm 0.90 \ ^{\rm Ac}$	$7.28 \pm 1.97 \ ^{Ca}$
	SDC	$0.232 \pm 0.009 {}^{\rm Aa}$	- 47.21 \pm 1.39 $^{\rm Ab}$	$50.0\pm6.9~^{Bb}$
	SBL	$11.62\pm0.64~^{\text{Cb}}$	$-21.07 \pm 1.48 \ ^{\text{Ca}}$	$2.88\pm0.67~^{\text{Aa}}$
Gastric	WPI	$1.70\pm0.31~^{Ba}$	$13.43\pm0.77~^{\text{Cb}}$	$4.55\pm1.20\ ^{Bb}$
	SDC	$12.48\pm0.53~^{Cc}$	$14.90\pm1.30~^{\text{Cc}}$	$5.62\pm0.20~^{\rm Ac}$
	SBL	$3.10\pm0.15~^{Bc}$	$-33.25\pm1.97~^{Ba}$	$2.56\pm0.32~^{\rm Ab}$
Intestinal	WPI	$0.39\pm0.02~^{\rm Aa}$	$-33.41 \pm 1.79 \ ^{\text{Ba}}$	$1.75\pm0.04~^{\rm Aa}$
	SDC	$0.66\pm0.06~^{Bb}$	-27.73 ± 1.11 ^{Bb}	$1.54\pm0.02~^{\rm Aa}$

Table 1. Characteristics of soybean lecithin (SBL), whey protein isolate (WPI) and sodium caseinate (SDC) β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions during the different stages of the gastrointestinal *in vitro* digestion.

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters indicate significant differences (p<0.05) between different digestion phases of the same nanoemulsion. Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences (p<0.05) between nanoemulsions with different emulsifier.

Flocculation observed in protein-based nanoemulsions may be a consequence of the strong hydrophobic attraction generated between protein-coated droplets promoted by the increased surface hydrophobicity caused by the conformational changes that proteins suffer when they are adsorbed at the interface (McClements & Gumus, 2016). Phospholipid-based nanoemulsion showed the lowest viscosity, followed by that formulated using WPI, being about 4 and 7 mPa·s, respectively. SDC nanoemulsion showed a significantly higher viscosity than the other nanoemulsions, which was about 50 mPa·s. Previous authors have also reported a relatively higher viscosity using SDC rather than other emulsifiers like SBL (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019). Such a high viscosity obtained using sodium caseinate may be a consequence of the formation of star-like aggregates that jam in dense aqueous suspensions and lead to a sharp increase of the viscosity (Pitkowski et al., 2008).



Figure 1. Micrographs of soybean lecithin (SBL), whey protein isolate (WPI) and sodium caseinate (SDC) β -carotene nanoemulsions during the different phases of the *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion. Scale bars are 10 μ m long.



Figure 2. Particle size distribution of soybean lecithin (SBL), whey protein isolate (WPI) and sodium caseinate (SDC) β -carotene nanoemulsions.

3.2. In vitro gastrointestinal digestion of β-carotene nanoemulsions

Nanoemulsions formulated with a protein emulsifier (WPI or SDC) presented a higher initial rate of FFA release than that formulated with a phospholipid (SBL), although no differences were observed in the final extent ($\approx 43\%$) (Figure 3). These results evidenced that the election of emulsifier has an impact on the digestibility of nanoemulsions and are in agreement with previous works (Mun et al., 2007). The differences in the initial rate of FFA release observed between protein- and phospholipid-based nanoemulsions may be attributed to the particle size presented during gastrointestinal digestion. When entering the intestine, protein-based nanoemulsions presented small particle sizes due to the redispersion of the gastric aggregates as a consequence of the electrostatic stabilization (Mantovani et al., 2013) (Table 1 and Figure 1). Such small particle sizes increased the surface area of lipid exposed to lipase and facilitate lipid digestion (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013). Conversely, the phospholipid-based nanoemulsion presented a higher particle size due to the coalescence phenomenon (Figure 1), and therefore, a lower surface area and reduced access of lipase to the lipid substrate. Moreover, proteinbased emulsifiers presented a lower surface activity than the phospholipid, so they were more likely to be partially digested by pepsin. Thus, protein nanoemulsions may present a relatively weak interfacial layer and facilitate absorption of bile salts and or/lipase (Lv et al., 2019).



Figure 3. In vitro lipid digestibility of soybean lecithin (SBL), whey protein isolate (WPI) and sodium caseinate (SDC) β -carotene nanoemulsions.

The highest β -carotene bioaccessibility was found in WPI nanoemulsion ($\approx 68.5\%$), followed by SDC nanoemulsion ($\approx 55.5\%$), and SBL nanoemulsion ($\approx 20\%$) (Figure 4). These results highlight that the emulsifier nature significantly impacted the bioaccessibility of β -carotene, although all nanoemulsions presented the same final lipid digestibility (Figure 3), as observed previously by other authors (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2019). Moreover, the results obtained in this work evidenced that the incorporation of β -carotene into nanoemulsions can greatly enhance its bioaccessibility. Non-encapsulated β -carotene has been reported to present a very low stability under gastrointestinal conditions, being mostly degraded during its pass through the gastrointestinal tract (Blanquet-Diot et al., 2009).



Figure 4. *In vitro* β -carotene bioaccessibility of soybean lecithin (SBL), whey protein isolate (WPI) and sodium caseinate (SDC) nanoemulsions.

The higher β -carotene bioaccessibility achieved using WPI or SDC compared to SBL could be a consequence of the antioxidant activity provided by the peptides resulting from the protein digestion (Embiriekah et al., 2018). In fact, previous studies have also reported a high β -carotene bioaccessibility using WPI as emulsifier of nanoemulsions (Fan et al., 2017). Moreover, the higher β -carotene bioaccessibility of WPI compared to SDC nanoemulsions despite the same FFA release profile (Figure 3 and 4) could be due that WPI can better inhibit lipid oxidation than SDC (Qiu et al., 2015). The affinity for iron of phosphate groups of casein molecules is greater and stronger than that of carboxylate groups present in other proteins (Sugiarto et al., 2009). Thus, SDC can

promote lipid oxidation due to the chelating properties and electrostatic interactions of adsorbed casein molecules that favour the positioning of transition metal ions on the surfaces (Villiere et al., 2005). In contrast, WPI has a more compact structure and a lack of phosphate groups, which could limit the ability to bind iron, avoid oxidation (Guzun-Cojocaru et al., 2011) and prevent lipid oxidation by inactivating peroxyl radicals (Osborn & Akoh, 2004; Tong et al., 2000). Finally, the markedly reduced bioaccessibility observed using the phospholipid-based nanoemulsion may be attributed to the low capacity of the phospholipid emulsifier to inhibit oxidation. In addition, previous authors have observed reduced β -carotene bioaccessibility by using phospholipid-based emulsifiers such as soy lysolecithin due to the sedimentation of the compound during the centrifugation (Tan et al., 2020).

3.3. In vivo bioavailability

3.3.1. Microstructural changes in rat digesta

The microstructure of the SBL, SDC and WPI nanoemulsions in the digesta of the different regions of the gastrointestinal tracts (stomach, duodenum, jejunum, ileum and colon) of the rats were studied by analysing the digesta of the different regions postmortem, using an optical microscopy (Figure 5). Microscope images of digesta from rats fed with the suspension were also taken as a control.

In the gastric digesta, protein-based nanoemulsions presented aggregation of droplets, while phospholipid-based nanoemulsion showed droplet coalescence (Figure 5). Other *in vivo* studies also showed flocculation in the stomach of rats using nanoemulsions containing SDC as emulsifier (Yao et al., 2021). In addition, these observations are consistent with the *in vitro* results from the present study (Figure 1). These instability phenomena may be promoted by the reduction in the ζ -potential of nanoemulsions (Table 1).



Figure 5. Micrographs of suspension, soybean lecithin (SBL), whey protein isolate (WPI) and sodium caseinate (SDC) β -carotene nanoemulsions at the different parts of the gastrointestinal tract of the rats after oral administration. Scale bars are 10 µm long.

Duodenum digesta microstructure of rats was also different depending on the emulsifier used. Microscope images showed that nanoemulsion containing the phospholipid presented higher particle sizes than those formulated using proteins. Similarly, to *in vitro* observations, aggregated droplets of protein-based nanoemulsions were dispersed in the duodenum due to the electrostatic stabilization promoted by an increase of the ζ -potential (Table 1 and Figure 1). In fact, previous authors (Yao et al., 2021) observed the same effect in rats fed with nanoemulsions containing SDC as emulsifier at different oil concentrations. In contrast, the particle size of phospholipid-based nanoemulsion increased as a result of droplet coalescence. As the nanoemulsions progressed throughout the distal parts of the small intestine, fewer and smaller oil droplets were observed (Figure 5). This indicates that oil droplets were successfully digested and absorbed through the enterocytes of the intestinal mucosa by being incorporated into the mixed micelles (Goncalves et al., 2015). Even so, in the jejunum digesta of rats fed with

phospholipid-based nanoemulsion were still larger droplets than in those of rats fed with protein-based nanoemulsions (Figure 5), which may be attributed to the presence of lipid droplets, micelles and vesicles (Yao et al., 2021). It seems that nanoemulsion containing the phospholipid was digested more slowly than protein nanoemulsions, as can be seen in Figure 3. At the end of the gastrointestinal digestion, very few lipid droplets were observed in the colon of rats, irrespective of the emulsifier used. This indicates that all nanoemulsions were successfully digested and lipids were absorbed.

3.3.2. Retinol and β -carotene concentration in rat plasma and tissues

β-carotene is absorbed in the intestinal cells (enterocytes) mainly via passive diffusion or through facilitated transport via scavenger receptor class B member 1 (SR-BI) and possibly other lipid transporters, such as CD36 (Rodriguez-Concepcion et al., 2018). As can be observed in Table 2, the β -carotene concentration in the duodenum was greatly increased when the bioactive compound was enclosed in nanoemulsion (\approx 1289-2000 $ng \cdot g^{-1}$) rather than administered in suspension ($\approx 125 ng \cdot g^{-1}$). The presence of oil in nanoemulsions could have enhanced the absorption of β-carotene, since the co-ingestion of carotenoids with lipids has been reported to enhance its absorption (Brown et al., 2004; Goltz et al., 2012). Moreover, according to previous works, the presence of emulsifiers could have reduced the interfacial tension and increased the membrane fluidity enhancing the absorption of the bioactive compounds in the intestinal cells (Pan-On et al., 2022). Higher absorption was detected in rats fed with protein-based nanoemulsions than those fed with phospholipid-based nanoemulsion. Indeed, these results are in accordance with our in vitro observations, in which the bioaccessibility was higher using WPI or SDC rather than SBL (Figure 4). As mentioned in the previous section, this fact can be attributed to the higher capacity of protein emulsifiers than phospholipids to prevent β -carotene degradation during the gastrointestinal tract and increase the bioaccessibility of the compound. In fact, some authors have reported that the presence of proteins such as WPI or SDC can increase the solubilisation and transition of β -carotene into the mixed micelles (Iddir et al., 2021, 2022).

Table 2. β -carotene concentration in different tissue samples and plasma of rats after oral administration of β -carotene suspension (SUSP), soybean lecithin β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsion (SBL-NE), whey protein isolate β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsion (WPI-NE) or sodium caseinate β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsion (SDC-NE).

β-carotene (ng/g tissue o mL plasma)				
	SUSP	SBL-NE	SDC-NE	WPI-NE
Duodenum	125.2 ± 69.0 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	1289.0 ± 565.5 ^b	$1903.9\pm759.0~{}^{\rm bc}$	$2088.6\pm621.9\ ^{\circ}$
Jejunum	1724.5 ± 1599.6 ^a	$6742.6 \pm 1924.6 \ ^{ab}$	7175.9 ± 5061.8 $^{\mathrm{b}}$	$14200.4\pm4453.0\ensuremath{^{\circ}}$ $^{\circ}$
Ileum	1599.6 ± 1829.1 ^a	1737.0 ± 784.2 ^a	$3404.9\pm293.6\ ^{b}$	8381.5 ± 1390.3 °
Colon	$105.7\pm80.8~^{ab}$	$148.5\pm92.9~^{ab}$	$182.2\pm36.9~^{ab}$	96.7 ± 15.6 $^{\rm a}$
Liver	64.1 ± 43.8 ^a	$1853.2\pm 292.1~^{\rm b}$	1684.7 ± 636.4 $^{\rm b}$	1760.7 ± 408.4 $^{\rm b}$
Kidney	ND	ND	ND	ND
White adipose	ND	ND	ND	ND
Brown adipose	ND	ND	ND	ND
Plasma	$42.9\pm29.9~^{\rm a}$	1410.0 ± 344.9 ^b	1259.7 ± 224.4 ^b	1201.0 ± 108.4 ^b

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different letters indicate significant differences (p<0.05) between vehicles.

Once absorbed in the intestine, β -carotene is mainly cleaved to retinol and other metabolites by the β -carotene-15,15'-oxygenase (BCO1) but also through β -carotene-9',10'-oxygenase (BCO2) enzyme in the intestinal cells, where rats present the highest activity of both enzymes (Harrison, 2012). In fact, this could be the reason why β -carotene could have not been quantified in some tissues such as the kidney, white adipose and brown adipose tissue of rats (Table 2). However, although rodents are very efficient in cleavage of β -carotene to retinol in the intestine, it is possible to detect circulating β -carotene when it is administered in supraphysiological amounts (Van Vliet, 1996), as is the case of the present study, where β -carotene was detected in plasma and liver tissues (Table 2), being the latter one of the most important sites of β -carotene accumulation (Shete & Quadro, 2013).

Table 3 shows that the orally administered β -carotene was conversed to retinol and was found mainly in the latter form in rat tissues. Higher retinol concentrations in rats administered with nanoemulsions than in those fed with the suspension were observed (Table 3), as a consequence of the greater β -carotene absorption using nanoemulsions rather than the suspension (Table 2). Again, differences were observed depending on the emulsifier used, being SDC and WPI nanoemulsions the systems that promoted the highest retinol concentrations, especially in the duodenum, liver and kidney of rats (Table 3). This fact can be attributed to the presence of higher levels of β -carotene in the intestinal cells of rats fed with SDC or WPI nanoemulsions rather than with SBL nanoemulsion (Table 2). However, although adipose tissue is an important site of β -carotene accumulation in humans, it was not detected in rats in this study (Table 2). In fact, previous studies have also failed to detect this compound in rat adipose tissue after administration, even after chronic feeding (Lakshman et al., 1989; Parker, 1988). In contrast, retinol was quantified in the adipose tissue of rats, although no differences were detected among vehicles (Table 3). The presence of retinol in rat adipocytes could be related to the presence of the retinol-binding protein (RBP) in these cells.

Table 3. Retinol concentration in different tissue samples and plasma of rats after oral administration of β -carotene suspension (SUSP), soybean lecithin β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsion (SBL-NE), whey protein isolate β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsion (WPI-NE) or sodium caseinate β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsion (SDC-NE).

Retinol (ng/g tissue o mL plasma)				
	SUSP	SBL-NE	SDC-NE	WPI-NE
Duodenum	$147.8\pm43.4~^{\rm a}$	$123.8\pm48.7~^{\rm a}$	$250.6\pm70.8\ ^{\text{b}}$	$238.6\pm45.2\ ^{\mathrm{b}}$
Jejunum	58.7 ± 54.7 $^{\rm a}$	204.0 ± 73.7 $^{\text{b}}$	$248.7\pm65.3~^{\text{b}}$	312.5 ± 169.3 $^{\mathrm{b}}$
Ileum	217.5 ± 104.2 $^{\rm a}$	$280.1\pm91.9\ ^{\mathrm{a}}$	$262.8\pm85.1~^{\rm a}$	263.3 ± 77.5 $^{\rm a}$
Colon	56.3 ± 17.4 $^{\rm a}$	62.4 ± 27.6 $^{\rm a}$	$87.2\pm27.8~^a$	51.4 ± 42.4 $^{\rm a}$
Liver	745.8 ± 514.3 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	$1825.0\pm 355.7\ ^{\rm b}$	$1962.3 \pm 690.9 \ ^{b}$	3253.5 ± 645.2 $^{\circ}$
Kidney	634.3 ± 294.3 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	821.4 ± 324.7 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	1242.8 ± 305.8 b	2324.0 ± 507.2 $^{\circ}$
White adipose	$212.8\pm22.9~^{ab}$	$225.1\pm48.8\ ^{\text{b}}$	123.8 ± 36.4 $^{\rm a}$	$189.5\pm82.7~^{ab}$
Brown adipose	$214.1\pm93.0~^{\rm a}$	189.3 ± 51.7 $^{\rm a}$	234.6 ± 54.2 $^{\rm a}$	249.7 ± 78.9 $^{\rm a}$
Plasma	104.5 ± 49.9 $^{\rm a}$	$232.7\pm33.3\ ^{\text{b}}$	369.5 ± 62.0 $^{\circ}$	$473.2\pm23.0~^{d}$

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between vehicles.

Interestingly, although retinol and β -carotene concentrations in the liver and plasma were higher using nanoemulsions than the suspension, they showed different trends depending on the vehicle used. Feeding the rats with the suspension, retinol concentrations were higher than those of β -carotene in these tissues. In contrast, using nanoemulsions, a higher concentration of β -carotene rather than retinol was observed in the plasma of rats and similar values were detected in the liver (Tables 2 and 3). This suggests that the metabolism of β -carotene could be different when enclosed in nanoemulsions than in suspension. Although β -carotene is usually cleaved in the intestine, it can also follow another pathway. Intact β -carotene can escape the intestinal cleavage, be incorporated into chylomicrons and released by exocytosis to the lymphatic system for delivery to the bloodstream and eventually directed to the liver (Rodriguez-Concepcion et al., 2018). Therefore, it seems that by using the suspension, the β -carotene is more likely to be cleaved into retinol in the intestinal cells, whereas the use of nanoemulsions appears to promote the lymphatic pathway, therefore, showing high levels of intact β -carotene in the plasma and liver (Table 2). Once β -carotene arrives in the liver, it can be cleaved into retinol since this organ also contains BCO1 and BCO2 enzymes, although the activity that they present in this tissue is reduced compared to that in the intestinal tissue (Harrison, 2009). In fact, the liver was the tissue that presented the highest retinol accumulation, followed by the kidney (Table 3).

4. Concluding remarks

All studied emulsifier-type nanoemulsions showed to be effective to encapsulate and protect β -carotene extracted from alga *D. salina*. Feeding rats with nanoemulsions increased the intestinal absorption of β -carotene, increasing the concentration of the compound in the enterocytes compared to the suspension. Moreover, the retinol concentration was higher using nanoemulsions than the suspension, both in the intestine and in the liver, kidney and plasma. Among the nanoemulsions studied, those formulated with protein emulsifiers (WPI or SDC), promoted a higher concentration of β -carotene in the intestine of rats rather than that with the phospholipid (SBL). Indeed, by administering nanoemulsions formulated with WPI as emulsifier, the highest concentration of retinol was detected in plasma, duodenum, liver, and kidney. The low efficiency of SBL to enhance β -carotene absorption could be related to the coalescence phenomena observed in the stomach of rats and the reduced β -carotene bioaccessibility that revealed *in vitro* experiments.

Therefore, protein-based nanoemulsions, especially those with WPI, appear to be promising encapsulation systems to increase the absorption of β -carotene from alga *D*. *salina* and enhance the bioavailability and biodistribution of β -carotene and retinol in rats. Nevertheless, more studies should be done to better understand the specific mechanisms involved in the β -carotene metabolism when ingested enclosed in nanoemulsions, as well as to do further steps to scale the results obtained up to humans.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by the project AGL2015-65975-R (FEDER, MINECO, UE) and project RTI2018-094268-B-C21 (MCIU, AEI; FEDER, UE). Author Júlia Teixé Roig thanks the University of Lleida for the pre-doctoral grant. The authors would also thanks Monzón Biotech (Spain) for kindly providing alga Dunaliella Salina.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Author contributions

J.T.R. conducted the *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. All authors contributed to the design of the study, interpretation of the data and edition and revision of this manuscript.

Data Availability Statement

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

References

- Artiga-Artigas, M., Lanjari-Pérez, Y., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2018). Curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stability as affected by the nature and concentration of surfactant. Food Chemistry, 266, 466–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.06.043
- Barkia, I., Saari, N., & Manning, S. R. (2019). Microalgae for high-value products towards human health and nutrition. In Marine Drugs (Vol. 17, Issue 5, p. 304). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. https://doi.org/10.3390/md17050304
- Ben-Amotz, A., & Levy, Y. (1996). Bioavailability of a natural isomer mixture compared with synthetic all-trans β -carotene in human serum. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 63(5), 729–734. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/63.5.729
- Blanquet-Diot, S., MahaSoufi, Rambeau, M., Rock, E., & Alric, M. (2009). Digestive stability of xanthophylls exceeds that of carotenes as studied in a dynamic *in vitro* gastrointestinal system. Journal of Nutrition, 139(5), 876–883. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.108.103655

Brodkorb, A., Egger, L., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Assunção, R., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu-

Lacanal, C., Boutrou, R., Carrière, F., Clemente, A., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Edwards, C., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., ... Recio, I. (2019). INFOGEST static *in vitro* simulation of gastrointestinal food digestion. Nature Protocols, 14(4), 991–1014. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-018-0119-1

- Brown, M. J., Ferruzzi, M. G., Nguyen, M. L., Cooper, D. A., Eldridge, A. L., Schwartz, S. J., & White, W. S. (2004). Carotenoid bioavailability is higher from salads ingested with full-fat than with fat-reduced salad dressings as measured with electrochemical detection. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 80(2), 396–403. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/80.2.396
- Chávez-Zamudio, R., Ochoa-Flores, A. A., Soto-Rodríguez, I., Garcia-Varela, R., & García, H. S. (2017). Preparation, characterization and bioavailability by oral administration of O/W curcumin nanoemulsions stabilized with lysophosphatidylcholine. Food and Function, 8(9), 3346–3354. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7fo00933j
- Chen, L., Yokoyama, W., Alves, P., Tan, Y., Pan, J., & Zhong, F. (2021). Effect of encapsulation on β-carotene absorption and metabolism in mice. Food Hydrocolloids, 121, 107009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2021.107009
- Dammak, I., Sobral, P. J. do A., Aquino, A., Neves, M. A. das, & Conte-Junior, C. A. (2020). Nanoemulsions: Using emulsifiers from natural sources replacing synthetic ones—A review. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 19(5), 2721–2746. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12606
- Domínguez, H. (2013). Algae as a source of biologically active ingredients for the formulation of functional foods and nutraceuticals. In Functional Ingredients from Algae for Foods and Nutraceuticals (pp. 1–19). https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857098689.1
- El-Baz, F. K., Ali, S. I., Basha, M., Kassem, A. A., Shamma, R. N., Elgohary, R., & Salama, A. (2020). Design and evaluation of bioenhanced oral tablets of Dunaliella salina microalgae for treatment of liver fibrosis. Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology, 59, 101845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2020.101845
- Embiriekah, S., Bulatović, M., Borić, M., Zarić, D., & Rakin, M. (2018). Antioxidant activity, functional properties and bioaccessibility of whey protein hydrolysates. International Journal of Dairy Technology, 71(1), 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0307.12428
- Fan, Y., Gao, L., Yi, J., Zhang, Y., & Yokoyama, W. (2017). Development of β-Carotene-Loaded Organogel-Based Nanoemulsion with Improved *in Vitro* and *in Vivo* Bioaccessibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 65(30), 6188–6194. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b02125
- Fan, Y., Yi, J., Zhang, Y., Wen, Z., & Zhao, L. (2017). Physicochemical stability and *in vitro* bioaccessibility of β-carotene nanoemulsions stabilized with whey protein-dextran conjugates. Food Hydrocolloids, 63, 256–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.09.008
- Fuentes, K., Matamala, C., Mart, N., & Rommy, N. Z. (2021). Comparative Study of Physicochemical Properties of Nanoemulsions Fabricated with Natural and Synthetic Surfactants. i, 7–9.
- Gammone, M. A., Riccioni, G., & D'Orazio, N. (2015). Marine carotenoids against oxidative stress: Effects on human health. In Marine Drugs (Vol. 13, Issue 10, pp. 6226–6246).

Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. https://doi.org/10.3390/md13106226

- Gasa-Falcon, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Impact of emulsifier nature and concentration on the stability of β-carotene enriched nanoemulsions during: *In vitro* digestion. Food and Function, 10(2), 713–722. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8fo02069h
- Goiris, K., Muylaert, K., Fraeye, I., Foubert, I., De Brabanter, J., & De Cooman, L. (2012). Antioxidant potential of microalgae in relation to their phenolic and carotenoid content. Journal of Applied Phycology, 24(6), 1477–1486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-012-9804-6
- Goltz, S. R., Campbell, W. W., Chitchumroonchokchai, C., Failla, M. L., & Ferruzzi, M. G. (2012). Meal triacylglycerol profile modulates postprandial absorption of carotenoids in humans. Molecular Nutrition and Food Research, 56(6), 866–877. https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201100687
- Goncalves, A., Roi, S., Nowicki, M., Dhaussy, A., Huertas, A., Amiot, M. J., & Reboul, E. (2015). Fat-soluble vitamin intestinal absorption: Absorption sites in the intestine and interactions for absorption. Food Chemistry, 172, 155–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.09.021
- Guzun-Cojocaru, T., Koev, C., Yordanov, M., Karbowiak, T., Cases, E., & Cayot, P. (2011). Oxidative stability of oil-in-water emulsions containing iron chelates: Transfer of iron from chelates to milk proteins at interface. Food Chemistry, 125(2), 326–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.08.004
- Haimeur, A., Ulmann, L., Mimouni, V., Guéno, F., Pineau-Vincent, F., Meskini, N., & Tremblin, G. (2012). The role of Odontella aurita, a marine diatom rich in EPA, as a dietary supplement in dyslipidemia, platelet function and oxidative stress in high-fat fed rats. Lipids in Health and Disease, 11(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-511X-11-147
- Harari, A., Harats, D., Marko, D., Cohen, H., Barshack, I., Kamari, Y., Gonen, A., Gerber, Y., Ben-Amotz, A., & Shaish, A. (2008). A 9-cis β-carotene-enriched diet inhibits atherogenesis and fatty liver formation in LDL receptor knockout mice. Journal of Nutrition, 138(10), 1923– 1930. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/138.10.1923
- Harrison, E. (2009). Mechanisms of Intestinal Absorption of Carotenoids. Carotenoids, Table 1, 367–379. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420052312-c17
- Harrison, E. H. (2012). Mechanisms involved in the intestinal absorption of dietary vitamin A and provitamin A carotenoids. In Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids (Vol. 1821, Issue 1, pp. 70–77). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2011.06.002
- Harvey, P. J., & Ben-Amotz, A. (2020). Towards a sustainable Dunaliella salina microalgal biorefinery for 9-cis β-carotene production. Algal Research, 50(February), 102002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2020.102002
- Hu, M., McClements, D. J., & Decker, E. A. (2003). Lipid oxidation in corn oil-in-water emulsions stabilized by casein, whey protein isolate, and soy protein isolate. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 51(6), 1696–1700. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf020952j

- Iddir, M., Porras Yaruro, J. F., Cocco, E., Hardy, E. M., Appenzeller, B. M. R., Guignard, C., Larondelle, Y., & Bohn, T. (2021). Impact of protein-enriched plant food items on the bioaccessibility and cellular uptake of carotenoids. Antioxidants, 10(7), 1005. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox10071005
- Iddir, M., Vahid, F., Merten, D., Larondelle, Y., & Bohn, T. (2022). Influence of Proteins on the Absorption of Lipophilic Vitamins, Carotenoids and Curcumin – A Review. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research, 2200076. https://doi.org/10.1002/MNFR.202200076
- Lakshman, M. R., Asher, K. A., Attlesey, M. G., Satchithanandam, S., Mychkovsky, I., & Coutlakis, P. J. (1989). Absorption, storage, and distribution of beta-carotene in normal and beta-carotene-fed rats: roles of parenchymal and stellate cells. Journal of Lipid Research, 30(10), 1545–1550. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-2275(20)38238-9
- Liu, F., Ma, C., McClements, D. J., & Gao, Y. (2016). Development of polyphenol-proteinpolysaccharide ternary complexes as emulsifiers for nutraceutical emulsions: Impact on formation, stability, and bioaccessibility of β-carotene emulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 61, 578–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.05.031
- Lu, P. S., Inbaraj, B. S., & Chen, B. H. (2018). Determination of oral bioavailability of curcuminoid dispersions and nanoemulsions prepared from Curcuma longa Linnaeus. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 98(1), 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.8437
- Lv, S., Zhang, Y., Tan, H., Zhang, R., & McClements, D. J. (2019). Vitamin e Encapsulation within Oil-in-Water Emulsions: Impact of Emulsifier Type on Physicochemical Stability and Bioaccessibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 67(5), 1521–1529. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b06347
- Mantovani, R. A., Cavallieri, Â. L. F., Netto, F. M., & Cunha, R. L. (2013). Stability and *in vitro* digestibility of emulsions containing lecithin and whey proteins. Food and Function, 4(9), 1322–1331. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3fo60156k
- McClements, D. J., & Gumus, C. E. (2016). Natural emulsifiers Biosurfactants, phospholipids, biopolymers, and colloidal particles: Molecular and physicochemical basis of functional performance. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 234, 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2016.03.002
- Minekus, M., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu, C., Carrière, F., Boutrou, R., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Egger, L., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., Lesmes, U., MacIerzanka, A., MacKie, A., ... Brodkorb, A. (2014). A standardised static *in vitro* digestion method suitable for food-an international consensus. Food and Function, 5(6), 1113–1124. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3fo60702j
- Mun, S., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2007). Influence of emulsifier type on *in vitro* digestibility of lipid droplets by pancreatic lipase. Food Research International, 40(6), 770–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2007.01.007
- Murthy, K. N. C., Rajesha, J., Swamy, M. M., & Ravishankar, G. A. (2005). Comparative evaluation of hepatoprotective activity of carotenoids of microalgae. Journal of Medicinal Food, 8(4), 523–528. https://doi.org/10.1089/jmf.2005.8.523

Osborn, H. T., & Akoh, C. C. (2004). Effect of emulsifier type, droplet size, and oil concentration

on lipid oxidation in structured lipid-based oil-in-water emulsions. Food Chemistry, 84(3), 451–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-8146(03)00270-X

- Ozturk, B., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Progress in natural emulsifiers for utilization in food emulsions. In Current Opinion in Food Science (Vol. 7, pp. 1–6). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2015.07.008
- Pan-On, S., Dilokthornsakul, P., & Tiyaboonchai, W. (2022). Trends in advanced oral drug delivery system for curcumin: A systematic review. Journal of Controlled Release, 348, 335– 345. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCONREL.2022.05.048
- Park, S., Mun, S., & Kim, Y. R. (2018). Emulsifier Dependent *in vitro* Digestion and Bioaccessibility of β-Carotene Loaded in Oil-in-Water Emulsions. Food Biophysics, 13(2), 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11483-018-9520-0
- Parker, R. S. (1988). Carotenoid and tocopherol composition of human adipose tissue. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 47(1), 33–36. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/47.1.33
- Pitkowski, A., Durand, D., & Nicolai, T. (2008). Structure and dynamical mechanical properties of suspensions of sodium caseinate. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 326(1), 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2008.07.003
- Qiu, C., Zhao, M., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2015). Influence of protein type on oxidation and digestibility of fish oil-in-water emulsions: Gliadin, caseinate, and whey protein. Food Chemistry, 175, 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.11.112
- Relevy, N. Z., Rühl, R., Harari, A., Grosskopf, I., Barshack, I., Ben-Amotz, A., Nir, U., Gottlieb, H., Kamari, Y., Harats, D., & Shaish, A. (2015). 9-cis β-carotene inhibits atherosclerosis development in female LDLR-/-Mice. Functional Foods in Health and Disease, 5(2), 67–79. https://doi.org/10.31989/ffhd.v5i2.172
- Rodriguez-Concepcion, M., Avalos, J., Bonet, M. L., Boronat, A., Gomez-Gomez, L., Hornero-Mendez, D., Limon, M. C., Meléndez-Martínez, A. J., Olmedilla-Alonso, B., Palou, A., Ribot, J., Rodrigo, M. J., Zacarias, L., & Zhu, C. (2018). A global perspective on carotenoids: Metabolism, biotechnology, and benefits for nutrition and health. In Progress in Lipid Research (Vol. 70, pp. 62–93). Pergamon. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2018.04.004
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013). Influence of particle size on lipid digestion and β-carotene bioaccessibility in emulsions and nanoemulsions. Food Chemistry, 141(2), 1472–1480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.03.050
- Sessa, M., Balestrieri, M. L., Ferrari, G., Servillo, L., Castaldo, D., D'Onofrio, N., Donsì, F., & Tsao, R. (2014). Bioavailability of encapsulated resveratrol into nanoemulsion-based delivery systems. Food Chemistry, 147, 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.09.088
- Shete, V., & Quadro, L. (2013). Mammalian metabolism of β-carotene: Gaps in knowledge. In Nutrients (Vol. 5, Issue 12, pp. 4849–4868). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu5124849
- Sugiarto, M., Ye, A., & Singh, H. (2009). Characterisation of binding of iron to sodium caseinate and whey protein isolate. Food Chemistry, 114(3), 1007–1013.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.10.062

- Surh, J., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2006). Influence of pH and pectin type on properties and stability of sodium-caseinate stabilized oil-in-water emulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 20(5), 607–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2005.07.004
- Tan, Y., Zhang, Z., Muriel Mundo, J., & McClements, D. J. (2020). Factors impacting lipid digestion and nutraceutical bioaccessibility assessed by standardized gastrointestinal model (INFOGEST): Emulsifier type. Food Research International, 137, 109739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109739
- Tong, L. M., Sasaki, S., McClements, D. J., & Decker, E. A. (2000). Mechanisms of the antioxidant activity of a high molecular weight fraction of whey. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 48(5), 1473–1478. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf991342v
- Vallverdú-Queralt, A., Oms-Oliu, G., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Lamuela-Raventós, R. M., Martín-Belloso, O., & Elez-Martínez, P. (2013). Metabolite profiling of phenolic and carotenoid contents in tomatoes after moderate-intensity pulsed electric field treatments. Food Chemistry, 136(1), 199–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.07.108
- Van Vliet, T. (1996). Absorption of β-carotene and other carotenoids in humans and animal models. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 50(SUPPL. 3), S32-7. https://europepmc.org/article/med/8841772
- Villiere, A., Viau, M., Bronnec, I., Moreau, N., & Genot, C. (2005). Oxidative stability of bovine serum albumin- and sodium caseinate-stabilized emulsions depends on metal availability. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 53(5), 1514–1520. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0486951
- Wang, J., Hu, X., Chen, J., Wang, T., Huang, X., & Chen, G. (2022). The Extraction of β-Carotene from Microalgae for Testing Their Health Benefits. In Foods (Vol. 11, Issue 4, p. 502). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11040502
- Yao, K., McClements, D. J., Yan, C., Xiao, J., Liu, H., Chen, Z., Hou, X., Cao, Y., Xiao, H., & Liu, X. (2021). *In vitro* and *in vivo* study of the enhancement of carotenoid bioavailability in vegetables using excipient nanoemulsions: Impact of lipid content. Food Research International, 141, 110162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2021.110162
- Yu, H., & Huang, Q. (2012). Improving the oral bioavailability of curcumin using novel organogel-based nanoemulsions. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 60(21), 5373–5379. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf300609p
- Zhou, X., Wang, H., Wang, C., Zhao, C., Peng, Q., Zhang, T., & Zhao, C. (2018). Stability and *in vitro* digestibility of beta-carotene in nanoemulsions fabricated with different carrier oils. Food Science and Nutrition, 6(8), 2537–2544. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.862
- Zuidam, N. J., & Nedović, V. A. (2010). Encapsulation technologies for active food ingredients and food processing. In Encapsulation Technologies for Active Food Ingredients and Food Processing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1008-0

Chapter V

Encapsulation and controlled release of phycocyanin during the *in vitro* digestion using polysaccharide-added double emulsions (W₁/O/W₂)

Júlia Teixé-Roig, Gemma Oms-Oliu, Sara Ballesté-Muñoz, Isabel Odriozola-Serrano, Olga Martín-Belloso*

Food Structure 31 (2022): 100249

Abstract

Phycocyanin could be a potential substitute for synthetic food coloring due to its healthrelated properties. However, this protein is easily degraded by light, temperature or pH. Double emulsions have proven to be good systems to encapsulate and protect hydrophilic compounds such as phycocyanin. Moreover, the addition of polysaccharides to the outer aqueous phase (W₂) of these emulsions seems to improve their stability, although the impact on their digestive fate needs to be further studied. The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of increasing the viscosity of W₂ by adding arabic gum, pectin or sodium alginate at different concentrations (0%, 0.5%, 1%, 1.5% or 2%) on the physical properties and digestibility of emulsions, and on phycocyanin bioaccessibility. Results showed an efficient phycocyanin encapsulation in the inner aqueous phase (W_1) of the emulsions containing sodium alginate and pectin at 1.5–2%. During the digestion, the use of all polysaccharides at 2% prevented the phycocyanin release into the gastric phase, its degradation during the intestinal phase and improved lipid digestibility. However, sodium alginate showed more noticeable effects, followed by pectin and arabic gum. Therefore, sodium alginate at concentrations 1.5-2% seems to be the most suitable polysaccharide for improving encapsulation efficiency, lipid digestibility and protecting phycocyanin during the gastrointestinal digestion.

Keywords: polysaccharides, $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions, phycocyanin, bioaccessibility, digestibility

1. Introduction

Currently, interest in microalgae is growing, as they are a promising source of high valuable bioactive compounds. One of these microalgae is *Arthrospira (Spirulina)*, which is rich in phycocyanin (PC), a phycobiliprotein that possesses antioxidant, antiinflammatory, hepatoprotective and neuroprotective properties (Hussein et al., 2015; Romay et al., 2005). In addition, PC has shown to be a good natural food colouring in various food products such as yoghurts, biscuits or ice creams due to its intense blue colour, being useful to replace synthetic food colouring (Campos Assumpção de Amarante et al., 2020; El Baky et al., 2015; Kaur et al., 2019; Mohammadi-Gouraji et al., 2019). Nevertheless, PC is prone to suffer denaturation and/or proteolysis, especially due to external factors, such as light, temperature and pH, which limits its use in the food industry (Chaiklahan et al., 2012; Jespersen et al., 2005; Martelli et al., 2014). Moreover, as PC is unstable at pH values under 5.5 and above 6 (Chaiklahan et al., 2012), it could be easily degraded during the gastrointestinal digestion. In fact, protein denaturalization has been observed at low pH (Silva et al., 2009).

Double emulsions (W₁/O/W₂) have been used to incorporate hydrophilic compounds such as bioactive peptides (Giroux et al., 2016), vitamin C (Kheynoor et al., 2018), chlorophyllin (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019) or anthocyanins (de Almeida Paula et al., 2018; Teixé-Roig et al., 2018) showing high encapsulation efficiencies (\geq 90%) and good protection against the degradation caused by external factors such as light or temperature. Besides, these systems could also be useful in preventing the degradation of bioactive compounds during the gastrointestinal digestion process and may offer a targeted release of the encapsulated compound in the small intestine (Giroux et al., 2013; Mao & Miao, 2015; Velderrain-Rodríguez, et al., 2019). In that sense, the incorporation of PC in W₁/O/W₂ emulsions seems to be a promising strategy to prevent its degradation during the digestion process and increase its bioaccessibility, in order to improve its health benefits.

In general, polysaccharides can act as stabilizing agents in $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions by increasing the viscosity of the W_2 (Benna-Zayani et al., 2008) and/or acting as emulsifiers, due to their surface activity (Dickinson, 2009). Polysaccharides may also influence the lipid digestion due to either the increased viscosity in the intestine, which

can alter mass transport, or the formation of protective coatings around lipid droplets that inhibit the lipase access and binding species that play a key role in digestion (bile salts, phospholipids, enzymes or calcium), among others (Dongowski, 2007; Espinal-Ruiz et al., 2014; Fabek et al., 2014; Kristensen & Jensen, 2011; Li & McClements, However, the ability of polysaccharides to affect the 2014; Tokle et al., 2010). digestion process may be different depending on their molecular and physicochemical properties (Mudgil & Barak, 2013). In this regard, polysaccharides that provide low viscosity seems to not interfere with the digestibility of emulsions (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2017). Conversely, the presence of high-viscous polysaccharides in the W_2 phase of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions showed to slow down the lipolysis reaction rate at the beginning of the intestinal digestion, since the high micro-viscosity around the oil droplets may retard the movement of lipases at the interface (Teixé-Roig et al., 2018; Velderrain-Rodríguez, Salvia-Trujillo, et al., 2019). Then, based on these premises and in order to further investigate the effect of the viscosity of the W₂ phase of double emulsions on their digestive stability, three different polysaccharides conferring different levels of viscosity were studied (arabic gum, pectin and sodium alginate). Arabic gum has been chosen as it provides low viscosities, pectin intermediate viscosities and alginate high viscosities. In addition, according to our previous studies, the addition of polysaccharides could ameliorate the bioaccessibility of the hydrophilic bioactive compounds encapsulated in W₁/O/W₂ emulsions (Teixé-Roig et al., 2018). Moreover, as far as we know, there are no studies that report the encapsulation of PC in W1/O/W2 emulsions to control its release into the gastrointestinal tract. Therefore, this study aims to evaluate the effect of increasing the viscosity of the W_2 phase of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions by incorporating gum arabic, pectin or sodium alginate at different concentrations (0, 0.5, 1, 1.5 or 2% w/w), on the physical properties of the emulsions and the gastrointestinal fate of PC during an in vitro digestion process.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

PC extract from *Athrosphira* (*Spirulina*) platensis algae was provided by GNT (Dervy, United Kingdom), polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR) from castor oil by Danisco (DuPont, EEUU) and lecithin from Alfa Aesar ThermoFisher (Karlsruhe, Germany).

Sodium caseinate, arabic gum (with a molecular weight of 250 g/mol and a protein content of 2-2.5%) and food-grade high methoxyl citrus pectin (with a degree of methylesterification from 67 to 71% and a molecular weight of 150 g/mol) were obtained from Acros organics (Geel, Belgium). Sodium alginate (MANUCOL® DH with a molecular weight of 680 g/mol) was acquired from FMC Biopolymer Ltd (Scotland, U.K.) and corn oil was purchased from a local supermarket. Pepsin from porcine gastric mucosa (77160), pancreatin from porcine pancreas (P1625) and bovine bile extract (B3883) were acquired from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Ultrapure water was obtained from milli-Q filtration system.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1. Formation of W₁/O/W₂ emulsions

 $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions were prepared using a two-step emulsification process previously described (Teixé-Roig et al., 2018), with minor modifications.

Firstly, a primary W_1/O emulsion was formulated with 30% of inner aqueous phase and 70% oil phase (O). The W_1 contained the PC extract (1.5% w/w), the hydrophilic surfactant sodium caseinate (0.5% w/w) and a NaCl 0.1M solution (28% w/w), whereas, the oil phase (O) contained the hydrophobic surfactant polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR) (2% w/w) and corn oil (68% w/w). Sodium caseinate was added due to the observed synergistic effect between them and PGPR in producing a more viscoelastic adsorbed layer that could prevent the release of the encapsulated compound from the internal aqueous phase to the external aqueous phase (Su et al., 2006). Using these emulsifiers, we obtained water inner droplets with a droplet size of about 300 nm (data not shown). Both phases were homogenized using a high-speed homogenizer (Ultra Turrax homogenizer, Janke & Kundel, Staufen, Germany) at 8000 rpm for 2 min and sonicated using a P400S Hielscher sonicer (Hielscher Ultrasound Technology, Teltow, Germany) for 50 s at a frequency of 24 kHz and 35% amplitude.

The W₂ was prepared by adding lecithin with an HLB of 8 (2% w/w) to a NaCl 0.1 M pH 7 solution that contained different polysaccharides (arabic gum, pectin and sodium alginate) at different concentrations (0, 0.5, 1, 1.5 and 2%). Then, the W₁/O/W₂ emulsion

was formed by the dispersion of the W_1/O emulsion to the W_2 phase, at a ratio of 20/80 (w/w), which was homogenized (8000 rpm for 2 min) and sonicated for 30 s at a frequency of 24 kHz and 30% amplitude. After the preparation, the pH of all double emulsions was adjusted to 7.

2.2.2. Characterization of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions

The viscosity of emulsions was determined using a SV-10 vibro-viscometer (A&D Company, Tokyo, Japan), which produces a vibration of 30 Hz and constant amplitude (0.4 mm) at a controlled room temperature. The results were expressed in millipascal·seconds (mPa·s).

The particle size diameter of oil droplets (μ m) and the particle size distribution were measured using static light scattering technique (Mastersizer 3000, Malvern Instruments Ltd., Worcestershire, UK). The particle size diameter (μ m) was measured as the volume mean diameter (d_{43}).

The ζ -potential of W₁/O/W₂ emulsions was measured by phase-analysis light scattering (PALS) with a Zetasizer NanoZS laser diffractometer (Malvern Instruments Ltd, Worcerstershire, UK) to determine the apparent surface charge at the interface of the droplets. The W₁/O/W₂ emulsions were diluted (1:100) in milli-Q water and placed in a capillary cell equipped with two electrodes to assess the electrophoretic mobility of the particles. Otherwise, ζ -potential of the polysaccharides studied in this work (sodium alginate, pectin and arabic gum) was also measured at pH 3 and pH 7, which were the pH of the gastric and intestinal phase of the *in vitro* digestion. Polysaccharides were dissolved in aqueous solutions, which were subsequently adjusted to pH 3 and pH 7. The results were expressed in millivolts (mV).

Images of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions were obtained using an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus America Inc, Melville, NY, USA). Images were captured using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus).

The encapsulation efficiency (EE) of PC was determined according to a previously reported method (O'Regan & Mulvihill, 2010). First, aliquots of 10 mL of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions were centrifuged at 18566 g for 10 min at 4 °C. Then, the W_2 phase containing

the non-encapsulated PC was collected and the PC content of the W_2 was quantified as described in section 2.1.3. Then, using the PC content in W_2 , and the PC content in the total emulsion (previously quantified using the methodology described in section 2.1.3), the EE was determined according to Eq. (1):

$$EE (\%) = \frac{\text{Total PC-Free PC}}{\text{Total PC}} \times 100$$
(1)

where Total PC and Free PC were the PC concentration in the double emulsion and the amount of PC determined in the W_2 , respectively. Additionally, it should be noted that it is important to avoid PC degradation during the EE determination since the EE values may be overestimated.

2.2.3. Phycocyanin quantification

To PC extraction and quantification were performed using a method described by Chen et al. (2010) with some modifications. Firstly, 1 mL of sample was mixed with 4 mL of sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7) and the mixture was centrifuged at 12429 g for 15 min at 4 °C. Then, the aqueous solution was filtered. Subsequently, the absorbance of the solution was measured at 615 and 625 nm using a spectrophotometer (V-670, Jasco Corporation, Tokyo, Japan), and the PC content was estimated according to Eq. (2):

PC
$$(g/L) = \frac{A_{615} - 0.474 \times A_{652}}{5.34}$$
 (2)

where A₆₁₅ and A₆₅₂ are the absorbance readings at 615 and 652 nm, respectively.

2.2.4. In vitro digestion of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions

The *in vitro* digestion of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions was performed based on an international consensus method (Minekus et al., 2014). Firstly, 20 mL of the emulsion was mixed with 18.2 mL of simulated gastric fluid (SGF) containing pepsin (2000 U/mL in the final mixture), 10 µL of a CaCl2 solution (0.3 M) and HCl (1M) to reach a pH of 3. Finally, milli-Q water was added to reach a final volume of 40 mL. The mixture was placed into an incubator OPAQ (OVAN, Barcelona, Spain) for 2 h at 37 °C with a constant agitation of 100 rpm. Once the gastric phase was completed, 30 mL of gastric sample were placed in a water bath (37 °C) to simulate the intestinal phase using a pH-stat (Metrohm USA,

Riverview, FL, USA). Then, a bile solution (10mM) and a salt solution (NaCl 0.150 mM and CaCl₂ 0.01 mM) were added to the sample and the pH was adjusted to 7 with NaOH (1 M). Finally, a pancreatin solution (100 U/mL) was added to the mixture. The pH of the sample was maintained to 7 by adding NaOH (0.25 M) during 2 h. The amount of free fatty acids (FFA) released during the intestinal phase was calculated from the total volume of NaOH (0.25 M) added at the end of the digestion using the Eq (3):

FFA (%)=
$$\frac{V_{\text{NaOH}} \times C_{\text{NaOH}} \times M_{\text{oil}}}{m_{\text{oil}} \times 2} \times 100$$
 (3)

where V_{NaOH} is the final NaOH volume (L) which is used during *in vitro* digestion to compensate the FFA, C_{NaOH} is NaOH molarity (0.25 M), M_{oil} is corn oil molecular weight (800 g·mol⁻¹), and m_{oil} was the corn oil total weight present in the double emulsion (g).

2.2.5. Phycocyanin bioaccessibility during in vitro digestion

During the *in vitro* digestion process, aliquots of 2 mL were collected at different time intervals, 0, 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180 and 240 min, in order to study the PC bioaccessibility. The samples collected during the digestion were centrifuged at 1690 g for 40 min at 4 °C to obtain the micellar fraction. After the centrifugation, the aqueous phase was collected and the PC content was determined as described in section 2.1.3. Finally, the PC bioaccessibility was calculated according to Eq (4):

Bioaccessibility of PC (%) =
$$\frac{C_{\text{micellar}}}{C_{\text{emulsion}}} \times 100$$
 (4)

where $C_{micellar}$ is the PC concentration (mg/mL) of micellar samples and $C_{emulsion}$ is the PC concentration (mg/mL) of the initial $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions.

2.2.6 Statistical analysis

All experiments were assayed in triplicate and three repetitions of each analysis were carried out in order to obtain mean values. The results were expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation. The results were analyzed using the Statgraphics Plus v.5.1 Windows package (Statistical Graphics Co., Rockville, Md) with a confidence interval set at 0.95.

The analysis of variance (ANOVA) was applied to compare treatments. Moreover, the least significant difference (LSD) was performed to determine the significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) between the means.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Characterization of W₁/O/W₂ emulsions

3.1.1. Viscosity

Initially, the viscosity of the $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsion without polysaccharides was 1.85 ± 0.04 mPa·s. The addition of polysaccharides to the W_2 phase of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions increased the viscosity of the emulsions, although the magnitude varied depending on the type of polysaccharide used (Table 1). The highest viscosities were observed adding sodium alginate, reaching the maximum value at 2% (196.67 \pm 8.01 mPa·s). At this concentration, the viscosity of pectin-added emulsions was 37.17 ± 1.51 mPa·s, lower than those of sodium alginate but higher than the obtained with a abic gum (3.08 ± 0.16) mPa·s). In general, polysaccharides are added to emulsion-based systems due to its thickening properties that could reduce instability phenomena such as creaming by modifying the rheology of the continuous phase (Phillips & Williams, 2009). However, the impact of the polysaccharides on the emulsion viscosity depends on their molecular characteristics. In general, more extended molecules present a larger hydrodynamic diameter, meaning that they can entrain large quantities of water than more compact molecules. Furthermore, the apparent surface electrical charge of the molecules can affect their hydrodynamic diameter since the charged groups on their backbones can repel each other resulting in a more extended molecule (Bai et al., 2017; Phillips & Williams, 2009). In that way, polysaccharides used in this study exhibited different negative electrical charges at pH 7, being about -50 mV in the case of sodium alginate, -33 mV in the case of pectin, and about -28 mV in the case of arabic gum (Table 2). Thus, sodium alginate, which is the most negatively charged at pH 7, may present a large hydrodynamic diameter and could entrain more water, resulting in more viscous solutions than pectin and arabic gum, which are less charged at this pH. In fact, other authors have observed a noticeable increase in viscosity when adding sodium alginate in emulsions (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2012), and low viscosities when

using arabic gum, even at high concentrations (5-10%) (Mehrnia et al., 2017).

Polysaccharide		Viscosity (mPa·s)	Size (µm)	ζ -Potential (mV)	Encapsulation efficiency (%)
Arabic gum	0%	$1.85\pm0.04~^{\rm Aa}$	$4.21\pm0.26~^{\rm Ab}$	$-59.91 \pm 2.42 \ ^{\rm Aa}$	$82.36\pm3.73~^{Abc}$
	0.5%	$1.71\pm0.01~^{\rm Aa}$	$4.30\pm0.33~^{\text{Cb}}$	$-55.68\pm1.12~^{\text{Bb}}$	$83.87\pm4.28~^{\rm Ac}$
	1%	$2.10\pm0.03~^{\rm Ab}$	$3.87\pm0.27~^{Bb}$	-50.38 ± 1.17 ^{Bc}	$70.45\pm1.93~^{\rm Aa}$
	1.5%	$2.68\pm0.24~^{\rm Ac}$	$3.76\pm0.26\ ^{Bb}$	-49.03 ± 2.55 Bc	$68.95\pm2.61~^{\rm Aa}$
	2%	$3.08\pm0.16~^{\rm Ad}$	$3.36\pm0.14~^{\rm Aa}$	-51.79 ± 2.2 Bc	$78.71 \pm 1.78 \ ^{\text{Ab}}$
	0%	$1.85\pm0.04~^{\rm Aa}$	$4.21\pm0.26~^{\text{Ad}}$	$-59.91 \pm 2.42 \ ^{\rm Aa}$	$82.36\pm3.73~^{Aa}$
Pectin	0.5%	$5.71\pm0.17~^{Bb}$	$3.17 \pm 0.17 \text{ Aab}$	$\text{-}51.21 \pm 2.35 ^{\text{Cbc}}$	$93.93\pm0.3~^{Bc}$
	1%	$11.97\pm0.05~^{\text{Bc}}$	$3.37\pm0.16~^{Abc}$	$-49.28 \pm 1.96 \ ^{\rm Bc}$	$93.90\pm3.73~^{Bc}$
	1.5%	$19.10\pm1.13~^{Bd}$	$3.03\pm0.15~^{\text{Aa}}$	$-52.62\pm1.5~^{Bb}$	94.77 ± 1.77 Bc
	2%	$37.17 \pm 1.51 ^{\text{Be}}$	$3.52\pm0.24~^{Abc}$	-52.81 ± 2.25 ^{Bb}	$90.86\pm0.41~^{Bb}$
	0%	$1.85\pm0.04~^{\rm Aa}$	$4.21\pm0.26~^{Ab}$	$-59.91 \pm 2.42 \ ^{Ab}$	82.36 ± 3.73 Aa
Sodium Alginate	0.5%	11.55 ± 3.42 ^{Cb}	$3.78\pm0.17^{\ Ba}$	$\textbf{-61.82} \pm 2.47 ~^{Aab}$	$90.71\pm2.94\ ^{Bb}$
	1%	$44.17\pm2.50~^{\mathrm{Cc}}$	$3.57\pm0.16^{\ Ba}$	-65.55 ±2.11 ^{Aa}	$93.1\pm1.66^{\rm \ Bbc}$
	1.5%	116.67 ± 13.2 ^{Cd}	$4.14\pm0.04~^{\text{Cb}}$	$-67.15 \pm 4.27 \ {}^{\rm Aa}$	$95.58\pm2.9~^{\mathrm{Bc}}$
	2%	196.67 ± 8.01 ^{Ce}	$4.31\pm0.24~^{Bb}$	-68.24 ± 4.9 ^{Aa}	$95.26\pm2.05~^{\text{Cc}}$

Table 1. Physical properties of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions containing different polysaccharides at variable concentrations.

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters indicate significant differences (p<0.05) between emulsions with different polysaccharides at the same concentration. Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences (p<0.05) between emulsions with different concentrations of a particular polysaccharide.

Table 2. Electrical charge (mV) of the polysaccharides studied at different pH values.

Polysaccharide	рН 3	pH 7
Arabic Gum	-13.21 ± 0.61 ^B	-27.48 ± 1.21 ^C
Citrus pectin	-13.65 \pm 0.74 $^{\mathrm{B}}$	$-32.68\pm1.58\ ^{\text{B}}$
Sodium Alginate	-40.29 \pm 2.70 $^{\mathrm{A}}$	$-49.54\pm3.61\ ^{\rm A}$

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters indicate significant differences (p<0.05) between polysaccharides at a same pH value.

3.1.2. Particle size and size distribution

In general, the particle size values were about 3-4 μ m, being the W₁/O/W₂ emulsion without polysaccharides those with the highest values (Table 1). Additionally, all W₁/O/W₂ emulsions presented a bimodal distribution (Figure 2), which has been widely observed by other authors (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019; Díaz-Ruiz et al., 2020; Matos et al., 2018; Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2019). Indeed, for all emulsions, a main peak was observed from 0.8 to 10 μ m, related to the presence of oil droplets containing the inner water phase. A smaller peak ranging between 0.2 and 0.8 μ m was also detected, probably as a consequence of the formation of PGPR micelles (Matos et al., 2015).

In general, the addition of polysaccharides in the W₂ phase of W₁/O/W₂ emulsions reduced the particle size (Table 1), as it can be observed in the microscope images (Figure 1). The smallest particles were detected adding pectin, especially at 1.5% concentration $(3.03 \pm 0.15 \ \mu m)$. Otherwise, sodium alginate was effective in reducing the particle size at 0.5% and 1% concentrations, reaching minimum values of 3.57 \pm 0.16 µm in emulsions with 1% concentration. The effect of arabic gum was smaller and only the addition of arabic gum at 2% reduced significantly the particle size of emulsions (Table 1). On the one hand, it was hypothesized that in polysaccharide-added double emulsions, lecithin covered the majority of the interface as it has a higher interfacial activity (it reduced the interfacial tension up to a 14.66 mN/m) than sodium alginate (21.6 mN/m), pectin (23.56 mN/m) and arabic gum (21.17 mN/m). However, as observed in previous works with Tween 20 and pectin, the presence of polysaccharides may have created a competitional effect for the interface, whereby lecithin moved slightly faster to the interface, leading to smaller particle sizes (Verkempinck et al., 2018). On the other hand, the increased viscosity of the W₂ phase of polysaccharideadded emulsions could have increased the shear disruptive forces favouring the reduction of the particle size (Qian & McClements, 2011). Moreover, it seems that intermediate viscosities were the most effective in the particle size reduction (Table 2). Otherwise, the high viscosity of emulsions with $\geq 1.5\%$ sodium alginate, probably hindered the particle size reduction during the homogenization and sonication processes.



Figure 1. Optical microscope images of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions containing different polysaccharides at variable concentrations. Scale bars were 10 μ m long.

3.1.3. ζ-potential

All W₁/O/W₂ emulsions presented negative ζ -potential values, being about - 60 mV for the emulsion without polysaccharides (Table 1). The addition of sodium alginate at \geq 1% produced a more negative ζ -potential in comparison to the emulsion without polysaccharides. Conversely, the ζ -potential became less negative with the addition of pectin and arabic gum in the emulsions (Table 1). In this regard, the emulsifier used to stabilize de O/W₂ interface was lecithin, a zwitterionic polar lipid that, at the pH of the emulsions (\approx 7), has shown to present a negative charge due to their negatively charged phospholipids (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018; Chang & McClements, 2016). At pH 7, pectin, sodium alginate and arabic gum also present a negative electrical charge (Table 2). As it was mentioned before, lecithin covered the majority of the interface as it has a higher interfacial activity. However, the presence of polysaccharide molecules at the interface is confirmed by the changes in the electrical charge compared to no-added polysaccharide emulsions (Table 1). Otherwise, the ζ -potential no longer changed at concentrations above 1%, probably because no more sodium alginate, pectin or gum arabic molecules could be adsorbed at the interface. Therefore, most of the polysaccharide molecules would remain in the W₂ phase of the emulsions. Besides, in the case of sodium alginate, the ζ -potential becomes more negative as this polysaccharide has a high negative charge and contributes to increasing the negativity of the charge at the interface. On the other hand, pectin and arabic gum have a less negative charge than lecithin at this pH, so that, once adsorbed at the interface, the molecules of these polysaccharides contribute to reducing the negativity of the apparent electrical charge of the interface.

3.1.4. Encapsulation efficiency of PC

As it can be observed in Table 1, the encapsulation efficiency (EE) of the $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsion without polysaccharides was $82.36 \pm 3.73\%$ (Table 1), which increased by the addition of pectin and sodium alginate, being the 1.5 and 2% alginate emulsions those with the highest EE values ($\approx 95\%$). On the one hand, the decreased EE in emulsions containing only lecithin as a stabilizer of the O/W₂ interface may be due the notorious lipophilicity of this emulsifier, which would have diffused through the oil film, causing competition with PGPR and sodium caseinate at the W1/O interface. This fact could have promoted the destabilization of the emulsion (Michaut et al., 2004) and consequent loss of PC from W1 to W2 due to the coalescence between the W1 droplets or between the W₁ and the globule interface (Ficheux et al., 1998). On the other hand, the increased of EE in pectin- and alginate-added emulsions could be related to a pronounced increase in their viscosity. In this sense, these emulsions could present a higher stability at the O/W₂ interface that would prevent droplet diffusion from W₁ to W₂. Alginate, pectin and other high-viscose polysaccharides (Chan et al., 2011; Matos et al., 2014; Teixé-Roig et al., 2018), have been reported to enhance the EE of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions when they have been added in the W₂ aqueous phase, which indicates that the increased viscosity of W_2 plays a significant role in the EE of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions. Conversely, adding arabic gum, the EE did not improve, which could be related to the low increase
of viscosity observed in these emulsions. These results are consistent with other studies, in which no improvement in EE was observed by increasing the concentration of arabic gum (Su et al., 2008).



Figure 2. Droplet size distribution of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions containing different polysaccharides at variable concentrations. Arabic gum (A); Pectin (B); Sodium alginate (C).

3.2. Gastrointestinal digestion of W1/O/W2 emulsions

3.2.1. Lipid digestibility of emulsions

The *in vitro* lipid digestion of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions was evaluated in terms of FFA release (%) during the intestinal phase (Figure 3).

All W₁/O/W₂ emulsions showed a gradual release of FFA during the first 60 minutes of intestinal digestion. However, from this moment, the FFA release in emulsions containing $\geq 1.5\%$ sodium alginate and 2% pectin continued increasing, whereas in the other emulsions it was stabilized. The increased FFA release in emulsions with higher viscosities ($\geq 1.5\%$ sodium alginate and 2% pectin) from minute 60 to 90 of intestinal digestion suggests that the viscosity plays an important role in the digestibility of double emulsions. In these emulsions, once the lecithin was displaced from the interface by the action of lipase, the oil droplets may present higher stability in the intestinal medium towards coalescence due to the high viscosity of W₂. Therefore, these emulsions probably presented lower particle sizes that may facilitate the activity of intestinal enzymes by the increased surface area (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2017; Li et al., 2011). However, during the last 30 min, FFA release did not further increase, indicating that the oil droplets had probably already lost their stability and increased their particle size by coalescence (Figure 5). In fact, at the end of intestinal digestion, these emulsions presented a similar particle size as emulsions with lower lipid digestibility (Figure 4). Moreover, at the end of the intestinal phase, W₁/O/W₂ emulsions containing 2% pectin or $\geq 1.5\%$ sodium alginate showed a higher digestion extent ($\approx 50\%$) than the emulsion without polysaccharides ($\approx 30\%$). In contrast, emulsions containing arabic gum, $\leq 1\%$ sodium alginate or $\leq 1.5\%$ pectin in the W₂ phase showed a similar final FFA release to the emulsion without polysaccharides. This polysaccharide may not provide stabilization to droplets against coalescence once lecithin was displaced from the interface; therefore, due to the coalescence of droplets, the lipase had difficulties in adhering and digesting the lipid fraction.

Furthermore, it should be noted that low release of FFA was observed during the first 60 minutes of intestinal digestion in emulsions containing pectin and sodium alginate at high concentrations. This could be due to a reduced intestinal enzyme diffusion process

as a consequence of the high viscosity around the oil droplets and/or because polysaccharide molecules may adsorb at the O/W_2 interface, delaying lipase adsorption (Dima & Dima, 2020; Espinal-Ruiz et al., 2014; Teixé-Roig et al., 2018; Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2019). Conversely, this phenomenon was not observed using arabic gum because the low viscosity provided by this polysaccharide did not alter the diffusion process of intestinal enzymes (Figure 6).

In summary, it seems that sodium alginate and pectin at high concentrations ($\geq 1.5\%$ and 2%, respectively), presented a positive effect on the lipid digestibility of double emulsions. Conversely, the presence of these polysaccharides at low concentrations or of Arabic gum had no effect on the lipolysis.



Figure 3. Free fatty acids release (FFA%) of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions containing different polysaccharides at variable concentrations. Arabic gum (a); Pectin (b); Sodium alginate (c).



Figure 4. Droplet size of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions containing different polysaccharides at variable concentrations during the *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion. Arabic gum (a); Pectin (b); Sodium alginate (c).



Figure 5. Optical microscopy images of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions containing different polysaccharides (Arabic gum, pectin and sodium alginate) at 2% or without polysaccharides during the *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion. Scale bars were 20 µm long.

3.2.2. Bioaccessibility of PC during in vitro digestion

The bioaccessibility of PC during *in vitro* digestion at different time intervals (0, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180 and 240 min) is depicted in Fig. 6. The results showed that PC bioaccessibility gradually increased during the gastric phase, meaning that part of the encapsulated compound was being released from W_1 to W_2 during this stage (Fig. 6a, c and e). However, the lowest PC bioaccessibility values at the end of the gastric phase were observed in emulsions containing 2% and 1.5% sodium alginate, which were also those that presented the highest viscosity values (Fig. 6e). The high viscosity and the presence of polysaccharides at the O/W₂ interface probably reduced the diffusion phenomena through the oil film, thereby, decreasing the PC release (Herzi et al., 2014; Pays et al., 2001). Nevertheless, pectin at $\geq 1.5\%$ and arabic gum at 2% concentration also inhibited PC release, although to a lower extent than sodium alginate (Fig. 6a, c and e).



Figure 6. Phycocyanin bioaccessibility (markers) and emulsion viscosity (bars) during the *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions containing different polysaccharides at variable concentrations. Gastric digestion Arabic gum (a); intestinal digestion Arabic gum (b); gastric digestion pectin (c); intestinal digestion pectin (d); gastric digestion sodium alginate (e); intestinal digestion sodium alginate (f).

These emulsions presented a lower viscosity than sodium alginate emulsions and similar values between them, meaning that other factors were affecting the PC release on these emulsions. The higher presence of pectin and arabic gum molecules on the interface or around it could be preventing the PC release. In that sense, high methoxyl pectin has shown to present a high compact organization on the interface due to the charged carboxylic groups (Verkempinck et al., 2018). This fact may create less inter-molecular repulsive forces and reduce the PC release due to the less spaces at the interface. Moreover, all polysaccharides presented a negative charge at pH 3, being about - 40 mV in the case of sodium alginate and about - 13 mV in the case of pectin and arabic gum (Table 2). Thus, polysaccharides are able to bind with PC (positively charged) through electrostatic interactions, offering protection to the compound and preventing the degradation of its blue chromophores, once it is liberated from the W₁.

During the intestinal digestion, the oil phase of the emulsion was digested leading to the release of PC from W1 into the intestinal fluids to be absorbed. However, a decrease in PC bioaccessibility is observed in Fig. 6b, d and f a phenomenon that could be related to the pH- dependent disposition of PC, which is easily degraded at pH 7. In this sense, the hexameric arrangement of this protein or its dissociation to a trimeric form determines its susceptibility to denaturation, being more resistant to denaturation in the hexameric form. At the pH 7 of the intestinal phase, PC is arranged mostly in trimeric form, which makes it susceptible to degradation (Adams et al., 1979; Chaiklahan et al., 2012). Contrarily, at a more acidic pH (5.5-6) PC is arranged mainly in a hexameric form, which is less susceptible to denaturation. However, emulsions containing 2% or 1.5% sodium alginate showed the highest bioaccessibility values (16.82 \pm 3.77% and $15.20 \pm 0.54\%$, respectively) at the end of the intestinal digestion, followed by 2% pectin $(13.56 \pm 0.46\%)$ and 2% arabic gum emulsions $(12.64 \pm 1.51\%)$ (Figure 6B, D and F). Bioaccessibility of sodium alginate and pectin emulsions could be related to lipolysis, since emulsions that presented the highest lipid digestibility (Figure 3), achieved the highest PC bioaccessibility in the intestinal stage. In less digested emulsions, PC bioaccessibility was lower probably because PC may remain in the W1 phase entrapped in the non-digested oil. Moreover, the high viscosity and the presence of alginate gels in the intestinal phase due to the differences in pH and ion concentrations with respect to the gastric phase (Dima & Dima, 2020) may have prevented the PC degradation at this stage. The high viscosity probably reduced the diffusion rate of pro-oxidant molecules through the intestinal fluids, thereby reducing the contact between this molecules and PC. Nevertheless, although 2% arabic gum emulsion showed a higher PC bioaccessibility than that with 0% polysaccharide, no differences were observed in the digestibility of those emulsions. Therefore, it is suggested that arabic gum may interact with PC, and increasing its bioaccessibility by preventing the degradation of the compound due to its antioxidant properties (Ali & EL Said, 2020).

4. Conclusions

The W₁/O/W₂ emulsions formulated in this study are effective systems for PC encapsulation, showing a high encapsulation efficiency that improves with the addition of pectin or alginate but not with the addition of gum arabic. Moreover, the addition of polysaccharides to the W₂ phase of emulsions improved the retention of PC during the gastric phase and increased the PC bioaccessibility at the intestinal phase, especially when used at high concentrations (2%). Nevertheless, the effectiveness of polysaccharides decreased in the following order: sodium alginate > pectin > arabic gum. These results could be related to (1) the increased viscosity as well as to the ability of polysaccharides to prevent the diffusion of W₁ droplets to the W₂ due to a better stabilization of O/W₂ interface (2) the increased oil digestibility of polysaccharide-added emulsions, especially those containing pectin and sodium alginate at high concentrations (2% and $\geq 1.5\%$, respectively). Then, among the polysaccharides studied, sodium alginate seems to be the most suitable to improve the digestibility of W₁/O/W₂ emulsions and protect PC during the gastrointestinal digestion.

Acknowledgements

This work was funded by the project AGL2015-65975-R (FEDER, MINECO, UE) and project RTI2018-094268-B-C21 (MCIU, AEI; FEDER, UE). Author Júlia Teixé Roig thanks the University of Lleida for the pre-doctoral grant.

References

- Adams, S. M., Kao, O. H. W., & Berns, D. S. (1979). Psychrophile C-Phycocyanin. *Plant Physiology*, 64(4), 525–527.
- Ali, M. R., & EL Said, R. M. (2020). Assessment of the potential of Arabic gum as an antimicrobial and antioxidant agent in developing vegan "egg-free" mayonnaise. *Journal of Food Safety*, 40(2).
- Artiga-Artigas, M., Molet-Rodríguez, A., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Formation of Double (W₁/O/W₂) Emulsions as Carriers of Hydrophilic and Lipophilic Active Compounds. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, *12*(3), 422–435.
- Artiga-Artigas, María, Lanjari-Pérez, Y., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2018). Curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stability as affected by the nature and concentration of surfactant. *Food Chemistry*, 266, 466–474.
- Bai, L., Liu, F., Xu, X., Huan, S., Gu, J., & McClements, D. J. (2017). Impact of polysaccharide molecular characteristics on viscosity enhancement and depletion flocculation. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 207, 35–45.
- Benna-Zayani, M., Kbir-Ariguib, N., Trabelsi-Ayadi, M., & Grossiord, J. L. (2008). Stabilisation of W/O/W double emulsion by polysaccharides as weak gels. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 316(1–3), 46–54.
- Campos Assumpção de Amarante, M., Cavalcante Braga, A. R., Sala, L., & Juliano Kalil, S. (2020). Colour stability and antioxidant activity of C-phycocyanin-added ice creams after *in vitro* digestion. *Food Research International*, *137*, 109602.
- Chaiklahan, R., Chirasuwan, N., & Bunnag, B. (2012). Stability of phycocyanin extracted from Spirulina sp.: Influence of temperature, pH and preservatives. *Process Biochemistry*, 47(4), 659–664.
- Chang, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Influence of emulsifier type on the *in vitro* digestion of fish oil-in-water emulsions in the presence of an anionic marine polysaccharide (fucoidan): Caseinate, whey protein, lecithin, or Tween 80. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *61*, 92–101.
- Chen, H. B., Wu, J. Y., Wang, C. F., Fu, C. C., Shieh, C. J., Chen, C. I., Wang, C. Y., & Liu, Y. C. (2010). Modeling on chlorophyll a and phycocyanin production by Spirulina platensis under various light-emitting diodes. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 53(1), 52–56.
- de Almeida Paula, D., Mota Ramos, A., Basílio de Oliveira, E., Maurício Furtado Martins, E., Augusto Ribeiro de Barros, F., Cristina Teixeira Ribeiro Vidigal, M., de Almeida Costa, N., & Tatagiba da Rocha, C. (2018). Increased thermal stability of anthocyanins at pH 4.0 by guar gum in aqueous dispersions and in double emulsions W/O/W. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, *117*, 665–672.
- Díaz-Ruiz, R., Martínez-Rey, L., Laca, A., Álvarez, J. R., Gutiérrez, G., & Matos, M. (2020). Enhancing *trans*-Resveratrol loading capacity by forcing W₁/O/W₂ emulsions up to its colloidal stability limit. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 193*, 111130.

- Dickinson, E. (2009). Hydrocolloids as emulsifiers and emulsion stabilizers. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23(6), 1473–1482.
- Dima, C., & Dima, S. (2020). Bioaccessibility study of calcium and vitamin D3 comicroencapsulated in water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions. *Food Chemistry*, 303, 125416.
- Dongowski, G. (2007). Interactions between dietary fibre-rich preparations and glycoconjugated bile acids *in vitro*. *Food Chemistry*, 104(1), 390–397.
- El Baky, H. H. A., El Baroty, G. S., & Ibrahem, E. A. (2015). Evaluación de las características funcionales de galletas sublimadas con ficocianina pura aislada a partir de espirulina y biomasa de espirulina. *Nutricion Hospitalaria*, *32*(1), 231–241.
- Espinal-Ruiz, M., Parada-Alfonso, F., Restrepo-Sánchez, L. P., Narváez-Cuenca, C. E., & McClements, D. J. (2014). Impact of dietary fibers [methyl cellulose, chitosan, and pectin] on digestion of lipids under simulated gastrointestinal conditions. *Food and Function*, 5(12), 3083–3095.
- Fabek, H., Messerschmidt, S., Brulport, V., & Goff, H. D. (2014). The effect of *in vitro* digestive processes on the viscosity of dietary fibres and their influence on glucose diffusion. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *35*, 718–726.
- Ficheux, M. F., Bonakdar, L., Leal-Calderon, F., & Bibette, J. (1998). Some stability criteria for double emulsions. *Langmuir*, 14(10), 2702–2706.
- Gasa-Falcon, A., Odriozola-Serrano, I., Oms-Oliu, G., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2017). Influence of mandarin fiber addition on physico-chemical properties of nanoemulsions containing β-carotene under simulated gastrointestinal digestion conditions. *LWT Food Science and Technology*, *84*, 331–337.
- Giroux, H. J., Constantineau, S., Fustier, P., Champagne, C. P., St-Gelais, D., Lacroix, M., & Britten, M. (2013). Cheese fortification using water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions as carrier for water soluble nutrients. *International Dairy Journal*, 29(2), 107–114.
- Giroux, H. J., Robitaille, G., & Britten, M. (2016). Controlled release of casein-derived peptides in the gastrointestinal environment by encapsulation in water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 69, 225–232.
- Herzi, S., Essafi, W., Bellagha, S., & Leal-Calderon, F. (2014). Influence of the inner droplet fraction on the release rate profiles from multiple W/O/W emulsions. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 441, 489–495.
- Hussein, M. M. A., Ali, H. A., & Ahmed, M. M. (2015). Ameliorative effects of phycocyanin against gibberellic acid induced hepatotoxicity. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, 119(1), 28–32.
- Jespersen, L., Strømdahl, L. D., Olsen, K., & Skibsted, L. H. (2005). Heat and light stability of three natural blue colorants for use in confectionery and beverages. *European Food Research* and Technology, 220(3–4), 261–266.
- Kaur, S., Khattar, J. I. S., Singh, Y., Singh, D. P., & Ahluwalia, A. S. (2019). Extraction, purification and characterisation of Phycocyanin from *Anabaena fertilissima* PUPCCC 410.5:

as a natural and food grade stable pigment. Journal of Applied Phycology, 31(3), 1685–1696.

- Kheynoor, N., Hosseini, S. M. H., Yousefi, G. H., Hashemi Gahruie, H., & Mesbahi, G. R. (2018). Encapsulation of vitamin C in a rebaudioside-sweetened model beverage using water in oil in water double emulsions. LWT- *Food Science and Technology*, 96, 419–425.
- Kristensen, M., & Jensen, M. G. (2011). Dietary fibres in the regulation of appetite and food intake. Importance of viscosity. *Appetite*, 56(1), 65–70.
- Li, Y., Hu, M., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Factors affecting lipase digestibility of emulsified lipids using an *in vitro* digestion model: Proposal for a standardised pH-stat method. *Food Chemistry*, 126(2), 498–505.
- Li, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2014). Modulating lipid droplet intestinal lipolysis by electrostatic complexation with anionic polysaccharides: Influence of cosurfactants. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *35*, 367–374.
- Mao, L., & Miao, S. (2015). Structuring food emulsions to improve nutrient delivery during digestion. *Food Engineering Reviews*, 7(4), 439–451.
- Martelli, G., Folli, C., Visai, L., Daglia, M., & Ferrari, D. (2014). Thermal stability improvement of blue colorant C-Phycocyanin from *Spirulina platensis* for food industry applications. *Process Biochemistry*, 49(1), 154–159.
- Matos, M., Gutiérrez, G., Coca, J., & Pazos, C. (2014). Preparation of water-in-oil-in-water (W₁/O/W₂) double emulsions containing *trans*-resveratrol. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 442*, 69–79.
- Matos, M., Gutiérrez, G., Iglesias, O., Coca, J., & Pazos, C. (2015). Enhancing encapsulation efficiency of food-grade double emulsions containing resveratrol or vitamin B12 by membrane emulsification. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *166*, 212–220.
- Matos, María, Gutiérrez, G., Martínez-Rey, L., Iglesias, O., & Pazos, C. (2018). Encapsulation of resveratrol using food-grade concentrated double emulsions: Emulsion characterization and rheological behaviour. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 226, 73–81.
- Mehrnia, M. A., Jafari, S. M., Makhmal-Zadeh, B. S., & Maghsoudlou, Y. (2017). Rheological and release properties of double nano-emulsions containing crocin prepared with Angum gum, Arabic gum and whey protein. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *66*, 259–267.
- Michaut, F., Perrin, P., & Hébraud, P. (2004). Interface composition of multiple emulsions: Rheology as a probe. Langmuir, 20(20), 8576–8581.
- Minekus, M., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu, C., Carrière, F., Boutrou, R., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Egger, L., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., Lesmes, U., MacIerzanka, A., MacKie, A., ... Brodkorb, A. (2014). A standardised static *in vitro* digestion method suitable for food-an international consensus. *Food and Function*, 5(6), 1113–1124.
- Mohammadi-Gouraji, E., Soleimanian-Zad, S., & Ghiaci, M. (2019). Phycocyanin-enriched yogurt and its antibacterial and physicochemical properties during 21 days of storage. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, *102*, 230–236.

- Mudgil, D., & Barak, S. (2013). Composition, properties and health benefits of indigestible carbohydrate polymers as dietary fiber: A review. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 6, 11–6.
- O'Regan, J., & Mulvihill, D. M. (2010). Sodium caseinate-maltodextrin conjugate stabilized double emulsions: Encapsulation and stability. *Food Research International*, 43(1), 224–231.
- Pays, K., Giermanska-Kahn, J., Pouligny, B., Bibette, J., & Leal-Calderon, F. (2001). Coalescence in surfactant-stabilized double emulsions. *Langmuir*, 17(25), 7758–7769.
- Phillips, G. O., & Williams, P. A. (2009). Handbook of Hydrocolloids (2nd edition).
- Qian, C., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Formation of nanoemulsions stabilized by model foodgrade emulsifiers using high-pressure homogenization: Factors affecting particle size. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 25(5), 1000–1008.
- Romay, C., Gonzalez, R., Ledon, N., Remirez, D., & Rimbau, V. (2005). C-Phycocyanin: A Biliprotein with Antioxidant, Anti-Inflammatory and Neuroprotective Effects. *Current Protein & Peptide Science*, *4*(3), 207–216.
- Silva, L. A., Kuhn, K. R., Moraes, C. C., Burkert, C. A. V., & Kalil, S. J. (2009). Experimental design as a tool for optimization of C-Phycocyanin purification by precipitation from *Spirulina platensis*. *Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society*, 20(1), 5–12.
- Su, J., Flanagan, J., Hemar, Y., & Singh, H. (2006). Synergistic effects of polyglycerol ester of polyricinoleic acid and sodium caseinate on the stabilisation of water-oil-water emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 20(2-3), 261–268.
- Su, J., Flanagan, J., & Singh, H. (2008). Improving encapsulation efficiency and stability of water-in-oil-in-water emulsions using a modified gum arabic (Acacia (sen) SUPER GUM[™]). *Food Hydrocolloids*, 22(1), 112–120.
- Teixé-Roig, J., Oms-Oliu, G., Velderrain-Rodríguez, G. R., Odriozola-Serrano, I., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2018). The effect of sodium carboxymethylcellulose on the stability and bioaccessibility of anthocyanin water-in-oil-in-water emulsions. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, *11*(12), 2229–2241.
- Tokle, T., Lesmes, U., & McClements, D. J. (2010). Impact of electrostatic deposition of anionic polysaccharides on the stability of oil droplets coated by lactoferrin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *58*(17), 9825–9832.
- Velderrain-Rodríguez, G. R., Acevedo-Fani, A., González-Aguilar, G. A., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Encapsulation and stability of a phenolic-rich extract from mango peel within waterin-oil-in-water emulsions. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 56, 65–73.
- Velderrain-Rodríguez, G. R., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Wall-Medrano, A., González-Aguilar, G. A., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). *In vitro* digestibility and release of a mango peel extract encapsulated within water-in-oil-in-water (W₁/O/W₂) emulsions containing sodium carboxymethyl cellulose. *Food and Function*, *10*(9), 6110–6120.
- Verkempinck, S. H. E., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Denis, S., Van Loey, A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2018). Pectin influences the kinetics of *in vitro* lipid digestion in oil-in-water

emulsions. Food Chemistry, 262, 150-161.

Yang, J. S., Jiang, B., He, W., & Xia, Y. M. (2012). Hydrophobically modified alginate for emulsion of oil in water. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 87(2), 1503–1506.

Chapter VI

Highly-concentrated emulsions to increase curcumin bioavailability and biodistribution in rats

Júlia Teixé-Roig, Gemma Oms-Oliu, María Artiga-Artigas, Isabel Odriozola-Serrano, Olga Martín-Belloso* *In preparation*

Abstract

Clinical studies have proved the interesting health-related effects of curcumin, but it has low chemical stability and little bioavailability. In this sense, emulsions have shown to be effective encapsulation systems for the delivery of bioactive compounds, but highlyconcentrated emulsions seem to be especially promising due to the high amount of compound that they can enclose. Therefore, the aim of this work was to study the pharmacokinetics and biodistribution of curcumin when enclosed in optimized highlyconcentrated emulsions at 2 h or 4 h post-oral administration to rats. The most stable highly-concentrated emulsion was that with 50% of oil and obtained by high-shear homogenization followed by a microfluidization process, which contained a curcumin concentration of 15 mg/g. After orally administered, the pharmacokinetic study revealed that curcumin glucuronide was the main compound present in plasma (AUC_{0-t} = 1556.3 $ng \cdot h \cdot ml^{-1}$), especially at 2-4 h post-administration. Moreover, curcuminoid bioavailability was increased by 10.6-fold when rats were fed with the highlyconcentrated curcumin emulsion rather than with a control suspension. The biodistribution study showed an improved curcumin absorption by using the highlyconcentrated emulsion versus the suspension, being the highest concentration found at 2 h post-administration. Moreover, rats fed with the highly-concentrated emulsion showed the highest accumulation of curcuminoids in the liver (\approx 129 ng curcumin/g tissue) and brown adipose tissue (\approx 193 ng curcumin/g tissue). Thus, highlyconcentrated emulsions appear to be feasible to increase the bioavailability of curcumin and its presence in organs where the compound may play a relevant role in the prevention of metabolic disorders.

1. Introduction

Curcumin, a polyphenol extracted from the rhizomes of Curcuma longa, have been showb to be effective against several chronic diseases and targets diverse molecular pathways without any associated toxicity or resistance (Prasad et al., 2014). Specifically, this lipophilic compound presents antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties that provide multiple health benefits (Hewlings & Kalman, 2017; Pulido-Moran et al., 2016). Despite its numerous applications, curcumin has molecular instability, poor solubility in water, rapid conjugation to hydrophilic molecules (like glucuronic acid and sulphate) in the liver with biliary excretion and poor enteral absorption, which limit its utility as a health-promoting agent (Anand et al., 2007). To overcome these challenges, delivery systems such as nanoparticles, liposomes, micelles, and phospholipid complexes have been developed, showing to prevent the degradation in the gastrointestinal tract and to increase the permeation in the small intestine, increasing curcumin bioavailability (Hu et al., 2017; Stohs et al., 2020). Among emulsion-based delivery systems, highlyconcentrated emulsions (> 40% oil phase w/w) have been studied since they can allow the oral administration of high doses of bioactive compounds and present an improved shelf-life of chemically labile products such as curcumin due to the high lipid content (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2017).

The potential of emulsion-based delivery systems to increase the bioavailability of curcumin has been widely investigated. As an example, by using an emulsion stabilized with a protein-polysaccharide conjugate (bovine serum albumin-dextran), the bioavailability of curcumin increased by 4.8-fold compared to a curcumin suspension (Wang et al., 2016). Other authors observed that a self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery system containing 50% ethyl oleate, 40% Tween 80 and 10% PEG 600 led to the maximum concentration in plasma of curcumin, which was 3.95-times higher than when using a curcumin suspension (Nazari-Vanani et al., 2017). Nanoemulsions have been also studied as curcumin suspension when formulated with lecithin as surfactant (Vecchione et al., 2016). Moreover, these authors reported a higher increase (5.7-fold) when coating nanoemulsions with chitosan due to its mucoadhesive properties. Additionally, Takahashi et al. (2009) observed a higher bioavailability and faster

absorption by encapsulating curcumin into liposomes rather than using free curcumin. However, to the best of our knowledge, there are no studies investigating the use of highly-concentrated emulsions to increase the *in vivo* bioavailability of lipophilic compounds such as curcumin.

Most in vivo studies investigating the use of emulsion-based delivery systems to increase the absorption and bioavailability of curcumin are based on pharmacokinetic studies. Curcumin delivered orally undergoes extensive metabolism reduction and conjugation, which results in the presence of so many different metabolites. Recent studies have revealed that some reductive metabolites such us tetrahydrocurcumin may present therapeutic properties, although any of them have shown more biological effect than curcumin in its native form (Pandey et al., 2020). In contrast, metabolites resulting from conjugation like curcumin glucuronide, have shown very reduced effects (Choudhury et al., 2015; Kunihiro et al., 2019; Shoji et al., 2014). Nevertheless, most in vivo pharmacokinetic studies have used enzymatic hydrolysis of plasma prior to analysis, reporting the results as total curcumin, and not determining the part of the compound present as curcumin glucuronide (Stohs et al., 2020). Furthermore, few studies have investigated the effect of curcumin incorporation into emulsion-based delivery systems on the biodistribution of the compound. Knowing the target organs of curcumin and the form in which this compound is present when administered orally enclosed in emulsions is of great importance. This provides more information on which organs this compound can act and exert beneficial effects, providing insights into the different diseases in which these curcumin systems can improve treatment or prevention.

Therefore, the aim of this work was, firstly, to obtain a stable highly-concentrated emulsion containing a curcuminoid extract. Secondly, to study the effect of the encapsulation of curcumin in a highly-concentrated emulsion on the *in vivo* absorption of the different curcuminoids (curcumin, demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin), as well as their metabolization into curcumin glucuronide and the biodistribution of the different forms (free or conjugated) in the organs.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Material

Powdered curcumin extract (mixture of \geq 78% curcumin, 15% demethoxycurcumin, and 1% bisdemethoxycurcumin) with a purity of \geq 98% was purchased from Acros Organics. As a lipid phase MCT oil (Miglyol, Oxi-med expres) (99.9% of purity) was used. Soybean lecithin was acquired from Alfa Aesar (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). Curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, and bisdemethoxycurcumin standards were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Curcumin glucuronide was acquired from Toronto Research Chemicals (Toronto, Canada). Ultrapure water obtained from a milli-Q filtration system was used to the preparation of all solutions.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Preparation of highly-concentrated emulsions

To obtain the lipid phase, curcumin was solubilized in MCT oil $(30 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{g}^{-1})$ by stirring during 20 min at 60 °C and sonicating for 20 min. Different concentrations of oil were tested during the optimization process (10-50% w/w). To obtain the aqueous phase, soybean lecithin (which was used as emulsifier) was added in ultrapure water and stirred during 4 h. Different surfactant-oil-ratio (SOR) were tested (0.05, 0.1, and 0.2), thereby, varying the concentration of soybean lecithin in the emulsions.

Two different methodologies were tested to formulate highly concentrated emulsions (HC-emulsions). In the first methodology only a high-shear homogenization (HSH) was used. The lipid phase (10 or 50% w/w) and the aqueous phase were mixed and homogenized at 11000 rpm for 2 min using an Ultra-Turrax (Janke & Kundel, Staufen, Germany). The second methodology included a HSH followed by a microfluidization process (MF). For the MF process, emulsions were passed through a microfluidizer (M-110P, Microfluidics, USA) at 100 MPa for 5 cycles.

2.2.2. Characterization of highly-concentrated emulsions

Particle size. The particle size of HC-emulsions was measured using a Mastersizer 3000 (Malvern Instruments Ltd, Worcestershire, UK). Samples were diluted in ultrapure water and stirred in the dispersion unit with a constant speed of 1800 rpm. The mean particle size was expressed as surface area mean diameter (d_{32}) in nanometers (nm), fixing a refractive index of the MCT oil of 1.45 and 1.333 for water.

 ζ -potential. The ζ -potential was measured by phase-analysis light scattering (PALS) using Zetasizer laser diffractometer (NanoZS Malvern Instruments Ltd Worcestershire, UK). Prior to the analysis, HC-emulsions were diluted (1:100) in ultrapure water. Then, the diluted samples were placed in a capillary cell equipped with two electrodes to assess the electrophoretic mobility of the particles. The results were reported in millivolts (mV).

Fluorescence microscopy. HC-emulsions were dyed with Nile Red, previously dissolved at 0.1% (w/v) in ethanol. Then, micrographs of HC-emulsions were obtained using fluorescence with an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus, Göttingen, Germany) with a 100x objective lens. The images were obtained using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus Göttingen, Germany).

Stability. The stability of HC-emulsions was studied using an optical scan analyzer Turbiscan MA 2000 (Formulaction, Toulouse, France), which is a non-destructive method that can measure the static stability of samples and detect the cause of instability (flocculation, coalescence, sedimentation, or creaming) by the multiple light scattering technique. A sample of 7 mL was introduced into a glass cylindrical cell and analyzed by a light beam emitted in near infrared wavelength, which scanned vertically from the bottom to the top of the sample cell. Two synchronous optical sensors received light backscattered by the sample (45° from the incident radiation). In this study, the backscattering was measured during 15 days at 4 °C to assess the stability of HC-emulsions over time. The backscattering was analyzed at three different zones of the test tube (top, middle, and bottom) in order to study different instability phenomena throughout the tube such as creaming at the top, flocculation, or coalescence in the

middle and sedimentation at the bottom.

2.2.3. In vivo studies

2.2.3.1. Animal experiments

Female Sprague Dawley rats weighing 200-250 g were used for the *in vivo* studies. The animal procedures were conducted in accordance with EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of Universitat de Lleida (CEEA 01-04/18).

Pharmacokinetic study. For the pharmacokinetic study the animals were randomly divided into two groups (fed with a HC-emulsion or suspension) containing five rats each group. After an acclimatation period, rats were fasted for 12 h before the experiment with free access to water. The animals were administered with curcumin HC-emulsion or curcumin suspension, both containing a dose of 150 mg of curcumin/kg body weight. Blood samples were taken at 0, 30, 60, 120, 240, and 480 min after administration from the tail vein. Plasma was immediately separated by centrifuging the blood samples at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and stored at -80 °C. Then, curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide were extracted and quantified in plasma samples as described in 2.2.3.2. The pharmacokinetic analysis was performed for formulations using a non-compartmental design. The area under the drug concentration versus time curve from zero to 8 hours (AUC_{0-8 h}) was calculated using the trapezoidal rule. The maximum plasma concentration of curcumin (C_{max}) and the time to reach maximum plasma concentration (T_{max}) were directly obtained from plasma analyses.

Biodistribution study. Rats were randomly divided in 2 groups; one group was fed with a curcumin HC-emulsion (n=8) and the other group was fed with a curcumin suspension (n=8). Rats were fasted for 12 h before the experiment with free access to water. The animals were administered a dose of 150 mg of curcumin/kg body weight, irrespective of the curcumin vehicle used. Rats were sacrificed at 2 h or 4 h post-administration and tissue samples were collected (kidney, liver, duodenum, jejunum, ileum, colon, brown adipose tissue and white adipose tissue). Tissue samples were washed with phosphate

buffered saline (PBS), dried on a filter paper, weighted, and stored at -80 °C. Curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide were extracted and quantified in tissue samples as described in 2.2.3.2.

2.2.3.2. Curcuminoid extraction and quantification in plasma and tissues

Extraction from plasma. Curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide extraction in plasma samples was performed according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Li et al., 2011). Aliquots of 150 μ L of plasma were mixed with the internal standard (Honokiol) and 600 mL of acetonitrile and vortexed at 1800 rpm for 1 min. Then, the mixture was submerged intro an ultrasonic bath for 30 sec, centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C, and the organic fraction was collected. Afterwards, the collected upper organic layers were evaporated under N₂ and stored at -80 °C until quantification.

Extraction from tissues. Curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide extraction in tissue samples was performed according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Chirio et al., 2019). Initially, tissue samples were mixed with milli-Q water and homogenized with an Ultra-Turrax at 9000 rpm for 1 min to obtain the tissue homogenates. Then internal standard (Honokiol) and 1 mL of acetonitrile were added to tissue homogenates and the mixture was vortexed at 2000 rpm for 1 min. Then, the mixture was centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C, and the organic fraction was collected. Afterwards, the collected upper organic layers evaporated under N_2 and stored at -80 °C until quantification.

Curcuminoids quantification. The quantification of curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide was performed by liquid chromatography electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (LC-ESI–MS/MS) using the method described by Liu et al. (2018), with some modifications. To perform the analyses an ACQUITY UPLC binary (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) coupled to a Xevo TQS (triple quadrupole) (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) was used. Chromatographic separation was performed on a 150 mm \times 2.1 mm i.d., 1.6 µm CORTECS Phenyl Column (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) with mobile phase A [acetonitrile containing 0.1% (v/v) formic acid] and mobile phase B [98% water and 2% acetonitrile containing 0.1%

(v/v) formic acid]. The injection volume was 2.5 μ L and the flow rate was 0.4 mL/min. Separation was carried out in 5.5 min under the following conditions: 0 min, 60% B; 4 min, 25% B; 4.1 min, 60%B; 5.5 min, 06% B. The column was equilibrated for 10 min prior to each analysis. The column temperature was maintained at 40 °C. The MS operated in electrospray ionization (ESI) in negative mode and nitrogen was used as the source gas in all cases.

2.2.4. Statistical analysis

All experiments were assayed in duplicate and three repetitions of each analysis were carried out on each parameter in order to obtain mean values. Analysis of the variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare treatments. Least significant difference (LSD) test was employed to determine differences between means. The confidence interval was set at 0.95 and all results were analyzed using the Statgraphics Plus v.5.1 Windows package (Statistical Graphics Co., Rockville, Md).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Highly-concentrated emulsion optimization

3.1.1. Effect of emulsification method and oil content

Particle size. Among emulsions obtained using HSH, those containing 50% oil presented a lower particle size than those with 10% oil, being \approx 4.9 µm and \approx 3.5 µm, respectively (Table 1). This fact could be attributed to the increased packing state of droplets caused by the increased oil concentration, which helps to prevent droplet recoalescence, resulting in a smaller particle size (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019). Additionally, other authors have also reported that by increasing the oil concentration, the stress forces during the emulsification process were higher, thereby reducing the particle size of droplets (Briceño et al., 2001). When a MF process was applied to emulsions, those with 50% oil showed a reduced particle size (0.53 µm), which can be considered nanoemulsions. In contrast, those with 10% of oil, presented a higher particle size (0.72 µm).

The particle size of emulsions obtained with HSH+MF were lower than those obtained just with HSH. Such a reduction can be attributed to the inertial forces in turbulent flow along with cavitation that promotes droplet disruption during the microfluidization process. The flow stream by high pressure through microchannels toward an impingement area creates a shearing action, which can provide fine emulsions (Maa & Hsu, 1999; Schultz et al., 2004). Furthermore, the particle size distribution became less polydisperse after the MF process (Figure 1), which has been also observed by other authors studying highly-concentrated emulsions (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019).

Viscosity. By increasing the oil concentration, the viscosity of emulsions was greatly increased, regardless of the treatment applied (Table 1). Such an increase may be a consequence of the reduced particle size that increased the number of dispersed phase particles in the emulsion causing a high packing state of the droplets as well as the interactions between them (Brinkman, 1952; Krieger & Dougherty, 1959). Indeed, this was confirmed by the microscope images (Figure 1), in which more spherical and packed oil droplets can be observed in the emulsions formulated with 50% rather than 10% oil. Emulsions obtained by HSH+MF presented a higher viscosity than those obtained using HSH (Table 1) which can be attributed to the reduced particle size of the formers.

Table 1. Particle size, ζ -potential and viscosity of emulsions containing 10% or 50% of oil phase formulated using high-shear homogenization (HSH) or high-shear homogenization and microfluidization (HSH+MF).

Emulsion	Particle size (µm)	ζ-potential (mV)	Viscosity (mPa·s)
10% HSH	$4.87\pm0.18\ ^{Bb}$	$\textbf{-61.32} \pm 1.04 ^{\text{Ab}}$	$1.50\pm0.05~^{\rm Aa}$
50% HSH	$3.52\pm0.06\ ^{Ba}$	$\textbf{-68.47} \pm 2.97~^{\text{Aa}}$	$26.4\pm0.32~^{\rm Ab}$
10% HSH+MF	$0.72\pm0.01~^{\rm Ab}$	$\textbf{-60.73} \pm 0.93~^{Ab}$	$5.04\pm0.20^{\rm \ Ba}$
50% HSH+MF	$0.53\pm0.06~^{\text{Aa}}$	-62.96 ± 2.03 ^{Ba}	$27.87\pm0.32~^{Bb}$

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters indicate significant differences (p<0.05) between emulsions with different formulation methodology and same oil concentration. Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences (p<0.05) between emulsions with different oil concentration and same formulation methodology.



Figure 1. Particle size distribution and microscope images of emulsions containing 10% or 50% of oil phase formulated using high-shear homogenization (HSH) or high-shear homogenization and microfluidization (HSH+MF). (a) Microscope image of HC 50% SOR 0.1 HSH+MF; (b) Microscope image of HC 10% SOR 0.1 HSH+MF; (c) Microscope image of HC 50% SOR 0.1 HSH; (d) Microscope image of HC 10% SOR 0.1 HSH. Scale bars are 10 μ m long.

 ζ -potential. The electrical charge of all emulsions was negative and values ranged from -61 mV to -68 mV (Table 1). The presence of lecithin molecules at the interface could be the reason of these values, since the majority of their phospholipids were negatively charged at pH 7 (Zhang et al., 2012). However, emulsions with 50% oil presented a more negative value than emulsions with 10% oil (Table 1). The smaller particle size of 50% oil compared to 10% oil, provided a higher surface area in the emulsions. Therefore, emulsions containing 50% oil may present more negatively charged molecules in the interface than those with 10%, as observed using other surfactants such as Tween 80 (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019).

3.1.2. Effect of surfactant-oil-ratio (SOR)

In view of the results presented in the previous section, for the following study of the effect of SOR (0.05, 0.1 and 0.2) on the stabilisation of HC-emulsions, those obtained by HSH+MF containing 50% oil were used.



Figure 2. Particle size distribution and microscope images of highly-concentrated (HC) emulsions containing 50% of oil phase and different surfactant-oil-ratio (SOR). (a) Microscope image of HC SOR 0.05; (b) Microscope image of HC SOR 0.1; (c) Microscope image of HC SOR 0.2. Scale bars are 10 μ m long.

Particle size. The smallest particle sizes were observed when using 0.1 SOR (≈ 0.53 µm), followed by HC-emulsions containing 0.05 SOR (≈ 0.84 µm) and 0.2 SOR (≈ 3.73 µm) (Table 2). Moreover, the particle size polydispersion increased in the same order: 0.1 SOR < 0.05 SOR < 0.2 SOR (Figure 2). This indicates that 0.1 SOR, which is a 5% of lecithin in an HC-emulsion containing 50% of oil, was the most suitable concentration of surfactant to obtain small particle sizes. It is well known that a higher concentration of surfactant can cover a greater surface area (Luo et al., 2017). However, it is also known that an excess of surfactant can cause the aggregation of oil droplets (An et al., 2014; Dalvi & Dave, 2009). Therefore, it seems that, in the studied HC-emulsions, 0.05 SOR (2.5% soybean lecithin) was not enough to completely cover the total oil surface. Conversely, at 0.2 SOR (10% soybean lecithin), an excess of surfactant that was promoting flocculation of lipid droplets was confirmed in the microscope images (Figure 2).

SOR	Particle size (µm)	ζ-potential (mV)	Viscosity (mPa·s)
0.05	0.84 ± 0.14 b	-52.83 \pm 1.27 $^{\rm c}$	$7.89\pm0.11~^{a}$
0.1	0.53 ± 0.06 $^{\rm a}$	-62.96 \pm 2.03 $^{\mathrm{b}}$	$27.87\pm0.32\ ^{b}$
0.2	3.73 ± 0.19 $^{\rm c}$	-68.50 ± 2.51 ^a	52.10 ±1.22 °

Table 2. Mean particle size and viscosity of emulsions containing 50% of oil phase and different surfactant-oil-ratio (SOR).

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences (p<0.05) between emulsions with different oil concentration and same formulation methodology.

Viscosity. The viscosity of HC-emulsions was increased when the SOR was augmented, being the HC-emulsion with 0.2 SOR those with the highest viscosity ($52.10 \pm 1.22 \text{ mPa} \cdot \text{s}$) (Table 2). It has been previously stated that the particle size governs the viscosity of HC-emulsions (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019). In our study, this trend was observed in HC-emulsions with 0.05 and 0.1 SOR, being the later the one with the smallest particle size ($0.53 \pm 0.06 \mu \text{m}$) and the highest viscosity ($27.87 \pm 0.32 \text{ mPa} \cdot \text{s}$). Nevertheless, this was not observed in the HC-emulsion with a 0.2 SOR, which presented the highest viscosity although containing the droplets with the highest size and most polydisperse particle size distribution. In this case, the high viscosity may be a consequence of the aggregation of the droplets rather than the particle size.

 ζ -potential. As observed in Table 2, the HC-emulsion with 0.2 SOR presented the most negative ζ -potential (-68.50 ± 2.51 mV), followed by those with 0.1 SOR (-62.96 ± 2.03 mV) and 0.05 SOR (-52.83 ± 1.27 mV). When increasing the SOR, the number of lecithin molecules was also increased for the same oil content, so there were more negative charged molecules that could be positioned in the interface contributing to the negative ζ -potential.



Figure 3. Backscattering profile of curcumin emulsions containing 50% of lipid phase and a different surfactant-oil-ratio (SOR 0.05, SOR 0.1, and SOR 0.2) during 15 days at 4 °C.

Stability. HC-emulsions with 0.1 SOR showed the highest stability over the 15 days of storage at 4 °C, presenting no instability phenomena (Figure 3). In this HC-emulsion, it seems that the repulsive interactions generated by lecithin were strong enough to overcome any attractive interactions (van der Waals) between the droplets (Hunter, 2001; Luo et al., 2017). In contrast, both 0.05 and 0.2 SOR HC-emulsions were unstable, being the emulsion with 0.2 SOR the less stable. Indeed, the latter was immediately destabilized after its preparation, which could be attributed to an excess of surfactant that promoted the aggregation of droplets in the emulsion facilitating the destabilization of the system (Figure 1). In that sense, the rates of Ostwald ripening and coalescence in

emulsions have been reported to be higher in the presence of excess surfactant due to micelle-mediated surfactant transport of oil between droplets (Klang & Valenta, 2011; Tadros et al., 2004). In contrast, 0.05 SOR emulsion was stable for two days, and started to present sedimentation from day 5 (Figure 3). In this case, the instability phenomena may be caused by the lack of surfactant to completely cover the surface area of droplets. Therefore, since 0.1 was the most suitable SOR for HC-emulsions containing 50% oil, the following *in vivo* studies were performed using this emulsion.

3.2. In vivo studies

3.2.1. Pharmacokinetic study

Rats were administered with a HC-emulsion containing 50% of oil and at 0.1 SOR prepared using HSH+MF (50HC-emulsion) or a control suspension. After the oral administration of the curcuminoid carriers, the plasma of 50HC-emulsion-fed rats presented higher concentrations of all curcuminoids compared to those of suspension-fed rats (Figure 4).

Among the studied curcuminoids, curcumin glucuronide exhibited the highest concentration in rat plasma, being the concentration in 50HC-emulsion-fed rats higher than those of suspension-fed rats (Figure 4). Indeed, the AUC_{0-8h} of curcumin glucuronide was > 100-fold higher than the AUC_{0-8h} of the free forms (curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, and bisdemethoxycurcumin) in the case of 50HC-emulsion, and up to 10-fold higher in the case of suspension (Table 3). In that sense, it is suggested that when curcumin is orally administered to rodents, it undergoes intestinal metabolism, as well as rapid first-pass metabolism and excretion in bile (Sharma et al., 2005). In fact, previous studies in rats have reported that curcumin undergoes O-conjugation to glucuronide and curcumin sulphate, curcumin as well as reduction to tetrahydrocurcumin, hexahydrocurcumin and others (Asai & Miyazawa, 2000; Ireson et al., 2001). However, according to previous works, among the metabolites formed, curcumin glucuronide is the major one found in the plasma after oral administration of curcumin to rats, while the free forms are normally negligible (Ozawa et al., 2017; Peng et al., 2018). Unlike curcumin, curcumin conjugates are water soluble, which may explain why a substantial proportion of curcumin in the general circulation exists as conjugates (Toden & Goel, 2017). Conjugation with glucuronic acid is considered a fundamental mechanism in nature for detoxifying and eliminating lipophilic chemicals from the organism, being the resultant glucuronides less biologically or chemically reactive than their corresponding aglycones (Ritter, 2000). In our study, the concentration of free forms was also low in the plasma of rats after the oral administration through the different carriers (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Plasma-concentration times profile of (a) curcumin glucuronide (CUR-GLUC), (b) curcumin (CUR), (c) demethoxycurcumin (DMC) and (d) bisdemethoxycurcumin (BDMC) after oral administration of a single-dose curcumin highly-concentrated emulsion (HCE) or curcumin suspension (SP).

Moreover, the curcumin concentration in plasma ($\approx 12-15 \text{ ng}\cdot\text{h}\cdot\text{ml}^{-1}$) was higher compared to the concentration of demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin ($\approx 7-9 \text{ ng}\cdot\text{h}\cdot\text{ml}^{-1}$), irrespective of the carrier used. This fact can be attributed to the composition of the administered curcuminoid extract, which contained a higher amount of curcumin ($\geq 78\%$) than demethoxycurcumin (15%) or bisdemethoxycurcumin (1%). The concentration in plasma of all studied compounds was higher in 50HC-emulsion-fed rats than in suspension-fed rats (Figure 4 and Table 3). Indeed, the AUC_{0-8h} for curcumin glucuronide was $1556.32 \pm 210.44 \text{ ng} \cdot \text{hml}^{-1}$ in rats fed with the 50HC-emulsion, while it was $121.52 \pm 137.39 \text{ ng} \cdot \text{hml}^{-1}$ in those fed with the control suspension. However, the differences in the other studied compounds (curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, and bisdemethoxycurcumin) were not as noticeable. As an example, the AUC_{0-8h} for curcumin was $14.47 \pm 0.78 \text{ ng} \cdot \text{hml}^{-1}$ and $\approx 11.52 \pm 0.14 \text{ ng} \cdot \text{hml}^{-1}$ in rats fed with the 50HC-emulsion or the control suspension, respectively. Nevertheless, the overall curcuminoid bioavailability was greatly improved (by 10.6-fold) when the compound was enclosed in the 50HC-emulsion rather than in suspension. Values similar to those obtained in our work have been reported by other authors using other curcumin emulsion-based delivery systems. For instance, rice bran protein nanoparticles or organogel-based emulsions showed to improve the oral bioavailability of curcumin by approximately 9.2 or 9.5-fold compared to free curcumin (Liu et al., 2018; Yu & Huang, 2012).

single-dose highly-concentrated curcumin emulsion (HCE) or curcumin suspension (SP).						
Carrier	Parameters	CUR-GLUC	CUR	DMC	BDMC	
НСЕ	$C_{max} (ng \cdot ml^{-1})$	$256.66 \pm 68.91 \ ^{b}$	2.43 ± 0.65 $^{\rm a}$	1.15 ± 0.14 a	1.22 ± 0.12 a	
	$T_{max}\left(h ight)$	4	1	0.5	0.5	
	$AUC_{0-t}(ng\cdot h\cdot ml^{-1})$	$1556.32 \pm 210.44 \ ^{\text{b}}$	14.47 ± 0.78 b	7.88 ± 0.47 $^{\rm b}$	$9.19\pm0.39~^{b}$	
	$C_{max} (ng \cdot ml^{-1})$	21.76 ± 34.69 ^a	1.61 ± 0.18 a	0.91 ± 0.08 a	1.05 ± 0.05 a	
SP	$T_{max}(h)$	4	0.5	0.5	0.5	

Table 3. Pharmacokinetic parameters of curcumin glucuronide (CUR-GLUC), curcumin (CUR), demethoxycurcumin (DMC) and bisdemethoxycurcumin (BDMC) after oral administration of a single-dose highly-concentrated curcumin emulsion (HCE) or curcumin suspension (SP).

Data of C_{max} and AUC_{0-t} are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. AUC_{0-t} = area under the plasma concentrationtime curve; C_{max} = peak concentration; T_{max} = time to reach peak concentration. Different letters (a, b) indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among carriers.

 11.52 ± 0.14 ^a

 6.91 ± 0.24 a

 7.92 ± 0.16 a

 $AUC_{0-t}(ng\cdot h\cdot ml^{-1})$ 121.52 ± 137.93 °

The T_{max} of curcumin was lower using the suspension (0.5 h) than the 50HC-emulsion (1 h) (Table 3). The presence of high quantities of oil (50%) of our HC-emulsion could have retarded the gastric emptying and, therefore, the curcumin absorption. In contrast, the T_{max} of demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin was 0.5 h for both curcumin vehicles (Table 3), although the concentration in plasma of these compounds was mostly

constant along the studied time (Figure 4). The T_{max} of curcumin glucuronide was 4 h, irrespective of the carrier used (Table 4). This value is higher than that observed for the free forms and may be a consequence of curcumin metabolization. Indeed, a recent *in vivo* study with Caco-2 cell reported that the percentage of phase II metabolites (which includes curcumin glucuronide) increased from $\approx 10\%$ at 0.5 h to > 60% at 4 h post-administration of different emulsions (Luo et al., 2022)

3.2.2. Biodistribution study

The concentration of curcuminoids in the different tissues of rats was quantified at 2 h and 4 h after the oral administration of the curcumin carriers (50HC-emulsion or suspension).

In general, the highest concentration of curcuminoids was observed in the intestinal tissues (Table 4), especially of curcumin, which presented concentrations up to ≈ 841 ng/g tissue. In contrast, the concentration of curcuminoids in non-intestinal tissues (liver, kidney, white and brown adipose tissue) was lower (up to ≈ 193 ng/g tissue). These observations are in accordance with previous works that have also found the major concentration of curcumin in the intestine after an oral administration of curcumin in combination with a treated soybean lecithin in rats, followed by liver and kidney (Marczylo et al., 2009).

Regarding the intestinal tract, curcumin showed the highest concentration (up to ≈ 841 ng/g), followed by demethoxycurcumin (up to ≈ 233 ng/g), bisdemethoxycurcumin (up to ≈ 48 ng/g) (Table 4), which was expected due to the curcuminoid composition ($\geq 78\%$ curcumin, 12% demethoxycurcumin, and 1% bisdemethoxycurcumin).

Curcumin glucuronide was also present in the intestine of rats, especially in the ileum of 50HC-emulsion-fed rats at 4h post-administration ($\approx 121 \text{ ng/g}$), which may indicate that some metabolization has occurred there. Previous works have reported the presence UDP-glucuronosyltransferases in the intestinal mucosa of rats, which is the enzyme responsible for curcumin glucuronidation (Asai & Miyazawa, 2000).

The concentration of all curcuminoids was higher in the intestine of rats fed with 50HCemulsion rather than in those fed with the suspension, especially in the duodenum and jejunum (Table 4). In that sense, the presence of lecithin could have increased the curcumin absorption by reducing the interfacial surface tension and increasing cell membrane fluidity and the penetration of curcumin through the epithelial cells (Pan-On et al., 2022). In contrast, the low concentration observed using the suspension may be a consequence of the inadequate absorption and avid metabolism of free curcumin that rodents present (Ireson et al., 2002).

As can be observed in Table 4, although curcumin glucuronide was the major metabolite observed in plasma analysis (section 3.2.1), the concentration of this metabolite in the intestinal tissues of rats was low. Indeed, in our work, curcumin glucuronide has been quantified in plasma, intestinal mucosa and kidney (Table 4). These results are in accordance with previous works, which also detected this metabolite in plasma and intestinal mucosa of rats after the oral administration of curcumin with phosphatidylcholine (Marczylo et al., 2007) and can be a consequence of the fast metabolism of curcumin.

The concentration of curcumin, demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin concentrations in the intestinal tissues was higher at 2 h rather than at 4 h post-administration (Table 4). This indicates that the absorption of the free forms was higher at early times (2 h) and decreased at longer times (4 h). In the same way, previous works reported the highest curcumin concentration at 1 h post-administration, which decreased at 3 h (Suresh & Srinivasan, 2010). Moreover, at 4 h post-administration, suspension-fed rats presented a higher curcumin concentration in the colon than 50HC-emulsion-fed rats. This may indicate that, by using the suspension, more compound was non-adsorbed and arrived at the colon to be excreted. The concentration of curcumin glucuronide in the duodenum and ileum of rats was the same at 2 h and 4 h post-administration. However, a higher concentration was observed in the ileum of 50HC-emulsion-fed rats at 4 h than at 2 h, and no compound was detected in the colon.

Among the non-intestinal tissues, the liver and brown adipose tissue were those that presented the highest curcuminoid concentrations, especially at 2 h post-administration (Table 4). The liver has been seen to be an important accumulation site of curcumin even after being orally or intravenously administered to rodents (Arozal et al., 2019; Ryu et al., 2006; Wei et al., 2014). In our work, curcumin was the main compound present in

the liver of rats, followed by demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin, and finally, curcumin glucuronide, which was non detected in this organ. Although the liver is an important glucuronidation site in humans, previous works have postulated that most of the orally administered curcuminoids are conjugated to glucuronides in the intestinal mucosa of rats (Asai & Miyazawa, 2000). In fact, previous authors have investigated the capacity of rat hepatocytes to generate different curcumin metabolites, reporting that glucuronides are generated only in small amounts in the liver, whereas they are abundant in plasma after oral administration (Ireson et al., 2001). These authors stated that rat liver reduces curcumin to hexahydrocurcumin and to hexahydrocurcuminol, whereas conjugation of curcumin is only a minor hepatic biotransformation route.

Interestingly, no differences were observed between the concentration of curcumin present in the kidney of suspension-fed rats and 50HC-emulsion-fed rats, although curcumin absorption was much higher in the case of 50HCemulsion-fed rats (Table 4). This may indicate that, in suspension-fed rats, the rate of curcumin excreted with respect to absorbed curcumin was greater than in the case of 50HC-emulsion-fed rats. Additionally, the kidney was the unique non-intestinal tissue in which curcumin glucuronide was detected (Table 4), probably because is the main organ related to its excretion from the organism.

In white and brown adipose tissues, free form curcuminoids were also detected (Table 4), meaning that these compounds can reach these tissues in the active form, which present more therapeutic properties (Pandey et al., 2020). However, the values were higher in the brown adipose tissue $(192.94 \pm 11.69 \text{ ng curcumin/g tissue})$ rather than in the withe adipose tissue $(9.43 \pm 4.49 \text{ ng curcumin/g tissue})$. Moreover, in the case of brown adipose tissue, rats fed with the 50HC-emulsion presented a higher curcuminoid accumulation rather than rats fed with the suspension. Previous authors have stated that the presence of curcumin in brown and white adipose can play a relevant role in the prevention of obesity and its related metabolic disorders. It has been seen that curcumin can increase the expression of uncoupling protein 1 (UPC1) in the brown adipose tissue, which has been related to an increased energy expenditure. Moreover, it can also decrease inflammation in white adipose tissue (Santos et al., 2023; Song et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2021).

		Time	Concentration in tissue (ng/g tissue)							
·	Vehicle	(h)	Duodenum	Jejunum	Ileum	Colon	Liver	Kidney	Brown adipose	White adipose
CUR	HCE -	2	562.36 ± 168.27 ^{Bb}	587.61 ± 140.85 ^{Bb}	840.69 ± 116.24 ^{Bb}	132.15 ± 117.73 ^{Ab}	129.35 ± 52.07	13.87 ± 5.77 Aa	192.94 ± 11.69 ^{Bb}	9.43 ± 4.49 Aa
		4	229.19 ± 128.9 Ab	212.79 ± 116.37 ^{Ab}	545.48 ± 207.90 Ab	$444.58 \pm 153.30 \ ^{\rm Ba}$	18.61 ± 23.41 Aa	10.75 ± 2.46 Aa	$44.70 \pm 24.75 \ ^{\rm Aa}$	$17.91\pm6.87~^{\rm Ab}$
	SP -	2	27.66 ± 11.79 ^{Aa}	68.83 ± 49.11 Aa	$481.27 \pm 110.61 \ ^{\rm Ba}$	$12.00\pm9.57~^{\rm Aa}$	21.86 ± 16.27 Aa	23.03 ± 10.29 Aa	39.42 ± 31.34 Aa	10.66 ± 3.98 Aa
		4	20.15 ± 15.34 Aa	29.34 ± 19.20 Aa	$200.92 \pm 89.47 \ {}^{\rm Aa}$	$482.16 \pm 277.71 \ ^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	10.62 ± 10.56 Aa	16.16 ± 10.04 Aa	$30.22\pm6.74~^{\rm Aa}$	6.22 ± 2.35 Aa
DMC	UCE	2	$136.02 \pm 37.35 \ ^{Bb}$	$190.63 \pm 67.90 \ ^{Bb}$	$232.85 \pm 89.39 \ {}^{\rm Aa}$	$36.52 \pm 29.19 \ ^{\rm Aa}$	$20.54\pm9.01~^{Ab}$	$3.32\pm2.06~^{\text{Aa}}$	$103.79 \pm 51.37 \ ^{Bb}$	$4.91\pm0.98~^{\rm Aa}$
	HCE -	4	$39.57 \pm 23.70 \ ^{\rm Ab}$	46.37 ± 32.39 Ab	$174.90 \pm 47.83 \ {}^{\rm Aa}$	$123.20\pm 57.76\ ^{Ba}$	$10.24\pm4.96~^{\rm Aa}$	$1.99 \pm 1.25 \ ^{\text{Aa}}$	$28.32 \pm 21.77 \ {}^{\rm Aa}$	$5.77 \pm 1.13 \ ^{\text{Aa}}$
	SP –	2	$7.11\pm3.29~^{\rm Aa}$	17.43 ± 11.13 ^{Aa}	$158.55 \pm 51.09 \ ^{\rm Aa}$	$10.01\pm3.79~^{\rm Aa}$	$10.45\pm2.49~^{\rm Aa}$	$5.22\pm4.54~^{\rm Aa}$	$14.70\pm4.78~^{\rm Aa}$	$6.17 \pm 1.31 \ ^{\text{Aa}}$
		4	$7.74\pm4.74~^{\rm Aa}$	$12.01\pm6.28~^{\rm Aa}$	90.74 ± 50.87 $^{\rm Aa}$	$188.48 \pm 39.25 \ ^{\text{Ba}}$	$8.49 \pm 1.05 \ ^{\mathrm{Aa}}$	$3.76\pm1.38~^{\rm Ab}$	$14.45\pm9.33~^{\rm Aa}$	$5.64 \pm 1.11 \ ^{\text{Aa}}$
BDMC	HCE –	2	32.66 ± 11.29 Ab	47.10 ± 17.24 ^{Bb}	$47.79 \pm 18.46 \ ^{\rm Aa}$	$10.19\pm6.98~^{\rm Ab}$	$7.10\pm2.15~^{Bb}$	$2.57 \pm 1.14 \ ^{\text{Aa}}$	$12.47\pm2.07\ ^{Bb}$	$3.33\pm0.42~^{\rm Aa}$
		4	$12.28\pm9.79~^{Ab}$	$4.37\pm8.61~^{\rm Ab}$	19.61 ± 10.79 Aa	$22.01\pm8.85~^{\rm Aa}$	$3.87\pm0.61~^{\rm Aa}$	$1.87 \pm 1.25 \ ^{\rm Aa}$	$3.88 \pm 1.27 \ ^{\text{Aa}}$	$3.18 \pm 1.62 \ ^{\text{Aa}}$
	SP -	2	$0.47 \pm 1.42 \text{ Aa}$	$0.71 \pm 1.39 \text{ Aa}$	51.63 ± 14.37 ^{Aa}	$3.80\pm0.56~^{\rm Aa}$	$4.28\pm0.78~^{\rm Aa}$	$6.93 \pm 1.91 \ ^{\rm Ab}$	$4.09\pm2.12~^{\rm Aa}$	$3.94\pm0.85~^{\rm Aa}$
		4	$0.35\pm0.75~^{\rm Aa}$	$0.15\pm0.31~^{\rm Aa}$	$41.91 \pm 18.15 \ ^{\rm Ab}$	$26.36\pm9.61^{\ Ba}$	$4.29\pm0.99~^{\rm Aa}$	$3.91 \pm 1.85 ^{\text{Aa}}$	$5.78 \pm 1.40 \ ^{Aa}$	$4.64 \pm 1.67 \ ^{\text{Aa}}$
CUR- GLUC	HCE –	2	$7.45 \pm 1.36 \ ^{\text{Aa}}$	14.21 ± 5.79 Aa	60.83 ± 24.65 Aa	ND	ND	$11.79 \pm 2.40 \ ^{Ba}$	ND	ND
		4	$7.02\pm0.64~^{\rm Ab}$	13.33 ± 4.18 Aa	$120.93 \pm 48.28 \ ^{\rm Ab}$	ND	ND	ND ^{Aa}	ND	ND
	SP –	2	6.06 ± 2.89 ^{Ba}	$8.91\pm0.80^{\rm \ Aa}$	44.52 ± 20.40 Aa	ND	ND	11.00 ± 1.81 ^{Ba}	ND	ND
		4	ND ^{Aa}	8.92 ± 1.35 Aa	33.82 ± 13.93 Aa	ND	ND	ND ^{Aa}	ND	ND

Table 4. Curcumin (CUR), demethoxycurcumin (DMC), bisdemethoxycurcumin (BDMC) and curcumin glucuronide (CUR-GLUC) concentration in different rat tissues at 2 h or 4 h after the oral administration of curcumin suspension (SP) or curcumin highly-concentrated emulsions (HCE).

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters (A, B) indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among curcumin carriers at a same time. Different lowercase letters (a, b) indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among same carrier and different time.

4. Conclusions

Stable highly-concentrated emulsions were formulated using MCT oil and lecithin at a surfactant-oil ratio of 0.1. After orally administered to rats, the pharmacokinetic study revealed that curcumin in plasma was mainly found in the glucuronide form, being 4 h the time of maximum concentration. Moreover, the encapsulation of curcuminoids in a highly-concentrated emulsion improved their bioavailability by 10.6-fold compared to the suspension. The biodistribution study exposed that the presence of curcumin, as well as demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin in the small intestine of rats was higher in emulsion-fed rats rather than in suspension-fed rats, indicating an improved absorption by the intestinal cells. Furthermore, enclosing curcumin in highlyconcentrated emulsions increased its accumulation in free form in the liver and brown adipose tissue, which could have relevant implications in the prevention or treatment of metabolic diseases. The increased absorption by using the emulsion may be a consequence of (1) the protection that emulsions provide against degradation during its pass through the gastrointestinal tract, and (2) the capacity of surfactants such as lecithin to improve the membrane fluidity and the penetration of curcumin through the epithelial cells. This work highlights the potential of highly-concentrated emulsions to increase the bioavailability of curcumin and increase its accumulation in the organs in the free form, which presents the most biological activity.

Keywords: Curcumin, highly-concentrated emulsions, bioavailability, biodistribution.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization, J.T, G.O, M.A, I.O and O.M.; methodology, J.T, G.O, M.A, I.O and O.M.; formal analysis, J.T and M.A.; investigation, J.T and M.A.; resources, O.M.; writing—original draft preparation, J.T and G.O; writing—review and editing, J.T, G.O, M.A, I.O and O.M.; visualization, J.T, G.O, M.A, I.O and O.M.; supervision, G.O, I.O and O.M.; project administration, O.M.; funding acquisition, O.M. "All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript."
Funding

This work was funded by FEDER, MINECO, UE, grant number AGL2015-65975-R and MCIU, AEI; FEDER, UE, grant number RTI2018-094268-B-C21.

Acknowledgments

Author Júlia Teixé-Roig thanks the University of Lleida and Banco Santander for the pre-doctoral grant.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- An, Y., Yan, X., Li, B., & Li, Y. (2014). Microencapsulation of capsanthin by self-emulsifying nanoemulsions and stability evaluation. European Food Research and Technology, 239(6), 1077–1085. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00217-014-2328-3
- Anand, P., Kunnumakkara, A. B., Newman, R. A., & Aggarwal, B. B. (2007). Bioavailability of curcumin: Problems and promises. Molecular Pharmaceutics, 4(6), 807–818. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp700113r
- Arozal, W., Ramadanty, W. T., Louisa, M., Satyana, R. P. U., Hartono, G., Fatrin, S., Purbadi, S., Estuningtyas, A., & Instiaty, I. (2019). Pharmacokinetic Profile of Curcumin and Nanocurcumin in Plasma, Ovary, and Other Tissues. Drug Research, 69(10), 559–564. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0863-4355
- Artiga-Artigas, M., Montoliu-Boneu, J., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Factors affecting the formation of highly concentrated emulsions and nanoemulsions. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 578(June), 123577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2019.123577
- Asai, A., & Miyazawa, T. (2000). Occurrence of orally administered curcuminoid as glucuronide and glucuronide/sulfate conjugates in rat plasma. Life Sciences, 67(23), 2785–2793. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-3205(00)00868-7
- Briceño, M., Salager, J. L., & Bertrand, J. (2001). Influence of dispersed phase content and viscosity on the mixing of concentrated oil-in-water emulsions in the transition flow regime. Chemical Engineering Research and Design, 79(8), 943–948. https://doi.org/10.1205/02638760152721794
- Brinkman, H. C. (1952). The viscosity of concentrated suspensions and solutions. The Journal of Chemical Physics, 20(4), 571. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1700493

- Chirio, D., Peira, E., Dianzani, C., Muntoni, E., Gigliotti, C. L., Ferrara, B., Sapino, S., Chindamo, G., & Gallarate, M. (2019). Development of solid lipid nanoparticles by cold dilution of microemulsions: Curcumin loading, preliminary in vitro studies, and biodistribution. Nanomaterials, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/nano9020230
- Choudhury, A. K., Raja, S., Mahapatra, S., Nagabhushanam, K., & Majeed, M. (2015). Synthesis and evaluation of the anti-oxidant capacity of curcumin glucuronides, the major curcumin metabolites. Antioxidants, 4(4), 750–767. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox4040750
- Dalvi, S. V., & Dave, R. N. (2009). Controlling particle size of a poorly water-soluble drug using ultrasound and stabilizers in antisolvent precipitation. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 48(16), 7581–7593. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie900248f
- Hewlings, S. J., & Kalman, D. S. (2017). Curcumin: A review of its effects on human health. In Foods (Vol. 6, Issue 10, p. 92). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods6100092
- Hu, B., Liu, X., Zhang, C., & Zeng, X. (2017). Food macromolecule based nanodelivery systems for enhancing the bioavailability of polyphenols. In Journal of Food and Drug Analysis (Vol. 25, Issue 1, pp. 3–15). No longer published by Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfda.2016.11.004
- Hunter, R. J. (2001). Foundations of colloid science. Oxford university press.
- Ireson, C., Orr, S., Jones, D. J. L., Verschoyle, R., Lim, C. K., Luo, J. L., Howells, L., Plummer, S., Jukes, R., Williams, M., Steward, W. P., & Gescher, A. (2001). Characterization of metabolites of the chemopreventive agent curcumin in human and rat hepatocytes and in the rat in vivo, and evaluation of their ability to inhibit phorbol ester-induced prostaglandin E2production. Cancer Research, 61(3), 1058–1064. https://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/61/3/1058.short
- Ireson, C. R., Jones, D. J. L., Boocock, D. J., Farmer, P. B., Gescher, A. J., Orr, S., Coughtrie, M. W. H., Williams, M. L., & Steward, W. P. (2002). Metabolism of the cancer chemopreventive agent curcumin in human and rat intestine. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention, 11(1), 105–111.
- Klang, V., & Valenta, C. (2011). Lecithin-based nanoemulsions. In Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology (Vol. 21, Issue 1, pp. 55–76). Editions de Sante. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1773-2247(11)50006-1
- Krieger, I. M., & Dougherty, T. J. (1959). A Mechanism for Non Newtonian Flow in Suspensions of Rigid Spheres. Transactions of the Society of Rheology, 3(1), 137 152. https://doi.org/10.1122/1.548848
- Kunihiro, A. G., Brickey, J. A., Frye, J. B., Luis, P. B., Schneider, C., & Funk, J. L. (2019). Curcumin, but not curcumin-glucuronide, inhibits Smad signaling in TGFβ-dependent bone metastatic breast cancer cells and is enriched in bone compared to other tissues. Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry, 63, 150–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2018.09.021
- Li, R., Qiao, X., Li, Q., He, R., Ye, M., Xiang, C., Lin, X., & Guo, D. (2011). Metabolic and pharmacokinetic studies of curcumin, demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin in mice tumor after intragastric administration of nanoparticle formulations by liquid

chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography B: Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences, 879(26), 2751–2758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2011.07.042

- Liu, C., Yang, X., Wu, W., Long, Z., Xiao, H., Luo, F., Shen, Y., & Lin, Q. (2018). Elaboration of curcumin-loaded rice bran albumin nanoparticles formulation with increased in vitro bioactivity and in vivo bioavailability. Food Hydrocolloids, 77, 834–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODHYD.2017.11.027
- Liu, Y., Siard, M., Adams, A., Keowen, M. L., Miller, T. K., Garza, F., Andrews, F. M., & Seeram, N. P. (2018). Simultaneous quantification of free curcuminoids and their metabolites in equine plasma by LC-ESI–MS/MS. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 154, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2018.03.014
- Luo, H., Li, Z., Yao, M., McClements, D. J., & Xiao, H. (2022). Impact of excipient emulsions made from different types of oils on the bioavailability and metabolism of curcumin in gastrointestinal tract. Food Chemistry, 370, 130980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.130980
- Luo, X., Zhou, Y., Bai, L., Liu, F., Zhang, R., Zhang, Z., Zheng, B., Deng, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2017). Production of highly concentrated oil-in-water emulsions using dual-channel microfluidization: Use of individual and mixed natural emulsifiers (saponin and lecithin). Food Research International, 96, 103–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2017.03.013
- Maa, Y. F., & Hsu, C. C. (1999). Performance of sonication and microfluidization for liquidliquid emulsification. Pharmaceutical Development and Technology, 4(2), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1081/PDT-100101357
- Marczylo, T. H., Steward, W. P., & Gescher, A. J. (2009). Rapid analysis of curcumin and curcumin metabolites in rat biomatrices using a novel ultraperformance liquid chromatography (UPLC) method. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 57(3), 797–803. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf803038f
- Marczylo, T. H., Verschoyle, R. D., Cooke, D. N., Morazzoni, P., Steward, W. P., & Gescher, A. J. (2007). Comparison of systemic availability of curcumin with that of curcumin formulated with phosphatidylcholine. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 60(2), 171–177. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-006-0355-x
- Nazari-Vanani, R., Moezi, L., & Heli, H. (2017). In vivo evaluation of a self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery system for curcumin. Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy, 88, 715–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.01.102
- Ozawa, H., Imaizumi, A., Sumi, Y., Hashimoto, T., Kanai, M., Makino, Y., Tsuda, T., Takahashi, N., & Kakeya, H. (2017). Curcumin β-D-glucuronide plays an important role to keep high levels of free-form curcumin in the blood. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin, 40(9), 1515–1524. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b17-00339
- Pan-On, S., Dilokthornsakul, P., & Tiyaboonchai, W. (2022). Trends in advanced oral drug delivery system for curcumin: A systematic review. Journal of Controlled Release, 348, 335– 345. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCONREL.2022.05.048

Pandey, A., Chaturvedi, M., Mishra, S., Kumar, P., Somvanshi, P., & Chaturvedi, R. (2020).

Reductive metabolites of curcumin and their therapeutic effects. In Heliyon (Vol. 6, Issue 11, p. e05469). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05469

- Peng, S., Li, Z., Zou, L., Liu, W., Liu, C., & McClements, D. J. (2018). Enhancement of Curcumin Bioavailability by Encapsulation in Sophorolipid-Coated Nanoparticles: An in Vitro and in Vivo Study. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 66(6), 1488–1497. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b05478
- Prasad, S., Tyagi, A. K., & Aggarwal, B. B. (2014). Recent developments in delivery, bioavailability, absorption and metabolism of curcumin: The golden pigment from golden spice. Cancer Research and Treatment, 46(1), 2–18. https://doi.org/10.4143/crt.2014.46.1.2
- Pulido-Moran, M., Moreno-Fernandez, J., Ramirez-Tortosa, C., & Ramirez-Tortosa, M. C. (2016). Curcumin and health. Molecules, 21(3), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21030264
- Ritter, J. K. (2000). Roles of glucuronidation and UDP-glucuronosyltransferases in xenobiotic bioactivation reactions. Chemico-Biological Interactions, 129(1–2), 171–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2797(00)00198-8
- Ryu, E. K., Choe, Y. S., Lee, K. H., Choi, Y., & Kim, B. T. (2006). Curcumin and dehydrozingerone derivatives: Synthesis, radiolabeling, and evaluation for β-amyloid plaque imaging. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 49(20), 6111–6119. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm0607193
- Santos, A. C. C., Amaro, L. B. R., Jorge, A. H. B., Lelis, S. de F., Lelis, D. de F., Guimarães, A. L. S., Santos, S. H. S., & Andrade, J. M. O. (2023). Curcumin improves metabolic response and increases expression of thermogenesis-associated markers in adipose tissue of male offspring from obese dams. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 563, 111840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2022.111840
- Schultz, S., Wagner, G., Urban, K., & Ulrich, J. (2004). High-pressure homogenization as a process for emulsion formation. Chemical Engineering and Technology, 27(4), 361–368. https://doi.org/10.1002/ceat.200406111
- Sharma, R. A., Gescher, A. J., & Steward, W. P. (2005). Curcumin: The story so far. European Journal of Cancer, 41(13), 1955–1968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2005.05.009
- Shoji, M., Nakagawa, K., Watanabe, A., Tsuduki, T., Yamada, T., Kuwahara, S., Kimura, F., & Miyazawa, T. (2014). Comparison of the effects of curcumin and curcumin glucuronide in human hepatocellular carcinoma HepG2 cells. Food Chemistry, 151, 126–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.11.021
- Song, Z., Revelo, X., Shao, W., Tian, L., Zeng, K., Lei, H., Sun, H. S., Woo, M., Winer, D., & Jin, T. (2018). Dietary Curcumin Intervention Targets Mouse White Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Brown Adipose Tissue UCP1 Expression. Obesity, 26(3), 547–558. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22110
- Stohs, S. J., Chen, O., Ray, S. D., Ji, J., Bucci, L. R., & Preuss, H. G. (2020). Highly bioavailable forms of curcumin and promising avenues for curcumin-based research and application: A review. In Molecules (Vol. 25, Issue 6, p. 1397). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25061397

- Suresh, D., & Srinivasan, K. (2010). Tissue distribution & elimination of capsaicin, piperine & curcumin following oral intake in rats. Indian Journal of Medical Research, 131(5), 682–691.
- Tadros, T., Izquierdo, P., Esquena, J., & Solans, C. (2004). Formation and stability of nanoemulsions. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 108–109, 303–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2003.10.023
- Takahashi, M., Uechi, S., Takara, K., Asikin, Y., & Wada, K. (2009). Evaluation of an oral carrier system in rats: Bioavailability and antioxidant properties of liposome-encapsulated curcumin. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 57(19), 9141–9146. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf9013923
- Toden, S., & Goel, A. (2017). The Holy Grail of Curcumin and its Efficacy in Various Diseases: Is Bioavailability Truly a Big Concern? Journal of Restorative Medicine, 6(1), 27–36. https://doi.org/10.14200/jrm.2017.6.0101
- Vecchione, R., Quagliariello, V., Calabria, D., Calcagno, V., De Luca, E., Iaffaioli, R. V., & Netti, P. A. (2016). Curcumin bioavailability from oil in water nano-emulsions: In vitro and in vivo study on the dimensional, compositional and interactional dependence. Journal of Controlled Release, 233, 88–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.004
- Wang, C., Liu, Z., Xu, G., Yin, B., & Yao, P. (2016). BSA-dextran emulsion for protection and oral delivery of curcumin. Food Hydrocolloids, 61, 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.04.037
- Wei, X., Senanayake, T. H., Bohling, A., & Vinogradov, S. V. (2014). Targeted nanogel conjugate for improved stability and cellular permeability of curcumin: Synthesis, pharmacokinetics, and tumor growth inhibition. Molecular Pharmaceutics, 11(9), 3112–3122. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp500290f
- Yu, H., & Huang, Q. (2012). Improving the oral bioavailability of curcumin using novel organogel-based nanoemulsions. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 60(21), 5373– 5379. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf300609p
- Zhang, H. Y., Arab Tehrany, E., Kahn, C. J. F., Ponot, M., Linder, M., & Cleymand, F. (2012). Effects of nanoliposomes based on soya, rapeseed and fish lecithins on chitosan thin films designed for tissue engineering. Carbohydrate Polymers, 88(2), 618–627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2012.01.007
- Zhu, X., Du, S., Yan, Q., Min, C., Zhou, N., Zhou, W., & Li, X. (2021). Dietary curcumin supplementation promotes browning and energy expenditure in postnatal overfed rats. Nutrition and Metabolism, 18(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12986-021-00625-5

Chapter VII

In vivo oral bioavailability and biodistribution of curcuminoids encapsulated in solid- and liquid- lipid nanoparticles as affected by the type of oil

Júlia Teixé-Roig, Mohsen Ramezani, Laura Salvia-Trujillo, Olga Martín-Belloso, Gemma Oms-Oliu* *In preparation*

Abstract

Curcumin is a highly lipophilic compound with multiple biological functions, but it is easily degraded and has low bioavailability. Encapsulation in emulsion-based systems has been shown to significantly increase the bioavailability of this compound. However, in vivo studies about how the lipid state and its composition can modify the functionality of these systems are lacking. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the effect of the lipid state and lipid type of nanoparticles on curcuminoid absorption and biodistribution. The studied nanoparticles were: CO-LLN (corn oil liquid lipid nanoparticles), MG-LLN (miglyol liquid lipid nanoparticles), HPO-SLN (hydrogenated palm oil solid lipid nanoparticles), and CN-SLN (coconut oil solid lipid nanoparticles). After the oral administration of nanoemulsions (< 200 nm), the study on microstructural changes during digestion showed that those containing MCT were digested more rapidly than those formulated with LCT. Moreover, HPO-SLN presented a slowed digestion rate due to the high melting point of HPO. The presence of curcuminoids in the rat intestines was as follows: CO-LLN > HPO-SLN = MG-LLN = CN-SLN. Moreover, CO-LLN presented the highest concentrations of curcumin glucuronide in plasma (1613 ng/mL) and of free curcumin in brown adipose tissue (up to 1402 ng/g). Therefore, not only the lipid type, but also the lipid state can influence the absorption and biodistribution of curcuminoids, being CO-LLN those with more potential to be used as curcuminoidcarriers.

Keywords: bioavailability, curcumin, nanoparticles, lipid state, lipid type

1. Introduction

Curcumin is a highly lipophilic polyphenolic compound present in the rhizomes of Curcuma longa (turmeric). Numerous studies have revealed its multiple beneficial biological activities, including antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer activities (Strimpakos & Sharma, 2008). However, this compound presents molecular instability, poor solubility in water, rapid conjugation to hydrophilic molecules (like glucuronic acid and sulphate) and poor enteral absorption, which limit its utility as a health-promoting agent (Anand et al., 2007). To overcome these challenges, many authors have investigated the encapsulation of curcumin in various emulsion-based systems. Several in vivo studies have revealed that, through the incorporation of this compound in emulsion-based delivery systems, such as emulsions or nanoemulsions its bioavailability increased considerably (Hu et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2017; Lu et al., 2018; Nazari-Vanani et al., 2017). In addition, it has been seen that there are factors, such as the composition of the lipid used in the formulation of these systems and its state of crystallization (solid or liquid), that could affect the properties of the emulsions. According to previous works, emulsions with a solid lipid state can better protect the encapsulated lipophilic bioactive compounds by reducing diffusion processes between the aqueous and the lipid core (Nik et al., 2012; Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2019). Nanoemulsions with solid nanoparticles seem to increase the control over the release and stability of the encapsulated bioactives since by controlling the physical state of the lipid matrix the mobility of the encapsulated compounds can be modulated (Weiss et al., 2008). Indeed, investigations using in vitro gastrointestinal digestion revealed that not only the lipid crystallization state but also the lipid type had a significant impact on the lipid digestibility and compound bioaccessibility (de Abreu-Martins et al., 2020). Many in vitro studies have stated that the fatty acid chain length and the unsaturation degree affects the rate and extent of lipid digestibility, as well as the bioaccessibility of the encapsulated lipophilic compounds such as curcumin since they can alter the composition and structural characteristics of the mixed micelles formed (Jiang & Charcosset, 2022; Majeed et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2015). In addition, a recently published study using excipient nanoemulsions revealed that the trans-enterocyte transport of curcumin in Caco-2 cells was highly dependent on the lipid type used to formulate the systems (Luo et al., 2022).

However, there is a lack of *in vivo* studies reporting the effect of lipid composition and crystallization state of nanoemulsions on curcuminoid absorption and organ biodistribution. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the effect of the lipid composition (MCT or LCT) and the lipid crystallization state (liquid or solid) of nanoparticles enclosing curcumin on the absorption, metabolization and biodistribution of the encapsulated compound in rats.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

Curcumin was purchased from Acros Organics (Thermo Fischer Scientific, India). Miglyol® 812 N was obtained from IOI Oleochemical GmbH (Hamburg, Germany). Hydrogenated palm oil was acquired from Mystic Moments (Hants, UK). Corn oil was purchased from local market (Spain) and coconut oil from HMF Food Production (GmbH & Co. KG, Germany). Tween 80 (Polyoxyethylenesorbitan monoesterate) was used as a food-grade hydrophilic emulsifier from Lab Scharlab (Sentmenat, Spain). The nanoemulsions were prepared using ultrapure milli-Q water supplied by a Millipore filtration system (18.2 m Ω .cm, Merck Millipore, Madrid, Spain).

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Formation of nanoemulsions containing solid- or liquid- lipid nanoparticles

To obtain the lipid phase, curcumin (6% w/w) was dispersed in the different carrier lipids: miglyol (MG), corn oil (CO), coconut oil (CN), or hydrogenated palm oil (HPO), while magnetically stirring at 450 rpm for 30 min at 60 °C. Following this, 15 minutes of sonication were used to ensure complete dissolution. To prepare the aqueous phase, 2.5% w/w of Tween 80 in milli-Q water were stirred at 60 °C. Afterwards, both the lipid phase (21% w/w) and aqueous phase (79% w/w) were mixed and homogenized using an Ultra-Turrax (IKA, Staufen, Germany) at 7600 rpm for 3 min. Then, nanoparticles were obtained by passing the coarse emulsions through a microfluidizer (LM10, Microfluidics, USA) at 100 MPa for 3 cycles. Finally, the temperature of nanoparticles was reduced to 4 °C for 2 h in order to allow fat recrystallization. As a result, 4 different nanoemulsions were obtained: CO-LLN (corn oil liquid lipid nanoparticles), MG-LLN

(miglyol liquid lipid nanoparticles), HPO-SLN (hydrogenated palm oil solid lipid nanoparticles), and CN-SLN (coconut oil solid lipid nanoparticles).

2.2.2. Nanoparticle characterization

Particle size. The particle size of LLNs and SLNs was measured using a Zetasizer NanoZS laser diffractometer (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Worcestershire, U.K.) operating at 633 nm, 25 °C, and equipped with a backscatter detector (173°). Nanoemulsions were characterized by average droplet diameter (nm) and intensity (%). Prior to measurement, samples were diluted in milli-Q water at a ratio of 1:100.

 ζ -potential. The ζ -potential was measured by phase-analysis light scattering (PALS) using Zetasizer laser diffractometer (Malvern Instruments Ltd Worcestershire, UK). Prior to the analysis, liquid or solid lipid nanoparticles were diluted (1:100) in ultrapure water. The results were reported in millivolts (mV).

Physical stability. Stability of nanoemulsions was studied using an optical scan analyzer Turbiscan MA 2000 (Formulaction, Toulouse, France), which can measure the static stability of samples without destruction and detect the cause of instability (flocculation, coalescence, sedimentation or creaming) by the multiple light scattering technique. A sample of 7 mL was introduced into a glass cylindrical cell and analyzed by a light beam emitted in near infrared wavelength, which scanned vertically from the bottom to the top the sample cell. Two synchronous optical sensors receive light backscattered by the sample (45° from the incident radiation). In this study, a monitoring period of 18 h was conducted to determine physical stability.

2.2.3. In vivo study

2.2.3.1. Animals and study design

Female Sprague Dawley rats weighing 200-250 g were used for the *in vivo* study. The animal procedures were conducted in accordance with EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of Universitat de Lleida (CEEA 01-04/18). After an acclimatization period, animals were randomly divided into four groups (n=4) (CO-LLN, MG-LLN, HPO-SLN, CN-SLN). Rats were

fasted for 12 h before the experiment with free access to water. Rats were anesthetised with isoflurane and blood samples were taken by cardiac puncture. Plasma was immediately separated by centrifuging the blood samples at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and stored at -80 °C. Rats were sacrificed by exsanguination and the stomach, duodenum, jejunum, ileum and colon were removed and their content was collected and immediately characterized by microscopy. Then, the mentioned tissues, liver, kidney, white adipose tissue (mesenteric) and brown adipose tissue (cervical) were collected, rinsed with phosphate buffered saline, weighted and stored at -80 °C.

2.2.3.2. Dosage information

Rats were orally administered at a volume of 20 mL/kg with a feeding needle. All animals were fed with a dose of 250 mg of curcumin/kg body weight, irrespective of the vehicle used, which is only achievable through supplements in humans. Sample administration was conducted in five times with 30 min intervals. Rats were sacrificed 30 min after the last dose administration.

2.2.3.3. Curcuminoid extraction and quantification in plasma and tissues

Extration from plasma. Curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide extraction in plasma samples was performed according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Li et al., 2011). Aliquots of 150 μ L of plasma were mixed with the internal standard (Honokiol) and 600 mL of acetonitrile and vortexed at 1800 rpm for 1 min. Then, the mixture was submerged intro an ultrasonic bath for 30 sec, centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C, and the organic fraction was collected. Afterwards, the collected upper organic layers were evaporated under N₂ and stored at -80 °C until quantification.

Extraction from tissues. Curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide extraction in tissue samples was performed according to a previously reported method with some modifications (Chirio et al., 2019). Initially, tissue samples were mixed with milli-Q water and homogenized with an Ultra-Turrax at 9000 rpm for 1 min to obtain the tissue homogenates. Then internal standard (Honokiol) and 1 mL of acetonitrile were added to tissue homogenates and the mixture was vortexed

at 2000 rpm for 1 min. Then, the mixture was centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C, and the organic fraction was collected. Afterwards, the collected upper organic layers evaporated under N_2 and stored at -80 °C until quantification.

Curcuminoids quantification. The quantification of curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin and curcumin glucuronide was performed by liquid chromatography electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (LC-ESI–MS/MS) using the method described by Liu et al. (2018), with some modifications. To perform the analyses an ACQUITY UPLC binary (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) coupled to a Xevo TQS (triple quadrupole) (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) was used. Chromatographic separation was performed on a 150 mm × 2.1 mm i.d., 1.6 μ m CORTECS Phenyl Column (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) with mobile phase A [acetonitrile containing 0.1% (v/v) formic acid] and mobile phase B [98% water and 2% acetonitrile containing 0.1% (v/v) formic acid]. The injection volume was 2.5 μ L and the flow rate was 0.4 mL/min. Separation was carried out in 5.5 min under the following conditions: 0 min, 60% B; 4 min, 25% B; 4.1 min, 60% B; 5.5 min, 06% B. The column was equilibrated for 10 min prior to each analysis. The column temperature was maintained at 40 °C. The MS operated in electrospray ionization (ESI) in negative mode and nitrogen was used as the source gas in all cases.

2.2.4. Fluorescence optical microscopy

Digesta from the different parts of the gastrointestinal tract of rats was collected and dyed with Nile Red, previously dissolved at 0.1% (w/v) in ethanol, to observe SLNs and LLNs. Then, micrographs were obtained using fluorescence with an optical microscope (Olympus BX41, Olympus, Göttingen, Germany) with a 100x objective lens. The images were obtained using a digital camera (Olympus DP74) and processed with the software CellSens (Olympus Göttingen, Germany).

2.2.5. Statistical analysis

All experiments were assayed in duplicate and three repetitions of every analysis were carried out on each parameter in order to obtain mean values. Analysis of the variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare treatments. Least significant difference (LSD) test was employed to determine differences between means. The confidence interval was set at 0.95 and all results were analyzed using the Statgraphics Plus v.5.1 Windows package (Statistical Graphics Co., Rockville, Md).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Characterization of solid lipid (SLN) and liquid lipid (LLN) nanoparticles

Particle size. Nanoemulsions containing liquid nanoparticles (CO-LLN or MG-LLN) had significantly smaller initial particle sizes (\approx 158-169 nm) than those with solid nanoparticles (HPO-SLN or CN-SLN) (\approx 174-181 nm). CO and MG lipids have a reduced viscosity at room temperature, so less energy was required to disrupt the oil droplets, resulting in smaller droplets (de Abreu-Martins et al., 2020). Nanoemulsions with CN-SLN also presented smaller sizes than those with HPO-SLN particles probably because CN is mainly composed of lauric acid, which confers high polarity and low dipole interactions. These characteristics result in a reduced viscosity and a very low contact angle, which may facilitate droplet disruption during nanoemulsification. Moreover, the straight chain of lauric acid can also facilitate particle size reduction (Sarheed et al., 2020). Moreover, nanoemulsions with MG-LLN also showed smaller droplet sizes than those with CO-LLN. As stated by Sarheed et al. (2020), shorter oil chains allow oil molecules to penetrate the interfacial film, resulting in small particles.

 ζ -potential. Nanoemulsions with MG-LLN, CO-LLN and CN-SLN had ζ -potential values of -27.9 ± 8.1 mV, -27 ± 7.4 mV, and -20.1 ± 1.4 mV, respectively (Table 1). The surfactant used in this study, Tween 80, is a non-ionic emulsifier that, at certain pH levels, causes oil droplets to have a negative charge (de Abreu-Martins et al., 2020). Furthermore, oils and surfactants preferentially absorb negative hydroxyl ions from the aqueous phase (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013a). The ζ -potential of nanoemulsions with CN-SLN was slightly but not significantly (p < 0.05) less negative than that of CO-LLN and MG-LLN, which was consistent with previous findings (de Abreu-Martins et al., 2020). Due to its high saturated fat content, CN has a higher melting point (25.5 °C) than CO (-16 °C) and MG (6 °C). Due to this, the particles had semisolid or solid properties at room temperature, which resulted in larger particle sizes upon nanoemulsification (Table 1). Those large nanoparticles presented a low surface area that was probably fully coated

with surfactant molecules. Interfaces that are effectively covered with non-ionic Tween 80 will have a reduced ζ -potential. According to Sarheed et al. (2020), as surfactant concentrations exceed a critical value, OH-groups can be suddenly expelled from the O/W interface, reducing zeta potential. Systems with HPO-SLN had a positive zeta potential value of 26.3 ± 2.19 mV which is caused by hydrogen ions at the O/W interface.

Table 1. Physical properties, and stability of nanoemulsions nanoemulsions containing containing liquid lipid (LLN) or solid lipid (SLN) nanoparticles containing different lipid types: corn oil (CO), miglyol (MG), palm oil (HPO) or coconut oil (CN).

Lipid state	Lipid type	Zeta potential (mv)	ootential Droplet size nv) (nm) Sedimentation thickness (mm)		Instability rate × 10 ³ (%BS·h ⁻¹)	
LLN	CO	-27.00 ± 7.49^{b}	$169.40 \pm 0.85^{\circ}$	0.43	-2.18	
LLN	MG	-27.93 ± 8.11^{b}	157.53 ± 1.16^{d}	1.49	-4.93	
SLN	HPO	26.30 ± 2.19^{a}	$180.73\pm0.02^{\mathrm{a}}$	0.79	-1.81	
SLN	CN	$-20.13\pm1.45^{\mathrm{b}}$	$174.33\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	0.88	-2.53	

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among curcumin nanoparticles. CO: corn oil. MG: miglyol. HPO: hydrogenated palm oil. CN: coconut oil.

Stability. For all nanoemulsions, the BS in the middle zone of the test tube decreased approximately by 0.1%, indicating high colloidal stability (Figure 1) which indicates that the surfactant used was able to stabilize the interfacial area. However, the BS continued to decrease during the 18-hour period, indicating particle aggregation. Except for the nanoemulsion containing MG-LLN, BS spectra in the middle zone of the test tube were parallel to straight lines, indicating: (i) gradients of particle concentration along the vial are constant, and (ii) variations are dominated by particle aggregation. For nanoemulsions with MG-LLN, the inclination of the backscattering spectra indicates a concentration gradient of particles, caused by higher sedimentation. Accordingly, the higher sediment thickness of those with MG-LLN can be identified by a hill with a diameter of about 1.5 mm at the bottom of the vial (Figure 1A and Table 1).



Figure 1. Backscattering profiles of nanoemulsions containing containing liquid lipid (LLN) or solid lipid (SLN) nanoparticles containing different lipid types: corn oil (CO), miglyol (MG), palm oil (HPO) or coconut oil (CN) scanned every 1 hour for 18 hours. (A) MG-LLN; (B) CO-LLN; (C) CN-SLN; (D) HPO-SLN.

For a better understanding of colloidal changes, the backscattering variation at a length of 25 mm was also illustrated (Figure 2). Nanoemulsions with MG-LLN showed the highest instability, followed by those with CN-SLN, CO-LLN, and HPO-SLN, respectively. Since excess of Tween 80 effectively coated the O/W interfaces, the difference in stability cannot be explained by recoalescence. In a nanoemulsification process, droplet breakup depends on the shear rate, surfactant type/concentration, and relative viscosities of the dispersed and continuous phases. All nanoemulsions undergo the same shear and surfactant type/concentration, so the only remaining possibility is a difference in the viscosity of the four oil phases. MG has a lower viscosity (30 mPa·s) than CO (53.7 mPa·s), CN (55 mPa·s) and HPO (solid at room temperature). As a result, MG-LLN has a lower differential viscosity than other LLN and SLN, accelerating sedimentation according to Stokes' law.



Figure 2. Backscattering profiles of nanoemulsions containing containing liquid lipid (LLN) or solid lipid (SLN) nanoparticles containing different lipid types: corn oil (CO), miglyol (MG), palm oil (HPO) or coconut oil (CN) at a vial length of 25 mm. Symbols represent experimental data points, and solid lines.

3.2. In vivo study

3.2.1. Microstructural changes in rat digesta

The changes in the microstructure of the studied LLN (CO-LLN and MG-LLN) and SLN (HPO-SLN and CN-SLN) were studied by obtaining the digesta from the different parts of the gastrointestinal tract of the rats (stomach, duodenum, jejunum, ileum and colon) and analysing them using a fluorescence optical microscopy.

As observed in Figure 3, all nanoparticles suffered a noticeable increase in the particle size in the stomach. Indeed, the initial particle size of nanoemulsions was about 170 nm (Table 1), while in the stomach of rats, the particles were > 1 μ m, irrespective of the lipid state and lipid type. However, dispersed particles were observed in the gastric medium, meaning that they were stable in the gastric environment. This fact can be a consequence of the emulsifier selected to formulate the nanoemulsions, which was Tween 80. Small molecule surfactants such as Tween 80 have been seen to be acid stable, maintaining better the microstructure stability than others such as sucrose palmitate (Marciani et al., 2006; Verkempinck et al., 2018).



Figure 3. Micrographs of nanemulsions containing solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) or liquid lipid nanoparticles (LLN) containing different lipid types: corn oil (CO), miglyol (MG), palm oil (HPO) or coconut oil (CN) at the different parts of the gastrointestinal tract of rats after oral administration. Scale bars are 10 µm long.

Differences were observed in the intestinal digesta obtained from rats fed with different nanoemulsions, especially in the duodenum and jejunum (Figure 3). Digesta from rats fed with nanoemulsions containing LCT nanoparticles (CO or HPO) presented more lipid content in the duodenum and jejunum and with a higher particle size than those fed with nanoemulsions containing MCT nanoparticles (MG or CN). This suggests that nanoparticles containing MCT were digested faster than those with LCT. This trend has been observed in other emulsion-based delivery systems and can be a consequence of the capacity of medium-chain fatty acids to migrate to the surrounding aqueous phase, where they are readily dispersible, while long-chain fatty acids tend to accumulate at the oil-water interface inhibiting lipase activity (Ahmed et al., 2012; Li et al., 2011; Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013b). The initial lipid state (liquid or solid) did not have a strong effect on the lipid digestibility of nanoemulsions formulated with MCT (MG or CN), which

can be related to the melting point of these lipids that were 6 °C for miglyol and 25 °C for coconut oil. Therefore, it seems that nanoemulsions containing CN-SLN melted during its pass during the gastrointestinal tract of rats (which presents a temperature of \approx 37 °C). Conversely, differences were observed in the lipid digestion of LCTnanoparticles with a different initial lipid state (CO-LLN or HPO-SLN). As observed in the microscope images (Figure 3), the digesta of rats fed with nanoemulsions containing CO-LLN presented less lipid content in the duodenum and jejunum than the digesta of rats fed with those containing HPO-SLN, meaning that CO-LLN were digested faster than HPO-SLN. In this sense, it should be noted that the melting point of HPO (35 °C) was very close to the temperature of the rat intestine, meaning that HPO-SLN could present a semi-solid lipid state in the gastrointestinal system of rats, which may be slowing the digestion rate. Rats fed with nanoemulsions containing HPO-SLN presented the highest lipid content in the ileum, which confirm the slowed digestion. Indeed, previous authors have observed that the lipid digestion of SLN decreased when the percentage of HPO in a blended MCT:HPO lipid phase increased, detecting the lowest digestion rate and extent at 100% HPO (de Abreu-Martins et al., 2020). Nevertheless, digesta obtained from the colon of rats presented small lipid content, regardless of the nanoparticle type administered. This confirms that all the administered nanoemulsions were totally digested during their past through the intestine.

3.2.2. Curcuminoid concentration in rat plasma and tissues

After the oral administration of different nanoemulsions studied, the highest curcuminoid concentrations (curcumin, demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin) were found in the intestine of rats (Table 2). Moreover, rats fed with nanoemulsions containing CO-LLN exhibited the highest content of curcuminoids in the small intestine (\approx 10990 ng/g tissue). However, no significant differences were observed in the intestinal curcuminoid concentration of rats fed with nanoemulsions containing HPO-SLN, MG-LLN, or CN-SLN (4300-7500 ng/g tissue). In general, long-chain fatty acids resulting from the digestion of oils such as CO or HPO have been reported to form mixed micelles more easily than medium-chain fatty acids (Jiang et al., 2020). Moreover, the mixed micelles formed by long-chain fatty acids have a better solubilization capacity for lipophilic compounds such as curcumin than medium-chain

fatty acids because of the large dimensions of the hydrophobic core (Lin et al., 2022). However, the reduced curcuminoid concentration by using HPO-SLN in this work may be related to the slowed digestion rate of these systems. In addition, the concentration of curcuminoids in tissues decreased in the following order curcumin > demethoxycurcumin > bisdemethoxycurcumin (Table 2). This trend was expected as curcumin was the major component of the mixture of curcuminoids orally administered to rats (\geq 78%), followed by demethoxycurcumin (15%) and finally, bisdemethoxycurcumin (1%).

Curcumin glucuronide was also found in the ileum of rats in a concentration ranging from 56 to 267 ng/g tissue (Table 2). According to previous authors, glucuronidation of curcumin occurs in the intestine of rats due to the presence of the UDPglucuronosyltransferases in the intestinal mucosa (Ireson et al., 2001). Moreover, among rats, those fed with nanoemulsions containing CO-LLN presented the highest curcumin glucuronide concentration in the ileum ($\approx 267 \text{ ng/g}$ tissue), which may be a consequence of the highest absorption of curcumin detected using this type of nanoparticles. Nevertheless, the highest concentrations of curcumin glucuronide were detected in the plasma of rats, especially in the plasma of CO-LLN-fed rats (1612.63 ± 362.14 ng/mL). In contrast, the concentrations of free form curcuminoids in the plasma of rats were very low. Indeed, the same trend has been observed by previous authors investigating the bioavailability and metabolism of curcumin (Ozawa et al., 2017; Peng et al., 2018). Curcumin glucuronide was also present at small concentrations in other tissues such as liver, kidney, brown adipose tissue and white adipose tissue, presenting concentrations of about 10 - 25 ng/g tissue. However, these organs contained a higher concentration of free form curcumin (up to 1400 ng/g tissue) than curcumin glucuronide (Table 2). This information is of high relevance since some studies have revealed that free-from curcumin exhibits the highest therapeutic effects, while curcumin glucuronide shows reduced effect (Choudhury et al., 2015; Pandey et al., 2020; Shoji et al., 2014). Many authors have stated that lipophilic compounds enclosed in nanoparticles can be delivered into the lymphatic system by being incorporated in chylomicrons in the enterocytes (Makwana et al., 2015). Therefore, the encapsulated compounds, especially those highly lipophilic such as curcumin, can avoid hepatic first-pass metabolism (Paliwal et al., 2009; Porter et al., 2007; Trevaskis et al., 2015). This could explain the low

concentrations of curcuminoids found in the liver of the rats in our study and the presence of free forms in different organs. Among the non-intestinal tissues, the highest free-from curcumin concentrations were detected in brown adipose tissue, especially in rats fed with nanoemulsions containing CO-LLN (Table 2). Values of curcumin ranged from 460 to 1400 ng/g, while the concentrations in the white adipose tissue, liver and kidney were about 20 - 40 ng/g. The high presence of curcumin in brown adipose tissue is of high relevance, since previous works have demonstrated that the presence of curcumin in this tissue can play a relevant role in the prevention of obesity and its related metabolic disorders (Song et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2021).

Publications: Chapter VII

Table 2. Curcumin (CUR), demethoxycurcumin (DMC), bisdemethoxycurcumin (BDMC) and curcumin glucuronide (CUR GLUC) concentration in different rat tissues at after the oral administration of nanoemulsions containing liquid-lipid nanoparticles (LLN) or solid-lipid nanoparticles (SLN) and different lipids: corn oil (CO), miglyol (MG), hydrogenated palm oil (HPO), or coconut oil (CN).

	Lipid	Lipid	Concentration in tissue (ng/g tissue or mL plasma)								
	state	type	Duodenum	Jejunum	Ileum	Colon	Liver	Kidney	Brown adipose	White adipose	Plasma
CUR -	LLN	CO	$3840.81 \pm 1384.72 \ ^{\rm b}$	1168.84 ± 309.33 ^b	$2960.02 \pm 375.67 \ ^{b}$	311.97 ± 190.37 ^b	$23.67\pm6.30\ ^{a}$	18.03 ± 2.26 ^a	$1401.95 \pm 467.54 \ ^{\rm b}$	20.18 ± 11.53 ^a	6.79 ± 1.85 a
		MG	1091.78 ± 252.78 ^a	645.06 ± 175.05 $^{\rm a}$	$2309.49 \pm 639.94 \ ^{b}$	$49.50 \pm 36.41 \ ^{\rm a}$	30.38 ± 6.75 $^{\rm a}$	$20.18\pm2.38~^{ab}$	$529.18 \pm 248.62 \ ^{\rm a}$	$43.23 \pm 6.20 \ ^{b}$	6.97 ± 2.32 $^{\rm a}$
	SLN	HPO	2057.27 ± 807.71 ^a	1160.06 ± 363.59 ^b	2390.10 ± 738.26 ^b	74.71 ± 22.75 ^a	$22.72\pm3.16\ ^{a}$	$21.86\pm2.57~^{\rm b}$	460.69 ± 139.40 ^a	35.48 ± 15.18 ^{ab}	$5.76\pm2.80~^{a}$
		CN	1249.42 ± 361.39 ^a	600.81 ± 139.91 $^{\rm a}$	$1315.48 \pm 482.65 \ ^{\rm a}$	30.01 ± 13.44 $^{\rm a}$	19.42 ± 3.90 $^{\rm a}$	$19.96\pm2.75~^{ab}$	$535.45 \pm 242.51 \ ^{\rm a}$	31.16 ± 13.39 ab	7.60 ± 2.40 a
DMC -		CO	1025.20 ± 364.88 °	$276.27\pm67.53~^{b}$	$829.85 \pm 82.63\ ^{\rm c}$	$109.88 \pm 34.83 \ ^{b}$	17.70 ± 7.25 $^{\rm b}$	$31.10\pm17.63~^{\text{b}}$	314.45 ± 352.29 ^a	11.82 ± 2.95 ^a	2.55 ± 1.05 $^{\rm a}$
	LLN	MG	$349.64 \pm 124.89 \ ^{\rm a}$	153.20 ± 32.12 ^a	$514.26 \pm 215.69 \ ^{ab}$	19.51 ± 16.27 $^{\rm a}$	$13.23\pm1.77~^{ab}$	$21.42\pm4.43~^{\rm a}$	127.48 ± 15.08 ^a	16.93 ± 1.47 $^{\rm b}$	2.14 ± 0.76 $^{\rm a}$
	CLM	HPO	$640.35 \pm 274.57 \ ^{\rm b}$	$229.72 \pm 60.01 \ ^{\rm b}$	561.35 ± 207.54 ^b	17.25 ± 7.55 ^a	11.98 ± 3.60 ^a	$24.88\pm2.41~^{ab}$	92.71 ± 22.57 ª	14.21 ± 5.21 ab	2.96 ± 1.78 $^{\rm a}$
	SLN	CN	355.58 ± 72.65 ^a	129.42 ± 43.65 ^a	360.26 ± 136.11 ^a	4.99 ± 3.19 $^{\rm a}$	12.35 ± 3.34 ^a	$26.12\pm4.23~^{ab}$	$196.97 \pm 100.61 \ ^{\rm a}$	$15.25\pm2.68~^{ab}$	$3.38\pm1.14~^{a}$
BDMC -	LLN	СО	$208.26 \pm 70.45 \ ^{\rm b}$	$81.05\pm20.63~^{b}$	$160.24 \pm 12.42 \ ^{\rm b}$	$18.41\pm6.80\ ^{b}$	10.34 ± 1.54 $^{\rm a}$	$18.39 \pm 2.16 \ ^{b}$	$128.21 \pm 86.31 \ ^{\rm b}$	13.01 ± 6.59 ^a	1.16 ± 0.53 a
		MG	123.25 ± 46.79 ^a	$58.69 \pm 10.16 \ ^{ab}$	95.14 ± 44.79 ^a	8.58 ± 3.94 ^a	9.79 ± 1.08 a	15.58 ± 1.72 $^{\rm a}$	18.44 ± 6.20 ^a	11.13 ± 4.81 ^a	1.15 ± 0.74 a
	SLN	HPO	$134.89 \pm 101.81 \ ^{ab}$	$110.69 \pm 43.71 \ ^{\rm c}$	$156.39 \pm 44.79 \ ^{\rm b}$	6.56 ± 1.78 $^{\rm a}$	9.10 ± 2.29 $^{\rm a}$	19.43 ± 2.10 bc	19.57 ± 3.17 $^{\rm a}$	10.86 ± 2.09 ^a	1.31 ± 0.79 $^{\rm a}$
		CN	$137.63 \pm 33.67 \ ^{ab}$	$37.67 \pm 15.02 \ ^a$	80.30 ± 28.34 $^{\rm a}$	4.64 ± 1.35 $^{\rm a}$	9.40 ± 2.74 a	$21.11\pm3.38~^{c}$	$35.85 \pm 25.69 \ ^{ab}$	11.03 ± 2.45 $^{\rm a}$	$2.05\pm1.00~^{a}$
CUR GLUC	LLN	CO	ND	ND	266.92 ± 144.62 °	18.31 ± 7.51 b	11.86 ± 1.82 $^{\rm a}$	17.47 ± 1.51 $^{\rm b}$	$21.81\pm5.87~^{b}$	14.35 ± 7.42 ^a	$1612.63 \pm 362.14 \ ^{\text{b}}$
		MG	ND	ND	$172.19 \pm 113.61 \ ^{bc}$	$13.73\pm1.22~^{\rm a}$	11.99 ± 1.62 $^{\rm a}$	14.16 ± 1.99 $^{\rm a}$	$12.57\pm3.06~^a$	16.53 ± 2.73 $^{\rm a}$	$870.52 \pm 266.74 \ ^{\rm a}$
	SLN	HPO	ND	ND	55.59 ± 11.96 ª	11.35 ± 2.87 ^a	10.66 ± 3.32 ^a	18.02 ± 2.60 ^b	20.80 ± 1.53 ^{ab}	19.58 ± 3.58 ª	1003.77 ± 286.47 ^{ab}
		CN	ND	ND	$63.56 \pm 23.83 \ ^{ab}$	$13.08\pm2.91~^{\rm a}$	10.78 ± 1.99 $^{\rm a}$	19.35 ± 3.43 $^{\rm b}$	18.23 ± 3.49 ab	24.20 ± 7.41 $^{\rm a}$	$906.54 \pm 297.06 \ ^{ab}$

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among curcumin nanoparticles.

4. Conclusions

Stable nanoemulsion with small-sized nanoparticles (< 200 nm) have been obtained using different lipids (CO, MG, HPO, and CO). The lipid state (solid or liquid) had little effect on the initial properties of nanoemulsions, but those formulated using LCT presented higher physical stability than those containing MCT. After orally administered to rats, nanoemulsions containing MCT nanoparticles showed a faster digestibility than those with LCT. Moreover, HPO-SLN presented a slowed digestion rate due to the high melting point of HPO, near the body temperature (37 °C). Rats fed with nanoemulsions containing CO-LLN presented the highest absorption of curcuminoids, followed by those with HPO-SLN, MG-LLN, and CN-SLN. These results indicate that although LCT-based systems are known to better increase the absorption of curcuminoids, the lipid state of LCT-based nanoparticles plays a relevant role in curcuminoid absorption. Moreover, rats fed with nanoemulsions containing CO-LLN presented the highest glucuronide concentrations in plasma and the highest accumulation of curcumin free form, which has more biological activity, in the brown adipose tissue. The results obtained in this work provide relevant information on the design of curcumin-loaded nanoparticles to increase curcuminoid bioavailability and be used in the prevention of diseases such as obesity.

References

- Ahmed, K., Li, Y., McClements, D. J., & Xiao, H. (2012). Nanoemulsion- and emulsion-based delivery systems for curcumin: Encapsulation and release properties. Food Chemistry, 132(2), 799–807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.11.039
- Anand, P., Kunnumakkara, A. B., Newman, R. A., & Aggarwal, B. B. (2007). Bioavailability of curcumin: Problems and promises. Molecular Pharmaceutics, 4(6), 807–818. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp700113r
- Chirio, D., Peira, E., Dianzani, C., Muntoni, E., Gigliotti, C. L., Ferrara, B., Sapino, S., Chindamo, G., & Gallarate, M. (2019). Development of solid lipid nanoparticles by cold dilution of microemulsions: Curcumin loading, preliminary *in vitro* studies, and biodistribution. Nanomaterials, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/nano9020230
- Choudhury, A. K., Raja, S., Mahapatra, S., Nagabhushanam, K., & Majeed, M. (2015). Synthesis and evaluation of the anti-oxidant capacity of curcumin glucuronides, the major curcumin metabolites. Antioxidants, 4(4), 750–767. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox4040750

de Abreu-Martins, H., Artiga-Artigas, M., Hilsdorf Piccoli, R., Martín-Belloso, O., & Salvia-

Trujillo, L. (2020). The lipid type affects the *in vitro* digestibility and β -carotene bioaccessibility of liquid or solid lipid nanoparticles. Food Chemistry, 311, 126024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.126024

- Hu, L., Jia, Y., Niu, F., Jia, Z., Yang, X., & Jiao, K. (2012). Preparation and enhancement of oral bioavailability of curcumin using microemulsions vehicle. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 60(29), 7137–7141. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf204078t
- Ireson, C., Orr, S., Jones, D. J. L., Verschoyle, R., Lim, C. K., Luo, J. L., Howells, L., Plummer, S., Jukes, R., Williams, M., Steward, W. P., & Gescher, A. (2001). Characterization of metabolites of the chemopreventive agent curcumin in human and rat hepatocytes and in the rat *in vivo*, and evaluation of their ability to inhibit phorbol ester-induced prostaglandin E2production. Cancer Research, 61(3), 1058–1064. https://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/61/3/1058.short
- Jiang, T., & Charcosset, C. (2022). Encapsulation of curcumin within oil-in-water emulsions prepared by premix membrane emulsification: Impact of droplet size and carrier oil type on physicochemical stability and *in vitro* bioaccessibility. Food Chemistry, 375, 131825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.131825
- Jiang, T., Liao, W., & Charcosset, C. (2020). Recent advances in encapsulation of curcumin in nanoemulsions: A review of encapsulation technologies, bioaccessibility and applications. In Food Research International (Vol. 132, p. 109035). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109035
- Li, R., Qiao, X., Li, Q., He, R., Ye, M., Xiang, C., Lin, X., & Guo, D. (2011). Metabolic and pharmacokinetic studies of curcumin, demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin in mice tumor after intragastric administration of nanoparticle formulations by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography B: Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences, 879(26), 2751–2758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2011.07.042
- Li, Y., Hu, M., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Factors affecting lipase digestibility of emulsified lipids using an *in vitro* digestion model: Proposal for a standardised pH-stat method. Food Chemistry, 126(2), 498–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.11.027
- Lin, Y., Mcclements, D. J., Xiao, J., Cao, Y., & Liu, X. (2022). *In Vitro-In Vivo* Study of the Impact of Excipient Emulsions on the Bioavailability and Antioxidant Activity of Flavonoids: Influence of the Carrier Oil Type. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 71, 1488–1498. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.2c05836
- Liu, C., Cheng, F., & Yang, X. (2017). Fabrication of a Soybean Bowman-Birk Inhibitor (BBI) Nanodelivery Carrier To Improve Bioavailability of Curcumin. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 65(11), 2426–2434. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b00097
- Liu, Y., Siard, M., Adams, A., Keowen, M. L., Miller, T. K., Garza, F., Andrews, F. M., & Seeram, N. P. (2018). Simultaneous quantification of free curcuminoids and their metabolites in equine plasma by LC-ESI–MS/MS. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 154, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2018.03.014
- Lu, P. S., Inbaraj, B. S., & Chen, B. H. (2018). Determination of oral bioavailability of curcuminoid dispersions and nanoemulsions prepared from Curcuma longa Linnaeus. Journal

of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 98(1), 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.8437

- Luo, H., Li, Z., Yao, M., McClements, D. J., & Xiao, H. (2022). Impact of excipient emulsions made from different types of oils on the bioavailability and metabolism of curcumin in gastrointestinal tract. Food Chemistry, 370, 130980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.130980
- Majeed, H., Antoniou, J., Hategekimana, J., Sharif, H. R., Haider, J., Liu, F., Ali, B., Rong, L., Ma, J., & Zhong, F. (2016). Influence of carrier oil type, particle size on invitro lipid digestion and eugenol release in emulsion and nanoemulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 52, 415–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2015.07.009
- Makwana, V., Jain, R., Patel, K., Nivsarkar, M., & Joshi, A. (2015). Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) of Efavirenz as lymph targeting drug delivery system: Elucidation of mechanism of uptake using chylomicron flow blocking approach. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 495(1), 439–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.09.014
- Marciani, L., Wickham, M. S. J., Bush, D., Faulks, R., Wright, J., Fillery-Travis, A. J., Spiller, R. C., & Gowland, P. A. (2006). Magnetic resonance imaging of the behaviour of oil-in-water emulsions in the gastric lumen of man. British Journal of Nutrition, 95(2), 331–339. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn20051628
- Nazari-Vanani, R., Moezi, L., & Heli, H. (2017). *In vivo* evaluation of a self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery system for curcumin. Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy, 88, 715–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.01.102
- Nik, A. M., Langmaid, S., & Wright, A. J. (2012). Digestibility and β-carotene release from lipid nanodispersions depend on dispersed phase crystallinity and interfacial properties. Food and Function, 3(3), 234–245. https://doi.org/10.1039/c1fo10201j
- Ozawa, H., Imaizumi, A., Sumi, Y., Hashimoto, T., Kanai, M., Makino, Y., Tsuda, T., Takahashi, N., & Kakeya, H. (2017). Curcumin β-D-glucuronide plays an important role to keep high levels of free-form curcumin in the blood. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin, 40(9), 1515–1524. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b17-00339
- Paliwal, R., Rai, S., Vaidya, B., Khatri, K., Goyal, A. K., Mishra, N., Mehta, A., & Vyas, S. P. (2009). Effect of lipid core material on characteristics of solid lipid nanoparticles designed for oral lymphatic delivery. Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine, 5(2), 184– 191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2008.08.003
- Pandey, A., Chaturvedi, M., Mishra, S., Kumar, P., Somvanshi, P., & Chaturvedi, R. (2020). Reductive metabolites of curcumin and their therapeutic effects. In Heliyon (Vol. 6, Issue 11, p. e05469). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05469
- Peng, S., Li, Z., Zou, L., Liu, W., Liu, C., & McClements, D. J. (2018). Enhancement of Curcumin Bioavailability by Encapsulation in Sophorolipid-Coated Nanoparticles: An *in Vitro* and *in Vivo* Study. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 66(6), 1488–1497. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b05478
- Porter, C. J. H., Trevaskis, N. L., & Charman, W. N. (2007). Lipids and lipid-based formulations: Optimizing the oral delivery of lipophilic drugs. In Nature Reviews Drug Discovery (Vol. 6, Issue 3, pp. 231–248). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2197

- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013a). Modulating βcarotene bioaccessibility by controlling oil composition and concentration in edible nanoemulsions. Food Chemistry, 139(1–4), 878–884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.02.024
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013b). Modulating βcarotene bioaccessibility by controlling oil composition and concentration in edible nanoemulsions. Food Chemistry, 139(1–4), 878–884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.02.024
- Salvia-Trujillo, Laura, Verkempinck, S., Rijal, S. K., Van Loey, A., Grauwet, T., & Hendrickx, M. (2019). Lipid nanoparticles with fats or oils containing β-carotene: Storage stability and *in vitro* digestibility kinetics. Food Chemistry, 278, 396–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.11.039
- Sarheed, O., Dibi, M., & Ramesh, K. V. R. N. S. (2020). Studies on the effect of oil and surfactant on the formation of alginate-based O/W lidocaine nanocarriers using nanoemulsion template. Pharmaceutics, 12(12), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12121223
- Shoji, M., Nakagawa, K., Watanabe, A., Tsuduki, T., Yamada, T., Kuwahara, S., Kimura, F., & Miyazawa, T. (2014). Comparison of the effects of curcumin and curcumin glucuronide in human hepatocellular carcinoma HepG2 cells. Food Chemistry, 151, 126–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.11.021
- Song, Z., Revelo, X., Shao, W., Tian, L., Zeng, K., Lei, H., Sun, H. S., Woo, M., Winer, D., & Jin, T. (2018). Dietary Curcumin Intervention Targets Mouse White Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Brown Adipose Tissue UCP1 Expression. Obesity, 26(3), 547–558. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22110
- Strimpakos, A. S., & Sharma, R. A. (2008). Curcumin: Preventive and therapeutic properties in laboratory studies and clinical trials. In Antioxidants and Redox Signaling (Vol. 10, Issue 3, pp. 511–545). Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 2 Madison Avenue Larchmont, NY 10538 USA. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2007.1769
- Trevaskis, N. L., Kaminskas, L. M., & Porter, C. J. H. (2015). From sewer to saviour-targeting the lymphatic system to promote drug exposure and activity. In Nature Reviews Drug Discovery (Vol. 14, Issue 11, pp. 781–803). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4608
- Verkempinck, S. H. E., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Moens, L. G., Charleer, L., Van Loey, A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2018). Emulsion stability during gastrointestinal conditions effects lipid digestion kinetics. Food Chemistry, 246(July 2017), 179–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.11.001
- Weiss, J., Decker, E. A., McClements, D. J., Kristbergsson, K., Helgason, T., & Awad, T. (2008). Solid lipid nanoparticles as delivery systems for bioactive food components. Food Biophysics, 3(2), 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11483-008-9065-8/FIGURES/6
- Zhang, R., Zhang, Z., Zhang, H., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2015). Influence of lipid type on gastrointestinal fate of oil-in-water emulsions: *In vitro* digestion study. Food Research International, 75, 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODRES.2015.05.014

Zhu, X., Du, S., Yan, Q., Min, C., Zhou, N., Zhou, W., & Li, X. (2021). Dietary curcumin supplementation promotes browning and energy expenditure in postnatal overfed rats. Nutrition and Metabolism, 18(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12986-021-00625-5

GENERAL DISCUSSION

GENERAL DISCUSSION

In this doctoral thesis, the properties and functionality of different emulsion-based delivery systems were studied. In this regard, the discussion of the results obtained is divided into four sections according to the type of system studied. Section I focuses on oil-in-water (O/W) nanoemulsions. Section II includes the discussion about double water-in-oil-in-water emulsions ($W_1/O/W_2$). Section III discusses about highly-concentrated emulsions. Finally, section IV focuses on nanoparticles. Moreover, a general overview of the benefits and limitations of emulsion-based delivery systems is included at the end of the section.

SECTION I: O/W NANOEMULSIONS

1.1. Impact of the emulsifier used on the properties and functionality of nanoemulsions

Emulsifiers are important molecules in the formulation of nanoemulsions since they contribute to the formation and stabilization of nanoemulsions. These molecules present an amphiphilic structure, containing both lipophilic and hydrophilic groups. Emulsifiers are adsorbed at the oil-water interface of nanoemulsions, so they are supposed to modify the properties of these systems and also their functionality. In this regard, the influence of different emulsifiers (soybean lecithin, whey protein isolate and sodium caseinate) on the properties and functionality of nanoemulsions containing β -carotene or curcumin was assessed in chapters II, III and IV.

1.1.1. Effect of the emulsifier used on the physicochemical properties of nanoemulsions

Curcumin-loaded nanoemulsion formulated with soybean lecithin showed smaller particle sizes ($343.8 \pm 9.7 \text{ nm}$) in comparison to that formulated with whey protein ($462.4 \pm 14.7 \text{ nm}$) (chapter II). These differences were attributed to the higher capacity of soybean lecithin to reduce the interfacial tension in the oil-water interface (up to 14.66 mN/m) rather than whey protein (up to 20.52 mN/m). Conversely, in β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions (chapter III and IV), smaller particle sizes were observed by using protein-based emulsifiers (whey protein or sodium caseinate) rather than lecithin. The different emulsifier-type trends observed between curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions and β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions can be related to different factors. First, the concentration of oil in these emulsions was different, being so much lower in those with curcumin (5%) than in those with β -carotene (10-30%). In this regard, it seems that the efficiency of the emulsifier to obtain small particle sizes depends on the concentration of oil present in nanoemulsions. In nanoemulsions containing high amounts of oil, the high capacity of protein emulsifiers to avoid recoalescence due to the formation of a viscoelastic film surrounding lipid droplets (Fuentes et al., 2021), was more determinant to obtain small particle sizes than the capacity of lecithin to quickly reduce the interfacial tension. Second, the surfactant-oil-ratio (SOR) in curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions was 1, while it was 0.4 in β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions. In that sense, at a low SOR (0.4) nanoemulsions containing protein emulsifiers presented smaller particle sizes than those with the phospholipid. However, at a high SOR (1), this trend was reversed. Previous authors have observed that a phospholipid-based emulsifier was more efficient than Tween to reduce particle sizes at low a SOR (0.1-0.5), but that the trend was reversed at a high SOR (1) (Komaiko et al., 2015). In this regard, it seems that phospholipid-based emulsifiers are highly effective at low SOR, but not at high SOR. In contrast, proteinbased or synthetic emulsifiers seem to be more effective than phospholipids-based at high SOR. Third, curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions were formulated using ultrasounds, while those with β -carotene were obtained by microfluidization.

In this doctoral thesis, all studied nanoemulsions presented negative ζ -potential values, irrespective of the emulsifier used. The ζ -potential of emulsions can be related to the physical system stability. Emulsions presenting ζ -potential values more positive than +30 mV or more negative than -30 mV are normally considered to be electrically stable, since it is assumed that repulsive forces are strong enough between droplets (Gref & Couvreur, 2006; Preetz et al., 2010). The emulsifier type showed to influence the electrical charge of nanoemulsions. Indeed, nanoemulsions containing whey protein as emulsifier showed a less negative value (\approx -36 mV) than those formulated using sodium caseinate (\approx -47 mV) or soybean lecithin (\approx -55 mV). The highest negative values observed in soybean lecithin nanoemulsion were conferred by the phosphate groups that were highly negatively charged at the neutral pH of the nanoemulsions (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018). Otherwise, in whey protein and sodium caseinate nanoemulsions, the

negative ζ -potential was due to the fact that their pH was above the pI of the proteins (\approx 5), so the ionizable groups were deprotonated and the net charge was negative (Hu et al., 2003; Surh et al., 2006). Moreover, nanoemulsions formulated using soybean lecithin showed better physical stability than those formulated using whey protein (chapter II). Although both emulsifier-type nanoemulsions presented creaming, this phenomenon appeared earlier in nanoemulsions containing whey protein (from day 3) than in those with soybean lecithin (from day 6). In that sense, the higher stability observed in lecithin nanoemulsion can be related to its more negative ζ -potential value, in comparison to the whey protein nanoemulsion that presented a less negative ζ -potential. In whey protein nanoemulsion, the repulsion among droplets may be lower, resulting in the flocculation or coalescence of droplets, phenomena that usually ends with the appearance of creaming (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2012).

The highest viscosity was observed in nanoemulsion formulated with sodium caseinate (50 mPa·s) which was so much higher than those nanoemulsions containing soybean lecithin or whey protein (chapter IV). Such a high viscosity of sodium caseinate nanoemulsions was attributed to the aggregation of droplets that presented this system (Pitkowski et al., 2008). In general, no noticeable differences were observed between the viscosity of nanoemulsions containing soybean lecithin or whey protein as emulsifiers. However, in some experiments, nanoemulsions with soybean lecithin presented a slightly lower viscosity than those with whey protein, as is the case of β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions containing 10% or 20% of oil. Therefore, it seems that the effect that the emulsifier type had on the viscosity of the samples depends on the oil content, which will be discussed in section 1.3.

1.1.2. Effect of the emulsifier used on the in vitro lipid digestibility of nanoemulsions

The *in vitro* lipid digestibility in emulsion-based systems refers to the study of the hydrolysis of lipid droplets, which produce free fatty acids, diacylglycerols and monoacylglycerols. In this doctoral thesis, all studied nanoemulsions formulated using whey protein as emulsifier exhibited a faster free fatty acid release than those formulated using soybean lecithin. Indeed, after 5 min of digestion, curcumin nanoemulsions (chapter II) with whey protein presented 26% of free fatty acids released, while in those with soybean lecithin it was 2.3%. In the same way, the lipid digestibility in β -carotene

nanoemulsion containing 20% oil (chapter IV) at 5 minutes was higher for protein nanoemulsions (12-15%) rather than for that formulated using the phospholipid (8%). After 10 minutes of digestion, protein nanoemulsion still showed a higher digestibility (30%) than that with soybean lecithin (15%). On the one hand, such a faster digestibility during the first minutes of intestinal digestion in protein nanoemulsion may be related to their particle size when entering the intestine. Protein-based nanoemulsions (those with whey protein or sodium caseinate) presented smaller particle sizes when entering the simulated intestinal phase than those with soybean lecithin. Such a difference was a consequence of the instability phenomena observed in the emulsion during gastric digestion. Protein-based nanoemulsions were prone to flocculation in the stomach due to the proteolysis and/or the reduced electrostatic repulsion that presented those emulsions in that stage by the protonation of the amino groups at the pH 3 of the stomach (Mantovani et al., 2013; Park et al., 2018). However, the droplets in these nanoemulsions were redispersed when entering the intestinal phase due to the electrostatic stabilization of these systems at the pH of the simulated intestine (7). In contrast, in phospholipidbased nanoemulsions, irreversible coalescence of droplets occurred during gastric and intestinal digestion reducing the access of lipase to the substrate. On the other hand, protein-based emulsifiers presented a lower surface activity than the phospholipid and they were more likely to be partially digested by pepsin. Thus, protein nanoemulsions may present a relatively weak interfacial layer and facilitate the absorption of bile salts and or/lipase (Lv et al., 2019). At the end of the intestinal digestion, both protein and phospholipid-based nanoemulsions presented the same free fatty acid release extent in most of the experiments. Nanoemulsions containing 5%, 20% or 30% oil showed a final digestibility of 65%, 43% and 38%, respectively. In contrast, in chapter III, nanoemulsions containing 10% oil the final digestibility was higher in whey protein (60%) nanoemulsions than in those containing soybean lecithin (40%). Therefore, not only the emulsifier used, but other parameters such as the oil content or the concentration of emulsifier can play an important role in the digestibility of nanoemulsions.

1.1.3. Effect of the emulsifier used on the in vitro bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound in nanoemulsions

When lipid droplets are digested, the lipophilic bioactive encapsulated compounds are

released and incorporated into mixed micelles, from where they can be absorbed in the small intestine. The term bioaccessibility can be defined as the fraction of the compound released from the delivery vehicle that is present within the gastrointestinal fluids in a form suitable for absorption (Marze, 2017; McClements, 2018).

Nanoemulsions formulated with whey protein as emulsifier presented the highest curcumin (70%) and β -carotene (65-70%) in vitro bioaccessibility, irrespective of the oil concentration (chapters II, III, and IV). In contrast, the bioaccessibility of curcumin and β-carotene enclosed in nanoemulsions formulated using soybean lecithin was relatively lower, being $\approx 60\%$ and $\approx 20\%$, respectively. Such a high bioaccessibility obtained by using whey protein may be related to the high free radical scavenging and iron chelation properties of milk proteins that offer great protection from chemical degradation (Chen et al., 2018). Specifically, whey proteins may provide high protection against β -carotene degradation during gastrointestinal digestion. After peptic and trypsin digestion, whey proteins are hydrolysed into peptides with increased antioxidant capacity (Embiriekah et al., 2018). These results were confirmed by the quantification of curcumin degradation during in vitro gastrointestinal digestion (chapter II). In this study, curcumin presented less degradation during digestion when enclosed in nanoemulsions with whey protein (28%) than in those with soybean lecithin (33%). In contrast, the lower bioaccessibility observed using the phospholipid-based nanoemulsions may be attributed to the low capacity of the phospholipid emulsifier to inhibit oxidation during digestion.

Sodium caseinate was also studied as emulsifier of nanoemulsions containing β -carotene (chapter IV). In this experiment, the bioaccessibility of β -carotene enclosed in nanoemulsions formulated using whey protein was the highest (68%), followed by sodium caseinate (55.5%) and soybean lecithin (20%). This study revealed that although protein emulsifiers seem to be more effective in increasing β -carotene bioaccessibility than phospholipids, not all proteins are equally effective in preventing compound oxidation. Such a difference between the two studied proteins (whey protein and sodium caseinate) may be related to the structure of both proteins. Sodium caseinate is less effective in preventing oxidation due to the chelating properties and electrostatic interactions of adsorbed casein molecules that favour the positioning of transition metal ions on the surfaces (Villiere et al., 2005). In contrast, whey protein is more efficient

preventing oxidation due to its ability to inactivate peroxyl radicals (Osborn & Akoh, 2004; Tong et al., 2000). Moreover, it has a more compact structure and a lack of phosphate groups, which could limit the ability to bind iron, avoiding oxidation (Guzun-Cojocaru et al., 2011).

1.1.4. Effect of the emulsifier used on the in vivo bioavailability of the compound encapsulated in nanoemulsions

To study the bioavailability, metabolism and biodistribution of lipophilic compounds in the organism, *in vivo* studies are required. In this doctoral thesis, bioavailability studies were performed using Sprague-Dawley rats as an animal model. The impact of the emulsifier type on the bioavailability of β -carotene is reported in chapters III and IV. In chapter III, bioavailability results based on the pharmacokinetics of the compound after its oral administration were discussed. In chapter IV, the focus was on the metabolism and biodistribution of the compound and its main metabolite (retinol) in the different organs.

During the intestinal digestion of the emulsion-based delivery systems, β -carotene is released from the lipid droplets and incorporated into the mixed micelles to be absorbed in the small intestine. After, the mixed micelles that can penetrate the mucus layer, arrive at the brush borders of the epithelium cells, where they are broken down and release the encapsulated compounds into the enterocyte (Sabet et al., 2021). In chapter III, the pharmacokinetic study revealed that the main compound present in the plasma of rats after the oral administration of nanoemulsions and the control suspension (nonencapsulated compound) was retinol, which is the active form of vitamin A. Once β carotene is absorbed in the intestinal mucosa, it is converted to retinal by β -carotene-15,15' oxygenase 1 (BCO1), and the retinal is then reduced to retinol by a retinal reductase (Paik et al., 2001). Moreover, all studied nanoemulsion-delivery systems increased the bioavailability of retinol when compared to the suspension. These results evidenced that, by encapsulating β -carotene in nanoemulsions, the bioavailability of vitamin A improved. Moreover, the area under the plasma concentration-time curve (AUC) of retinol, which indicates the total content of compound present in the plasma of rats during the studied period, was much higher in whey protein nanoemulsion-fed rats (3051 ng·h·mL⁻¹) rather than in soybean lecithin nanoemulsion-fed rats (2335) ng·h·mL⁻¹). These results can be related to the *in vitro* observations since whey protein nanoemulsions ($\approx 17\%$) exhibited a greater β-carotene bioaccessibility under simulated intestinal conditions rather than those with soybean lecithin ($\approx 45\%$). The use of milk proteins has been shown to enhance the bioactive compound bioavailability in nanoemulsions (Niu et al., 2020). The mechanisms are not completely understood, but it is suggested that proteins could participate in the formation of mixed micelles and increase drug absorption. In fact, previous studies have reported the high affinity of βlactoglobulin for retinol (Mensi et al., 2013)

The biodistribution study revealed that the β -carotene absorption in the intestine was greatly increased when the bioactive compound was enclosed in a nanoemulsion system rather than administered in suspension (chapter IV). The presence of oil in nanoemulsions could have enhanced the absorption of β -carotene since the co-ingestion of carotenoids with lipids has been reported to enhance its absorption (Brown et al., 2004; Goltz et al., 2012). Moreover, according to previous works, the presence of emulsifiers could have reduced the interfacial tension and increased the membrane fluidity enhancing the absorption of the bioactive compounds in the intestinal cells (Pan-On et al., 2022). Higher absorption was detected in rats fed with protein-based nanoemulsions than in those fed with a phospholipid-based nanoemulsion. Indeed, these results are in accordance with our *in vitro* observations, in which the bioaccessibility was higher using whey protein or sodium caseinate rather than soybean lecithin.

Orally administered β -carotene was conversed to retinol and was found mainly in the latter form in rat tissues. Moreover, emulsion-fed rats presented higher retinol concentrations than suspension-fed rats as a consequence of the greater β -carotene absorption by using nanoemulsions. Again, differences were observed depending on the emulsifier used, being whey protein and sodium caseinate nanoemulsions the systems that promoted the highest retinol concentrations, especially in the duodenum (up to 250 ng/g tissue), liver (up to 3253 ng/g tissue) and kidney (up to 2324 ng/g tissue) of rats. This fact can be attributed to the presence of higher levels of β -carotene in the intestinal cells of rats fed with protein nanoemulsions rather than with the nanoemulsion containing soybean lecithin. However, although adipose tissue is an important site of β -carotene accumulation in humans, it was not detected in rats in this study. In fact,
previous studies have also failed to detect this compound in rat adipose tissue after administration, even after chronic feeding (Lakshman et al., 1989; Parker, 1988). In contrast, retinol was quantified in the adipose tissue of rats, although no differences were detected among rats fed with different β -carotene carriers ($\approx 200 \text{ ng/g}$ tissue). Indeed, previous authors reported that adipose tissue plays an important role in retinol storage and retinol-binding protein (RBP) synthesis (Zovich et al., 1992).

Interestingly, the liver and plasma of suspension-fed rats presented a lower concentration of β -carotene (64 ng/g and 43 ng/mL, respectively) rather than retinol (746 ng/g and 104 ng/mL, respectively). In contrast, the plasma of nanoemulsion-fed rats presented a higher concentration of β -carotene (\approx 1300 ng/mL) rather than retinol (\approx 400 ng/mL) and similar values were detected in the liver. This suggests that the metabolism of β carotene could be different when orally administered enclosed in nanoemulsions than in suspension. Although β -carotene is usually cleaved into retinol in the intestine, it can also follow another pathway. Intact β -carotene can escape the intestinal cleavage by being incorporated into chylomicrons and released by exocytosis to the lymphatic system for delivery to the bloodstream and eventually directed to the liver (Rodriguez-Concepcion et al., 2018). Therefore, it seems that by using the suspension, β -carotene is more likely to be cleaved into retinol in the intestinal cells, whereas the use of nanoemulsions appears to promote the lymphatic pathway, therefore, showing high levels of intact β -carotene in the plasma and liver.

1.2. Impact of polysaccharide addition on the properties and functionality of nanoemulsions

Polysaccharides are polymeric carbohydrate molecules composed of long chains of monosaccharides units bound by glycosidic bonds (Guo et al., 2017). These molecules can present different structural properties, which will determine their functional properties. Usually, polysaccharides are added to nanoemulsions in order to enhance their stability. These molecules are normally dissolved in the aqueous phase acting as thickening agents. Nevertheless, some polysaccharides can adsorb at the oil-water interface. Therefore, the presence of polysaccharides can modify the physical properties of nanoemulsions, but also their stability during digestion, lipid digestibility or compound bioaccessibility. In this doctoral thesis, the influence of different

polysaccharides on the properties and functionality of nanoemulsions were assessed in chapters I and II. In chapter I, the effect of citrus pectin at different concentrations (0, 1 and 2%) was studied on β -carotene-loaded nanoemulsions formulated using Tween 20 as emulsifier. In chapter II the effect of sodium alginate addition was investigated on curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions formulated using different emulsifiers: soybean lecithin or whey protein.

1.2.1. Effect of the polysaccharide addition on the physicochemical properties of nanoemulsions

Citrus pectin at different concentrations (0, 1, 2%) was added into nanoemulsions formulated using Tween 20 as the main emulsifier (chapter I). The addition of pectin reduced the particle size of nanoemulsions when compared to the control nanoemulsion (without pectin). Such a reduction is suggested to be a result of a competitive effect between Tween 20 and pectin since both present affinity for the interface. Previous authors have also reported this phenomenon, reporting that Tween 20, which has a lower molecular weight than pectin, may move faster to the interface, leading to small particle sizes (Verkempinck et al., 2018). In addition, by adding the polysaccharide, the viscosity of nanoemulsions was increased, up to 19.77 mPa·s in nanoemulsions could have enhanced the particle size reduction by increasing the disruptive shear stresses (Qian & McClements, 2011).

The addition of sodium alginate at different concentrations (0, 0.5, 1, 1.5%) into nanoemulsions containing soybean lecithin or whey protein as emulsifiers was studied in chapter II. The obtained results showed that, when adding the polysaccharide into a nanoemulsion containing soybean lecithin, the particle size was reduced. As observed using pectin, such a reduction can be produced by the increased viscosity that enhanced the shear disruptive forces during the homogenization process. Indeed, the addition of sodium alginate to nanoemulsions noticeably increased the viscosity of the systems, up to 110 mPa·s when using 1.5% polysaccharide. In contrast, the particle size of nanoemulsion containing whey protein was increased when sodium alginate was added, being the higher the polysaccharide concentration, the higher the particle size. In this nanoemulsion, although the viscosity was increased it presented extensive flocculation

when the polysaccharide was added, which resulted in high particle sizes. The aggregation of droplets observed in whey protein nanoemulsions may be a consequence of non-adsorbed polymer molecules that were present in the aqueous phase surrounding the lipid droplets (Dickinson et al., 1997; McClements, 2015).

The ζ -potential of nanoemulsions containing Tween 20 became less negative when pectin was added to the systems (chapter I). Control nanoemulsion presented a ζ -potential of -21 mV, while those containing pectin presented a value of about -7.5 mV, irrespective of the polysaccharide concentration used. The negative electrical charge observed in Tween 20 nanoemulsions without pectin can be a consequence of a preferential absorption of OH- species from water to the oil-water interface (McClements, 2005; Mun et al., 2007).

These results can be related to those of the physical stability study, which revealed a decrease in the physical stability when pectin was added to nanoemulsions. The incorporation of pectin promoted the creaming phenomenon, which was observed since day 2. Previous authors have observed the flocculation of droplets, and consequently, the appearance of creaming when citrus pectin was added at concentrations of $\geq 0.02\%$ in emulsion-based systems (Beysseriat et al., 2006; Celus et al., 2018). It seems that when pectin is added at low concentrations, the repulsive interactions between droplets are sufficiently large to overcome the attractive interactions, but there is a critical concentration of the polymer over which the attraction is sufficiently strong to promote flocculation of droplets, and thereby, creaming occurs (McClements, 2000; Schmidt et al., 2015).

Conversely, the ζ -potential of nanoemulsions became more negative when sodium alginate was added to nanoemulsions containing soybean lecithin or whey protein as emulsifiers (chapter II). Moreover, in both emulsifier-type nanoemulsions, the higher the polysaccharide concentration, the more negative the ζ -potential was. This fact was mainly attributed to the flocculation phenomenon that was observed in the microscope observations. Flocculation on these nanoemulsions may be a consequence of non-adsorbed sodium alginate molecules forming a network structure surrounding the oil droplets. Therefore, since sodium alginate has an anionic character due to the carboxylate and hydroxyl groups present in its molecule (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2018),

the presence of this layer contributed to the negative electrical charge of nanoemulsions. As in chapter I, ζ -potential values can be related to the physical stability of the nanoemulsions. In that sense, the addition of sodium alginate increased the stability of nanoemulsion over time, especially at a 1.5% concentration. In this sense, although flocculation was observed in these nanoemulsions, their high viscosity may have decreased the movement of droplets, preventing the formation of creaming (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2016).

1.2.2. Effect of the polysaccharide addition on the in vitro lipid digestibility of nanoemulsions

The presence of pectin did not affect the digestibility of nanoemulsions containing Tween 20 as emulsifier (chapter I). Indeed, nanoemulsions containing 0, 1 or 2% of pectin did not show differences in the free fatty acid release profile, nor on the final extent, which was about 80%. At pH 7 of the intestine, pectin may not be adsorbed at the interface but would be remaining in the aqueous phase. Therefore, the polysaccharide may not be interfering with the lipolysis process. In fact, other anionic biopolymers such as fucoidan had also shown no effect on lipid digestibility when they are used in combination with small molecule surfactants (Chang & McClements, 2016).

The presence of sodium alginate reduced the digestibility of nanoemulsions containing whey protein or soybean lecithin as emulsifiers (chapter II). The increase in the viscosity of the nanoemulsions by adding sodium alginate could have slowed molecular diffusion, reducing the mobility of species involved in intestinal digestion (Dima & Dima, 2020; Espinal-Ruiz et al., 2014; Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2019). Moreover, the anionic alginate molecules could strongly bind to cationic calcium ions, thereby preventing the removal of free fatty acids from the surfaces by calcium and slowing lipid digestion down digestion (Li et al., 2011). However, the reduction was more pronounced in nanoemulsions containing whey protein (20% less digestibility using 1.5% alginate) than in those containing soybean lecithin (10% less digestibility using 1.5% alginate). This difference could be related to the phenomena observed during gastric digestion which determined the particle size of the droplets as they entered the intestinal phase. On the one hand, protein nanoemulsions showed aggregation, due to the formation of electrostatic complexes between whey protein and sodium alginate (Li et al., 2021). As

a result, when they entered the intestinal environment, the aggregated droplets presented a large size and small surface area, reducing lipase access to the lipid substrate and, therefore, the overall lipid digestibility (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013). On the other hand, soybean lecithin nanoemulsions did not show aggregation during the gastric phase as both the emulsifier and alginate were negatively charged at stomach pH (3). As a result, the soybean lecithin nanoemulsions had smaller particle sizes, increasing the surface area available for intestinal enzymes.

1.2.3. Effect of the polysaccharide addition on the in vitro bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound in nanoemulsions

The addition of pectin into nanoemulsions formulated using Tween 20 as emulsifier increased the bioaccessibility of β -carotene, which was about 21% without pectin. Moreover, the higher the pectin concentration, the greater the bioaccessibility, reaching maximum values of about 37% in nanoemulsions with 2% pectin. It should be noted that all nanoemulsions in this study exhibited the same amount of free fatty acids at the end of the intestinal digestion, so it seems that other factors influenced the bioaccessibility of β -carotene. Some authors have noted that lipid availability for mixed micelle formation is not always correlated with the bioaccessibility of β -carotene (Verrijssen et al., 2016). In this regard, in this doctoral thesis, the flocculation of droplets could have acted as a steric barrier, reducing the compound degradation during its pass through the gastrointestinal tract and enhancing the β -carotene bioaccessibility. Indeed, the highest bioaccessibility observed in the nanoemulsion with 2% of pectin must be due to the greater flocculation and formation of gels in the gastric phase, as a consequence of a higher amount of pectin present in the aqueous phase.

The addition of sodium alginate reduced the bioaccessibility of curcumin, regardless of the emulsifier used. In these nanoemulsions, the higher the polysaccharide concentration, the lower the curcumin bioaccessibility was. This fact may be related to the lipolysis results, which followed the same trend. Therefore, in these nanoemulsions, since the lipid digestibility was noticeably reduced when adding the polysaccharide, part of curcumin could be entrapped in the non-digested lipid fraction. In fact, the same phenomenon was been also reported by previous authors using other delivery systems enclosing curcumin (Zhang et al., 2016) or quercetin (Chen et al., 2018).

1.3. Impact of oil concentration on the properties and functionality of nanoemulsions

In chapter III, nanoemulsions enclosing β -carotene from alga *Dunaliella Salina* were formulated using 10 or 30% of oil to study the impact of oil concentration on their properties and functionality. Moreover, the study was performed using two different emulsifiers, whey protein or soybean lecithin. Since the effect of the emulsifier has been analyzed in previous sections, in the present section the discussion will focus on the impact of the oil concentration.

1.3.1. Effect of the oil concentration on the physicochemical properties of nanoemulsions

The viscosity was directly related to the oil concentration, being higher in nanoemulsions with 30% oil content (37 mPa·s) than in nanoemulsions with 10% oil content (1.7-2 mPa·s). This increased viscosity may be a consequence of the high packing state of droplets in these emulsions when increasing the oil concentration, as stated by previous authors (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019). Moreover, the oil concentration had a different effect on nanoemulsions, depending on the emulsifier used. In the case of soybean lecithin nanoemulsions, by increasing the oil content from 10% to 30%, the mean particle size decreased and the particle size distribution became more polydisperse. The higher viscosity of the nanoemulsion containing 30% of oil compared to those with 10% may have increased the shear disruptive stresses favouring droplet fragmentation (Qian & McClements, 2011). Conversely, the mean particle size of whey protein nanoemulsions increased when the oil content was augmented from 10% to 30%. Such an increase in nanoemulsions formulated with whey protein could be a consequence of the flocculation of droplets. By increasing the volume of oil and emulsifier, droplets became closer and aggregation was favoured, leading to aggregates of high size. In contrast, the electrical charge of emulsions was not affected by the oil content. The ζ-potential values, mainly provided by the presence of an emulsifier, were the same for all oil concentrations due to the equal surfactant-oil ratio.

1.3.2. Effect of the oil concentration on the in vitro lipid digestibility of nanoemulsions

The effect of oil content on lipid digestibility was different depending on the emulsifier used. In whey protein nanoemulsions, the free fatty acids release was slower in nanoemulsions containing 30% oil concentration rather than in those with 10%. Moreover, the final extent of free fatty acids release was about 61% in nanoemulsions with 10% of oil, while in those with 30%, oil it was about 35%. The lower digestibility observed by increasing the oil concentration may be related to the viscosity of the nanoemulsions, which increased from 2.14 mPa·s in 10% oil nanoemulsions to 9.7 mPa·s in those with 30%. In this sense, the high viscosity of nanoemulsions containing 30% of oil may have reduced the intestinal enzyme diffusion process, thereby, decreasing the lipolysis (Espinal-Ruiz et al., 2014). Moreover, the ratio of lipase-to-fat and calcium-to-free-fatty-acid decreased as the oil concentration increased, reducing the rate of lipolysis and increasing the accumulation of free fatty acids on the interface of droplets (Li et al., 2011). In contrast, although soybean lecithin nanoemulsions were digested faster when containing 10% oil than 30% oil, both nanoemulsions presented the same final extent of free fatty acids release ($\approx 43\%$). In these nanoemulsions, the difference in viscosity was not as higher as in protein nanoemulsions when entering the intestinal phase. Indeed, values of viscosity in 10% oil nanoemulsion and 30% oil nanoemulsions were about 1.31 mPa·s and 2.96 mPa·s, respectively.

1.3.3. Effect of the oil concentration on the in vitro bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound in nanoemulsions

The β -carotene bioaccessibility was reduced by increasing the oil concentration from 10% to 30%, regardless of the emulsifier used. On the one hand, the reduction in whey protein nanoemulsions can be related to the digestibility results. Whey protein nanoemulsion containing 30% of oil presented a lower digestibility and a lower bioaccessibility than that with 10% of oil. Therefore, in more digested nanoemulsions (10% oil nanoemulsions), a higher amount of compound was released and incorporated into the mixed micelles. On the other hand, the decrease in soybean lecithin nanoemulsions when increasing the oil content can be related to the higher amount of emulsifier present in 30% oil nanoemulsion compared to that with 10% oil. Previous

works have reported that the low β -carotene bioaccessibility observed using lysolecithin as emulsifier may be due to the precipitation of β -carotene (Tan et al., 2020). Therefore, in the present study, it seems that increasing the amount of soybean lecithin in nanoemulsion with 30% of oil could have increased the sedimentation of β -carotene, reducing its bioaccessibility in comparison to nanoemulsion with 10% of oil.

SECTION II: W1/O/W2 DOUBLE EMULSIONS

2.1. Impact of the emulsifier used on the properties and functionality of double emulsions

Water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions enclosing anthocyanins were formulated using polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR) as emulsifier in the inner interface (W_1/O), but two different emulsifiers in the outer interface (O/W_2). Specifically, the emulsifiers compared were soybean lecithin as a natural phospholipid emulsifier and Tween 20 as a non-ionic synthetic emulsifier (Annex I).

2.1.1. Effect of the emulsifier used on the physicochemical properties of double emulsions

Double emulsion formulated using Tween 20 exhibited smaller particle sizes ($\approx 4.4 \ \mu m$) than that formulated with soybean lecithin ($\approx 5.7 \ \mu m$). Small molecule surfactants such as Tween 20 have been reported to move quickly to the interface leading to the formation of small sizes. Moreover, the hydrophilic-lipophilic balance (HLB) of Tween 20 (16.7) is higher than that of lecithin (9). In that sense, since Tween 20 presents greater hydrophilicity than lecithin, it could wrap and stabilize the particles in an O/W nanoemulsion more efficiently, thus resulting in small particles (Tan & Nakajima, 2005; Yuan et al., 2008).

The electrical charge of double emulsion formulated using soybean lecithin was more negative (about -65.6 mV) than those of nanoemulsion containing Tween 20 (about - 54.8). The more negative charge observed using the natural emulsifier was provided by the negatively charged phospholipids of lecithin at the pH of the emulsions (4.8). In fact, these phospholipids can provide a high negative ζ -potential in a wide range of pH (Bot et al., 2021). On the opposite, the negative charges of emulsion containing Tween 20, a non-ionic emulsifier, may be a consequence of the presence of free fatty acid impurities in the surfactant or oil or due to the preferential absorption of OH- from water to the droplet surfaces (Mun et al., 2007; Uluata et al., 2015). Nevertheless, both emulsifier-type nanoemulsions exhibited a notable negative electrical ζ -potential, which indicates that the repulsion among droplets was relatively high.

2.1.2. Effect of the emulsifier used on the stability over time of double emulsions

In this study, the stability over time of double emulsions was monitored for 21 days at 4 °C. The stability was evaluated through the changes in the backscattering profile of double emulsions, as well as the changes observed in parameters such as the particle size or the electrical charge over time. The study on the backscattering profile revealed that droplets of both emulsifier-type emulsions were moving from the bottom to the top of the sample over time, leading to the appearance of creaming. Typically, the creaming phenomenon is preceded by the appearance of previous instability phenomena such as aggregation or coalescence of droplets. In this regard, when droplets lose their individual integrity and became aggregated or coalesced, they are more likely to migrate to the top of the sample causing creaming (Robins, 2000). In our work, this phenomenon was clearly reflected in the backscattering profile of soybean lecithin double emulsions, which presented a decrease in the backscattered light in the central part of the sample. This fact indicates that the size of droplets was becoming greater over time. Furthermore, particle size measurements confirmed that droplet coalescence was occurring in this system due to the increase in the particle size from 5.7 μ m on day 0 to 24.4 μ m on day 21. On the other hand, in the double emulsions containing Tween 20 this phenomenon was less visible in the backscatter profile and no variation in particle size was observed during the 21 days of the experiment. As suggested by Chang & McClements (2016), the interfacial coating formed by soybean lecithin seems to be less resistant to coalescence than that formed by other emulsifiers.

2.1.3. Effect of the emulsifier used on the in vitro lipid digestibility of double emulsions and bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound

The emulsifier used in the formulation of double emulsions had a strong impact on lipid digestibility. Tween 20 double emulsions exhibited a fast release of free fatty acids during the first 30 minutes of intestinal digestion, followed by a more gradual release. The final digestibility of this double emulsion was about 43%. In contrast, double emulsions formulated using soybean lecithin exhibited a slower free fatty acid release during all the digestion, presenting a 23% of digestibility at the end of the lipid digestion. As observed in our experiment, also previous authors have reported a higher lipid digestibility when the interface was covered by Tween 20 rather than lecithin (Chang &

McClements, 2016). At high concentrations of the phospholipid-based emulsifier, the excess surfactant molecules may compete with bile salts and lipase at the oil-water interface, thus inhibiting the digestion of lipids. Additionally, the particle size of emulsions when entering the intestine has been shown to be a relevant parameter that affects lipolysis (Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013). In this sense, lecithin-coated droplets have been shown to be prone to coalescence under gastric conditions while Tween 20-coated droplets have been reported to be highly acid-stable. Therefore, the high particle size of soybean lecithin emulsions when entering the intestine may have decreased the surface area available for intestinal enzymes. In contrast, Tween 20 emulsion may present a higher surface area due to the small particle sizes in the intestine, as also observed by other authors using Tween (Zhang et al., 2015). However, the bioaccessibility of anthocyanins was the same for the two double emulsifier-type emulsions ($\approx 23\%$). Thus, despite their lower digestibility, the lecithin emulsions did not show reduced bioaccessibility. In this regard, it should be noted that, although the final digestibility of the lecithin emulsions was lower than that of the Tween emulsions, the rate of the former was slower than that of the latter. The slow lipid digestion observed in the lecithin emulsions reduced the time in which the anthocyanins were free in the intestinal environment, where can be easily degraded due to the basic pH (Ekici et al., 2014; Kirca et al., 2007).

2.2. Impact of polysaccharide addition on the properties and functionality of double emulsions

In this doctoral thesis, polysaccharides were added into the outer water phase (W_2) of water-in-oil-in-water ($W_1/O/W_2$) double emulsions. In chapter V, three polysaccharides (pectin, sodium alginate and Arabic gum) at different concentrations (0, 0.5, 1, 1.5 and 2%) were added in the W_2 of double emulsions enclosing phycocyanin. Additionally, the incorporation of sodium carboxymethyl cellulose (CMCNa) was studied in double emulsions enclosing anthocyanins and formulated using two different emulsifiers: Tween 20 or soybean lecithin (Annex I).

2.2.1. Effect of the polysaccharide addition on the physicochemical properties of double emulsions

In general, the particle size of double emulsions was reduced when the polysaccharides were added to the W₂. However, the type of polysaccharide and the concentration used were determinants. By using pectin, the smallest particle sizes were detected ($\approx 3 \mu m$), which were achieved when incorporating 1.5% polysaccharide (chapter V). However, when using Arabic gum, 2% concentration was needed to achieve the smallest droplets $(\approx 3.4 \,\mu\text{m})$. Regarding the use of sodium alginate, the smallest particle sizes $(\approx 3.6 \,\mu\text{m})$ were achieved by using a 1% polysaccharide. In addition, the particle size of soybean lecithin double emulsions decreased from 4.4 µm to 3.4 µm when CMCNa was incorporated (Annex I). Some of the studied polysaccharides (pectin and Arabic gum) presented a relevant interfacial activity, being able to be adsorbed in the interface and contribute to the emulsion stabilisation and particle size reduction. However, some others such as CMCNa or sodium alginate presented reduced interfacial activity. Therefore, the reduction observed in the particle size of these double emulsions may be mainly attributed to the changes in viscosity when adding the polysaccharide. In that sense, by increasing the viscosity of emulsions to an intermediate viscosity (up to 20 mPa·s), the shear disruptive forces were also increased, favouring the reduction of particle size (Qian & McClements, 2011). However, when using pectin or sodium alginate at the highest concentrations the particle size was not decreased. This fact may be related to the extremely high viscosity of these nanoemulsions (up to 196.7 mPa·s in double emulsion containing 2% alginate), which could have hindered the particle size reduction during the homogenization and sonication processes.

The electrical charge became more negative when incorporating pectin, sodium alginate and Arabic gum into soybean lecithin double emulsions (chapter V). Additionally, the same effect was detected when CMCNa was added in double emulsions containing soybean lecithin, which indicates that some polysaccharide molecules were adsorbed in the interface (Annex I). These results can be related to the interfacial activity of the different components (emulsifier and polysaccharides) of the emulsions which usually determines their presence on the interface. In that sense, in all these double emulsions, the emulsifier (soybean lecithin) was supposed to cover the majority of the interface since it presents a high interfacial activity (reducing the interfacial tension to 14.66 mN/m). But also, all the studied polysaccharides have shown to present interfacial activity. In fact, pectin, sodium alginate and Arabic gum have been shown to reduce the interfacial tension to 23.56 mN/m, 21.6 mN/m and 21.17 mN/m, respectively. Therefore, these polysaccharides may be also present on the interface contributing to the ζ -potential of the droplets. In contrast, in double emulsions with Tween 20 the ζ -potential did not change when CMCNa was incorporated into the formulation. Tween 20 is a small surfactant molecule with a high interfacial activity, while CMCNa presents a very reduced interfacial activity. Therefore, in Tween 20 double emulsions, the non-ionic emulsifier would have rapidly covered the interface, leading the CMCNa molecules to remain dispersed in the aqueous phase, thereby not contributing to the electrical charge on the droplet surface.

In general, the encapsulation efficiency of double emulsions improved by the presence of polysaccharides on the W_2 . In chapter V, the double emulsion without polysaccharide presented 82.36% encapsulation efficiency, while those with pectin or sodium alginate presented up to 94.77% and 95.58%, respectively. In the same way, the addition of CMCNa to double emulsions increased encapsulation efficiency by 11.8% in those containing soybean lecithin, and 17.7% in those containing Tween 20 (Annex I). Conversely, the addition of Arabic gum did not affect the encapsulation efficiency of double emulsions. The obtained results can be related to the viscosity, being those emulsions with higher viscosities those that presented a higher encapsulation efficiency. In this regard, the presence of polysaccharides in the W_2 increased the stability at the O/ W_2 interface and the viscosity of the W_2 phase, which prevented the diffusion of droplets from W_1 to W_2 (Heidari et al., 2022).

2.2.2. Effect of the polysaccharide addition on the stability over time of double emulsions

The addition of CMCNa in double emulsions increased their stability over time, irrespective of the emulsifier used (Annex I). The backscattering observations revealed no instability phenomena when CMCNa was added into soybean lecithin double emulsions. These results were confirmed by particle size measurements, in which no changes were detected during the days of the study. In Tween 20 double emulsions, the

addition of polysaccharide also has a positive effect on their stability, decreasing the creaming phenomena. The particle size of this emulsion decreased from 3.4 μ m on day 0 to 2.8 μ m on day 21. However, the backscattering profile indicated a particle size increase in the static analysis. This means that probably droplets were becoming aggregated during the time, but the unions among droplets were weak enough to be redispersed during the agitation performed during the particle size measurements. According to previous authors, small particle sizes tend to aggregate when they are numerous at a given phase ratio and more susceptible to Brownian motion, which would result in a greater probability of droplet collision (McClements, 2015).

2.2.3. Effect of the polysaccharide addition on the in vitro lipid digestibility of double emulsions

The addition of polysaccharides to the W_2 of double emulsions has a different effect on the lipid digestibility depending on the emulsifier, the type of polysaccharide used and the concentration of polysaccharide added.

By adding 2% citrus pectin or 1.5% - 2% sodium alginate the lipid digestibility was increased by 15.3% and 19.5%, respectively (chapter V). Interestingly, these double emulsions were the ones that presented the highest viscosities, so these results suggest that the viscosity of the emulsions plays an important role in lipolysis. In that sense, it is supposed that once the emulsifier (soybean lecithin) was displaced from the interface by the action of lipase, these emulsions presented lower particle sizes that facilitated the activity of intestinal enzymes by the increased surface area (Gasa-Falcon et al., 2017; Li, Hu, & McClements, 2011). The oil droplets presented higher stability in the intestinal medium towards coalescence due to the high viscosity of W₂. In contrast, the addition of Arabic gum, $\leq 1.5\%$ pectin, or $\leq 1\%$ alginate did not affect the lipid digestibility of double emulsions, showing similar digestibility values as the control emulsion without polysaccharide ($\approx 30\%$). In these double emulsions, the polysaccharide may not provide stabilization to droplets against coalescence once lecithin was displaced from the interface; therefore, due to the coalescence of droplets, the lipase had difficulties in adhering and digesting.

The addition of CMCNa in the W2 of double emulsions containing Tween 20 as

emulsifier showed to slow down the release of free fatty acids (Annex I). This digestion behaviour may be related to the time taken for surface-active components from the bile extract to displace the polysaccharide from the oil droplet surface and thereby facilitate lipase adsorption and activity (Mun et al., 2007). However, at the end of the intestinal digestion phase, this emulsion showed no differences in the final digestibility ($\approx 40\%$) compared to the control emulsion without the polysaccharide. Conversely, in double emulsions formulated using soybean lecithin as emulsifier, the addition of CMCNa did not affect the free fatty acids release during the first 40 min. However, after the first 50 min, there was an increased free fatty acid release in emulsions with CMCNa, while in those without polysaccharides the release, it was lower. As a result, the final extent of free fatty acids released was significantly higher in CMCNa emulsions than in those without the polysaccharide. This fact can be related to the ability of CMCNa to inhibit aggregation of the outer droplets (Pays et al., 2001; Schuch et al., 2015). Therefore, once the polysaccharide was released, the oil droplets may have been smaller in CMCNa emulsions than in those without the polysaccharide, facilitating lipid digestion.

2.2.4. Effect of the polysaccharide addition on the in vitro bioaccessibility of the compound enclosed in double emulsions

During the intestinal digestion of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions, the oil phase of double emulsions is digested, releasing the encapsulated compound from W_1 into the intestinal fluids to be absorbed.

The presence of alginate, pectin or Arabic gum in the W_2 of double emulsions enhanced the bioaccessibility of encapsulated phycocyanin (chapter V). In the same way, the addition of CMCNa in the W_2 of double emulsions formulated with the same emulsifier (soybean lecithin) also improved the bioaccessibility of anthocyanins, compared with the control emulsion without polysaccharides (Annex I). In contrast, in Tween 20 double emulsions the addition of CMCNa in the W_2 did not affect the anthocyanin bioaccessibility. On the one hand, these observations can be related to the lipid digestibility of these emulsions. Soybean lecithin double emulsions with added pectin, alginate, or CMCNa presented a higher digestibility than the emulsions with the same emulsifier and without the polysaccharide. In this regard, higher bioaccessibility was obtained in more digested emulsions since a higher amount of compound could be liberated from W₁ enclosed in the lipid droplets.

Conversely, in the case of Arabic gum, the enhanced phycocyanin bioaccessibility cannot be related to the digestibility, since the presence of this polysaccharide did not enhance the lipolysis. It is suggested that Arabic gum may interact with phycocyanin, and increase its bioaccessibility by preventing the degradation of the compound due to its antioxidant properties (Ali & EL Said, 2020). The presence of polysaccharides could have prevented compound degradation during digestion due to the high viscosity and the presence of gels in the intestinal phase (Dima & Dima, 2020). The high viscosity may have reduced the diffusion rate of pro-oxidant molecules through the intestinal fluids, thereby reducing the contact between these molecules and bioactive compounds.

SECTION III: HIGHLY-CONCENTRATED EMULSIONS

In chapter VI, highly-concentrated emulsions were investigated as delivery systems for curcumin. First, an optimization process of the emulsification method, oil content and surfactant-oil-ratio (SOR) of the system was performed. After, the highly-concentrated emulsion presenting the best properties and higher stability over time was used for further experiments. The *in vivo* experiments included a pharmacokinetic study of curcumin encapsulated in a highly-concentrated emulsion *vs* the non-encapsulated compound, as well as the study of curcumin absorption, metabolism and biodistribution.

3.1. Optimization of highly-concentrated emulsions: emulsification method, oil concentration and surfactant-oil-ratio (SOR).

Emulsions formulated using high-shear homogenization (HSH) or high-shear homogenization followed by microfluidization (HSH+MF) were studied at two different oil concentrations (10% or 50%). Emulsions formulated using HSH+MF presented smaller particle sizes (0.5-0.7 μ m) than those formulated using only HSH (3-5 μ m), irrespective of the oil concentration used. Such a reduction observed when adding MF to the formulation process can be attributed to the inertial forces in turbulent flow along with cavitation that promotes droplet disruption during the microfluidization process. The flow stream by high pressure through microchannels toward an impingement area creates a shearing action, which can provide fine emulsions (Maa & Hsu, 1999; Schultz et al., 2004). Moreover, by increasing the oil concentration from 10% to 50% the oil droplets became smaller. Indeed, emulsions formulated using HSH or HSH+MF that contained 10% of oil, presented a particle size of 4.9 µm and 0.72 µm, respectively, while those with 50% of oil presented a particle size of 3.5 µm and 0.53 µm, respectively. This fact could be attributed due to the increased packing state of droplets caused by augmenting the oil concentration, which contributes to preventing droplet recoalescence rendering a smaller particle size (Artiga-Artigas et al., 2019). In addition, the increased packing state of droplets caused by augmenting the oil concentration resulted in an increased viscosity of the emulsions.

To continue with the optimization, the emulsion containing 50% oil and formulated using HSH+MF was selected due to its small particle size and low polydisperse distribution. In the next step, different SOR were tested (0.05, 0.1 and 0.2) to evaluate the effect of the emulsifier-oil concentration ratio on the system properties and stability. Results revealed that when increasing the SOR from 0.05 to 0.1, the particle size decreased (from 0.84 μ m to 0.53 μ m) and became less polydisperse. This could be explained because of the high amount of emulsifier at the same oil concentration, which can cover a greater surface area (Luo et al., 2017). However, when the SOR was further increased to 0.2, the particle size noticeably increased (up to 3.7 μ m) and the distribution became more polydisperse. It is suggested that the emulsion with a 0.2 SOR, presented an excess of emulsifier that was promoting the flocculation of lipid droplets, as confirmed in the microscope images.

By increasing the SOR, the viscosity of the emulsions increased and the electrical charge became more negative. The stability study revealed that the emulsion containing 0.1 SOR was the most stable, presenting no instability phenomena during the 15 days of study at 4 °C. In this emulsion, the repulsive interactions generated by lecithin were strong enough to overcome any attractive interactions (van der Waals) between the droplets (Hunter, 2001; Luo et al., 2017). In contrast, both 0.05 and 0.2 SOR emulsions were unstable, being the emulsion with 0.2 SOR that with the lowest stability. The lack of enough emulsifier to completely cover the droplet surface may be the cause of the instability of the emulsion with 0.05 SOR. Conversely, the instability of emulsions with 0.2 SOR could be attributed to an excess of emulsifier. In these emulsions, the rates of Ostwald ripening and coalescence may have been higher due to the micelle-mediated transport of oil favoured by the excess of emulsifier (Klang & Valenta, 2011; Tadros et al., 2004).

3.2. Pharmacokinetic study of curcumin enclosed in highly-concentrated emulsions or in suspension

The most suitable emulsion selected to perform further *in vivo* experiments was that with 50% oil and 0.1 SOR. Curcumin enclosed in the selected highly concentrated emulsion or in non-encapsulated form (suspension) was orally administered to Sprague Dawley rats. The dose of administered curcumin was 150 mg/kg body weight, irrespective of the

carrier used. The plasma of rats was collected at different time points post-administration (0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, and 8 h) to study the pharmacokinetics of curcumin.

The curcuminoid concentration in the plasma of emulsion-fed rats (≈ 1588 ng/mL) was higher than in that of suspension-fed rats (\approx 148 ng/mL). The obtained plasmaconcentration time curves of all fed rats showed that curcumin was mainly present as curcumin glucuronide in plasma, regardless of the carrier administered. In contrast, curcumin, demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin were present in small concentrations. These results are in accordance with previous works that have also observed mainly curcumin glucuronide in the plasma of rats or mice orally administered with curcumin (Asai & Miyazawa, 2000; Harigae et al., 2016; Zhongfa et al., 2012). When curcumin is orally administered to rodents, it is suggested to undergo intestinal metabolism and when the compound is absorbed, it undergoes rapid first-pass metabolism and excretion in bile (Sharma et al., 2005). In fact, previous studies in rats have reported that curcumin undergoes O-conjugation to curcumin glucuronide and curcumin sulphate as well as reduction to tetrahydrocurcumin, hexahydrocurcumin and others (Asai & Miyazawa, 2000; Ireson et al., 2001). However, according to previous works, among the metabolites formed, curcumin glucuronide is the major one found in the plasma after oral administration of curcumin to rats, while the free forms are normally negligible (Ozawa et al., 2017; Peng et al., 2018).

In our study, the area under the curve of curcumin glucuronide was about 1556.3 ng·h·ml-1 in emulsion-fed rats and 121.52 ng·h·ml⁻¹ in suspension-fed rats. The obtained results revealed that by enclosing curcumin in highly-concentrated emulsions, its bioavailability was increased by 10.6-fold when compared to the administration of the non-encapsulated compound. This value is quite higher than that obtained by previous authors using lower doses (100 mg/kg body weight), who observed a 1.9-fold increase in curcumin bioavailability by using nanoemulsions rather than the suspension (Lu et al., 2018). Values similar to those obtained in our work have been reported by other authors using different curcumin carriers. As an example, organogel-based emulsions showed to improve the oral bioavailability of curcumin by approximately 9-fold compared to free curcumin (Yu & Huang, 2012). However, by using these carriers, authors administered a dose of 240 mg/kg body weight, a value higher than those used

in our work (150 mg/kg body weight).

The highest concentration of curcumin in plasma was found earlier using the suspension (0.5 h) than the HC-emulsion (1 h) (Table 3). The presence of high quantities of oil (50%) of our highly-concentrated emulsion could have retarded the gastric emptying and, therefore, the curcumin absorption. Indeed, previous authors using emulsions with lower oil content (10%), observed the highest concentration at 15 min post-administration (Vecchione et al., 2016). In contrast, the highest concentration of demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin was found at 0.5 h for both curcumin vehicles, although the concentration in plasma of these compounds was very low and mostly constant along the studied time. The maximum concentration of curcumin glucuronide was observed at 4 h post-administration, irrespective of the carrier used. This value is higher than the one observed for the free forms and may be a consequence of curcumin metabolization. Indeed, a recent study reported that after exposing curcumin emulsions to Caco-2 cells, the percentage of conjugated curcumin metabolites (which includes curcumin glucuronide) increased from \approx 10% at 0.5 h to > 60% at 4 h post-administration of different emulsions (Luo et al., 2022).

3.3. Metabolism and biodistribution of curcumin enclosed in highly-concentrated emulsions or in suspension

To study the metabolism and biodistribution of curcumin, the concentration of curcuminoids in the different rat tissues was quantified at 2 h or 4 h after the oral administration of the curcumin carriers (highly-concentrated emulsion or suspension).

In this work, after feeding rats with curcumin, the highest concentration of curcuminoids was observed in the intestinal tissues, where the compound is mainly absorbed. In fact, the highest concentration was observed in the ileum of rats, which presented values up to 840 ng/g tissue in emulsion-fed rats and up to 481 ng/g tissue in suspension-fed rats. These results are in accordance with previous works, which have also found the major concentration of curcumin in the intestine after an oral administration of curcumin in rats, followed by the liver and kidney (Marczylo et al., 2009). The concentration of curcumin > bisdemethoxycurcumin > curcumin glucuronide. This trend was

expected as the mixture of curcuminoids administered to rats presented the curcuminoids in different percentages (\geq 78% curcumin, 15% demethoxycurcumin, and 1% bisdemethoxycurcumin). Moreover, rats fed with the emulsion presented a high curcuminoid concentration in the intestines than rats fed with the suspension, meaning that by using the emulsion, the curcumin absorption was increased. On the one hand, the higher concentration achieved by using the emulsions rather than the suspension may be attributed to the high protection against degradation provided by the emulsion rather than the suspension. On the other hand, the presence of oil in emulsions could have enhanced the absorption of curcumin, since the co-ingestion of lipophilic compounds such as curcumin with lipids has been reported to enhance its absorption (Brown et al., 2004; Goltz et al., 2012; McClements & Xiao, 2012). Moreover, the emulsifier (soybean lecithin) could be increasing curcumin absorption by reducing the interfacial surface tension and increasing cell membrane fluidity and the penetration of curcumin through the epithelial cells (Pan-On et al., 2022). In contrast, the low concentration observed using the suspension may be a consequence of the degradation of curcumin during its pass through the gastrointestinal tract, the inadequate absorption and the avid metabolism of curcumin that rodents present (Ireson et al., 2002).

The concentration of curcuminoids in the intestinal tissues was higher at 2 h (1991 ng/mg in emulsion-fed rats and 987 ng/mg in suspension fed-rats) rather than at 4 h post-administration (578 ng/mg in emulsion-fed rats and 250 ng/mg in suspension-fed rats), meaning that curcumin absorption was higher at early times (2 h) and decreased at longer times (4 h). Among the non-intestinal tissues, the liver and brown adipose tissue were those that presented the highest curcuminoid concentrations, especially at 2 h after administration. The liver has been seen to be an important accumulation site of curcumin even after being orally or intravenously administered to rodents (Arozal et al., 2019; Ryu et al., 2006; Wei et al., 2014). In our work, curcumin was the main compound present in the liver of rats, followed by demethoxycurcumin, bisdemethoxycurcumin, and finally, curcumin glucuronide, which was non detected in this organ. Previous works have postulated that most of the orally administered curcuminoids are conjugated to glucuronides in the intestinal mucosa (Asai & Miyazawa, 2000). Moreover, investigations on the capacity of rat hepatocytes to generate different curcumin metabolites concluded that glucuronides are generated only in small amounts in the liver,

whereas they are abundant in plasma after oral administration (Ireson et al., 2001). This investigation also revealed that rat liver reduces curcumin to hexahydrocurcumin and hexahydrocurcuminol, whereas conjugation of curcumin is only a minor hepatic biotransformation route. In our work, it should be noted that although curcumin glucuronide was the major metabolite observed in plasma analysis, the concentration of this metabolite in the intestinal tissues of rats was low. Indeed, in our work, curcumin glucuronide has just been quantified in plasma, intestinal mucosa and kidney. These results are in accordance with previous works, which also detected this metabolite in plasma and intestinal mucosa of rats after the oral administration of curcumin with phosphatidylcholine (Marczylo et al., 2007). In that sense, many authors have stated that when enclosed in nanoparticles, highly-lipophilic compounds like curcumin can avoid first-pass metabolism by being delivered into the lymphatic system through chylomicrons (Paliwak et al., 2009; Porter et al., 2007; Trevaskis et al., 2015).

Interestingly, no differences were observed between the concentration of curcumin in the kidney of suspension-fed-rats and emulsion-fed rats, although curcumin absorption was much higher in the case of emulsion-fed rats. This may indicate that in suspensionfed rats, the rate of curcumin excreted with respect to absorbed curcumin was higher than in the case of emulsion-fed rats. Additionally, the kidney was the unique nonintestinal tissue in which curcumin glucuronide was detected, probably because is the main organ related to its excretion from the organism. In white and brown adipose tissues different curcuminoids were also detected, meaning these tissues can accumulate these compounds. However, the values were relatively higher in the brown adipose tissue (\approx 193 ng curcumin/g tissue) rather than in the white adipose tissue (\approx 9 ng curcumin/g tissue). Moreover, in the case of brown adipose tissue, rats fed with the emulsions presented a higher curcuminoid accumulation rather than rats fed with the suspension. This information is of high relevance, since previous authors have stated that the presence of curcumin in brown and white adipose can play a relevant role in the prevention of obesity and its related metabolic disorders (Santos et al., 2023; Song et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2021).

SECTION IV: SOLID vs LIQUID NANOPARTICLES

In chapter VII, nanoemulsions containing solid or liquid lipid nanoparticles and different oil types were investigated as delivery systems for curcumin. The effect of the lipid state (solid or liquid) and the lipid type (MCT or LCT) on the properties and digestion of nanoemulsions, as well as on the absorption, and biodistribution of curcumin were investigated. The studied nanoparticles were: CO-LLN (corn oil liquid lipid nanoparticles), MG-LLN (miglyol liquid lipid nanoparticles), HPO-SLN (hydrogenated palm oil solid lipid nanoparticles), and CN-SLN (coconut oil solid lipid nanoparticles).

4.1. Effect of the lipid state (solid or lipid) and lipid type (MCT or LCT) on the physical properties of nanoemulsions

Nanoemulsions containing liquid lipid nanoparticles (CO-LLN or MG-LLN) presented smaller particle sizes than those containing solid lipid nanoparticles (HPO-SLN or CN-SLN). This fact can be attributed to the reduced viscosity at room temperature of the lipids used to formulate LLN (corn oil and miglyol) (de Abreu-Martins et al., 2020). Therefore, less energy was required to disrupt the oil droplets in LLN than in SLN-based nanoemulsions, resulting in smaller droplets of the former. Moreover, differences were detected depending on the lipid type used, being MCT-based nanoparticles those with the smallest particles. Indeed, the highest particle size (\approx 180 nm) was observed in HPO-SLN, while the lowest values (\approx 158 nm) were observed in MG-LLN. As stated by Sarheed et al. (2020), lipids with shorter oil chains such as MCT allow oil molecules to penetrate the interfacial film, resulting in smaller particles. The electrical charge was negative and similar for all nanoemulsions (- 20 to -27 mV), except for those containing hydrogenated HPO-SLN (26 mV). The emulsifier used in the formulation of all nanoparticles was Tween 80, which has been reported to give droplets a negative charge, depending on the pH.

4.2. Effect of the lipid state (solid or lipid) and lipid type (MCT or LCT) on the *in vivo* gastrointestinal stability of nanoemulsions

After being orally administered to rats, all nanoemulsions suffered a noticeable increase in the particle size in the stomach. Indeed, the initial particle size was about 170 nm, while in the stomach of rats, the particles were > 1 μ m, irrespective of the lipid state (solid or liquid) and lipid type (MCT or LCT). However, dispersed particles were observed in the gastric medium, meaning that they were stable in the gastric environment. This fact can be a consequence of the emulsifier selected to formulate the nanoemulsions, which was Tween 80. Small molecule surfactants such as Tween 80 have been seen to be acid stable, maintaining better the microstructure stability than others such as sucrose palmitate (Marciani et al., 2006; Verkempinck et al., 2018).

Differences were observed in the intestinal digesta obtained from rats fed with nanoemulsions containing different nanoparticles, especially in the duodenum and jejunum. Digesta from rats fed with nanoemulsions containing LCT nanoparticles (corn oil or palm oil) presented more lipid content in the duodenum and jejunum and with a higher particle size than those with MCT nanoparticles (miglyol or coconut oil). This suggests that MCT nanoparticles were digested faster than those with LCT. This trend has been observed in other emulsion-based delivery systems and can be a consequence of the capacity of medium-chain fatty acids to migrate to the surrounding aqueous phase, where they are readily dispersible, while long-chain fatty acids tend to accumulate at the oil-water interface inhibiting lipase activity (Ahmed et al., 2012; Li et al., 2011; Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013b). The initial lipid state (liquid or solid) did not have a strong effect on the lipid digestibility of nanoemulsions formulated with MCT oils (miglyol or coconut), which can be related to the melting point of these lipids. In this regard, the melting points were 6 °C for miglyol and 25 °C for coconut oil. Therefore, it seems that CN-SLN melted during its pass during the gastrointestinal tract of rats (which presents a temperature of ≈ 37 °C), not affecting the lipolysis process. Conversely, differences were observed in the lipid digestion of nanoemulsions containing LCT nanoparticles (corn oil or hydrogenated palm oil) with a different initial lipid state (liquid or solid). Indeed, the digesta of rats fed with nanoemulsions containing CO-LLN presented less lipid content in the duodenum and jejunum than the digesta of rats fed with nanoemulsions containing HPO-SLN, meaning that the former was digested faster than the latter. In this sense, it should be noted that the melting point of hydrogenated palm oil (35 °C) was very close to the temperature of the rat intestine (37 °C), meaning that SLN with that oil could present a semi-solid lipid state in the gastrointestinal system of rats, which may be retarding the lipid digestion. Rats fed with nanoemulsions containing

HPO-SLN presented the highest lipid content in the ileum, which confirm the slowed digestion of these systems. Indeed, previous authors have observed that the lipid digestion of SLN decreased when the percentage of HPO in a blended MCT:HPO lipid phase was increased, detecting the lowest digestion rate and extent at 100% hydrogenated palm oil (de Abreu-Martins et al., 2020). Nevertheless, digesta obtained from the colon of rats presented small lipid content, regardless of the nanoparticle type administered. This confirms that all the administered nanoemulsions were totally digested during their past through the intestine.

4.3. Effect of the lipid state (solid or lipid) and lipid type (MCT or LCT) on the *in vivo* bioavailability of the encapsulated compound

After the oral administration of the different curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions (all with a dose of 250 mg curcumin/kg rat), the highest curcuminoid concentrations were found in the intestine of rats. Rats fed with the nanoemulsions with CO-LLN exhibited the highest content of curcuminoids in the intestine ($\approx 10990 \text{ ng/g}$ tissue). However, no significant differences were observed in the intestinal curcuminoid concentration of rats fed with nanoemulsions containing HPO-SLN, MG-LLN, or CN-SLN (4300-7500 ng/g tissue). In general, long-chain fatty acids resulting from the digestion of oils such as CO or HPO have been reported to form mixed micelles more easily than medium-chain fatty acids (Jiang et al., 2020). Moreover, the mixed micelles formed by long-chain fatty acids have a better solubilization capacity for lipophilic compounds such as curcumin than medium-chain fatty acids because of the large dimensions of the hydrophobic core (Lin et al., 2022). However, the reduced curcuminoid concentration by using HPO-SLN in this work may be related to the slowed digestion rate of these systems. In addition, the concentration of curcuminoids in tissues decreased in the following order curcumin > demethoxycurcumin > bisdemethoxycurcumin (Table 2). This trend was expected as curcumin was the major component of the mixture of curcuminoids orally administered to rats (\geq 78%), followed by demethoxycurcumin (15%) and finally, bisdemethoxycurcumin (1%).

Curcumin glucuronide was found in the intestine of rats, meaning that glucuronidation of curcumin was occurring in this tissue. It has been previously reported that rats present UDP-glucuronosyltransferases in the intestinal mucosa which are responsible for the glucuronidation of substances such as curcumin (Ireson et al., 2001). Moreover, rats fed with nanoemulsions containing CO-LLN presented the highest content (\approx 267 ng/g tissue), which may be a consequence of the highest absorption of curcumin detected using these nanoparticles. Nevertheless, the highest concentrations of curcumin glucuronide were detected in the plasma of rats, especially in the plasma of rats fed with nanoemulsions with CO-LLN (\approx 1613 ng/mL). In contrast, the concentrations of free form curcuminoids in the plasma of rats were very low. Indeed, the same trend has been observed by previous authors investigating the bioavailability and metabolism of curcumin (Ozawa et al., 2017; Peng et al., 2018).

Curcumin glucuronide was also present at small concentrations in other tissues such as liver, kidney, brown adipose tissue and white adipose tissue, presenting concentrations of about 10 - 25 ng/g tissue. However, these organs contained a higher concentration of free form curcumin (up to 1400 ng/g tissue) than curcumin glucuronide. This information is of high relevance since, according to previous studies, free-from curcumin exhibits the highest therapeutic effects, while curcumin glucuronide exhibits reduced effect (Choudhury et al., 2015; Pandey et al., 2020; Shoji et al., 2014). Many authors have stated that lipophilic compounds enclosed in nanoparticles can be delivered into the lymphatic system by being incorporated in chylomicrons in the enterocytes (Makwana et al., 2015). Therefore, the encapsulated compounds, especially those highly lipophilic such as curcumin can avoid hepatic first-pass metabolism (Paliwal et al., 2009; Porter et al., 2007; Trevaskis et al., 2015). This could explain the low concentrations of curcuminoids found in the liver of rats in this study and the presence of free forms in different organs. Among the non-intestinal tissues, the highest free-from curcumin concentrations were detected in brown adipose tissue, especially in rats fed with CO-LLN. Indeed, values of curcumin ranged from 460 to 1400 ng/g in brown adipose tissue, while the concentrations in the white adipose tissue, liver and kidney were about 20 - 40 ng/g. The high concentrations achieved in the brown adipose tissue highlight the potential of the studied nanoparticles to be used in the prevention of obesity and its related metabolic diseases.

BENEFITS AND LIMITATIONS OF EMULSION-BASED DELIVERY SYSTEMS

In light of the results obtained in this doctoral thesis, emulsion-based delivery systems have proven to be efficient in encapsulating bioactive compounds of lipophilic and hydrophilic nature. However, the different studied systems differ in their stability and show different levels of protection for bioactive compounds, so the advantages and disadvantages of their use must be assessed in each case.

In this doctoral thesis, lipophilic compounds have been incorporated into conventional emulsions, nanoemulsions, highly-concentrated emulsions and solid-lipid nanoparticles. Conventional emulsions have shown to be easy-to-prepare systems and are useful to increase the bioaccessibility of encapsulated compounds. However, these emulsion-based delivery systems present some limitations. First, they show reduced physical stability (up to 2 days) than others such as nanoemulsions (up to 35 days). Second, conventional emulsions have shown to provide lower chemical stability during storage (50% compound degradation during 35 days of storage) and reduced bioaccessibility (up to 20%), compared with nanoemulsions. Therefore, nanoemulsions seem to be more promising systems than conventional emulsions to encapsulate lipophilic bioactive compounds.

Nanoemulsions have been shown to provide high encapsulation efficiencies (up to 97%), physical stability (up to 35 days), compound stability (15% compound degradation during 35 days of storage) and *in vitro* bioaccessibility (up to 68%) due to their reduced particle size. In addition, it has been observed that, by controlling the composition of these systems, their functionality can be tailored for specific applications. As an example, by adding polysaccharides to the aqueous phase of nanoemulsions, the lipid digestibility, as well as the compound release and bioaccessibility can be controlled. Besides, *in vivo* studies performed in this doctoral thesis have demonstrated that nanoemulsions are highly effective in enhancing the bioavailability of lipophilic compounds, as well as increasing their concentration in tissues where they can have a therapeutic effect.

According to the literature, solid-lipid nanoparticles were designed to overcome some

General discussion

limitations detected in other systems such as nanoemulsions. Some studies have shown that these emulsion-based delivery systems provide higher chemical stability to encapsulated compounds and offer a more controlled release due to their structured solid matrix. Nevertheless, the results obtained in this doctoral thesis indicate that these systems are less effective than nanoemulsions to increase the bioavailability and biodistribution of lipophilic compounds. Specifically, curcumin encapsulated in liquid long-chain oil-based nanoparticles (corn oil) showed a higher bioavailability (1.5-fold higher) than enclosed in solid long-chain oil-based nanoparticles (palm oil).

Experiments performed in this thesis using highly-concentrated emulsions (containing soybean lecithin as emulsifier) have also demonstrated that these systems increase the bioavailability of lipophilic compounds. Indeed, curcumin presented a 10-fold higher bioavailability when enclosed in highly-concentrated emulsions rather than when unencapsulated. However, nanoemulsions containing the same oil type but Tween 80 as emulsifier were more efficient in increasing the bioavailability of curcumin than the studied highly-concentrated emulsions. It should be noted that the administration of emulsion was different in these two studies, being single-dose in the case of the highly-concentrated emulsions and multiple-dose in the case of the Tween 80 nanoemulsions. This indicates that the differences observed between these two systems could also be attributed to the way the emulsions were administered, and not only to the type of emulsifier used. In this sense, it seems that the administration type can be a limiting factor, with the multiple-dose administration in lower volumes being the most suitable option.

Double emulsions have been tested as encapsulation systems of hydrophilic compounds in this doctoral thesis. The results obtained proved that these emulsions are effective systems for encapsulating compounds such as anthocyanins and phycocyanin, providing encapsulation efficiencies of over 90%. In addition, these systems offer some advantages over simple emulsions, such as the possibility to formulate fat-reduced products when incorporated into food matrices or the encapsulation of two different compounds within the same system (of special interest for compounds with a synergetic effect). However, these systems are highly susceptible to breakdown during storage. In the experiments performed in the present doctoral thesis, it has been seen that this limitation can be overcome by incorporating polysaccharides in the external aqueous phase of the systems. By using this strategy, not only the physical stability of these systems can be enhanced, but also the stability of the encapsulated compounds during digestion and their bioaccessibility. Even so, the in vitro bioaccessibilities obtained using these systems were relatively low (up to 16.8% in the case of phycocyanin and up to 31.1% in the case of anthocyanins). In fact, due to the low bioaccessibility observed *in vitro* and the low dose of bioactive compound that can be incorporated by using double emulsions, these systems could not be tested *in vivo* in this doctoral thesis.

References

- Ahmed, K., Li, Y., McClements, D. J., & Xiao, H. (2012). Nanoemulsion- and emulsion-based delivery systems for curcumin: Encapsulation and release properties. Food Chemistry, 132(2), 799–807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.11.039
- Ali, M. R., & EL Said, R. M. (2020). Assessment of the potential of Arabic gum as an antimicrobial and antioxidant agent in developing vegan "egg-free" mayonnaise. Journal of Food Safety, 40(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/jfs.12771
- Arozal, W., Ramadanty, W. T., Louisa, M., Satyana, R. P. U., Hartono, G., Fatrin, S., Purbadi, S., Estuningtyas, A., & Instiaty, I. (2019). Pharmacokinetic Profile of Curcumin and Nanocurcumin in Plasma, Ovary, and Other Tissues. Drug Research, 69(10), 559–564. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0863-4355
- Artiga-Artigas, M., Lanjari-Pérez, Y., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2018). Curcumin-loaded nanoemulsions stability as affected by the nature and concentration of surfactant. Food Chemistry, 266, 466–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.06.043
- Artiga-Artigas, M., Montoliu-Boneu, J., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Factors affecting the formation of highly concentrated emulsions and nanoemulsions. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 578(June), 123577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2019.123577
- Asai, A., & Miyazawa, T. (2000). Occurrence of orally administered curcuminoid as glucuronide and glucuronide/sulfate conjugates in rat plasma. Life Sciences, 67(23), 2785–2793. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-3205(00)00868-7
- Beysseriat, M., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2006). Preliminary study of the influence of dietary fiber on the properties of oil-in-water emulsions passing through an *in vitro* human digestion model. Food Hydrocolloids, 20(6), 800–809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2005.08.001
- Bot, F., Cossuta, D., & O'Mahony, J. A. (2021). Inter-relationships between composition, physicochemical properties and functionality of lecithin ingredients. In Trends in Food Science and Technology (Vol. 111, pp. 261–270). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2021.02.028
- Brown, M. J., Ferruzzi, M. G., Nguyen, M. L., Cooper, D. A., Eldridge, A. L., Schwartz, S. J., & White, W. S. (2004). Carotenoid bioavailability is higher from salads ingested with full-fat than with fat-reduced salad dressings as measured with electrochemical detection. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 80(2), 396–403. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/80.2.396
- Celus, M., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Kyomugasho, C., Maes, I., Van Loey, A. M., Grauwet, T., & Hendrickx, M. E. (2018). Structurally modified pectin for targeted lipid antioxidant capacity in linseed/sunflower oil-in-water emulsions. Food Chemistry, 241(August 2017), 86–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.08.056
- Chang, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Influence of emulsifier type on the *in vitro* digestion of fish oil-in-water emulsions in the presence of an anionic marine polysaccharide (fucoidan): Caseinate, whey protein, lecithin, or Tween 80. Food Hydrocolloids, 61, 92–101.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.04.047

- Chen, X., McClements, D. J., Zhu, Y., Chen, Y., Zou, L., Liu, W., Cheng, C., Fu, D., & Liu, C. (2018). Enhancement of the solubility, stability and bioaccessibility of quercetin using proteinbased excipient emulsions. Food Research International, 114(May), 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.07.062
- Chen, X., McClements, D. J., Zhu, Y., Zou, L., Li, Z., Liu, W., Cheng, C., Gao, H., & Liu, C. (2018). Gastrointestinal Fate of Fluid and Gelled Nutraceutical Emulsions: Impact on Proteolysis, Lipolysis, and Quercetin Bioaccessibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 66(34), 9087–9096. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b03003
- Choudhury, A. K., Raja, S., Mahapatra, S., Nagabhushanam, K., & Majeed, M. (2015). Synthesis and evaluation of the anti-oxidant capacity of curcumin glucuronides, the major curcumin metabolites. Antioxidants, 4(4), 750–767. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox4040750
- de Abreu-Martins, H., Artiga-Artigas, M., Hilsdorf Piccoli, R., Martín-Belloso, O., & Salvia-Trujillo, L. (2020). The lipid type affects the *in vitro* digestibility and β-carotene bioaccessibility of liquid or solid lipid nanoparticles. Food Chemistry, 311, 126024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.126024
- Dickinson, E., Golding, M., & Povey, M. J. W. (1997). Creaming and flocculation of oil-in-water emulsions containing sodium caseinate. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 185(2), 515–529. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcis.1996.4605
- Dima, C., & Dima, S. (2020). Bioaccessibility study of calcium and vitamin D3 comicroencapsulated in water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions. Food Chemistry, 303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.125416
- Ekici, L., Simsek, Z., Ozturk, I., Sagdic, O., & Yetim, H. (2014). Effects of Temperature, Time, and pH on the Stability of Anthocyanin Extracts: Prediction of Total Anthocyanin Content Using Nonlinear Models. Food Analytical Methods, 7(6), 1328–1336. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12161-013-9753-Y/TABLES/2
- Embiriekah, S., Bulatović, M., Borić, M., Zarić, D., & Rakin, M. (2018). Antioxidant activity, functional properties and bioaccessibility of whey protein hydrolysates. International Journal of Dairy Technology, 71(1), 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0307.12428
- Espinal-Ruiz, M., Parada-Alfonso, F., Restrepo-Sánchez, L. P., Narváez-Cuenca, C. E., & McClements, D. J. (2014). Impact of dietary fibers [methyl cellulose, chitosan, and pectin] on digestion of lipids under simulated gastrointestinal conditions. Food and Function, 5(12), 3083–3095. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4fo00615a
- Fuentes, K., Matamala, C., Mart, N., & Rommy, N. Z. (2021). Comparative Study of Physicochemical Properties of Nanoemulsions Fabricated with Natural and Synthetic Surfactants. i, 7–9.
- Goltz, S. R., Campbell, W. W., Chitchumroonchokchai, C., Failla, M. L., & Ferruzzi, M. G. (2012). Meal triacylglycerol profile modulates postprandial absorption of carotenoids in humans. Molecular Nutrition and Food Research, 56(6), 866–877. https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201100687

- Gref, R., & Couvreur, P. (2006). Nanoparticulates as drug carriers. In V. P. Torchilin (Ed.), Nanoparticulates as Drug Carriers. (pp. 255–276). Imperial College Press. https://doi.org/10.1142/P432
- Guo, M. Q., Hu, X., Wang, C., & Ai, L. (2017). Polysaccharides: Structure and Solubility. In Solubility of Polysaccharides. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.71570
- Harigae, T., Nakagawa, K., Miyazawa, T., Inoue, N., Kimura, F., Ikeda, I., & Miyazawa, T. (2016). Metabolic fate of poly-(lactic-co-glycolic acid)-based curcumin nanoparticles following oral administration. International Journal of Nanomedicine, 11, 3009–3022. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S107442
- Heidari, F., Jafari, S. M., Ziaiifar, A. M., & Malekjani, N. (2022). Stability and release mechanisms of double emulsions loaded with bioactive compounds; a critical review. In Advances in Colloid and Interface Science (Vol. 299). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2021.102567
- Hu, M., McClements, D. J., & Decker, E. A. (2003). Lipid oxidation in corn oil-in-water emulsions stabilized by casein, whey protein isolate, and soy protein isolate. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 51(6), 1696–1700. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf020952j

Hunter, R. J. (2001). Foundations of colloid science. Oxford university press.

- Ireson, C., Orr, S., Jones, D. J. L., Verschoyle, R., Lim, C. K., Luo, J. L., Howells, L., Plummer, S., Jukes, R., Williams, M., Steward, W. P., & Gescher, A. (2001). Characterization of metabolites of the chemopreventive agent curcumin in human and rat hepatocytes and in the rat *in vivo*, and evaluation of their ability to inhibit phorbol ester-induced prostaglandin E2production. Cancer Research, 61(3), 1058–1064. https://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/61/3/1058.short
- Ireson, C. R., Jones, D. J. L., Boocock, D. J., Farmer, P. B., Gescher, A. J., Orr, S., Coughtrie, M. W. H., Williams, M. L., & Steward, W. P. (2002). Metabolism of the cancer chemopreventive agent curcumin in human and rat intestine. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention, 11(1), 105–111.
- Jiang, T., Liao, W., & Charcosset, C. (2020). Recent advances in encapsulation of curcumin in nanoemulsions: A review of encapsulation technologies, bioaccessibility and applications. In Food Research International (Vol. 132, p. 109035). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109035
- Kirca, A., Özkan, M., & Cemeroğlu, B. (2007). Effects of temperature, solid content and pH on the stability of black carrot anthocyanins. Food Chemistry, 101(1), 212–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2006.01.019
- Komaiko, J., Sastrosubroto, A., & McClements, D. J. (2015). Formation of Oil-in-Water Emulsions from Natural Emulsifiers Using Spontaneous Emulsification: Sunflower Phospholipids. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 63(45), 10078–10088. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.5b03824
- Lakshman, M. R., Asher, K. A., Attlesey, M. G., Satchithanandam, S., Mychkovsky, I., & Coutlakis, P. J. (1989). Absorption, storage, and distribution of beta-carotene in normal and beta-carotene-fed rats: roles of parenchymal and stellate cells. Journal of Lipid Research,

30(10), 1545-1550. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-2275(20)38238-9

- Li, Y., Hu, M., Du, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Controlling lipid nanoemulsion digestion using nanolaminated biopolymer coatings. Journal of Microencapsulation, 28(3), 166–175. https://doi.org/10.3109/02652048.2010.544417
- Li, Y., Hu, M., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Factors affecting lipase digestibility of emulsified lipids using an *in vitro* digestion model: Proposal for a standardised pH-stat method. Food Chemistry, 126(2), 498–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.11.027
- Lu, P. S., Inbaraj, B. S., & Chen, B. H. (2018). Determination of oral bioavailability of curcuminoid dispersions and nanoemulsions prepared from Curcuma longa Linnaeus. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 98(1), 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.8437
- Luo, X., Zhou, Y., Bai, L., Liu, F., Zhang, R., Zhang, Z., Zheng, B., Deng, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2017). Production of highly concentrated oil-in-water emulsions using dual-channel microfluidization: Use of individual and mixed natural emulsifiers (saponin and lecithin). Food Research International, 96, 103–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2017.03.013
- Luo, H., Li, Z., Yao, M., McClements, D. J., & Xiao, H. (2022). Impact of excipient emulsions made from different types of oils on the bioavailability and metabolism of curcumin in gastrointestinal tract. Food Chemistry, 370, 130980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.130980
- Lv, S., Zhang, Y., Tan, H., Zhang, R., & McClements, D. J. (2019). Vitamin e Encapsulation within Oil-in-Water Emulsions: Impact of Emulsifier Type on Physicochemical Stability and Bioaccessibility. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 67(5), 1521–1529. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b06347
- Maa, Y. F., & Hsu, C. C. (1999). Performance of sonication and microfluidization for liquidliquid emulsification. Pharmaceutical Development and Technology, 4(2), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1081/PDT-100101357
- Makwana, V., Jain, R., Patel, K., Nivsarkar, M., & Joshi, A. (2015). Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) of Efavirenz as lymph targeting drug delivery system: Elucidation of mechanism of uptake using chylomicron flow blocking approach. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 495(1), 439–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.09.014
- Mantovani, R. A., Cavallieri, Â. L. F., Netto, F. M., & Cunha, R. L. (2013). Stability and *in vitro* digestibility of emulsions containing lecithin and whey proteins. Food and Function, 4(9), 1322–1331. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3fo60156k
- Marciani, L., Wickham, M. S. J., Bush, D., Faulks, R., Wright, J., Fillery-Travis, A. J., Spiller, R. C., & Gowland, P. A. (2006). Magnetic resonance imaging of the behaviour of oil-in-water emulsions in the gastric lumen of man. British Journal of Nutrition, 95(2), 331–339. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn20051628
- Marczylo, T. H., Steward, W. P., & Gescher, A. J. (2009). Rapid analysis of curcumin and curcumin metabolites in rat biomatrices using a novel ultraperformance liquid chromatography (UPLC) method. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 57(3), 797–803. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf803038f

- Marze, S. (2017). Bioavailability of Nutrients and Micronutrients: Advances in Modeling and *in Vitro* Approaches. In Annual Review of Food Science and Technology (Vol. 8, Issue 1, pp. 35–55). Annual Reviews Inc. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-030216-030055
- McClements, D. (2015). Food emulsions: principles, practices, and techniques (3rd ed.). Boca Raton: CRC Press. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/mono/10.1201/9781420039436/food-emulsions-davidjulian-mcclements
- McClements, D. J. (2000). Comments on viscosity enhancement and depletion flocculation by polysaccharides. Food Hydrocolloids, 14(2), 173–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0268-005X(99)00065-X
- McClements, David Julian. (2005). Food emulsions: Principles. practices, and techniques (Second Edi).
- McClements, David Julian. (2018). Enhanced delivery of lipophilic bioactives using emulsions: A review of major factors affecting vitamin, nutraceutical, and lipid bioaccessibility. Food and Function, 9(1), 22–41. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7fo01515a
- McClements, David Julian, & Xiao, H. (2012). Potential biological fate of ingested nanoemulsions: Influence of particle characteristics. Food and Function, 3(3), 202–220. https://doi.org/10.1039/c1fo10193e
- Mensi, A., Choiset, Y., Rabesona, H., Haertlé, T., Borel, P., & Chobert, J. M. (2013). Interactions of β -lactoglobulin variants A and B with vitamin A. Competitive binding of retinoids and carotenoids. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 61(17), 4114–4119. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf400711d
- Mun, S., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2007). Influence of emulsifier type on *in vitro* digestibility of lipid droplets by pancreatic lipase. Food Research International, 40(6), 770–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2007.01.007
- Niu, Z., Acevedo-Fani, A., McDowell, A., Barnett, A., Loveday, S. M., & Singh, H. (2020). Nanoemulsion structure and food matrix determine the gastrointestinal fate and *in vivo* bioavailability of coenzyme Q10. Journal of Controlled Release, 327(August), 444–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.08.025
- Ozawa, H., Imaizumi, A., Sumi, Y., Hashimoto, T., Kanai, M., Makino, Y., Tsuda, T., Takahashi, N., & Kakeya, H. (2017). Curcumin β-D-glucuronide plays an important role to keep high levels of free-form curcumin in the blood. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin, 40(9), 1515–1524. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b17-00339
- Paik, J., During, A., Harrison, E. H., Mendelsohn, C. L., Lai, K., & Blaner, W. S. (2001). Expression and characterization of a murine enzyme able to cleave β -carotene. The formation of retinoids. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(34), 32160–32168. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M010086200
- Paliwal, R., Rai, S., Vaidya, B., Khatri, K., Goyal, A. K., Mishra, N., Mehta, A., & Vyas, S. P. (2009). Effect of lipid core material on characteristics of solid lipid nanoparticles designed for oral lymphatic delivery. Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine, 5(2), 184– 191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2008.08.003

- Pan-On, S., Dilokthornsakul, P., & Tiyaboonchai, W. (2022). Trends in advanced oral drug delivery system for curcumin: A systematic review. Journal of Controlled Release, 348, 335– 345. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCONREL.2022.05.048
- Pandey, A., Chaturvedi, M., Mishra, S., Kumar, P., Somvanshi, P., & Chaturvedi, R. (2020). Reductive metabolites of curcumin and their therapeutic effects. In Heliyon (Vol. 6, Issue 11, p. e05469). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05469
- Park, S., Mun, S., & Kim, Y. R. (2018). Emulsifier Dependent *in vitro* Digestion and Bioaccessibility of β-Carotene Loaded in Oil-in-Water Emulsions. Food Biophysics, 13(2), 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11483-018-9520-0
- Parker, R. S. (1988). Carotenoid and tocopherol composition of human adipose tissue. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 47(1), 33–36. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/47.1.33
- Pays, K., Giermanska-Kahn, J., Pouligny, B., Bibette, J., & Leal-Calderon, F. (2001). Coalescence in surfactant-stabilized double emulsions. Langmuir, 17(25), 7758–7769. https://doi.org/10.1021/la010735x
- Peng, S., Li, Z., Zou, L., Liu, W., Liu, C., & McClements, D. J. (2018). Enhancement of Curcumin Bioavailability by Encapsulation in Sophorolipid-Coated Nanoparticles: An *in Vitro* and *in Vivo* Study. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 66(6), 1488–1497. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b05478
- Pitkowski, A., Durand, D., & Nicolai, T. (2008). Structure and dynamical mechanical properties of suspensions of sodium caseinate. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 326(1), 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2008.07.003
- Porter, C. J. H., Trevaskis, N. L., & Charman, W. N. (2007). Lipids and lipid-based formulations: Optimizing the oral delivery of lipophilic drugs. In Nature Reviews Drug Discovery (Vol. 6, Issue 3, pp. 231–248). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2197
- Preetz, C., Hauser, A., Hause, G., Kramer, A., & Mäder, K. (2010). Application of atomic force microscopy and ultrasonic resonator technology on nanoscale: Distinction of nanoemulsions from nanocapsules. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 39(1–3), 141–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2009.11.009
- Qian, C., & McClements, D. J. (2011). Formation of nanoemulsions stabilized by model foodgrade emulsifiers using high-pressure homogenization: Factors affecting particle size. Food Hydrocolloids, 25(5), 1000–1008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2010.09.017
- Robins, M. M. (2000). Emulsions Creaming phenomena. In Current Opinion in Colloid and Interface Science (Vol. 5, Issues 5–6, pp. 265–272). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-0294(00)00065-0
- Rodriguez-Concepcion, M., Avalos, J., Bonet, M. L., Boronat, A., Gomez-Gomez, L., Hornero-Mendez, D., Limon, M. C., Meléndez-Martínez, A. J., Olmedilla-Alonso, B., Palou, A., Ribot, J., Rodrigo, M. J., Zacarias, L., & Zhu, C. (2018). A global perspective on carotenoids: Metabolism, biotechnology, and benefits for nutrition and health. In Progress in Lipid Research (Vol. 70, pp. 62–93). Pergamon. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2018.04.004

Ryu, E. K., Choe, Y. S., Lee, K. H., Choi, Y., & Kim, B. T. (2006). Curcumin and

dehydrozingerone derivatives: Synthesis, radiolabeling, and evaluation for β -amyloid plaque imaging. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 49(20), 6111–6119. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm0607193

- Sabet, S., Rashidinejad, A., Melton, L. D., & McGillivray, D. J. (2021). Recent advances to improve curcumin oral bioavailability. In Trends in Food Science and Technology (Vol. 110, pp. 253–266). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2021.02.006
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013a). Influence of particle size on lipid digestion and β-carotene bioaccessibility in emulsions and nanoemulsions. Food Chemistry, 141(2), 1472–1480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.03.050
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013b). Modulating βcarotene bioaccessibility by controlling oil composition and concentration in edible nanoemulsions. Food Chemistry, 139(1–4), 878–884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.02.024
- Salvia-Trujillo, Laura, Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Influence of an anionic polysaccharide on the physical and oxidative stability of omega-3 nanoemulsions: Antioxidant effects of alginate. Food Hydrocolloids, 52, 690–698. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2015.07.035
- Santos, A. C. C., Amaro, L. B. R., Jorge, A. H. B., Lelis, S. de F., Lelis, D. de F., Guimarães, A. L. S., Santos, S. H. S., & Andrade, J. M. O. (2023). Curcumin improves metabolic response and increases expression of thermogenesis-associated markers in adipose tissue of male offspring from obese dams. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 563, 111840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2022.111840
- Sarheed, O., Dibi, M., & Ramesh, K. V. R. N. S. (2020). Studies on the effect of oil and surfactant on the formation of alginate-based O/W lidocaine nanocarriers using nanoemulsion template. Pharmaceutics, 12(12), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12121223
- Schmidt, U. S., Schmidt, K., Kurz, T., Endre
 ß, H. U., & Schuchmann, H. P. (2015). Pectins of different origin and their performance in forming andstabilizing oil-in-water-emulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 46, 59–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2014.12.012
- Schuch, A., Helfenritter, C., Funck, M., & Schuchmann, H. P. (2015). Observations on the influence of different biopolymers on coalescence of inner water droplets in W/O/W (waterin-oil-in-water) double emulsions. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 475(1), 2–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2014.06.012
- Schultz, S., Wagner, G., Urban, K., & Ulrich, J. (2004). High-pressure homogenization as a process for emulsion formation. Chemical Engineering and Technology, 27(4), 361–368. https://doi.org/10.1002/ceat.200406111
- Sharma, R. A., Gescher, A. J., & Steward, W. P. (2005). Curcumin: The story so far. European Journal of Cancer, 41(13), 1955–1968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2005.05.009
- Shoji, M., Nakagawa, K., Watanabe, A., Tsuduki, T., Yamada, T., Kuwahara, S., Kimura, F., & Miyazawa, T. (2014). Comparison of the effects of curcumin and curcumin glucuronide in human hepatocellular carcinoma HepG2 cells. Food Chemistry, 151, 126–132.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.11.021

- Song, Z., Revelo, X., Shao, W., Tian, L., Zeng, K., Lei, H., Sun, H. S., Woo, M., Winer, D., & Jin, T. (2018). Dietary Curcumin Intervention Targets Mouse White Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Brown Adipose Tissue UCP1 Expression. Obesity, 26(3), 547–558. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22110
- Surh, J., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2006). Influence of pH and pectin type on properties and stability of sodium-caseinate stabilized oil-in-water emulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 20(5), 607–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2005.07.004
- Tan, C. P., & Nakajima, M. (2005). β-Carotene nanodispersions: Preparation, characterization and stability evaluation. Food Chemistry, 92(4), 661–671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2004.08.044
- Tan, Y., Zhang, Z., Muriel Mundo, J., & McClements, D. J. (2020). Factors impacting lipid digestion and nutraceutical bioaccessibility assessed by standardized gastrointestinal model (INFOGEST): Emulsifier type. Food Research International, 137, 109739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109739
- Trevaskis, N. L., Kaminskas, L. M., & Porter, C. J. H. (2015). From sewer to saviour-targeting the lymphatic system to promote drug exposure and activity. In Nature Reviews Drug Discovery (Vol. 14, Issue 11, pp. 781–803). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4608
- Uluata, S., McClements, D. J., & Decker, E. A. (2015). Physical Stability, Autoxidation, and Photosensitized Oxidation of ω -3 Oils in Nanoemulsions Prepared with Natural and Synthetic Surfactants. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 63(42), 9333–9340. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.5b03572
- Vecchione, R., Quagliariello, V., Calabria, D., Calcagno, V., De Luca, E., Iaffaioli, R. V., & Netti, P. A. (2016). Curcumin bioavailability from oil in water nano-emulsions: In vitro and in vivo study on the dimensional, compositional and interactional dependence. Journal of Controlled Release, 233, 88–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.004
- Velderrain-Rodríguez, G. R., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Wall-Medrano, A., González-Aguilar, G. A., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). *In vitro* digestibility and release of a mango peel extract encapsulated within water-in-oil-in-water (W1/O/W2) emulsions containing sodium carboxymethyl cellulose. Food and Function, 10(9), 6110–6120. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9fo01266d
- Verkempinck, S. H. E., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Denis, S., Van Loey, A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2018). Pectin influences the kinetics of *in vitro* lipid digestion in oil-in-water emulsions. Food Chemistry, 262(February), 150–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.04.082
- Verkempinck, S. H. E., Salvia-Trujillo, L., Moens, L. G., Charleer, L., Van Loey, A. M., Hendrickx, M. E., & Grauwet, T. (2018). Emulsion stability during gastrointestinal conditions effects lipid digestion kinetics. Food Chemistry, 246(July 2017), 179–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.11.001

Verrijssen, T. A. J., Christiaens, S., Verkempinck, S. H. E., Boeve, J., Grauwet, T., Van Loey, A.

M., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Hendrickx, M. E. (2016). *In vitro* β -Carotene Bioaccessibility and Lipid Digestion in Emulsions: Influence of Pectin Type and Degree of Methyl-Esterification. Journal of Food Science, 81(10), C2327–C2336. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.13408

- Wei, X., Senanayake, T. H., Bohling, A., & Vinogradov, S. V. (2014). Targeted nanogel conjugate for improved stability and cellular permeability of curcumin: Synthesis, pharmacokinetics, and tumor growth inhibition. Molecular Pharmaceutics, 11(9), 3112–3122. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp500290f
- Xu, D., Wang, X., Jiang, J., Yuan, F., & Gao, Y. (2012). Impact of whey protein Beet pectin conjugation on the physicochemical stability of β-carotene emulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 28(2), 258–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2012.01.002
- Yu, H., & Huang, Q. (2012). Improving the oral bioavailability of curcumin using novel organogel-based nanoemulsions. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 60(21), 5373–5379. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf300609p
- Yuan, Y., Gao, Y., Zhao, J., & Mao, L. (2008). Characterization and stability evaluation of βcarotene nanoemulsions prepared by high pressure homogenization under various emulsifying conditions. Food Research International, 41(1), 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2007.09.006
- Zhang, R., Zhang, Z., Kumosani, T., Khoja, S., Abualnaja, K. O., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Encapsulation of β-carotene in Nanoemulsion-Based Delivery Systems Formed by Spontaneous Emulsification: Influence of Lipid Composition on Stability and Bioaccessibility. Food Biophysics, 11(2), 154–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11483-016-9426-7
- Zhang, R., Zhang, Z., Zhang, H., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2015). Influence of emulsifier type on gastrointestinal fate of oil-in-water emulsions containing anionic dietary fiber (pectin). Food Hydrocolloids, 45, 175–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2014.11.020
- Zhongfa, L., Chiu, M., Wang, J., Chen, W., Yen, W., Fan-Havard, P., Yee, L. D., & Chan, K. K. (2012). Enhancement of curcumin oral absorption and pharmacokinetics of curcuminoids and curcumin metabolites in mice. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 69(3), 679–689. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-011-1749-y
- Zhu, X., Du, S., Yan, Q., Min, C., Zhou, N., Zhou, W., & Li, X. (2021). Dietary curcumin supplementation promotes browning and energy expenditure in postnatal overfed rats. Nutrition and Metabolism, 18(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12986-021-00625-5
- Zovich, D. C., Orologa, A., Okuno, M., Wong Yen Kong, L., Talmage, D. A., Piantedosi, R., Goodman, D. S., & Blaner, W. S. (1992). Differentiation-dependent expression of retinoidbinding proteins in BFC- 1β adipocytes. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 267(20), 13884– 13889. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(19)49651-8

CONCLUSIONS

The results obtained in this doctoral thesis have contributed to elucidating how the composition of emulsion-based delivery systems affects their properties, stability and functionality. The main findings obtained are organized in four sections depending on the type of system used:

Section I: O/W nanoemulsions

- The emulsifier choice affected the physical properties of nanoemulsions, being those with protein-based emulsifiers the ones with smaller particle size and less electrical charge. The addition of pectin increased the viscosity of nanoemulsions and reduced their particle size, electrical charge and stability over time. In contrast, the addition of alginate increased the electrical charge, viscosity and stability of nanoemulsions over time.
- The instability phenomena observed during gastrointestinal digestion were dependent on the emulsifier used. Nanoemulsions containing protein-based emulsifiers (whey protein and sodium caseinate) presented aggregated droplets in the stomach, but they could be redispersed in the intestine according to the *in vitro* and *in vivo* observations. In contrast, in the phospholipid-based nanoemulsion (containing soybean lecithin) coalescence of droplets was detected. The addition of pectin or alginate into nanoemulsions promoted the flocculation of droplets during *in vitro* digestion but prevented their coalescence.
- The instability phenomena that nanoemulsions underwent during digestion influenced the digestibility of the lipid fraction. The effect of the emulsifier on digestibility depended on the concentration of oil. Moreover, the presence of alginate decreased the lipid digestibility of nanoemulsions due to its high viscosity and its ability to bind calcium ions.
- The bioaccessibility of curcumin and β-carotene was greater in nanoemulsions containing protein emulsifiers than in that with the phospholipid, which was related to the greater protection provided by the proteins against the degradation of the compound during digestion. In addition, by increasing the oil concentration in nanoemulsions, β-carotene bioaccessibility was reduced as a consequence of a reduced lipid digestibility. The addition of pectin increased β-carotene bioaccessibility due to an increased protection of the compound against degradation,

Conclusions

while alginate reduced curcumin bioaccessibility as a consequence of the reduced lipid digestibility.

- Nanoemulsions were efficient systems to enhance the oral bioavailability of βcarotene and retinol compared to the control suspension in rats. Moreover, nanoemulsions containing protein-based emulsifiers were more efficient than those with a phospholipid-based emulsifier in increasing the absorption of β-carotene.
- In vivo studies revealed that once absorbed, β-carotene was cleaved to retinol (the active form of vitamin A), the form in which it was mostly found in the different organs studied. Moreover, the liver was the organ with more retinol accumulation, especially in rats fed with nanoemulsions containing whey protein as emulsifier.

Section II: W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions

- Double emulsions formulated with Tween 20 showed smaller particle sizes and higher stability over time than those with soybean lecithin. The addition of polysaccharides (carboxymethyl cellulose, Arabic gum, alginate) in the external aqueous phase of double emulsions reduced the particle size, increased the encapsulation efficiency, and improved the physical stability of the systems over time.
- The *in vitro* lipid digestibility of double emulsions was higher using Tween 20 than soybean lecithin due to the higher stability provided by the former under gastric conditions against coalescence. The addition of polysaccharides that significantly increased the system viscosity (2% pectin, ≥ 1.5 alginate, or 1% carboxymethyl cellulose) enhanced the lipid digestibility of soybean lecithin double emulsions by increasing the stability of droplets in the intestinal medium.
- The emulsifier type did not affect the bioaccessibility of anthocyanins enclosed in double emulsions. In contrast, the addition of polysaccharides in the external aqueous phase increased the bioaccessibility of the encapsulated compound (anthocyanins or phycocyanin) in lecithin-containing emulsions due to (1) increased protection against degradation of the compound during digestion and/or (2) enhanced lipid digestibility.

Section III: highly-concentrated emulsions

- Highly-concentrated emulsions were obtained using 50% oil and 0.1 surfactant-oilratio (soybean lecithin), which showed no instability phenomena during 15 days.
- The formulated highly-concentrated emulsions showed to increase by 10.6-fold the *in vivo* oral bioavailability of curcuminoids compared to the control suspension.
- Curcumin was mainly present in the glucuronide form in plasma, which presented the highest concentrations at 2 h 4 h post-administration.
- Curcumin was mainly found in its free form, which presents the most biological activity, in the studied organs. In addition, the highest concentrations were observed in brown adipose tissue, where curcumin can play an important role in the prevention of diseases such as obesity.

Section IV: solid and liquid lipid nanoparticles

- Nanoemulsions containing liquid lipid nanoparticles (corn oil or miglyol) presented smaller particle sizes than those containing solid lipid nanoparticles (hydrogenated palm oil or coconut oil) due to the lower viscosity of the formers. Moreover, the type of oil has also an impact on the initial particle size, with MCT-nanoparticles (miglyol or coconut oil) presenting the smallest particle sizes.
- The lipid digestibility of nanoemulsions was faster when they contained MCTnanoparticles than LCT-nanoparticles, due to the greater ability of MCT to migrate and disperse in the surrounding aqueous medium. Among the nanoemulsions containing solid lipid nanoparticles, the lipid digestibility was only slowed in those formulated using hydrogenated palm oil, as the high melting point of the lipid allowed nanoparticles to retain a semi-solid state at body temperature.
- Nanoemulsions containing LCT liquid lipid nanoparticles (corn oil) increased the *in vivo* curcuminoid bioavailability to a higher extent than those with MCT. However, when the LCT was solid (hydrogenated palm oil) it presented the same absorption as the MCT-based nanoparticles.
- After the oral administration of nanoemulsions to rats, curcumin was mainly found in the glucuronidated form in plasma. However, it was found in its free from in most organs, especially in the brown adipose tissue that presented the highest concentrations.

FUTURE RESEARCH

The results obtained in this doctoral thesis have shown that the composition of emulsionbased delivery systems strongly affects the stability of the systems and the bioavailability of encapsulated bioactive compounds. Nonetheless, further investigation needs still to be done to cover remaining gaps of knowledge. Therefore, in view of the results obtained during this doctoral thesis, the following research is proposed:

- Incorporate the studied emulsion-delivery systems into food matrices in order to assess their efficiency as delivery systems and study the possible interactions with the components of food products.
- Validate in humans the studies carried out with animal models in this doctoral thesis to obtain more information on the functionality of these systems.
- Focus on the research of new sustainable sources of natural ingredients to formulate these systems, especially those of plant origin.
- Conduct studies investigating consumer acceptance of food products containing emulsion-based delivery systems.

ANNEXES

Annex I

The effect of sodium carboxymethylcellulose on the stability and bioaccessibility of anthocyanin water-in-oil-in-water emulsions

Júlia Teixé-Roig, Gemma Oms-Oliu, Gustavo Rubén Velderrain-Rodríguez, Isabel Odriozola-Serrano, Olga Martín-Belloso*

Food and Bioprocess Technology 11 (2018): 2229-2241.

Abstract

Water-in-oil-in-water (W1/O/W2) emulsions provide protective encapsulation to plant bioactive compounds in food matrix and under gastrointestinal conditions. However, the stability of the emulsions during the storage is crucial for their use in the food industry. Hence, the aim of this study was to enhance the stability and bioaccessibility of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions containing anthocyanins with the use of sodium carboxymethylcellulose (CMCNa). The emulsions were prepared by ultrasound technology, adding polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR) in the inner aqueous phase of emulsions, and lecithin and Tween 20 in the outer aqueous phase. The systems were physicochemical characterized over the time and their behavior under simulated gastrointestinal conditions was investigated. Our results showed high encapsulation efficiencies above 90% and an increase in bioaccessibility with the use of CMCNa. Moreover, the polymer addition slowed down the free fatty acid release and increased the oil digestibility of lecithin-stabilized emulsions. These latter emulsions presented the highest bioaccessibility $(31.08 \pm 1.73\%)$, the more negative values of ζ -potential and no variations on the particle size and the backscattering profile over the time, thus being the most stable emulsions. These results provide useful information for the design of anthocyanin emulsion-based delivery systems to guarantee their functionality in food matrices as well as through the gastrointestinal tract.

Keywords: water-in-oil-in-water emulsion, ultrasound technology, anthocyanins, sodium carboxymethylcellulose, stability, bioaccessibility

Annex I

1. Introduction

Anthocyanins are flavonoids belonging to an important group of water-soluble blue, red, purple and orange natural pigments of different fruits and vegetables. Nutraceuticals containing anthocyanins purified from bilberry (Vaccinium myrtillus) and black currant (Ribes nigrum), have been used in clinical studies demonstrating major health benefits such as the modulation of several pro-inflammatory mediators in healthy adults (Karlsen et al., 2007), the improvement of the lipoprotein profile (HDL-cholesterol/LDLcholesterol) in dyslipidemic patients (Qin et al., 2009), the enhancement of the antioxidant capacity and the prevention of insulin resistance in subjects with type 2 diabetes (Li et al., 2015). However, the use of these nutraceuticals has not been exploited for their application in food so far. The use of anthocyanin extracts as replacers of synthetic colorants in food is limited due to their low stability during processing and storage of food products. The color and stability of anthocyanins can be affected by physical and chemical factors such temperature, pH, light, chemical structure, concentration, presence of copigments, metallic ions, enzymes, oxygen, ascorbic acid, sugar, among others (Cavalcanti et al., 2011; Sari et al., 2012; Shipp & Abdel-Aal, 2010). Therefore, new encapsulating delivery systems for anthocyanins are needed for further food applications.

Water-in-oil-in-water ($W_1/O/W_2$) double emulsions consist of a W_1 phase dispersed as small water particles in a lipid phase, which separates the internal water phase from the external water phase (W_2) (Qi et al., 2011). Currently, $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions are of great importance in the food industry because they allow to prepare reduced-fat emulsion products compared to conventional oil-in-water emulsions (O/W) maintaining a similar in-mouth perceived texture and flavor. They have also the capacity to encapsulate and protect both lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds, which are isolated from the surrounding aqueous environment, and control its release during the digestion process (Aditya et al., 2015b; Kaimainen et al., 2015; Matos et al., 2014; Muschiolik & Dickinson, 2017). However, the stabilization of these systems and further application in food is still a challenge.

Emulsifiers or surfactants are surface-active amphiphilic molecules often selected based on their ability to enhance physical stability of emulsions. Polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR) is the most commonly used hydrophobic emulsifier in food-based $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions to promote and stabilize the inner phase (W_1/O) (Aditya et al., 2015a; Aditya et al., 2015b; Frank et al., 2012; Kaimainen et al., 2015). In contrast, lecithin and Tween 20 were added to the outer phase (O/W_2) in order to study their influence in the stabilization of the inner phase into the outer phase. Tween 20 is a synthetic hydrophilic emulsifier used in the aqueous phase of $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions (Frank et al., 2011), whereas lecithin, a mixture of different glycerophospholipids, can also be adsorbed to oil-water interface acting as a natural emulsifier (Klang & Valenta, 2011; Pichot et al., 2013). The use of different biopolymers as thickening and gelling agents has shown to improve encapsulation efficiency and stability of W1/O/W2 double emulsions (Benna-Zayani et al., 2008; Dickinson, 2011; Su et al., 2008). Sodium carboxymethylcellulose (CMCNa) is proved to be a suitable emulsifier for $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions and it is commonly chosen as a stabilizing agent for its low cost (Matos et al., 2014; Schuch et al., 2015). The aim of this study was to encapsulate and stabilize anthocyanins in double emulsions for its further application in food. We compared the influence of using different stabilizers in the outer phase of the W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions, a natural emulsifier (lecithin) compared to a synthetic emulsifier (Tween 20) and the addition of a biopolymer (sodium carboxymethylcellulose) on size, zeta potential, encapsulation efficiency, free fatty acid release, bioaccessibility and stability of the systems during 21 days of the storage at 4 °C.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

Anthocyanin extract (Medox ®, Biolink Group AS, Sandnes, Norway), glycerol, polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR) (Danisco, DuPont, EEUU), Tween 20 (Scharlab, Sentmenat, Spain), lecithin Alfa Aesar ThermoFisher (Kandel, Germany), sodium carboxymethylcellulose (CMCNa) (Sigma-Aldrich, Inc. St. Louis, MO), sodium acetate (Scharlab, Sentmenat, Spain), potassium chloride (Panreac AppliChem ITW Reagents, Barcelona, Spain) and corn oil was purchased from a local supermarket. Ultrapure water obtained from a milli-Q filtration system was used to prepare emulsions and reagents of the experiment.

Annex I

2.2. Methods

The $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions were prepared using a unique inner emulsifier (PGPR) at a final concentration in the emulsion of 1.25% w/w. Tween 20 and lecithin emulsions at a concentration of 1.5% w/w were formulated to compare the effect of the two different outer surfactants. Moreover, to investigate the effect of CMCNa on the systems, Tween 20 and lecithin emulsions were stabilized with 1% w/w and without the biopolymer.

2.2.1. Preparation of water-in-oil-in-water (W₁/O/W₂) double emulsions

Firstly, the anthocyanins extract was diluted 1:20 in a NaCl 0.1M solution, by agitation (10 min), centrifugation (15 min at 14000 rpm) and filtration.

For the formulation of the double emulsions, a two-step emulsification method described by Aditya et al. (2015a) with some modifications was used. To obtain the primary W1/O emulsion, the two phases were prepared separately. The W₁ phase, comprising of 22 % of the extract solution and 3 % of glycerol, and the oil phase, consisting of 70 % of corn oil and 5 % of PGPR, were heated at 60 °C for 15 min, separately. Subsequently, the two phases were mixed and homogenized using a high-speed homogenizer (Ultra-Turrax, Janke & Kundel, Staufen, Germany) at 6000 rpm for 8 min. Lastly, a sonication of the primary W₁/O emulsion was performed using a P400S Hielscher sonicer (Hielscher Ultrasound Technology, Teltow, Germany) for 180 s at a frequency of 24 kHz and amplitude of 40%.

The secondary water phase (W_2) was prepared adding the surfactant (lecithin or Tween 20) on the NaCl 0.1M solution and heated at 60 °C for 30 min. In the emulsions with biopolymer, CMCNa was also added into the W_2 phase. Finally, W_1 /O and W_2 were mixed at a ratio of 25:75, homogenized using the high-speed homogenizer at 6000 rpm for 4 minutes and sonicated for 90 s at a frequency of 24 kHz and amplitude of 30%.

2.2.2. Quantification of anthocyanins in emulsions

The anthocyanin content was determined by the spectrophotometric pH-differential method in which two buffer systems were used, potassium chloride (0.025 M pH 1) and sodium acetate (0.4 M pH 4.5) following Turfan et al. (2011) method. Briefly, samples

were diluted 1:3 with each buffer and the absorbance of the mixtures at pH 1 and 4.5 was then measured with a UV-visible-NIR spectrophotometer (V-670, Jasco Corporation, Tokio, Japan) at 515 and 700 nm against a blank of methanol. The anthocyanin content (mg/L) was calculated according to equation (1) and expressed as equivalents of cyanidin-3-glucoside.

$$TA = \frac{\left[(A_{515} - A_{700})_{pH \ 1.0} - (A_{515} - A_{700})_{pH \ 4.5} \right] x MW x DF x 1000}{\epsilon x L}$$
(1)

where MW is the molecular weight of cyanidin-3-glucoside (449.2 g/mol), DF is the dilution factor, L is the pathlength in cm and ε is the molar extinction coefficient for cyanidin-3-glucoside (26900 L · mol-1 · cm-1).

2.2.3. Determination of encapsulation efficiency (EE)

To determine the encapsulation efficiency of the anthocyanins, a previously described method by Aditya et al. (2015b) with some slight modifications was used. A portion of 10 mL of the emulsions were centrifuged at 4500 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. Then, the W_2 phase at the bottom of the tube, containing free anthocyanins, was collected, and centrifuged at 7500 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C, prior a dilution at 1:4 with methanol. Finally, the amount of free anthocyanins was determined using the differential pH method described in the previous section (2.2.1.).

Based on the content of free anthocyanins obtained according to the equation (1), the encapsulation efficiency was calculated according to the equation (2):

$$EE (\%) = \frac{Total anthocyanins - Free anthocyanins}{Total anthocyanins} \cdot 100$$
(2)

where the total anthocyanins is the amount of the compound added to the inner aqueous phase in the preparation of the emulsions. The total anthocyanins value was determined by reference to a calibration curve of the extract diluted in NaCl 0.1 M.

2.2.4. Emulsion characterization

The mean droplet diameter (nm) and the particle size distribution were measured using static light scattering technique (Mastersizer 2000, Malvern Instruments Ltd,

Worcestershire, UK). Emulsions were previously diluted in ultrapure water and stirred at 1800 rpm. The particle size diameter (μ m) was reported as the volume mean diameter (d43).

The electrical charge (ζ -potential) was measured by phase-analysis light scattering (PALS) using a Zetasizer NanoZS laser diffractometer (Malvern Instruments Ltd Worcerstershire, UK) to determine the surface charge (mV) at the droplet interface. Emulsions were previously diluted in ultrapure water at a dilution ratio of 1/2000 sample-solvent and placed in a capillary cell equipped with two electrodes to assess the electrophoretic mobility of the particles. The results were expressed in millivolts (mV).

Apparent viscosity of emulsions was determined using a SV-10 vibro-viscometer (A&D Company, Tokyo, Japan), which produces a vibration of 30 Hz and constant amplitude of 0.4 mm at a controlled room temperature. The results were expressed in mPa·s.

The optical properties of the emulsions were measured using a colorimeter (Konica Minolta CR-400, Konica Minolta Sensing, Inc, Osaka, Japan). The equipment was set up for an illuminant D65 and 10° observer angle. CIE L* (lightness), a* (green- red) and b* (blue- yellow) values were reported.

2.2.5. Confocal scanning laser microscopy

Micrographs of the $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions were obtained with a confocal scanning laser microscopy (CSLM) (Olympus FV1000 Spectral Confocal Microscope Olympus, Melville, NY). Samples of W1/O/W2 emulsions were stained with Nile red (fluorescent lipid dye) and examined with a 100X magnifications lens and a laser with an excitation line of 559 nm.

2.2.6. In vitro digestion

The *in vitro* digestion method was performed according to Minekus et al. (2014). The protocol included both gastric and small intestinal phases. Briefly, 20 mL of the sample were mixed with 18.2 mL of simulated gastric fluid (SGF) containing pepsin (2000 U/mL), 0.4 mL HCl solution (1 M) and 10 μ L of a CaCl2 solution (0.3 M). Finally, 1.39 mL of Milli Q water was added to reach a final volume of 40 mL. The mixture was

placed into an incubator at 37 °C for 2 h while shaking gently. In order to carry out the intestinal phase, a pH-stat device was used. Once the gastric phase was completed, an aliquot of 30 mL of gastric sample were placed in a 37 °C water bath. Then, 3.5 mL of bile solution (54 mg/mL) and 1.5 mL of salt solution (NaCl 0.150 mM and CaCl2 0.01 mM) were added and the pH was adjusted to 7 with NaOH (1 M). Finally, 2.5 mL of pancreatin solution (75 mg/mL) was incorporated to the mixture. The pH of the sample was maintained to 7 by adding NaOH (0.25 M) constantly for 2 h. The final volume of NaOH (0.25 M) was recorded and used to calculate the amount of free fatty acids (FFA) released during the intestinal phase. The % FFA was determined according to equation (3):

$$FFA (\%) = \frac{V_{\text{NaOH } x} M_{\text{NaOH } x} M_{\text{oil}}}{m_{\text{oil}} x 2} \times 100$$
(3)

where V_{NaOH} was the final volume of NaOH consumed during the *in vitro* digestion, M_{NaOH} was the molarity of NaOH (0.25 M), M_{oil} was the molarity of the oil used in the emulsion (800 g · mol-1) and moil was the mass of oil that was digested during the intestinal phase of the digestion (2.63 g).

2.2.7. Anthocyanin bioaccessibility

Anthocyanin extraction was carried out following the method proposed by Gómez-Plaza et al. (2008) with some modifications. An aliquot of 10 mL of digested sample was centrifuged at 11000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C. The micelle phase was discarded and the aqueous phase was recovered. Then, 1 mL of the aqueous phase was mixed with 3 mL of methanol. The mixture was vortexed and centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C. Aqueous phase was recovered and pellet was discarded.

The anthocyanin content (mg/L) was determined by the spectrophotometric pHdifferential method described by Turfan et al. (2011), as it was described previously (section 2.2.1.). The results were expressed as equivalents of cyanidin-3-glucoside. The bioaccessibility was obtained according the equation (4):

Bioaccessibility (%) =
$$\frac{C_{\text{digestion}}}{C_{\text{emulsion}}} \times 100$$
 (4)

where $C_{digestion}$ is the anthocyanin content of digested samples and $C_{emulsion}$ is the anthocyanin content in the initial emulsion.

2.2.8. Stability by Turbiscan

Stability of emulsions was studied using a vertical scan analyzer Turbiscan MA 2000 (Formulaction, Toulouse, France) during 21 days of storage at 4 °C. A sample of 7 mL were introduced into a glass cylindrical cell and analyzed by a light beam emitted in near infrared (800 nm) wavelength which scanned vertically, from bottom to top, the sample cell. Two synchronous optical sensors receive respectively light transmitted through the sample (180° from the incident light), and light backscattered by the sample (45° from the incident radiation). In this study, the variation of backscattering (BS) during 21 days at 4 °C was studied to assess the stability of emulsions over the time.

2.2.9. Statistical analyses

All the experiments were assayed in duplicate and three analyses were carried for each sample. The results were analyzed using the Statgraphics Plus v.5.1 Windows package (Statistical Graphics Co., Rockville, Md), being the confidence interval set at 0.95. Analysis of the variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare treatments. In addition, multiple rang tests were carried out to determine significant differences between the obtained averages. Least significant difference (LSD) test was employed to determine differences between means.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Characterization of initial W₁/O/W₂ emulsions

Encapsulation efficiency. High values of encapsulation efficiency ranged from 74.84 \pm 1.53% in Tween 20-stabilized W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions to 92.57 \pm 0.20% in the same emulsions stabilized with CMCNa (Table 1). Aditya et al. (2015a) managed to

Annex I

encapsulate catechin and curcumin in double emulsions with similar encapsulation efficiencies, around 90-95%. In our study, a significant increase of 15% and 25% in lecithin- and Tween 20-stabilized W1/O/W2 double emulsions, respectively, was observed with the addition of CMCNa. Similar behaviour was observed in the study of Matos et al. (2014), who reported higher encapsulation efficiency as the concentration of CMCNa increased (0 - 0.5% w/v) in the W₂ outer phase of Tween 20-stabilized W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions. CMCNa may affect the interactions between Tween 20 or lecithin molecules adsorbed at the outer interface. Due to the low interfacial activity of CMCNa, its presence in the W₂ outer phase could provide a steric effect, physical barrier for particle interactions, playing a significant role in the stabilization of the outer interface (Matos et al., 2014; Schuch et al., 2015). Different hydrocolloids added to the W₂ outer phase have increased encapsulation efficiency. Values higher than 90% were observed with the addition of 10% of a modified gum arabic (Acacia (sen) SUPER GUMTM) to the W₂ outer phase of $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions (Su et al., 2008). The encapsulation efficiencies of W1/O/W2 double emulsions stabilized by CMCNa have shown much higher encapsulation efficiencies than the emulsions stabilized by beet pectin or gum Arabic (Schuch et al., 2015). In literature, a greater retention of active material is related to a reduction of emulsion droplet size, which generally represents an increased stability (Schuch et al., 2015; Schuch et al., 2013). However, our results obtained for encapsulation efficiency could not be related to the droplet size. In accordance with our results, Carneiro et al. (2013) attributed the differences observed in the encapsulation efficiency of flaxseed oil microencapsulated by spray drying to the wall materials used, with different interfacial properties, rather than the droplet size.

Particle size and size distribution. The particle size of the $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions are shown in Table 1. The values were in the 3.36 ± 0.69 and 8.39 ± 0.83 µm range. Similar particle sizes $(5.05 \pm 0.16 \text{ µm} \text{ to } 8.28 \pm 0.33 \text{ µm})$ were reported in CMCNa Tween 20-stabilized $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions containing trans-resveratrol at different biopolymer concentrations, from 0 to 0.5% w/v (Matos et al., 2014). In our study, emulsions formulated with Tween 20 presented lower particle size compared to those formulated with lecithin (p < 0.05), which could be explained by the hydrophiliclipophilic balance (HLB) of the emulsifiers. According to literature, the higher the HLB values the smaller the particles in an O/W emulsion (Yuan et al., 2008). The HLB values of Tween 20 are 16.7 but the HLB of lecithin are rarely higher than 9, commonly ranging between 2 and 7. Thus, the lowest droplet size observed in Tween 20 emulsions could be explained because of its high HLB value.

	Lecithin ¹	Tween 20 ²	CMCNa Lecithin ³	CMCNa Tween 20 ⁴
EE (%)	78.38 ± 3.87 ^A	74.84 ± 1.53 ^A	90.14 ± 1.57 ^B	92.57 ± 0.20 ^B
Particle size (µm)	$5.66\pm0.70\ ^{\rm C}$	$4.39\pm0.55~^{\rm B}$	$8.39\pm0.83\ ^{\rm D}$	$3.36\pm0.69~^{\rm A}$
ζ-potential (mV)	-65.58 \pm 4.81 ^B	-54.83 ± 2.36 ^C	$-88.06\pm4.51~^{\rm A}$	-56.3 ± 4.00 ^C
Viscosity (mPa·s)	$2.16\pm0.08\ ^{\rm A}$	$2.02\pm0.06\ ^{\rm A}$	277.67 ± 38.41 ^B	257.50 ± 27.69 ^B
Color (a*)	$14.50\pm0.65~^{\rm C}$	11.57 ± 0.59 ^B	12.71 ± 0.75 $^{\mathrm{B}}$	$5.24 \pm 1.52 \ ^{\rm A}$
рН	$4.83\pm0.07~^{\rm B}$	3.37 ± 0.37 ^A	$5.49\pm0.06~^{\rm C}$	5.38 ± 0.03 ^C

Table 1. Initial encapsulation efficiency (EE), particle size, ζ -potential, viscosity, color and pH of W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions.

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different letters within the same line indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among emulsions. ¹ Lecithin: lecithin-stabilized emulsions. ² Tween 20: Tween 20-stabilized emulsions. ³ CMCNa lecithin: sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions. ⁴ CMCNa Tween 20: sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20-stabilized emulsions.

Particle size was significantly affected by the addition of CMCNa in $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions, although the effect varied depending on the surfactant. These differences between Tween 20 and lecithin could be attributed to changes in the initial pH before the addition of CMCNa. In the case of lecithin emulsions (pH \approx 5), the addition of the biopolymer increased the particle size. In contrast, in the case of Tween 20 (pH \approx 3), the addition of CMCNa decreased the particle size. It has been also reported a particle size increase of casein micelles in a mixture with carboxymethylcellulose at pH 5 in comparison with that in absence of the hydrocolloid. The increase was attributed to the adsorption of carboxymethylcellulose onto casein micelles, which led to effectively larger particles (Du et al., 2009). Based on this latter study, at low pH, the decrease of particle size with the addition of CMCNa in Tween 20-stabilized W1/O/W2 double emulsions could be due to the presence of adsorbed surfactant that might hinder the adsorption of arriving CMCNa chains due to the electrostatic repulsion. Therefore, interactions between CMCNa and the emulsifiers onto the oil surface are suggested to be pH dependent. Apart from these interactions, Matos et al. (2014) proposed that the addition of CMCNa in the outer W2 phase of Tween 20-stabilized W1/O/W2 double emulsions could be associated to its capacity to reduce the interfacial tension, which



would also explain the decrease of the mean diameter values in our study.

Figure 1. Droplet size distribution of the different $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions. Lecithin, lecithin-stabilized emulsions; Tween 20, Tween 20-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa lecithin, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa Tween 20, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20- stabilized emulsions.

Figure 1 shows the droplet size distribution of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions. Lecithin-stabilized double emulsions presented a well-defined monomodal particle size distribution, ranging from 1 to 20 µm. In contrast, Tween 20- stabilized $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions showed a bimodal distribution, with small particles in the range from 0.2 to 12 µm and large particles from 12 to 80 µm. The polydispersity of Tween 20-stabilized double emulsions decreased with the addition of CMCNa and small particles from 0.2 to 12 µm were shown. However, the values increased with the addition of the biopolymer in lecithin emulsions and large particles up to 50 µm were detected. A bimodal distribution has been typically observed in $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions formulated with PGPR as lipophilic emulsifier (Hemar et al., 2010; Su et al., 2006), but a monomodal distribution was observed by Cofrades et al. (2013) when sodium caseinate and whey protein concentrate were used as hydrophilic emulsifiers. In other studies, $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions stabilized with different hydrocolloids, such as propylene glycol alginate, gellan, carragenan, pectin methylcellulose, gum Arabic, xanthan and others, have shown to exhibit high polydispersity, similar to our double emulsions with CMCNa (Huang et al., 2001).

Confocal scanning laser microscopy (CSLM). Oil fat globules containing small droplets inside (inner phase) can be clearly identified in Figure 2. CSLM images have proved the formation of double emulsions in other studies (Aditya et al., 2015a). These authors confirmed that a secondary emulsification does not result in the destruction of the primary water-in oil emulsion. The addition of CMCNa increased the oil droplet size in lecithin-stabilized emulsions (Figure 2a and c), whereas, smaller droplets were observed for emulsions with the addition of CMCNa in Tween 20-stabilized $W_1/O/W2$ double emulsions (Figure 2b and d). These results are confirmed by the particle size measurements (Table 1). The confocal images also presented some aggregation of the oil droplets of Tween 20 emulsions, not detected in lecithin emulsions.



Figure 2. Confocal laser scanning microscopy images of the different W1/O/W2 double emulsions. Lecithin, lecithin- stabilized emulsions (a); Tween 20, Tween 20-stabilized emulsions (b); CMCNa lecithin, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions (c); CMCNa Tween 20, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20-stabilized emulsions (d).

 ζ -potential. In Table 1 are shown the electrical charges of the W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions. The values were negative and oscillated between -54.83 ± 2.36 mV and -88.06 ± 4.51 mV. Initially, ζ -potential values of lecithin-stabilized emulsions were more negative than those of Tween 20 emulsions (p < 0.05) (Table 1). Although Tween 20 is a non-ionic emulsifier, negative charges were observed in this study. It could be explained because of the presence of free fatty acid impurities in the surfactant or oil, or due to the preferential absorption of OH⁻ from water to the droplet surfaces (Hu et al., 2012; Uluata et al., 2015). The droplet surface charge of lecithin-stabilized emulsions is usually in the negative range due the presence of negatively charged phospholipids. This natural emulsifier, mainly consisted of phosphatidyl choline, is a zwitterionic polar lipid that has previously been reported to give emulsion droplets a negative charge (Chang & McClements, 2016; Hu et al., 2012; Uluata et al., 2015). The addition of CMCNa in lecithin-stabilized emulsions could have increased significantly the electrostatic repulsion between oil droplets, causing a decrease in ζ -potential from -65.58 ± 4.81 to -88.06 ± 4.51. Similar effect was observed in acidified milk drinks, where the addition of carboxymethylcellulose to casein micelles also increased the absolute magnitude of ζ -potential, contributing to the stability of the system by electrostatic repulsion (Due et al., 2009). In comparison with other biopolymers, CMCNa or gum arabic hydrocolloids provided more negative charges than whey protein isolate in O/W emulsions (Berendsen et al., 2014).

Viscosity. Apparent viscosity values of $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions ranged from 2.02 ± 0.06 to 277.67 ± 38.41 mPa·s. No differences on viscosity were observed between surfactants, but as it can be shown in Table 1, there was a significant increase of the viscosity in the emulsions when the biopolymer was added. The addition of CMCNa, as well as other polymers, in $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions causes a considerably increase of viscosity (Benna-Zayani et al., 2008; Dickinson, 2011; Matos et al., 2014), and permit to achieve a rheological control of the continuous phase acting as thickening agents (Dickinson, 2009). Such effect may improve the stability of the $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsion. Moreover, an increase of the viscosity has been reported to help reducing the particle size of double emulsions (Li et al., 2012), which has also been observed in this study in Tween 20-stabilized emulsions (Table 1).

Color and pH. Color intensity was measured by a* values, which ranged from 5.24 ± 1.52 in CMCNa Tween 20-stabilized W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions to 14.50 ± 0.65 in lecithin-stabilized W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions (Table 1). The a* values in emulsions stabilized with lecithin were higher than those of Tween 20-stabilized emulsions (p < 0.05), which indicated that lecithin-stabilized emulsions were more red than those with Tween 20. When CMCNa was added, a* values decreased and thus, emulsions became less red. It is generally accepted that the color, intensity and stability of anthocyanins changed significantly in the pH 1 - 12 range. pH values affected their stability, being

highly stable at very acidic pH < 3 and low stable at the slightly acid to neutral pH values of most foods (Cabrita et al., 2000). In the present study, pH values ranged from 3.37 ± 0.37 in Tween 20-stabilized emulsions to 5.49 ± 0.06 in CMCNa lecithin-stabilized W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions. Although CMCNa addition increased significantly the emulsion pH, especially in lecithin-stabilized W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions, the compound encapsulation could overcome the stability-related limitations of anthocyanin utilization in food.

3.2. Oil digestibility and anthocyanin bioaccessibility

The lipid digestion profile was significantly different among lecithin- and Tween 20stabilized emulsions. The rate and extent of lipid digestion of emulsions stabilized with lecithin was significantly lower than those where Tween 20 was used as surfactant (Figure 3). A rapid FFA release up to 30% was observed after 30 min of the in vitro duodenal digestion in Tween 20-stabilized W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions, followed by a more gradual increase up to 42.68% at the end of the 2 h duodenal digestion. In contrast, in lecithin-stabilized $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions the initial increase was much smaller, and the final total FFA released was the lowest (23.44%), probably due to the difficulty for lipase to act. The low lipolysis that extends up to 30% in some studies could be explained either by a possible accumulation of fatty acids in the O/W-interfaces or by an inhibitory effect of the emulsifiers (Frank et al., 2012). In addition, the in vitro digestibility of lipid droplets by pancreatic lipase can vary as a function of the type and the amount of the emulsifier used (Mun et al., 2007; Nik et al., 2011; Yao et al., 2013). Mun et al. (2007) reported an improved digestibility of whey protein isolate WPIstabilized emulsions compared to lecithin- and Tween 20-stabilized emulsions. Chang and McClements (2016) also showed a faster rate of lipid digestion for Tween 80 than for lecithin. Several studies indeed reported an increase of the droplet size during the digestion, usually due to droplet aggregation observed by optical microscopy (Mun et al., 2007; Nik et al., 2011; Salvia-Trujillo et al., 2013). Chang and McClements (2016) related the initial lipid digestion rate of lecithin-stabilized fish oil-in-water emulsions to the moderate amount of droplet aggregation observed in these emulsions prior to the addition of lipase. Although they also observed large dense aggregates in Tween 80stabilized emulsions at the beginning of the small intestine phase, in this case, they

suggested that these aggregates consisted of lipid droplets that were only weakly held together by attractive forces, and were therefore easily disrupted during lipid digestion. Kaimainen et al. (2015) suggested that not only the aggregation of the outer droplets may inhibit the lipase activity, but also the high concentration of lecithin, with phospholipids, could compete with bile salts and lipase at the oil-water interface, thus inhibiting the digestion of lipids.



Figure 3. Free fatty acid (FFA%) release during the intestinal phase of the different $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions. Lecithin, lecithin-stabilized emulsions; Tween 20, Tween 20-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa lecithin, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa Tween 20, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20- stabilized emulsions.

A different lipid digestion profile was observed with the addition of CMCNa in either lecithin- or Tween 20-stabilized $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions. In Tween 20 emulsions, the addition of CMCNa slowed down the release of FFA, but, at the end of the intestinal digestion phase, no differences were observed in the total amount released. In the lecithin-stabilized $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions, the addition of CMCNa had no effect initially, but a rapid increase was observed after 50 min, being the final amount of FFA released significantly higher than in the emulsions without polymer. CMCNa has been reported to inhibit aggregation of the outer droplets (Pays et al., 2002; Schuch et al., 2015). Therefore, although the addition of CMCNa slowed down the initial digestion rate, a remarkable FFA release is observed at the end of the lipid digestion, being the total FFA release of $\approx 40\%$. This digestion behavior may be related to the time take for

surface-active components from the bile extract to displace the biopolymer from the oil droplet surface and thereby facilitate lipase adsorption and activity (Mun et al., 2007).



Figure 4. Anthocyanin bioaccessibility (%) of the different $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions. Lecithin, lecithin-stabilized emulsions; Tween 20, Tween 20-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa lecithin, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa Tween 20, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20-stabilized emulsions. Different capital letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among emulsions.

The bioaccessibility of an aqueous solution of the anthocyanin extract used in this study was about 2% (data not shown). It has been reported a low bioaccessibility of anthocyanin extracts, which may be due to their notoriously low stability into simulated intestinal fluids. This is one of the reasons because anthocyanins isolated from plant cells are easily degraded during their passage throughout the human digestive system and they are poorly absorbed and rapidly excreted (Frank et al., 2012). Hence, the systemic bioavailability of anthocyanins is estimated to be 0.26-1.8% in animal studies (Borges et al., 2007; Ichiyanagi et al. 2006; Koli et al., 2010). In our study, the bioaccessibility of anthocyanin-loaded emulsions increased substantially in comparison with the aqueous solution of the anthocyanin extract. The values ranged from $22.52 \pm$ 0.21% in lecithin-stabilized $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions and 31.08 ± 1.73% CMCNa lecithin-stabilized $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions (Figure 4). No differences between surfactants were observed, but the addition of CMCNa showed a positive effect on the bioaccessibility, only significant in lecithin emulsions, probably because of the stabilization effect of the biopolymer, as it has been previously mentioned. The highest bioaccessibility observed in CMCNa lecithin emulsions could be attributed to the fact that the oil droplets are more stable in the simulated gastrointestinal fluids and the release of FFA in these samples is more progressive, extending the anthocyanin protection and avoiding its degradation (Figure 3).

3.3. Changes of W₁/O/W₂ emulsion properties over time

The emulsions were stored at 4 °C in darkness and changes in the emulsion properties were monitored for 21 days. Table 2 shows the encapsulation efficiencies over the time for all the emulsions studied. The amount of anthocyanins enclosed of the total compound initially encapsulated in lecithin and Tween 20-stabilized double emulsions was \approx 70-75% after 2 weeks and \approx 65% after 21 days. Similar retention has been reported in W₁/O/W₂ emulsions containing trans-resveratrol over the time (Hemar et al., 2010; Matos et al., 2014).

Initial encapsulation efficiency was maintained during the storage with the addition of CMCNa, which could be attributed to the capacity of biopolymers to stabilize the outer droplets of double emulsions, preventing creaming and coalescence phenomena (Benna-Zayani et al., 2008; Dickinson, 2011; Matos et al., 2014). An emulsion has a good stability when the initial encapsulation efficiency is around 90-95%, and about 70-80% after a few weeks of storage (Dickinson, 2011; O'Regan & Mulvihill, 2010). Hence, the emulsions formulated in this study present a good stability.

Time	Emulsions					
(days)	Lecithin ¹	Tween 20 ²	CMCNa lecithin ³	CMCNa Tween 20 ⁴		
0	$78.38\pm3.87~^{Ab}$	$74.84 \pm 1.53 \ ^{\text{Ab}}$	90.14 ± 1.57 ^{Ba}	$92.57\pm0.20~^{Bab}$		
2	$72.87 \pm 2.77 \ ^{Aab}$	$74.20\pm0.91~^{\rm Ab}$	90.14 ± 0.59 ^{Ba}	$90.14\pm0.59\ ^{\mathrm{Ba}}$		
4	$76.54 \pm 1.77 \ ^{\mathrm{Ab}}$	$74.41\pm0.26~^{\rm Ab}$	$90.84\pm0.25~^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$91.84 \pm 2.30 ^{\text{Bab}}$		
7	$74.31\pm2.98~^{\rm Ab}$	$75.53\pm0.45~^{\rm Ab}$	89.16 ± 2.40 ^{Ba}	$95.49\pm0.00~^{\rm Bb}$		
14	$76.17\pm3.20~^{Ab}$	$69.71 \pm 4.79 ~^{\text{Aab}}$	89.60 ± 0.22 ^{Ba}	$92.55 \pm 1.75 ^{\text{Bab}}$		
21	66.11 ± 1.12 Aa	66.26 ± 3.56 Aa	91.29 ± 2.86 ^{Ba}	92.29 ± 2.57 ^{Bab}		

Table 2. Encapsulation efficiency of the different $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions during 21 days at 4 °C.

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters within the same line indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among emulsions in a day. Different lowercase letters within the same column indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among emulsions throughout the storage time. ¹ Lecithin: lecithin-stabilized emulsions. ² Tween 20: Tween 20-stabilized emulsions. ³ CMCNa lecithin: sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions. ⁴ CMCNa Tween 20: sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20-stabilized emulsions.

The droplet size of double emulsions stabilized with Tween 20 did not change during 21 days of storage. Contrary, the particle size increased in the emulsions formulated with lecithin after 14 days of storage, which may be due to droplet coalescence, as it was confirmed by Turbiscan measurements (Figures 5 and 7). Chang and McClements (2016) suggested that the interfacial coating formed by lecithin molecules was less resistance to coalescence than that formed by the other emulsifiers. With the addition of CMCNa in double emulsions, no important droplet size variations were shown over the time. Similar observations have been reported by Schuch et al. (2015), who suggested CMCNa and gum arabic as a suitable alternative for stabilizing the outer drops in double emulsions by hydrophilic emulsifiers.



Figure 5. Mean particle size of the different $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions during 21 days at 4 °C. Lecithin, lecithin-stabilized emulsions; Tween 20, Tween 20-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa lecithin, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa Tween 20, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20-stabilized emulsions.



Figure 6. ζ -potential of the different W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions during 21 days at 4 °C. Lecithin, lecithin-stabilized emulsions; Tween 20, Tween 20-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa lecithin, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions; CMCNa Tween 20, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20-stabilized emulsions.

No noteworthy variation of ζ -potential values in emulsions was observed over the 21 days of storage at 4 °C (Figure 6). Values greater than 25 mV (absolute values) are considered generally stable, and the higher the ζ -potential, the more stable the emulsion is, since the predominance of repulsion forces will avoid the flocculation phenomenon (Lamba et al., 2015). Considering that the values obtained in this study are relatively high in absolute magnitude, we can assume that stable W₁/O/W₂ emulsions have been formulated, especially in the case of emulsions formulated with lecithin and CMCNa, with very negative values lower than -80 mV. The stability is suggested to be attributed to the interfacial composition of emulsions and the electrostatic repulsion between oil droplets over the time. In comparison with other biopolymers, it has been reported that CMCNa provided more negative charge in O/W emulsions than whey protein isolate (Berendsen et al. 2014).

Time	Emulsions				
(days)	Lecithin ¹	Tween 20 ²	CMCNa lecithin ³	CMCNa Tween 20 ⁴	
0	$2.16\pm0.08~^{\text{Aa}}$	$2.02\pm0.06~^{\rm Aa}$	$277.67\pm38.41\ ^{\text{Bab}}$	257.50 ± 27.69 ^{Bab}	
2	$2.87\pm0.07~^{\rm Ab}$	$2.32\pm0.20~^{\rm Ab}$	$236.50\pm8.92~^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$248.17\pm19.23~^{Bab}$	
4	$2.95\pm0.17~^{\rm Ab}$	$2.67\pm0.45~^{\rm Ac}$	$286.50 \pm 36.64 \ ^{Bab}$	$273.50\pm13.37~^{Bab}$	
7	$3.27\pm0.48~^{\rm Abc}$	2.17 ± 0.10^{-Aab}	$301.50 \pm 36.77 \ ^{Bb}$	$277.83 \pm 29.79 \ ^{\text{Bb}}$	
14	$3.58\pm0.41~^{\rm Ac}$	$2.64\pm0.31~^{\rm Ac}$	304.67 ± 69.92 ^{Cb}	$234.17 \pm 21.63 \ ^{\text{Ba}}$	
21	5.78 ± 0.67 ^{Ad}	2.05 ± 0.09 Aab	309.33 ± 82.58 ^{Bb}	250.83 ± 63.68 ^{Bab}	

Table 3. Apparent viscosity of the different W₁/O/W₂ double emulsions during 21 days at 4 °C

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Different capital letters within the same line indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among emulsions in a day. Different lowercase letters within the same column indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) among emulsions throughout the storage time. ¹ Lecithin: lecithin-stabilized emulsions. ² Tween 20: Tween 20-stabilized emulsions. ³ CMCNa lecithin: sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions. ⁴ CMCNa Tween 20: sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20-stabilized emulsions.

Viscosity values remained stable in Tween 20-stabilized double emulsions over the time. In contrast, an increase of viscosity was observed in the emulsions formulated with lecithin without biopolymer after 2 days and throughout the storage time (Table 3). According to our results, the addition of biopolymer prevented a viscosity increase. The rise of viscosity during the storage time could be associated with the droplet aggregation or flocculation (Regan & Mulvihill, 2009). Thus, the CMCNa addition could prevent these instability issues. The use of polysaccharides in the outer phase of double emulsions, as thickening and gelling agents, could prevent creaming and coalescence. Scleroglucan as well as mixtures of xanthan and locust bean solutions exhibited relatively low values of yield stress and plastic viscosity, which could better maintain the large droplets suspended in the external aqueous phase and avoid the breakdown of multiple droplets (Benna-Zayani et al., 2008).

3.4. Stability of W1/O/W2 emulsions by Turbiscan

The backscattering (BS) profiles obtained in a Turbiscan apparatus of $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions were shown in Figure 7. The profiles were analysed in three different zones of the test tube (bottom, middle and top) during 21 days of storage in order to detect different instability phenomena in the emulsions. The oil droplets are susceptible to creaming, flocculation, coalescence, and Ostwald ripening, meanwhile the inner droplets are susceptible to flocculation, coalescence and Ostwald ripening process (McClements et al., 2009). No important variations in the sample mean that the formulation is stable.

A variation greater than 10% either as a positive or as a negative of BS value could be an indicator of instability (Celia et al., 2009). Maximum variations of BS were detected in lecithin and Tween 20-stabilized $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions at the bottom of the test tube (Figure 7A and B). In both cases, the destabilization process involves creaming, since the BS of the emulsions decreased in the bottom of the test tube because droplet concentration is reduced (clarification), whereas it increased on the top due to an increase of droplet concentration (creaming), as it was reported by Wulff-Pérez et al. (2009) and Wang et al. (2017). In addition, lecithin-stabilized emulsions presented a decrease of BS at the middle of the test tube (Figure 7A), suggesting that coalescence of the oil droplets could have led to an increase of particle size over time, as it was mentioned.

In emulsions stabilized with CMCNa, low backscattering variation was observed (Figure 7C and D), especially in those formulated with lecithin. In CMCNa lecithin-stabilized emulsions, backscattering variation over time was very low in all the sample (< 10%), indicating no significant changes in droplet size and high stability for 21 days. Such as long-term stability has been related to the biopolymer capacity to increase the viscosity of the external aqueous phase (Dickinson, 2011). Nevertheless, the addition of CMCNa in Tween 20-stabilized double emulsions extended the stability of the systems, although a remarkable decline of the BS was observed after 14 days (Figure 7D), suggesting flocculation of droplets as the particle size did not change (section 3.3). It could be explained because of the tendency of small particles to aggregate when they are numerous at a given phase ratio and more susceptible to the influence of Brownian motion, which would result in a greater probability of collision (McClements, 2016). The presence of biopolymer acting as a thickening agent reduced creaming by increasing the viscosity of the continuous phase.


Figure 7. Variation of backscattering (BS) of the different $W_1/O/W_2$ double emulsions during 21 days at 4 °C. Lecithin, lecithin-stabilized emulsions (a); Tween 20, Tween 20-stabilized emulsions (a); CMCNa lecithin, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and lecithin-stabilized emulsions (c); CMCNa Tween 20, sodium carboxymethylcellulose and Tween 20- stabilized emulsions (d).

4. Conclusions

CMCNa-stabilized $W_1/O/W_2$ emulsions were formulated using a two-step emulsification method. The addition of CMCNa with low interfacial activity increased the encapsulation efficiency and provided higher protection to anthocyanins throughout the simulated digestion. CMCNa lecithin-stabilized emulsions showed the highest anthocyanin bioaccessibility, probably because the compound remained more time encapsulated during the lipid digestion, and were the most stable systems over the time. The combination of lecithin and CMCNa in the external aqueous phase inhibited aggregation of the outer droplets during the storage. Therefore, our results have shown that double emulsions are appropriate systems for the encapsulation of anthocyanins and for their controlled release through the gastrointestinal tract. Moreover, the effect of CMCNa in our study seems to be more beneficial with the use of lecithin rather than Tween 20.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Ministry of Science and Innovation (Spain) throughout the project AGL2015-65975. We gratefully acknowledge Anna Arola-Arnal for her contribution.

References

- Aditya, N. P., Aditya, S., Yang, H. J., Kim, H. W., Park, S. O., Lee, J., & Ko, S. (2015a). Curcumin and catechin co-loaded water-in-oil-in-water emulsion and its beverage application. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 15, 35–43.
- Aditya, N. P., Aditya, S., Yang, H., Kim, H. W., Park, S. O., & Ko, S. (2015b). Co-delivery of hydrophobic curcumin and hydrophilic catechin by a water-in-oil-in-water double emulsion. *Food Chemistry*, *173*, 7–13.
- Benna-Zayani, M., Kbir-Ariguib, N., Trabelsi-Ayadi, M., & Grossiord, J. L. (2008). Stabilisation of W/O/W double emulsion by polysaccharides as weak gels. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 316*(1–3), 46–54.
- Berendsen, R., Güell, C., Henry, O., & Ferrando, M. (2014). Premix membrane emulsification to produce oil-in-water emulsions stabilized with various interfacial structures of whey protein and carboxymethyl cellulose. *Food Hydrocolloids, 38*, 1–10.
- Borges, G., Roowi, S., Rouanet, J. M., Duthie, G. G., Lean, M. E. J., & Crozier, A. (2007). The bioavailability of raspberry anthocyanins and ellagitannins in rats. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 51(6), 714–725.
- Cabrita, L., Fossen, T., & Andersen, Ø. M. (2000). Colour and stability of the six common anthocyanidin 3-glucosides in aqueous solutions. *Food Chemistry*, 68(1), 101–107.
- Carneiro, H. C. F., Tonon, R. V., Grosso, C. R. F., & Hubinger, M. D. (2013). Encapsulation efficiency and oxidative stability of flaxseed oil microencapsulated by spray drying using different combinations of wall materials. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *115*(4), 443–451.
- Cavalcanti, R. N., Santos, D. T., & Meireles, M. A. A. (2011). Non-thermal stabilization mechanisms of anthocyanins in model and food systems an overview. *Food Research International*, 44(2), 499–509.
- Celia, C., Trapasso, E., Cosco, D., Paolino, D., & Fresta, M. (2009). Turbiscan Lab® Expert analysis of the stability of ethosomes® and ultradeformable liposomes containing a bilayer fluidizing agent. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 72(1), 155–160.
- Chang, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Influence of emulsifier type on the *in vitro* digestion of fish oil-in-water emulsions in the presence of an anionic marine polysaccharide (fucoidan): Caseinate, whey protein, lecithin, or Tween 80. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *61*, 92–101.
- Charoen, R., Jangchud, A., Jangchud, K., Harnsilawat, T., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2012). Influence of interfacial composition on oxidative stability of oil-in-water emulsions

stabilized by biopolymer emulsifiers. Food Chemistry, 131(4), 1340–1346.

- Cofrades, S., Antoniou, I., Solas, M. T., Herrero, A. M., & Jiménez-Colmenero, F. (2013). Preparation and impact of multiple (water-in-oil-in-water) emulsions in meat systems. *Food Chemistry*, 141(1), 338–346.
- Dickinson, E. (2009). Hydrocolloids and emulsion stability. Handbook of Hydrocolloids, 23–49.
- Dickinson, E. (2011). Double emulsions stabilized by food biopolymers. *Food Biophysics*, 6(1), 1-11.
- Du, B., Li, J., Zhang, H., Huang, L., Chen, P., & Zhou, J. (2009). Influence of molecular weight and degree of substitution of carboxymethylcellulose on the stability of acidified milk drinks. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23(5), 1420–1426.
- Frank, K., Kohler, K., & Schuchmann, H. P. (2011). Formulation of labile hydrophilic ingredients in multiple emulsions: Influence of the formulation's composition on the emulsion's stability and on the stability of entrapped bioactives. *Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology*, *32*(12), 1753–1758.
- Frank, K., Walz, E., Gräf, V., Greiner, R., Köhler, K., & Schuchmann, H. P. (2012). Stability of anthocyanin-rich W/O/W-emulsions designed for intestinal release in gastrointestinal environment. *Journal of Food Science*, 77(12), 50–57.
- Gómez-Plaza, E., Gil-Muñoz, R., Hernández-Jiménez, A., López-Roca, J. M., Ortega-Regules, A., & Martínez-Cutillas, A. (2008). Studies on the anthocyanin profile of *Vitis Vinifera* intraspecific hybrids (Monastrell × Cabernet Sauvignon). *European Food Research and Technology*, 227(2), 479–484.
- Hemar, Y., Cheng, L. J., Oliver, C. M., Sanguansri, L., & Augustin, M. (2010). Encapsulation of resveratrol using water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions. *Food Biophysics*, 5(2), 120–127.
- Hu, K., Feng, & Cao. (2012). Enhanced oral bioavailability of docetaxel by lecithin nanoparticles: preparation, *in vitro*, and *in vivo* evaluation. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 3537.
- Huang, X., Kakuda, Y., & Cui, W. (2001). Hydrocolloids in emulsions: Particle size distribution and interfacial activity. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *15*(4–6), 533–542.
- Ichiyanagi, T., Shida, Y., Rahman, M. M., Hatano, Y., & Konishi, T. (2006). Bioavailability and tissue distribution of anthocyanins in bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus L.*) extract in rats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54(18), 6578–6587.
- Kaimainen, M., Marze, S., Järvenpää, E., Anton, M., & Huopalahti, R. (2015). Encapsulation of betalain into w/o/w double emulsion and release during *in vitro* intestinal lipid digestion. *LWT Food Science and Technology*, *60*(2), 899–904.
- Karlsen, A., Retterstøl, L., Laake, P., Paur, I., Bøhn, S. K., Sandvik, L., & Blomhoff, R. (2007). Anthocyanins inhibit nuclear factor- κB activation in monocytes and reduce plasma concentrations of pro-inflammatory mediators in healthy adults. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 137(8), 1951–1954.

- Klang, V., & Valenta, C. (2011). Lecithin-based nanoemulsions. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 21(1), 55–76.
- Koli, R., Erlund, I., Jula, A., Marniemi, J., Mattila, P., & Alfthan, G. (2010). Bioavailability of various polyphenols from a diet containing moderate amounts of berries. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(7), 3927–3932.
- Lamba, H., Sathish, K., & Sabikhi, L. (2015). Double emulsions: emerging delivery system for plant bioactives. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 8(4), 709–728.
- Li, B., Jiang, Y., Liu, F., Chai, Z., Li, Y., Li, Y., & Leng, X. (2012). Synergistic effects of whey protein-polysaccharide complexes on the controlled release of lipid-soluble and water-soluble vitamins in W₁/O/W₂ double emulsion systems. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 47(2), 248–254.
- Li, D., Zhang, Y., Liu, Y., Sun, R., & Xia, M. (2015). Purified anthocyanin supplementation reduces dyslipidemia, enhances antioxidant capacity, and prevents insulin resistance in diabetic patients. *Journal of Nutrition*, 145(4), 742–748.
- Matos, M., Gutiérrez, G., Coca, J., & Pazos, C. (2014). Preparation of water-in-oil-in-water (W₁/O/W₂) double emulsions containing *trans*-resveratrol. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 442,* 69–79.
- McClements, D. J. (2016). Food emulsions: principles, practices, and techniques (3rd ed.). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Mcclements, D. J., Decker, E. A., Park, Y., & Weiss, J. (2009). Structural design principles for delivery of bioactive components in nutraceuticals and functional foods. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* (49).
- Minekus, M., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu, C., ... Brodkorb, A. (2014). A standardised static *in vitro* digestion method suitable for food an international consensus. *Food Function*, 5(6), 1113–1124.
- Mun, S., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2007). Influence of emulsifier type on *in vitro* digestibility of lipid droplets by pancreatic lipase. *Food Research International*, 40(6), 770–781.
- Muschiolik, G., & Dickinson, E. (2017). Double emulsions relevant to food systems: preparation, stability, and applications. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 16(3), 532–555.
- Nik, A. M., Wright, A. J., & Corredig, M. (2011). Impact of interfacial composition on emulsion digestion and rate of lipid hydrolysis using different *in vitro* digestion models. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 83(2), 321–330.
- O'Regan, J., & Mulvihill, D. M. (2010). Sodium caseinate-maltodextrin conjugate stabilized double emulsions: encapsulation and stability. *Food Research International*, 43(1), 224–231.
- Pays, K., Giermanska-Kahn, J., Pouligny, B., Bibette, J., & Leal-Calderon, F. (2002). Double emulsions: how does release occur? *Journal of Controlled Release*, 79(1–3), 193–205.

- Pichot, R., Watson, R. L., & Norton, I. T. (2013). Phospholipids at the interface: current trends and challenges. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14(6), 11767–11794.
- Qi, X., Wang, L., & Zhu, J. (2011). Water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions: an excellent delivery system for improving the oral bioavailability of pidotimod in rats. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *100*(6), 2203–2211.
- Qin, Y., Xia, M., Ma, J., Hao, Y., & Liu, J. (2009). Anthocyanin supplementation improves serum LDL-and HDL-cholesterol concentrations associated with the inhibition of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in dyslipidemic subjects. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 90(2), 485–492.
- Regan, J. O., & Mulvihill, D. M. (2009). Water soluble inner aqueous phase markers as indicators of the encapsulation properties of water-in-oil-in-water emulsions stabilized with sodium caseinate. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23(8), 2339–2345.
- Salvia-Trujillo, L., Qian, C., Martín-Belloso, O., & McClements, D. J. (2013). Influence of particle size on lipid digestion and β -carotene bioaccessibility in emulsions and nanoemulsions. *Food Chemistry*, 141(2), 1472–1480.
- Sari, P., Wijaya, C. H., Sajuthi, D., & Supratman, U. (2012). Colour properties, stability, and free radical scavenging activity of jambolan (Syzygium cumini) fruit anthocyanins in a beverage model system: natural and copigmented anthocyanins. *Food Chemistry*, 132(4), 1908–1914.
- Schuch, A., Deiters, P., Henne, J., Köhler, K., & Schuchmann, H. P. (2013). Production of W/O/W (water-in-oil-in-water) multiple emulsions: droplet breakup and release of water. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 402, 157–164.
- Schuch, A., Helfenritter, C., Funck, M., & Schuchmann, H. P. (2015). Observations on the influence of different biopolymers on coalescence of inner water droplets in W/O/W (water-in-oil-in-water) double emulsions. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects,* 475(1), 2–8.
- Shipp, J., & Abdel-Aal, E.-S. M. (2010). Food applications and physiological effects of anthocyanins as functional food ingredients. *The Open Food Science Journal*, 4, 7–22.
- Su, J., Flanagan, J., Hemar, Y., & Singh, H. (2006). Synergistic effects of polyglycerol ester of polyricinoleic acid and sodium caseinate on the stabilisation of water-oil-water emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 20(2–3), 261–268.
- Su, J., Flanagan, J., & Singh, H. (2008). Improving encapsulation efficiency and stability of water-in-oil-in-water emulsions using a modified gum arabic (Acacia (sen) SUPER GUM[™]). *Food Hydrocolloids, 22*(1), 112–120.
- Turfan, Ö., Türkyilmaz, M., Yemi, O., & Özkan, M. (2011). Anthocyanin and colour changes during processing of pomegranate (*Punica granatum L, cv. Hicaznar*) juice from sacs and whole fruit. *Food Chemistry*, 129(4), 1644–1651.
- Uluata, S., McClements, D. J., & Decker, E. A. (2015). Physical stability, autoxidation, and photosensitized oxidation of ω -3 oils in nanoemulsions prepared with natural and synthetic surfactants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 63(42), 9333–9340.

- Wang, P., Chen, C., Guo, H., Zhang, H., Yang, Z., & Ren, F. (2017). Casein gel particles as novel soft Pickering stabilizers: the emulsifying property and packing behaviour at the oil-water interface. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 77, 689–698.
- Wulff-Pérez, M., Torcello-Gómez, A., Gálvez-Ruíz, M. J., & Martín-Rodríguez, A. (2009). Stability of emulsions for parenteral feeding: preparation and characterization of o/w nanoemulsions with natural oils and Pluronic f68 as surfactant. *Food Hydrocolloids, 23*(4), 1096–1102.
- Yao, X., Wang, N., Fang, Y., Phillips, G. O., Jiang, F., Hu, J., ... Tian, D. (2013). Impact of surfactants on the lipase digestibility of gum arabic-stabilized O/W emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 33(2), 393–401.
- Yuan, Y., Gao, Y., Zhao, J., & Mao, L. (2008). Characterization and stability evaluation of β -carotene nanoemulsions prepared by high pressure homogenization under various emulsifying conditions. *Food Research International*, 41(1), 61–68.